Value of the Periodic Health Evaluation

Prepared for:

Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 540 Gaither Road Rockville, MD 20850 www.ahrq.gov

Contract No. 290-02-0018

Prepared by: The Johns Hopkins University, Evidence-based Practice Center, Baltimore, MD

Investigators L. Ebony Boulware, M.D., M.P.H. George J. Barnes II, B.A. Renee F. Wilson, M.Sc. Karran Phillips, M.D., M.P.H. Kenric Maynor, M.D. Constance Hwang, M.D. Spyridon Marinopoulos, M.D., M.B.A. Dan Merenstein, M.D. Patricia Richardson-McKenzie, M.D., M.P.H. Eric B. Bass, M.D., M.P.H. Neil R. Powe, M.D., M.P.H., M.B.A. Gail L. Daumit, M.D., M.H.S.

AHRQ Publication No. 06-E011 April 2006

This report is based on research conducted by the Johns Hopkins University Evidence-based Practice Center (EPC) under contract to the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), Rockville, MD (Contract No. 290-02-0018). The findings and conclusions in this document are those of the author(s), who are responsible for its content, and do not necessarily represent the views of AHRQ. No statement in this report should be construed as an official position of AHRQ or of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

The information in this report is intended to help clinicians, employers, policymakers, and others make informed decisions about the provision of health care services. This report is intended as a reference and not as a substitute for clinical judgment.

This report may be used, in whole or in part, as the basis for the development of clinical practice guidelines and other quality enhancement tools, or as a basis for reimbursement and coverage policies. AHRQ or U.S. Department of Health and Human Services endorsement of such derivative products may not be stated or implied.

This document is in the public domain and may be used and reprinted without permission except those copyrighted materials noted for which further reproduction is prohibited without the specific permission of copyright holders.

Suggested Citation:

Boulware LE, Barnes GJ, Wilson RF, Phillips K, Maynor K, Hwang C, Marinopoulos S, Merenstein D, Richardson-McKenzie P, Bass EB, Powe NR, Daumit GL. Value of the Periodic Health Evaluation. Evidence Report/Technology Assessment No. 136. (Prepared by The Johns Hopkins University Evidence-based Practice Center under Contract No. 290-02-0018). AHRQ Publication No. 06-E011. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. April 2006.

The investigators have no relevant financial interests in the report. The investigators have no employment, consultancies, honoraria, or stock ownership or options, or royalties from any organization or entity with a financial interest or financial conflict with the subject matter discussed in the report.

Preface

The Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), through its Evidence-Based Practice Centers (EPCs), sponsors the development of evidence reports and technology assessments to assist public- and private-sector organizations in their efforts to improve the quality of health care in the United States. The reports and assessments provide organizations with comprehensive, science-based information on common, costly medical conditions and new health care technologies. The EPCs systematically review the relevant scientific literature on topics assigned to them by AHRQ and conduct additional analyses when appropriate prior to developing their reports and assessments.

To bring the broadest range of experts into the development of evidence reports and health technology assessments, AHRQ encourages the EPCs to form partnerships and enter into collaborations with other medical and research organizations. The EPCs work with these partner organizations to ensure that the evidence reports and technology assessments they produce will become building blocks for health care quality improvement projects throughout the Nation. The reports undergo peer review prior to their release.

AHRQ expects that the EPC evidence reports and technology assessments will inform individual health plans, providers, and purchasers as well as the health care system as a whole by providing important information to help improve health care quality.

We welcome comments on this evidence report. They may be sent by mail to the Task Order Officer named below at: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, 540 Gaither Road, Rockville, MD 20850, or by e-mail to **epc@ahrq.gov.**

Carolyn M. Clancy, M.D. Director Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality Jean Slutsky, P.A., M.S.P.H. Director, Center for Outcomes and Evidence Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Beth A. Collins Sharp, Ph.D., R.N. Acting Director, EPC Program Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Ernestine W. Murray, B.S.N., R.N., M.A.S. EPC Program Task Order Officer Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality

Acknowledgments

The Evidence-based Practice Center thanks Karen Robinson for her assistance in developing the electronic search strategies, Steven Bressler for his assistance with literature searching and database management, Gabriel Lai for his assistance with data entry and cleaning, Christine Napolitano for her assistance with budget matters and the final preparation of the report, and Brenda Zacharko for her assistance with final preparations of the report.

Structured Abstract

Objective: To systematically review evidence on definitions of the periodic health evaluation (PHE), its associated benefits and harms, and system-level interventions to improve its delivery.

Data Sources: Electronic searches in MEDLINE[®], and other databases; hand searching of 24 journals and bibliographies through February 2006.

Review Methods: Paired investigators abstracted data and judged study quality using standard criteria. We reported effect sizes for mean differences and proportions in randomized controlled trials (RCTs). We adapted GRADE Working Group criteria to assess quantity, quality and consistency of the best evidence pertaining to each outcome, assigning grades of "high," "medium," "low," or "very low."

Results: Among 36 identified studies (11 RCTs), definitions of the PHE varied widely. In studies assessing benefits, the PHE consistently improved (over usual care) the delivery/receipt of the gynecological exam/Pap smear (2 RCTs, small effect (Cohen's d (95% confidence interval (CI)): 0.07 (0.07,0.07)) to large effect (Cohen's d (CI): 1.71 (1.69, 1.73)), strength and consistency graded "high"); cholesterol screening (1 RCT, small effect (Cohen's d (CI): 0.02 (0.00,0.04)) with large associations in 4 observational studies, graded "medium"); and fecal occult blood testing (2 RCTs, large effects (Cohen's d (CI): 1.19 (1.17, 1.21) and 1.07 (1.05, 1.08)), graded "high"). Effects of the PHE were mixed among studies assessing delivery/receipt of counseling (graded "low"), immunizations (graded "medium") and mammography (graded "low"). In one RCT, the PHE led to a smaller increase in patient "worry" (13%) compared to usual care (23%) (graded "medium"). The PHE had mixed effects on serum cholesterol (graded "low"), blood pressure, body mass index, disease detection, health habits and health status (graded "medium"). The PHE had mixed effects on hospitalization (graded "high") costs, disability, and mortality (graded "medium"). No studies assessed harms. Delivery of the PHE was improved by scheduling of appointments for PHE (1 RCT, medium effects (Cohen's d (CI): 0.69 (0.68, 0.70)) and offering a free PHE (1 non-RCT, 22% increase) (graded "medium").

Conclusions: The evidence suggests delivery of some recommended preventive services are improved by the PHE and may be more directly affected by the PHE than intermediate or long-term clinical outcomes and costs. Descriptions of the PHE and outcomes were heterogeneous, and some trials were performed before dissemination of guidelines by the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force, limiting interpretations of findings. Efforts are needed to clarify the long-term benefits of receiving multiple preventive services in the context of the PHE. Future studies assessing the PHE should incorporate diverse populations, carefully define comparisons to "usual care," and comprehensively assess intermediate outcomes, harms, and costs.

Contents

Executive Summary		
Evidence Report	9	
Chapter 1. Introduction	9	
The Periodic Health Evaluation	9	
Historical Changes in Conceptualization of the Content and Value of the PHE	9	
National Task Force to Evaluate Preventive Care and the PHE	11	
Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care	11	
United States Preventive Services Task Force	11	
Preventive Health Guidelines in Other Geographic Regions		
(Australia, Europe, Asia)	12	
Continued use of the PHE Despite Recommendations	12	
Private Insurance Coverage for the PHE	13	
Centers for Medicare and Medicaid (CMS) Legislation and the PHE	13	
Need for Review of the Evidence on the Value of the PHE	13	
Chapter 2. Methods	15	
Recruitment of Technical Experts and Peer Reviewers	15	
Key Questions	15	
Conceptual Framework	16	
Literature Search Methods	17	
Sources	17	
Search Terms and Strategies	18	
Organization and Tracking of Literature Search	18	
Title Review	18	
Abstract Review	18	
Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	18	
Article Inclusion/Exclusion	19	
Article Review	19	
Data Abstraction	20	
Article Quality Assessment	21	
Data Entry and Quality Control	22	
Grading of the Evidence	22	
Process for Assessing Evidence Grades	23	
Estimating the Magnitude of Effect of the PHE on Outcomes in RCTs	24	
Peer Review	24	
Chapter 3. Results	25	
Results of Literature Search and Abstract Review Process	25	
Results of Article Inclusion/Exclusion Process	25	
General Study Characteristics	25	
Randomized Controlled Trials	26	

Benefits and Limitations of RCTs in Assessing the PHE	31
Article Quality	32
Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE	
in Studies of its Value?	32
Key Question 2: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different	
Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits	
Compared to Care Without a PHE?	33
Delivery of Clinical Preventive Services	33
Proximal Clinical Outcomes	42
Distal Clinical and Economic Outcomes	50
Outcomes of Interest Not Reported on in Eligible Studies	57
Key Question 3: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different	
Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Harms	
Compared to Care Without a PHE?	57
Key Question 4: What System-based Interventions Improve the Receipt or Delivery	
of the PHE?	58
Chapter 4. Discussion	61
Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings	61 61
Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE	61 61
Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value?	61 61
Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value? Key Question 2: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different	61 61 61
Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value? Key Question 2: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits	61 61
 Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value? Key Question 2: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits Compared to Care Without a PHE? 	61 61 61
 Chapter 4. Discussion	61 61 61
 Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value? Key Question 2: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits Compared to Care Without a PHE? Key Question 3: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Harms 	61 61 61
 Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value? Key Question 2: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits Compared to Care Without a PHE? Key Question 3: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Harms Compared to Care Without a PHE? 	61 61 61 61
 Chapter 4. Discussion	61 61 61 61
 Chapter 4. Discussion	61 61 61 61 62
 Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value? Key Question 2: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits Compared to Care Without a PHE? Key Question 3: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Harms Compared to Care Without a PHE? Key Question 4: What System-based Interventions Improve the Receipt or Delivery of the PHE? Limitations	61 61 61 61 62 62 62
 Chapter 4. Discussion	61 61 61 61 62 62 62 62 62
 Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value? Key Question 2: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits Compared to Care Without a PHE? Key Question 3: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Harms Compared to Care Without a PHE? Key Question 4: What System-based Interventions Improve the Receipt or Delivery of the PHE? Limitations Recommendations for Future Research	61 61 61 61 62 62 62 65 65
 Chapter 4. Discussion Summary of Main Findings Key Question 1: What Definitions are used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value? Key Question 2: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits Compared to Care Without a PHE?	61 61 61 62 62 62 65 66

Figures

Figure 1:	Conceptual Framework
Figure 2:	Summary of Literature Search and Review Process (number of articles)
Figure 3:	Explanation of GRADE Using Colon Cancer as an Example71

Summary Tables

Table 1: Characteristics of Studies Eligible for Inclusion in the Review	79
Table 2: Summary of Study Results	81
Table 3: Type and Number of Outcomes Reported in Studies	123
Table 4: Quality of Identified Studies on the Value of the Periodic Health Evaluation	124
Table 5: Components Which were Included (or may have been included) in	
Studies on the Periodic Health Evaluation	126
Table 6: Grading of the Overall Strength of Evidence on the Value of the	
Periodic Health Evaluation	127
Table 7: Comparison of Effect Sizes in Randomized Controlled Trials	130
Table 8: Number of Studies (presented in cells) Reporting Outcomes	
According to Study Design and Direction of Results Reported	132
Table 9: Summary of Results from Best Available Evidence to Assess Each Outcome	134

Appendixes

- Appendix A: Technical Experts and Peer Reviewers
- Appendix B: Hand Searched Journals
- Appendix C: Exact Search Strategies
- Appendix D: Example Review Forms
- Appendix E: List of Included and Excluded Articles
- Appendix F: Study Nomenclature
- Appendix G: Evidence Tables

Appendixes and Evidence Tables for this report are provided electronically at http://www.ahrq.gov/downloads/pub/evidence/pdf/phe/phe.pdf.

Executive Summary

Introduction

The periodic health evaluation (PHE) consists of one or more visits with a health care provider to assess patients' overall health and risk factors for preventable disease, and it is distinguished from the annual physical exam by its incorporation of tailored clinical preventive services and laboratory testing as part of health risk assessment. By promoting prevention, management of chronic conditions, and enhancing the patient-provider relationship, the PHE may improve patient outcomes and the public's health. However, it could also induce unnecessary costs and patient harms by promoting the use of non-recommended services. Early studies of the PHE, performed before the adoption of current preventive services guidelines, were costly and demonstrated minimal improvement in clinical outcomes, leading to concern regarding the PHE's value and to the promotion of episodic, targeted delivery of preventive services in the context of ongoing clinical care. More recent clinical trials have reported scattered benefits of the PHE. Thus, despite its continued practice, the value of PHE in improving health and healthcare costs has been largely unclear.

Private and public health insurance coverage for preventive services in the U.S. has gradually increased over time. However, increases are typically for one recommended service at a time, rather than a comprehensive set of preventive services. Recent legislation will provide coverage for a "Welcome to Medicare Visit" for new enrollees, incorporating a range of diagnostic and screening tests. Lack of clear evidence to support or refute its use, and recent legislation to cover preventive services on a wide scale provide the basis for this systematic review of the evidence to elucidate the value of the PHE.

Methods

The American College of Physicians posed preliminary questions regarding the PHE. We convened a panel of three internal and eight external technical experts to provide input into the refinement of questions to be addressed. We also recruited peer reviewers representing stakeholder organizations to give feedback on the draft report.

We address the following Key Questions concerning the value of the PHE for adults:

- 1. What definitions are used for the adult PHE in studies of its value?
- What is the evidence that a PHE, delivered at different patient ages or different frequencies, is associated with benefits (i.e., improved outcomes) compared to care without a PHE (e.g., usual care)? Outcomes include:
 - a. Delivery of recommended clinical preventive services.
 - b. Patient attitudes/perceptions (e.g., knowledge, satisfaction).
 - c. Behavioral outcomes (e.g., tobacco cessation, adherence).
 - d. Proximal/intermediate clinical outcomes (e.g., cholesterol lowering, disease management).

- e. Distal clinical outcomes (e.g., death, or myocardial infarction).
- f. Economic outcomes (e.g., cost savings, health care utilization).
- g. Public health (e.g., improvements in family and community health).
- 3. What is the evidence that a PHE, delivered at different patient ages or different frequencies, is associated with harms (i.e., worse outcomes) compared to care without a PHE (e.g., usual care)?

Outcomes include:

- a. Delivery of non-recommended clinical preventive services.
- b. Patient attitudes/perceptions (e.g., worry).
- c. Behavioral outcomes (e.g., continuation of risky behaviors).
- d. Proximal/intermediate clinical outcomes (e.g., complications from testing).
- e. Distal clinical outcomes (e.g., events such as death).
- f. Economic outcomes (e.g., induced costs, increased health care utilization).
- g. Public health (e.g., declines in family and community health).
- 4. What system-based interventions improve the receipt or delivery of the PHE (e.g., insurance premium reductions or provider reminders)?

We searched MEDLINE[®], the Cochrane databases, and the Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL), and we hand-searched 24 journals and bibliographies from pertinent articles through February, 2006. We used pre-specified, standard criteria to select studies. Pairs of reviewers screened the literature for relevant article titles. For articles promoted to abstract review, two investigators independently reviewed abstracts and excluded them if they: 1) had no useful information applying to the Key Questions; 2) were not written in English; 3) included subjects only 18 years or younger ; 4) contained no original data; or 5) had no comparison group. Titles and abstracts were promoted to further review if either of two reviewers did not exclude them. For articles promoted to final review, two reviewers sequentially performed full data abstraction for each article, including information on study design, location and setting, dates of performance, follow up length, enrollment, eligibility criteria, participant characteristics, components of the PHE, interventions, and outcomes.

Two reviewers independently judged individual studies' quality on several aspects of external and internal validity, including descriptions of: inclusion/exclusion criteria; subjects' baseline characteristics; handling of withdrawals; the intervention; adequacy of length of study follow up; outcomes; randomization and blinding (for RCTs); and the statistical analysis. At the completion of the article review, we summarized the magnitude of effects in RCTs by reporting Cohen's d (95% confidence interval (CI)) for mean differences and proportions. We considered effect sizes ranging from 0 to 0.25 to represent "small" effects, from 0.26 to 0.8 to represent "medium" sized effects, and greater than 0.8 to represent "large" effects. We also graded the quantity, quality and consistency of the "best available evidence" (comprised of studies least likely to present biased findings) addressing Key Questions 2 through 4 by adapting an evidence-grading scheme recommended by the GRADE Working Group (classifying bodies of evidence pertaining to each outcome as "high", "medium," "low," or "very low" grade). Evidence grading incorporated assessments of studies' quality, consistency in the direction of reported results for an outcome, sparseness of data, probability of bias, and reported strength of association between the PHE and outcomes.

Results

We screened 6523 articles for eligibility at the title review level and reviewed 2021 at the abstract level, and 819 at the article inclusion/exclusion level. Of these, 54 articles were promoted for full review, representing 36 studies reporting multiple outcomes or follow up dates. All studies addressed Key Question 1, 36 studies addressed Key Question 2, no studies addressed Key Question 3, and five studies addressed Key Question 4.

Identified Studies

We identified a total of 36 studies containing information applicable to the Key Questions. A description of study characteristics is listed in Table 1. The most common study design was cross-sectional (14 studies), followed by randomized controlled trials (RCTs) (11) and cohort studies (7). Overall, the literature was characterized by complexity and heterogeneity in several dimensions. Studies were conducted over a period of several decades (19 from 1990 and later, 9 between 1970-1989, and 4 before 1970) (Table 1). Practice settings for the studies were also diverse, with 16 studies taking place in private offices, four in hospital outpatient clinics, and seven in academic practices. Studies reflected a range of health plans as well, with four studies in Medicare or Medicaid populations, 10 in non-U.S. national health plans, four in employer health plans, and two in staff-model HMOs. While 25 studies were performed in the U.S., we also identified relevant studies from the United Kingdom, Canada, Taiwan, Japan, Denmark and Sweden.

Key Question 1. What Definitions are Used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value?

Definitions of the PHE were heterogeneous. While central elements used to define the PHE included the clinical history and risk assessment of patients and a physical examination, the specific composition of these central elements varied among studies. The most frequently cited types of history and risk assessment performed were assessment of dietary, alcohol/substance abuse, and tobacco smoking risks; the least frequently cited types of risk assessment included assessment of calcium and folic acid intake. In many cases, the physical examination was referred to with no specific clarification of what components were included. When specified, the most frequently cited components of the examination were assessment of blood pressure, weight and height, breast examination, gynecological examination, and rectal examination; the least frequently cited components included neurological and foot examinations.

Key Question 2. What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits Compared to Care Without a PHE?

Studies addressing Key Question 2 reported on the association of receipt of the PHE with: a) delivery/receipt of seven preventive services; b) seven proximal clinical outcomes; c) three distal clinical outcomes; and d) economic outcomes.

Delivery/receipt of clinical preventive services. The PHE consistently improved delivery/receipt of the gynecological examination/Pap smear, cholesterol screening, and fecal occult blood testing. The magnitude of the PHE's effects on receipt of the gynecological examination/Pap smear based on 2 RCTs ranged from small (Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.07 (0.07, 0.07)) to large (Cohen's d (95% CI):1.71 (1.69,1.73)). The strength and consistency of evidence pertaining to gynecological examination/Pap smear was graded "high." The magnitude of the PHE's effects on receipt of cholesterol screening based on one RCT and four observational studies ranged from small effects in the RCT (Cohen's d (95% (CI): 0.02 (0.00,0.04)) to large associations in observational studies. The strength and consistency of evidence pertaining to cholesterol screening was graded "medium." The magnitude of the PHE's effects on receipt of fecal occult blood testing based on 2 RCTs was large (Cohen's d (95% CI): 1.19 (1.17, 1.21) and 1.07 (1.05, 1.08). The strength and consistency of evidence pertaining to fecal occult blood testing was graded "high." Effects of the PHE were mixed among studies assessing delivery/receipt of preventive counseling, immunizations, and mammography. The strength and consistency of the evidence regarding these outcomes ranged from "low" (mammography and counseling) to "medium" (immunizations).

Proximal clinical outcomes. One study reported the PHE had a positive effect on patient "worry," with smaller increases in health worry (13% increase in baseline worry score) among persons receiving the PHE compared to persons receiving usual care (23% increase in baseline worry score) at 24 months follow up. The strength and consistency of the evidence from this study was graded "medium." Among the best available evidence, the PHE had mixed effects on disease detection, health habits, health status, blood pressure, serum cholesterol, and body mass index. The strength and consistency of the evidence assessing these outcomes ranged from "low" (serum cholesterol) to "medium" (disease detection, health habits, blood pressure, and body mass index).

Distal clinical and economic outcomes. The PHE had mixed effects on costs, disability, hospitalization, and mortality. The strength and consistency of the evidence ranged from "medium" (costs, disability, mortality) to "high" (hospitalization).

Key Question 3. What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Harms Compared to Care Without a PHE?

We identified no studies focused on the delivery of non-recommended preventive services or the inducement of poor health outcomes as a result of the PHE.

Key Question 4. What System-based Interventions Improve the Receipt or Delivery of the PHE?

Among the best available evidence, two interventions (scheduling of appointments for the PHE and offering a free PHE) improved delivery of the PHE with medium to large positive effects. One study demonstrated a 29% improvement in attendance at the PHE for persons provided with a scheduled appointment versus an open invitation to the PHE, and one study demonstrated a 22% increase in attendance at the PHE with offering a free PHE versus a small fee. The strength and consistency of this evidence was graded "medium."

Limitations

The PHE was described with great heterogeneity, limiting inferences regarding which aspects of the PHE are most influential on outcomes. Few large-scale RCTs assessed the effect of the PHE, with some of the largest trials performed among select populations prior to guidelines of the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) in 1989, limiting their generalizability. Outcomes in some categories (e.g., counseling) were heterogeneous, limiting inferences regarding these outcomes. Little evidence addressed the PHE's effect on intermediate outcomes (e.g. blood glucose control, diabetes management). Evidence regarding the cost-effectiveness of the PHE was similarly sparse. Many outcomes were reported among a few RCTs, leaving open the possibility that individual study designs heavily influenced the direction of multiple outcomes. The feasibility of isolating the effect of the PHE on long-term outcomes is unclear given the periodic (or one-time) delivery of the PHE in studies and given multiple other episodes of patient care that typically occur outside of the PHE.

Our review is also subject to potential publication bias, in that investigators may have been more likely to publish articles reporting the PHE improved outcomes. In addition, observational studies in this review are subject to unaddressed residual confounding of results.

Recommendations for Future Research

Studies are needed to assess whether the PHE could encourage delivery of inappropriate preventive services or inflict harms on patients and to clarify the effect of the PHE on health habits, patient attitudes, health status, other intermediate outcomes such as clinical morbidity or worker productivity, and broad public health outcomes such as communicable disease containment or improvements in family health. Work to elucidate the magnitude and duration of effects of the PHE on outcomes is also needed. Studies elucidating the PHE's effect on both direct and indirect costs, long-term changes in quality of life, and clinical morbidity can be used in cost-effectiveness models, which are needed to more fully integrate findings regarding potential harms and benefits of the PHE.

Studies are needed of the frequency and intensity of the PHE required to achieve clinical improvements (or to induce harms) studies also are needed to assess differences in the PHE's effect when delivered in different health care systems or by different providers. Such studies would enhance knowledge regarding mechanisms through which the PHE can be delivered most efficiently.

Additional, well-designed studies are needed to strengthen the evidence for or against system-level interventions to enhance receipt of the PHE.

Conclusions

The best available evidence suggests delivery of some recommended preventive services are improved by the PHE and may be more directly affected by the PHE than proximal or long-term clinical outcomes and costs. It may be difficult to entirely isolate the effect of receipt of the PHE on intermediate clinical outcomes which require ongoing management such as blood pressure or long-term outcomes such as mortality. Thus, studies linking the PHE with improved delivery of preventive services may provide the best evidence of its value. Since appropriate implementation of preventive services has been demonstrated to improve health in evidence which provides the basis for USPSTF recommendations, findings of increased delivery of preventive services in the setting of the PHE may provide adequate justification for implementation of the PHE. While achieving consistency in the definition and delivery of the PHE stands as an important remaining challenge, efforts to clarify the presumed long-term benefits of receiving multiple preventive services in the context of the PHE versus other types of ambulatory visits are needed to fully elucidate the value of the PHE.

Mechanisms through which improvements in care attributed to the PHE occur are unclear. The PHE may have a stronger effect on the delivery of preventive services which are performed by clinicians at the time of the office visit (e.g., fecal occult blood testing) versus preventive services requiring patients to schedule appointments outside of the office (e.g., mammography).

Future studies assessing the value of the PHE should incorporate diverse study populations and should seek to carefully define systems of "usual care" with which the PHE is to be compared, capture outcomes in a standardized fashion, and more clearly assess the PHE's costeffectiveness. The development of computerized models may be most helpful in assessing the long-term value of the PHE.

Chapter 1. Introduction

The Periodic Health Evaluation

The periodic health evaluation (PHE) consists of one or more visits with a health care provider for the purpose of assessing patients' overall health and risk factors for preventable diseases. The PHE is distinguished from the complete physical examination by its incorporation of tailored clinical preventive services and laboratory testing as a part of health risk assessment. During the PHE, health care providers perform a history and risk assessment in addition to a physical exam. Based on the information gathered by providers, patients may receive counseling, immunizations, lab testing, or arrangements for other preventive health services as part of the evaluation. By promoting appropriate clinical management of chronic conditions, providing patient education, and the patient-provider relationship, the PHE has been hypothesized to improve intermediate and long-term patient outcomes as well as the public's health. Because of its focus on prevention and recommendations for chronic disease management, the PHE has potential to affect patient health and health care cost for the individual, the health care industry, and society as a whole.

Historical Changes in Conceptualization of the Content and Value of the PHE

Since the late nineteenth century, ideas regarding the content and the value of the PHE have continually evolved, reflecting changing views of the medical community and the public toward the role of prevention in health care. In 1861, Dr. Horace Dobell, considered the father of mass screening in the United Kingdom (U.K.) and a physician at the Royal Chest Hospital in England, outlined his basic belief that discovery of a pre-existent disease state could offer a chance for treatment and cure through the detailed examination of the individual. Others supported this notion such as Dr. George Gould, a prominent Philadelphia physician, who offered the "periodic examinations of patients" as an important mechanism through which future illness could be prevented and quality of life could be enhanced.¹

In the early 1900s, motivations for assessing and enhancing individuals' health through the PHE were often financial in nature. The life insurance industry advocated the use of medical histories and periodic physical exams to risk stratify patients for coverage decisions. Studies at the turn of the century, such as those performed by Dr. A.S. Knight of the Metropolitan Life Insurance Company and Eugene Lyman Fisk of the Life Extension Institute, both reported that policyholders undergoing an annual physical exam had lower mortality than would be expected based on actuarial data.¹ Similarly, private industry advocated for comprehensive laboratory and physical exams to insure the health of workers and contribute to productivity, morale, and operating efficiency of the work place.² The physical exam was also often required to attend school, enlist in the military forces, gain employment, and note the early signs of potentially serious diseases.³ However, the central role of physicians in performing the physical exam prompted organized medical agencies to endorse the PHE as an opportunity to establish the physician-patient relationship. Giving his address to Harvard medical students in 1925, Dr.

Francis W. Peabody emphasized this relationship by noting, "One of the essential qualities of the clinician is interest in humanity, for the secret of care of the patient is in caring for the patient."⁴

Despite the potential virtues of the PHE from both a financial standpoint and from the standpoint of the patient-physician relationship, the PHE was not considered standard medical care and lost momentum as a public interest during the 1930s and the Great Depression. Renewed interest in the PHE arose in the mid-1940s with the development of "multiphasic screening" whereby the PHE assumed the objective of mass screening. This approach only minimally involved physicians, and used technology for the detection of unrecognized diseases or defects.¹ While the medical literature at that time continued to emphasize the important role of the periodic health examination, there were few examples of studies objectively supporting the ability of the PHE to promote health and longevity.²

Even with growing popularity of the PHE as standard clinical practice, the emergence of evidence-based medicine in the 1960s raised serious questions concerning the value of the PHE within the medical establishment.⁵ During this period, several studies were conducted to assess the value of the PHE. In the U.S., Collen undertook a study at Kaiser, which followed 10,000 adults through 7 and 16 year follow ups, collecting data on morbidity and mortality. In this study, the authors concluded that periodic health examinations were associated with lower death rates from potentially postponable causes.⁶ In the U.K., two group general practices in South London and the Department of Community Medicine at St. Thomas's Hospitals embarked on an ambitious study to assess the value of introducing a general-practice-based screening service for persons 40 to 64 year old as an extension of the National Health Service.⁷ This study collected data on morbidity, hospital admission rates, certified sickness absence from work, and mortality –_ultimately concluding little difference between the screened and unscreened groups. Costs of the screening were also calculated, and the results of this large study ultimately influenced British policy makers against investing in publicly supported multiphasic screening at that time.^{8,9}

In the 1970s, health care providers moved toward individualizing the PHE. Rather than a single annual exam during which a universal battery of screening and assessment maneuvers were undertaken, the PHE began to be conceptualized as an amalgam of preventive services tailored to individuals' risk profiles. In this manner, the annual physical exam became defined as the comprehensive physical examination which included an extensive history, physical, counseling, and diagnostic testing which was used to determine the patient's baseline health status. In contrast, the periodic health evaluation evolved into one or more visits with the primary emphasis of evaluating and offering preventive health services based the patient's age, gender and risk profile for recognizable and treatable conditions. Redefinition of the PHE in this way prompted another wave of important studies assessing the value of preventive services. Frame and Carlson in 1975 assessed the accuracy of screening measures and their impact on altering disease progression and mortality with regard to 36 major medical conditions.¹⁰ In 1979 the Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination (now known as the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care (CTF) looked at 78 medical conditions and also assessed the strength of evidence behind screening measures to reduce morbidity and mortality.¹¹ In 1984, the newly established U.S. Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) began to evaluate specific preventive interventions and their impact on morbidity and mortality in 60 medical conditions.¹²

These efforts prompted conceptualization of the PHE as an assessment targeted only to the preventive service elements demonstrating an impact on morbidity and mortality. This minimalist approach was endorsed by the American College of Physicians (ACP) and the

American Medical Association (AMA) with the caveat that the absence of evidence should not be equated with the ineffectiveness of an omitted screening intervention. These groups also advocated for increased breadth within the PHE supporting the inclusion of counseling and immunization.¹³

National Task Forces to Evaluate Preventive Care and the PHE

Canadian Task Force on Preventive Care

The Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care (CTF), formerly known as the Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination, was established in 1976 to determine how the periodic health examination might enhance or protect the health of Canadians and to recommend a plan for a lifetime program of periodic health assessments.¹¹ During the inception of the CTF, Canadian health care costs were rising significantly as medical technology and services became increasingly available, prompting the Conference of Deputy Ministers of Health to seek a critical assessment of health care services. In 1974, the Lelonde Report released by the Canadian Ministry of National Health and Welfare called for the expansion of the federal government's role in public health, particularly in the examination of evidence for the impact of environmental factors and individual behaviors and on health status. The CTF developed a formal methodology for evaluating scientific evidence in clinical medicine and published its first report on the periodic health examination in 1979. In addition to publishing conclusions regarding 78 different clinical conditions and services, the CTF determined that the undefined "annual checkup" should be abandoned and replaced with a series of age-specific "health protection packages"

Although the CTF recommended the elimination of the oftentimes-nebulous "annual checkup," the practice persists in Canada. A survey of 285 Canadian primary care physicians in 1991 reported most doctors engage in preventive care during an annual general physical rather than routine patient care.¹⁵ Similarly, a retrospective chart audit published in 2000 reported rates of recommended health screening tests for Canadian elderly were improved during a visit devoted to the periodic health examination when compared to visits for specific reasons where screening tests were done.¹⁶

United States Preventive Services Task Force

In 1984, the USPSTF was created under the auspices of the U.S. Public Health Service and the Department of Health and Human Services. Comprised of independent primary care experts in the field of preventive care, the USPSTF was charged with the task of impartially assessing the strength of evidence behind individual clinical preventive services. This focus on tailored individual preventive services adopted by the CTF in 1979 was a departure from previous efforts, which had concentrated on an annual exam, comprised of a universal group of services without regard to individual risks. Subsequent USPSTF *Guides* "evaluated the benefits of individual services based on age, gender, and risk factors for disease, made recommendations

about which preventive services should be incorporated routinely into primary medical care and for which populations, and identified a research agenda for clinical preventive care."¹²

Preventive Health Guidelines in Other Geographic Regions (Australia, Europe, Asia)

Australia's leading expert body on health promotion is the National Health and Medical Research Council (NHMRC) under the auspices of the Australian Government. While the NHMRC and other organizations produce clinical guidelines, Australia has no established single source for guidelines. Existing guidelines address individual health interventions and there is little mention of bundled preventive services or periodic health examinations for the general population. Australia does, however, provide expanded preventive health services for seniors age 75 and older through their Enhanced Primary Care program and for indigenous people aged 15 to 54 years through their Health Checks program both of which are based on the CTF recommendations.

The population-based evaluation of health status of the European community by history and physical exam primarily takes place in the form of the Health Interview Surveys and Health Examination Surveys.¹⁷ There does not seem to be a consistent nationally supported doctrine of clinical preventive medicine among the European countries. The most consistent use of the PHE in Europe seems to be in regard to employee physicals and their utility in maintaining a healthy, productive workforce.

Examples of organized efforts to evaluate the health screening practices in Asia include Singapore's Ministry of Health Clinical Practice Guidelines. Similar to the USPTF, levels of evidence are assessed and recommendation grades are provided for various clinical conditions. These guidelines were first introduced to the public in the late 1990's and cover a wide range of topics.¹⁸

Continued Use of the PHE Despite Recommendations

Continued implementation of the PHE, despite the CTF's guidelines eliminating the "routine checkup," may reflect the significant influence of patient and provider expectations regarding the PHE in clinical practice. According to a study assessing patients' expectations of the PHE, over 90% desired such examinations, most often on an annual basis. Accordingly, patients desired extensive examinations which included laboratory and other procedures which were in excess of CTF guideline recommendations.¹⁹

In a qualitative assessments of healthcare providers' perspectives on the integration of preventive practices during clinical visits, several barriers to delivering care were identified. Barriers within the physician-patient relationship include lack of patient compliance with preventive recommendations, lack of continuity of care, and discordant expectations of patients and providers within the clinical encounter. Studies seem to suggest patients place greater reliance on diagnostic labs and tests than do providers who often use the clinical history and physical to guide their recommendations during periodic health visit.^{20,21} Health systems barriers which providers believed affected the integration of preventive measures into the clinical visit

included lack of time, remuneration, and lack of provider reminders or tools to aid in the receipt of care.

Private Insurance Coverage for the PHE

Numerous studies have demonstrated a positive association between health insurance coverage and the receipt of preventive services. Coverage for preventive services in the U.S. by both private and public payers has gradually increased over time. However, this increase in coverage is usually for one recommended service at a time, rather than a comprehensive set of preventive services.²² In one recent study of employer-sponsored insurance plans by Partnership for Prevention, roughly 80% of plans reimbursed for a general physical examination with health maintenance organizations being slightly more likely to cover this service when compared to preferred provider organizations or point of service health plans.²³ According to the National Health Policy Forum at George Washington University, states rarely mandate insurance coverage for preventive services based on USPSTF guidelines. However, of those preventive services which are mandated, large employer-based health plans remain exempt from such requirements through the Employee Retirement Income Security Act. Thus, there is no consistent policy regarding coverage for preventive health services, including the periodic health examination.

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Service (CMS) Legislation and the PHE

Under the Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act (MMA) of 2003, the PHE will be covered for some individuals for the first time in Medicare's history. The Act provides Medicare reimbursement for an initial preventive visit at enrollment into Medicare, as long as the enrollee completes the examination within six months of enrollment.²⁴ The examination will cover a wide range of services, including: medical history; physical examination; counseling; laboratory tests; radiological interventions; and electrocardiograms. The Secretary of Health and Human Services has been granted permission to make some coverage decisions, but many interventions such as bone mass measurement, cancer screening and immunizations are specifically provided for in the MMA. This new legislation reflects intentions and efforts of the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services to combat rising health care costs and improve patient outcomes through the promotion of preventive measures.²⁵

Need for Review of the Evidence on the Value of the PHE

Historical changes in the conceptualization and implementation of the PHE reflect not only the complex and multidimensional nature of the PHE but also the lack of clear evidence to support or refute its continued use. While the PHE could be seen as an explicit opportunity outside of compressed symptom-based ambulatory visits for clinicians to implement recommended clinical preventive services (particularly for preventive interventions which require more time to perform or advance planning), it is unclear whether any improvements that could be gained from the implementation of the PHE would be justified by increased costs or harms which may be associated with its implementation. At the same time, it is unclear if symptom-based visits allow adequate time for clinicians to address all age-specific recommendations for prevention or behavioral issues such as smoking and diet (which are substantial contributors to the development of many of the most costly chronic illnesses burdening patients today).^{26,27} We therefore performed this comprehensive review of the extensive literature to elucidate the value of the PHE and ways in which the PHE could be improved. The review was intended to provide an evidence basis which patients, health care providers and health policy makers can use to guide future clinical practice.

Chapter 2: Methods

The ACP requested an evidence report to synthesize the available evidence on the effectiveness and/or harms of implementing the PHE. Our Evidence-based Practice Center was awarded this contract in December 2004. We established a research team and work plan to develop the evidence report. The project consisted of recruiting technical experts, formulating and refining specific research questions, performing a comprehensive literature search, summarizing the state of the literature, constructing evidence tables, synthesizing the evidence and submitting the report for peer review.

Recruitment of Technical Experts and Peer Reviewers

At the beginning of the project, we recruited a panel of internal and external technical experts to give us input on key steps including the selection and refinement of the questions to be examined. The panel included three internal technical experts from the Johns Hopkins University who had expertise in various aspects of the periodic health exam and eight external experts who had interests in the periodic health exam (see Appendix A^a). In addition to this panel of technical experts, we recruited a group of peer reviewers to examine a draft of the evidence report, as described further in the section on Peer Review. This group included representatives of organizations or agencies having different perspectives on the topic. We also sought input throughout the project from representatives of the ACP.

Key Questions

We worked with the ACP and technical experts from the CMS, the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ), and academic and clinical centers (including practicing internists and family physicians) to develop the Key Questions contained in this report. The ACP posed an initial set of questions designed to help its internal medicine physician members gain more insight into the value of the PHE for their adult patients. After consulting with representatives of the ACP and technical experts, we expanded initial questions to incorporate an assessment of the definition of the periodic health evaluation and to identify interventions which might improve the delivery of the PHE. During this process, we developed a conceptual framework, which we used to help with refinement of the initial Key Questions, to help standardize the research team's conceptualization of the PHE, and to help guide the literature search and review.

We asked the following Key Questions concerning the value of the PHE for adults:

- 1. What definitions are used for the adult PHE in studies of its value?
- 2. What is the evidence that a PHE, delivered at different patient ages or different frequencies, is associated with benefits (i.e., improved outcomes) compared to care without a PHE (e.g., usual care or opportunistic delivery of clinical preventive services)? Outcomes include:
 - a. Delivery of recommended clinical preventive services.

^a Appendixes cited in this report are provided electronically at <u>http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/tp/phetp.htm</u>

- b. Patient attitudes/perceptions (e.g., knowledge, satisfaction, trust, respect).
- c. Behavioral outcomes (e.g., tobacco cessation, adherence).
- d. Proximal/intermediate clinical outcomes (e.g., cholesterol lowering, disease management).
- e. Distal clinical outcomes (e.g., measurable clinical events such as death, or myocardial infarction).
- f. Economic outcomes (e.g., cost savings, improved health care utilization).
- g. Public health (e.g., improvements in family and community health, communicable disease containment).
- 3. What is the evidence that a PHE, delivered at different patient ages or different frequencies, is associated with harms (i.e., worse outcomes) compared to care without a PHE (e.g., usual care or opportunistic delivery of clinical preventive services)? Outcomes include:
 - a. Delivery of non-recommended clinical preventive services .
 - b. Patient attitudes/perceptions (e.g., worry/anxiety).
 - c. Behavioral outcomes (e.g., continuation of risky behaviors).
 - d. Proximal/intermediate clinical outcomes (e.g., complications from testing).
 - e. Distal clinical outcomes (e.g., measurable clinical events such as death).
 - f. Economic outcomes (e.g., induced costs, less efficient health care utilization).
 - g. Public health (e.g., declines in family and community health).
- 4. What system-based interventions improve the receipt or delivery of the PHE (e.g., insurance premium reductions or provider reminders)?

We selected these questions as the final questions for study after assessing the feasibility of addressing these questions in the literature (including brief preliminary reviews of electronic databases for the presence of evidence to address the questions) as well as on the perceived applicability and importance of the questions to current clinical practice.

Conceptual Framework

We developed a conceptual framework to a) help clarify how the PHE might be identified in the published literature, b) identify the potential goals of the PHE, c) place the PHE into a larger context of its perceived value in the health care system and society, and d) help refine the Key Questions studied. The conceptual framework was developed by group consensus after reviewing sentinel published opinion pieces, clinical reviews, and studies with primary data.^{1,16,19,28-34} We worked iteratively to produce an initial conceptual framework which we reviewed with our Technical Expert Panel. We incorporated comments from our technical experts to develop a final framework (Figure 1), which guided our selection of studies for this review.

In our model, we defined the goals and expectations of patients, providers and society, which provide the impetus for institution of the PHE. Performance of the PHE, which consists (at minimum) of a risk assessment, including personal and family history taking and a core physical examination, would be followed by delivery of tailored (to patients' age, gender and clinical risk factors) clinical preventive services. Same day clinical preventive services could be delivered

either in the context of a more detailed physical examination (e.g., the gynecological examination/Pap smear for an appropriately aged female) or in the context of the provision of preventive counseling, immunizations or laboratory testing. We defined follow up clinical preventive services as services occurring outside of the initial visit for the PHE. However, both same-day and follow up clinical preventive services could be considered potential outcomes of receiving the PHE. The PHE could occur once or over repeated intervals of time. In addition to the receipt of clinical preventive services, we defined other potential benefits and harms of the PHE, including changes in patient attitudes (e.g., trust or worry), changes in patient behaviors (e.g., adherence or continuity with care), proximal (e.g., blood pressure control) or distal (e.g., death) clinical outcomes), resource use and costs (e.g., costs associated with hospitalizations), and outcomes related to public health in general (e.g., communicable disease containment).

To standardize the investigative team's conceptualization of the PHE, we summarized our conceptual framework using the following statement, which all investigators were encouraged to refer to when reviewing the literature at all stages of the study:

"The PHE consists of one or more visits with a health care provider for the primary purpose of assessing a patient's overall health and risk factors for disease which may be prevented by early intervention. During the PHE, health care providers typically perform a history and risk assessment, followed by a tailored physical exam. Based on the information gathered, patients may receive counseling, immunizations, lab testing or arrangements for other tailored preventive health services during the evaluation. The goal of the PHE is to improve intermediate and long-term patient outcomes and ultimately the public's health by appropriate clinical management of chronic conditions, patient education, and fostering the patient-provider relationship. The PHE has the potential to affect patient health and health care cost for the individual, the health care industry, and society as a whole."

Literature Search Methods

Sources

Our comprehensive search plan included electronic and hand searching. In May 2005, we performed an initial search of the following electronic databases: MEDLINE[®], the Cochrane database including Cochrane Reviews, Database of Abstracts of Reviews of Effects (DARE), The Cochrane Central Register of Controlled Trials (CENTRAL), The Cochrane Database of Methodology Reviews (Methodology Reviews), The Cochrane Methodology Register (Methodology Register), Health Technology Assessment Database (HTA), the National Health System Economic Evaluation Database (NHS EED), and the Cumulative Index of Nursing and Allied Health Literature (CINAHL[®]). None of the electronic search strategies were limited by year of publication. The search of electronic databases was updated to include any relevant citations published before February 2006.

Hand searching for possibly relevant citations took several forms. Our experts identified 24 journals that were thought to be most likely to contain relevant studies (see Appendix B^a). We

^a Appendixes cited in this report are provided electronically at <u>http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/tp/phetp.htm</u>

scanned the table of contents of each issue of these journals for relevant citations from January 2005 through February 2006.

Reviewers also reviewed bibliographies of flagged articles of interest and included studies for the team to compare to the existing database. We used SRS[®] 3.0 (TrialStat! Corporation, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada), a web-based software package developed for systematic review data management, to track the article flagging.

Search Terms and Strategies

Search strategies, specific to each database, were designed to maximize sensitivity. Initially, we developed a core strategy for MEDLINE, accessed via PubMed[®], based on an analysis of the Medical Subject Headings (MeSH) and text words of key articles identified *a priori*.^{1,7,29,32,33,35-47} The PubMed strategy formed the basis for the strategies developed for the other electronic databases (see Appendix C^a).

Organization and Tracking of Literature Search

The results of the searches were downloaded and imported into ProCite® version 5 (ISI ResearchSoft, Carlsbad, CA). From ProCite, the articles were uploaded to SRS 3.0. We used the duplication check feature in SRS 3.0. This feature allowed us to scan for exact article duplicates, author/title duplicates, and title duplicates. Additionally, this database was used to store citations in PDF (portable document format) and to track the search results at title review, abstract review, article inclusion/exclusion, and data abstraction levels (Figure 2).

Title Review

After the electronic databases were searched, citations were downloaded into ProCite, and uploaded to the SRS 3.0 tracking system. The study team scanned all titles. Title scans were conducted in a parallel fashion by two independent reviewers. For a title to be eliminated at this level, both reviewers had to indicate that it was ineligible. If the two reviewers did not agree on the eligibility of an article, it was automatically promoted to the next level (see Appendix D^a, Title Review Form). The title review phase was designed to capture as many studies as possible reporting on the PHE. All titles related to the delivery of clinical preventive services or the PHE itself were included in the initial search and promoted to the abstract review level.

Abstract Review

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The abstract review phase was designed to capture as many studies as possible reporting on the PHE. Investigators determined whether clinical preventive services were potentially delivered in the context of the PHE in either the intervention or control groups (for controlled

^aAppendixes cited in this report are provided electronically at <u>http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/tp/phetp.htm</u>

studies) or in the entire study group (for non-comparative observational study designs). All articles with abstracts meeting these criteria were kept for further review. Abstracts were reviewed independently by two investigators, and were excluded if both investigators deemed the abstract to have: 1) no useful information applying to the Key Questions, 2) were not written in the English language, 3) included only subjects younger than 18 years in age, or 4) contained no original data (including reviews or opinion pieces) (see Appendix D, Abstract Review Form). Differences in opinions regarding abstract inclusion were resolved through consensus adjudication.

Article Inclusion/Exclusion

Because of the broad array of potentially eligible articles obtained at the abstract review phase, full articles initially selected for final review underwent another independent parallel review by investigators to determine if they should be included for full data abstraction. At this phase of review, investigators determined which of the Key Questions (2-4) each article addressed (see Appendix D, Article Inclusion/Exclusion Form). For Key Questions 2 and 3, randomized controlled trials were deemed to have applicable information if they contained a group receiving the PHE compared to a group receiving usual care. Observational studies were deemed to have information applicable to assessing Key Questions 2 and 3 if they compared one group who had received the PHE to a group of persons not receiving the PHE (e.g., if persons reported receipt of a PHE in a cross-sectional survey) or if the compared persons before and after receipt of a PHE (in pre-post study designs). Studies were considered eligible if they focused on adults, and not children. All definitions of the PHE were included without regard to the targeting of adults of specific age groups. Although our uniform conceptualization of the PHE prior to the search stated health care providers "typically perform a history and risk assessment followed by a physical exam" in the PHE, we included articles even if they did not explicitly state which components of the PHE were included. Randomized controlled trials were deemed to be not applicable if they contained two groups both receiving the PHE or if they compared groups receiving different forms of the PHE (e.g., a PHE delivered by a nurse versus a physician). For Key Question 4, studies were deemed to have applicable information if they featured interventions designed to enhance patient attendance at the PHE. This could include randomized controlled trials randomizing certain practices or communities to interventions to enhance delivery of the PHE. Articles still deemed to have applicable information at this stage were included in the final article review. All articles deemed to apply to Key Questions 2-4 were used to answer Key Question one (assessing definitions of the PHE in studies). Differences in opinions regarding article inclusion or exclusion were resolved through consensus adjudication.

Article Review

The purpose of the article review was to confirm the relevance of each article to the Key Questions, to determine methodological characteristics pertaining to study quality, and to collect evidence that addressed the Key Questions. Articles eligible for full review could address one or more of the Key Questions. If reviewers felt an article addressed more than one question, multiple data abstraction forms were used.

Two investigators reviewed each study for assessment of study quality and full data abstraction. Each reviewer independently judged study quality and rated items on standard quality assessment forms. For all data abstracted from studies, we used a sequential review process. In this process, all data abstraction forms were completed by the primary reviewer. The second reviewer confirmed the first reviewer's data abstraction forms for completeness and accuracy. Reviewer pairs were formed to include personnel with both clinical and methodological expertise. A third reviewer re-reviewed all articles that were marked as "ineligible" by the first two reviewers to ensure consistency in the classification of the articles. Reviewers were not masked to the articles' authors, institution, or journal. In most instances, data were directly abstracted from the article. If possible, relevant data were also abstracted from figures. Differences in opinion were resolved through consensus adjudication.

For each article, data abstracted included: 1) study design; 2) study location (including country of study); 3) dates the study was performed and length of follow up; 4) study setting (geographic setting as well as health care delivery structure); 5) numbers of study subjects enrolled; 6) study eligibility criteria for patients and providers; 7) descriptive characteristics of study patients (including race, gender, education, and income) and providers (including clinical specialty and practice setting); 8) components of the PHE in each study; 9) descriptive information about study interventions; and 10) study outcomes (including baseline and follow up rates of delivery of recommended preventive services, proximal clinical outcomes, distal clinical and economic outcomes as well as improvements in the delivery of the PHE) (see Appendix D, Data Abstraction Review Forms).

Data Abstraction

All information from the article review process was entered in a relational database (Recruitment Evidence Database). The database was used to maintain and clean the data, as well as to create detailed evidence tables and summary tables (see Appendix G and Tables 1 through 9).

Data abstracted to assess the definition of the PHE (Key Question 1). Data were abstracted on the components of the PHE in each study. Components of the PHE could include: 1) the history and risk assessment of patients (including collection of a history on patients' diet, alcohol/substance abuse, injuries, sexual practices, tobacco use, calcium and folic acid intake, sun exposure, or poly-pharmacy); 2) physical examination of patients (including assessment of blood pressure, height, weight, pulse, and examination of breasts, cardiovascular system, pulmonary system, abdominal region, neurological system, gynecological or urological systems, and extremities); 3) counseling provided to patients (including counseling regarding diet, physical activity, alcohol/substance abuse, injury prevention, safe sexual practices, tobacco use, use of folic acid, sun exposure, oral health, poly-pharmacy); 4) delivery of immunizations during the PHE; and 5) delivery of clinical preventive services during the PHE (including Pap smears, gonorrhea/chlamydia screening, audiometry, vision screening, electrocardiograms, chest x-rays, mammography, sigmoidoscopy, colonoscopy, fecal occult blood tests, bone mineral density tests, serum glucose, lipids, hemoglobin A1c, blood counts, chemistries, prostate specific antigen, urinalysis, and purified protein derivative skin test (PPD) screening for tuberculosis exposure). When the PHE included other components (not listed), they were abstracted for later categorization.

Data abstracted to assess outcomes of the PHE (Key Questions 2 through 4). For studies assessing the benefits and harms associated with the PHE, data were abstracted to capture changes in the delivery (by health care providers) or receipt (by patients) of recommended clinical preventive services which were delivered as a result of the PHE, including the delivery of recommended aspects of the physical examination (e.g., blood pressure measurement, gynecological examination), counseling (e.g., substance abuse counseling), immunizations (e.g., influenza vaccination), and clinical screening tests (e.g., cholesterol testing). Data were also abstracted regarding changes in patient attitudes/perceptions as a result of the PHE (e.g., knowledge, satisfaction), changes in patient behavioral outcomes as a result of the PHE (e.g., rates of tobacco cessation), proximal/intermediate clinical outcomes (e.g., cholesterol lowering, disease detection), distal clinical outcomes (e.g., death), economic outcomes (e.g., cost, health care utilization), and public health outcomes (e.g., communicable disease containment). In studies of system-level interventions, data were abstracted on interventions associated with receipt of the PHE. For randomized controlled trials, non-randomized controlled trials, and comparative observational studies, baseline and follow up data from both intervention and control groups were abstracted for comparison. For observational studies with a pre-post design, outcomes were abstracted at baseline and follow up for the single group under observation.

Article Quality Assessment

Two reviewers independently judged articles on several aspects of study external and internal validity, including: 1) description of inclusion and exclusion criteria for study subjects (best scores assigned for explicit reporting of criteria); 2) description of study subjects' baseline characteristics (best scores assigned for reporting of all important characteristics including age, gender, race, socioeconomic status, and comorbidities); 3) description of study non-enrollees (best scores assigned for description of differences in sociodemographic or clinical characteristics between study groups); 4) description of handling of study withdrawals (best scores assigned for use of intention to treat analyses with sensitivity analyses to examine differences between as-treated and intention-to-treat analyses); 5) description of the study intervention (best scores assigned for studies in which reviewers judged the intervention could be replicated with the completeness and detail included in the description); 6) adequacy of length of study follow up (best scores assigned when the length of follow up was appropriate for fully capturing outcomes); 7) study subject attrition (best scores assigned when the percentage of subjects remaining study was $\geq 85\%$); 8) description of study outcomes (best scores assigned for studies clearly describing outcomes so they could be understood easily); 9) relevancy and appropriateness of outcomes (best scores assigned for studies in which outcomes were deemed to be relevant and appropriate for the study as well as feasibly measured); 10) quality of outcomes assessment (best scores assigned with assessment of outcomes was both standardized and valid); 11) quality of randomization for RCTs, (best scores assigned for reporting of centralized randomization scheme and the presence of sufficient documentation regarding randomization); 12) quality of blinding for RCTs (best scores assigned for studies documenting adequate blinding of patients, providers, and outcomes assessors when appropriate); 13) comparable treatment of treatment groups for RCTs (best scores assigned for studies reporting comparable treatment of study groups with the exception of the intervention); 14) comparable characteristics of enrolled subjects for control and treatment groups for RCTs (best scores assigned when studies reported no significant difference in any characteristic likely to affect the success of the intervention or

any outcome); and 15) statistical analysis. Assessments of quality of statistical analyses included assessment of : 1) study power to assess study outcomes (best scores assigned when a priori estimates of the statistical analysis were reported); 2) study investigator choice for statistical tests (best scores assigned when appropriate choice of statistical tests were made); 3) the presentation of statistical significance (best scores assigned when studies reported statistical significance in the form of confidence intervals or p-values); 4) the assessment and adjustment for potential confounding, when present (best scores assigned when multivariable analyses adequately accounted for potential confounding); and 5) potential problems with unit of analyses (best scores assigned for studies with no potential problems or for studies in which potential problems existed but were appropriately addressed). For both experimental and observational studies, we applied a total quality score, based on Chalmers et al, in which items assessing the external validity of studies received 35% of the score, items assessing the internal validity of studies received 35% of the total score, and items assessing the quality of the statistical analysis received 30% of the total score (see Appendix D, Quality Review Form).⁴⁸ In developing overall quality scores for individual studies, scores for each item were averaged between two reviewers. Total quality scores for each study could range from 0 (worst quality) to 100 (best quality). In the absence of universal standards for recognizing studies of high or low quality, we classified studies according to their score relative to the distribution of all other study scores, defined by tertiles of the distribution of all scores. Studies with quality scores falling within the top 33% of all study quality scores were deemed to have "high" scores, studies with quality scores falling within the middle 33% of all study quality scores were deemed to have "medium" scores, and studies with quality scores falling within the lowest 33% of all scores were deemed to have "low" scores. Because trials were judged on slightly different criteria than observational studies, trials were rated in relation to the scores of all other trials, and observational studies were rated in relation to the scores of all other observational studies.

Data Entry and Quality Control

Initial data were abstracted by investigators and entered directly into Web-based data collection forms; SRS[®] 3.0 (TrialStat! Corporation, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada) (Appendix D). After data were reviewed by a second author, adjudicated data were re-entered into Web-based data collection forms by trained research assistants. A standard process for data quality checks was instituted in which research assistants individually inspected all data entries. In addition, research assistants used a redundant system of random data checks to assure data quality.

Grading of the Evidence

At the completion of our review, we graded the quantity, quality and consistency of the best available evidence addressing Key Questions 2-4 by adapting an evidence-grading scheme approach recommended by the Grading of Recommendations Assessment, Development and Evaluation (GRADE) Working Group.⁴⁹ GRADE is a systematic approach to grading the strength of the total body of evidence that is available to support recommendations on a specific clinical management issue. In applying the GRADE system to the evidence, we incorporated assessments of studies' design, studies' quality, consistency of findings, and magnitude of findings.

Process for Assigning Evidence Grades

First, we assessed study designs of the best available evidence to assess an individual outcome. We used the term "best available evidence" to indicate studies assessing the effect of the PHE on outcomes of interest in the least biased manner. We considered randomized controlled trials to represent the best study design to address Key Questions 2-4. Thus, when RCTs assessed outcomes, we considered the best available evidence assessing the outcome to be comprised of two or more RCTs. If an outcome was evaluated by at least two RCTs as well as observational studies, our evidence grade was based only on the RCTs and observational studies were ignored. If an outcome was evaluated by one or no RCTs, our evidence grade was based on the single randomized controlled trial in addition to the best available non-randomized controlled trial or the best available observational studies (cohort studies (considered best), followed by cross-sectional studies and studies with pre-post observational design (considered worst)). We reported the number of studies within the category of best available evidence to assess the quantity of evidence.

Based on the design of at least two studies comprising the best available evidence assessing specific outcomes, we designated a starting numeric value between one and four for the evidence applying to each outcome. Accordingly, we assigned a value of 4 (highest value) if the body of evidence for the outcome included two or more RCTs; a value of 3 if there was one RCT with or without at least one non-randomized controlled trial, one RCT with or without at least one cohort study (prospective or retrospective), or one RCT and one pre-post study; a value of 2 if there were cohort studies only (prospective or retrospective) or if there was one controlled trial and two cross-sectional studies. All other study designs started with a value of one (lowest value). Next, we assessed the quality of the individual studies providing the evidence on specific outcomes. We used the standard assessment of individual study quality (described above and completed prior to the evidence grading process) to guide our evaluation of the overall quality of evidence assessing the outcome, including variations in studies' external validity, internal validity, and approach to statistical analysis. We evaluated the consistency of the direction of results reported in the evidence by evaluating the number and type of studies reporting the PHE had positive, negative or no effects on specific outcomes. Bodies of evidence in which results from individual studies were consistent in direction for a specific outcome received no point deduction for inconsistency. Bodies of evidence in which some studies reported results in one direction (either positive or negative) but some studies reported neutral effects of the PHE received a 0.5 point deduction for inconsistency. Bodies of evidence in which studies reported both positive and negative results received a full one point deduction for inconsistency. Finally, we evaluated the directness of evidence by considering how individual studies handled plausible confounders, and we evaluated the strength of the associations between the PHE and outcomes based on the magnitude of effect sizes indicating clinically significant differences in outcomes between groups receiving the PHE and groups not receiving the PHE.

We based the overall grade of evidence on these four key elements for each outcome, categorized as "high" grade (score of 3.0 to 4.0), 2) "medium" grade (score of 2.0 to 2.9), 3) "low" grade (score of 1.0 to 1.9), and 4) "very low" grade (score less than 1.0). A grade of "high" signifies that further research would be unlikely to alter observed effects, a grade of "medium" signifies that further research could alter the observed effects, a grade of "low" signifies that further research would be very likely to alter the observed effects in the abstracted literature, and a grade of "very low" signifies that any estimate of effect is very uncertain. In

Figure 3, utilizing colon cancer as an example outcome, we have provided an example of our approach to grading the evidence for each outcome.

Estimating the Magnitude of Effect of the PHE on Outcomes in RCTs

In an effort to provide standard estimates of the effect of the PHE across outcomes, we calculated effect sizes (using Cohen's d Effect Size Estimate for mean differences and differences in proportions) for comparative studies evaluating the effect of the PHE on outcomes where possible.^{50,51} We considered effect sizes ranging from 0 to 0.25 to represent "small" effects, ranging from 0.26 to 0.8 to represent "medium" sized effects, and effect sizes greater than 0.8 to represent "large" effects.⁵⁰ Effect sizes can be thought of as the average percentile standing of the average participant receiving the PHE relative to the average participant not receiving the PHE. An effect size of 0.0 indicates that the mean of the group receiving the PHE is at the 50th percentile of group not receiving the PHE. An effect size of 0.25 indicates that the mean of the group receiving the PHE is at the 58th percentile of the group not receiving the PHE. An effect size of 0.8 indicates that the mean of the group receiving the PHE is at the 79th percentile of the group not receiving the PHE. Thus, larger effect sizes represent greater separation of findings between treatment and control groups.⁵² We also noted the direction of effects. We considered evidence neutral when the 95% CI of the estimate of effect included zero. When enough data were not presented in articles to present effect sizes (e.g., no information reported regarding the variance of reported means), we presented other standard estimates of effect (e.g., rate ratio) or estimated the direction and clinical significance of reported results.

Peer Review

Throughout the project, we sought feedback from the technical experts through ad hoc and formal requests for guidance. A draft of the completed report was sent to the technical experts and peer reviewers, as well as to the representatives of the ACP and AHRQ. The range of reviewers included a representative of the sponsor of the Key Questions (ACP), academic experts in the assessment of clinical preventive services and primary care, patient stakeholder organizations (American Association of Retired Persons, American Cancer Society), private and public health insurance stakeholders (American Health Insurance Plans and CMS), and experts from the AHRQ. Substantive comments were entered into a database, and revisions to the draft report addressed reviewer comments. The disposition of all comments was submitted to the AHRQ with the final report.

Chapter 3: Results

Results of Literature Search and Abstract Review Process

A summary of the results of the search and review process is provided in Figure 2.

In addition to the 7003 citations retrieved by the search methods, we retrieved 64 citations through hand searching. Using the duplicate removal feature of SRS 3.0, and reviewer observation, we identified 544 duplicates, leaving 6523 for title review. Of these, we reviewed 2021 at the abstract level. We included 819 articles in the full article inclusion/exclusion portion of the review. Of these, 54 articles were promoted for full data abstraction and quality assessment. These 54 articles represented 36 studies that reported multiple outcomes and/or multiple follow ups. Full data abstraction was completed only on the 36 studies integrating data from all 54 articles.

Because many articles had more than one reason to be excluded the abstract reviewers did not need to agree on the main reason for exclusion applied at the abstract level. The two most frequent reasons for exclusion were that the article did not include any useful information for this review (762 abstracts), and no original data was presented (either a review or an opinion piece) (523 abstracts). The remaining reasons for exclusion were: study included only subjects less than 18 years old (75 abstracts), and not an English language study (4 abstracts). Articles could be excluded for more than one reason at this level.

Results of Article Inclusion/Exclusion Process

From the abstract review process, 819 citations were identified for the article inclusion/exclusion phase. At this level 762 articles (93%) were excluded, and 3 were not retrievable. The most frequent reasons for exclusion were that the article did not include any original data (390 articles), the article did not apply to any of the Key Questions (372 articles), the exposure in the study was not a PHE (310 articles), and the article focused on specific preventive service delivery (215 articles). Of the 54 articles (36 studies) included in this report, Key Question 1 was addressed by all studies, Key Questions 2 was addressed by 36 studies, and Key Question 4 was addressed by 5 studies. Articles could be excluded for more than one reason at this level. A listing of the included articles and the excluded articles with the reasons for exclusion is included in this report (Appendix E^a).

General Study Characteristics

We identified a total of 36 studies containing information applicable to the Key Questions. A description of study characteristics is listed in Table 1. The most common study design was cross-sectional (14 studies), followed by RCTs (11) and cohort studies (7). Overall, the literature was characterized by complexity and heterogeneity in several dimensions. Studies were conducted over a period of several decades (19 from 1990 and later, 9 between 1970 and 1989, 4 before 1970, 4 articles did not indicate when the study was conducted) (Table 1). Practice

^aAppendixes cited in this report are provided electronically at <u>http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/tp/phetp.htm</u>

settings for the studies were also diverse, with 16 studies taking place in ambulatory practice offices, seven in academic practice settings and four in hospital outpatient clinics. Studies described family medicine physicians, internal medicine physicians and general practice physicians as delivering the PHE. Studies reflected a range of health plans as well, with 10 studies in non-U.S. national health plans, four in Medicare settings, four in employer health plans and two in staff-model HMOs. While 25 studies were performed in the U.S., we also identified relevant studies from the U.K., Canada, Taiwan, Japan, Denmark and Sweden

In addition to study setting and population, heterogeneity was evident in how the PHE was delivered. Some studies reported on the effects of receiving PHEs over a period of time, but most studies reported on receiving the PHE at one point in time. While all studies included some sort of comparison to the PHE, some studies compared the PHE to usual care (which was defined heterogeneously or no system for the organized delivery of preventive services), and some observational studies compared exposure to a PHE to lack of exposure to a PHE (Table 2). The definition of the PHE also varied substantially across studies (see Key Question 1). Receipt of the PHE in intervention groups offered the PHE ranged from 54% to 100% across studies.

Studies described a wide range of outcomes including clinical preventive service delivery, health behaviors, hospitalization, and mortality. Most studies reported on multiple outcomes: 13 studies reported on one outcome; 5 studies reported on two; and 18 studies reported on three or more. (Table 3) Eleven articles reported on delivery of at least three delivery of clinical preventive services outcomes, three reported on at least three proximal clinical outcomes, and three reported on at least three distal clinical or economic outcomes.

Randomized Controlled Trials

The 11 RCTs studying the value of the PHE spanned a variety of populations and settings including: Medicare demonstration projects, Veterans Administration Medical Centers, Kaiser Health Plan, South London, Denmark and Sweden. Four trials were performed in 1990 or later, three were performed in the 1980s and four were performed before 1980 (1964, 1967, 1969 and 1974.) Every outcome measured in the report had results from at least one randomized controlled trial. (Table 2)

Medicare Demonstration Projects. Four RCTs examined the effect of the PHE in Medicare populations through demonstration projects sponsored by the Health Care Financing Administration. The goal of these projects was to determine whether Medicare payment for preventive services delivered to seniors results in better health and decreased health care utilization. In one Medicare demonstration study in 2558 patients, performed in 1993 at Group Health Cooperative of Puget Sound HMO in Seattle, the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive service package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including a health risk assessment, a health promotion visit (including health risk appraisals, positive behavior reinforcement, referrals for interventions where appropriate), disease prevention visit (visit with nurses and physicians who conducted history and physical examinations and reviewed patients' health risks), and follow up educational classes (group exercise classes, "planning" ahead classes with advanced directives and long-term care insurance.)⁵³ Counseling on exercise. high fiber/low fat diet and advance directives was also offered to all intervention group participants. The health promotion and disease prevention visits and the exercise classes were conducted annually for two years. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians practices. Immunization, health habits, patient attitudes,

body mass index (BMI), costs and mortality were measured outcomes; some outcomes were measured at completion of the two-year intervention while others were also assessed two years after intervention completion (4 years from baseline). Fifty-one percent of eligible enrollees participated in study. Of the treatment group, approximately 90% had health-promotion and disease-prevention visits in the first intervention year, and approximately 83% had visits in year two. Seventy-eight percent had all four visits in years one and two, and 9% had no visits. However, only 24% of the treatment group attended any offered classes. The main limitation to this study is generalizability to non-elderly non-Medicare populations. Other limitations include suboptimal reporting on blinding, potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding, and poor description of study outcomes.

In a second Medicare demonstration project beginning in 1993, 1203 subjects who were Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in a health maintenance organization in San Diego were randomly assigned to receive either a PHE comprised of selected clinical tests and immunizations, a health risk appraisal with individual counseling, and a series of health promotion sessions or usual care. The health risk appraisal and health promotion workshops were offered for one year. In the second year of the intervention, individual counseling was continued. Outcomes assessed included health habits, BMI and blood pressure. Behaviors were assessed from patients' self reports; blood pressure was measured.⁵⁴ Ninety-six percent of the intervention group completed the health risk appraisal and individual counseling, 87% attended at least one group session, and 59% attended at least six group sessions. Limitations in this study include suboptimal reporting on differences between study enrollees and non-enrollees, blinding and participant withdrawals. In addition, the results may not be generalizable outside the Medicare population.

A third study reporting on a Medicare demonstration project described results for 1914 participants in 10 primary care practices in central North Carolina, with chart abstraction on 455 patients.⁵⁵ Physicians of patients randomized to the intervention group received annual capitated payments for preventive care and health promotion packages, prompting to routinely schedule preventive care visits, office system changes for nurse delivery of preventive care and a form for charting preventive care. Patients were randomized within physician practices, and intervention group patients received the "preventive service package" at no cost. The "preventive service package" included annual history and physical, Pap smear, breast exam, eye exam, hearing test, depression test, influenza and pneumovax immunizations, cholesterol tests, fecal occult blood testing, urinalysis and a urinary incontinence test. Each clinical screening service had recommended intervals for delivery, and nurses were responsible for delivery of most of the preventive care services. The "preventive service package" (history and physical and recommended tests) was offered once a year for two years. One hour health promotion sessions were offered twice a year for two years and included physical activity, nutrition and stress management classes with others offered based on risk. Practices received monthly prompting to schedule prevention appointments, and nurses received training to conduct the prevention/health promotion services offered. Special chart forms were used for services delivered as part of the intervention. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians practices. Study outcomes assessed included Pap smear, immunization, cholesterol screening, fecal occult blood screening, mammogram, costs and hospitalizations. Outcomes were assessed through chart review on a sample of practices, participant interview and Medicare claims records. Outcomes assessments based on interviews and chart review occurred between 12 and 26 months after the beginning of the intervention; cost outcomes were assessed 1

year after completing the intervention (3 years after beginning of intervention.) The authors report 45% of eligible patients were recruited to participate. Of the 954 participants randomized to the intervention group, 88% received at least one clinical screening and 87% received at least one health promotion service. The primary limitation of this study is that the results may not be generalizable beyond the Medicare population.

The fourth Medicare demonstration project was conducted in Baltimore in 1989 and randomized 4195 participants to receive a physical examination, history and evaluation, laboratory procedures and immunizations, and counseling for health risks or else usual care.⁵⁶ Intervention participants received a voucher for a preventive exam from their physician once a year for two years. The history and physical exam included vision, hearing, dentition, breast exam, pelvic exam with Pap smear and digital rectal exam. Fecal occult blood tests and total serum cholesterol tests were performed. Vouchers for counseling visits were issued if physicians requested them; counseling could include smoking, exercise, diet, alcohol use/abuse, emotional distress, injury prevention/ falls, medication use/adverse reactions, sleep problems, functional status and urinary incontinence. Outcomes measured included Pap smear, health habits (smoking, problem drinking), health status, costs, hospitalizations and mortality. Some outcomes were measured at the end of the two-year intervention, and some were measured two years later. Outcomes were assessed by a combination of self-report and Medicare claims data. Sixty-three percent of the intervention group had a preventive clinical visit; 52% had a counseling visit. In year two, 32% made a preventive visit and 33% made a counseling visit. The study's limitations included suboptimal reporting of blinding and that the results may not be generalizable beyond the Medicare population.

Veteran Affairs Medical Center. One randomized controlled trial, beginning in 1981, took place in the Seattle Veterans Affairs Medical Center.⁴⁴ In this study, 1224 male patients were randomized to receive the PHE in the context of a "health promotion clinic" versus other supplementary services versus usual care. We include the 647 patients offered the "health promotion clinic" or usual care in this review (the other patients (n=577) received other supplementary services to encourage preventive service compliance not pertinent to this report). In the "health promotion clinic," nurse practitioners, with backup consultation by general internists, delivered screening, counseling and referral protocols tailored to participants' age, gender and other risk factors. These were similar to the 1989 USPSTF recommended activities and included history and physical examination items (alcoholism screen, smoking assessment, blood pressure check, breast examination); laboratory testing (fecal occult blood, cholesterol, tuberculin skin test, VDRL, Pap smear and mammography); tetanus/diphtheria and influenza vaccination, and counseling on breast self-examination and alcoholism and smoking cessation. Results of screening were given to the patient and to their usual medical care provider. The "health promotion clinic" was offered for five years. Outcomes were assessed by chart review five years after trial completion, compared to baseline, and included alcohol or smoking screening, influenza immunization and fecal occult blood testing. Seventy-one percent of those in the intervention group participated in the health promotion clinic during year one, and 78% of participants came to the health promotion clinic in either year one or year two. In year two, 90% of those attending in year one returned for the second annual screening. Limitations of this study included lack of detail provided on the study population or the content of the PHE and limited generalizability. Although this study was designed to assess this outcome directly, its limitations included suboptimal description of the study population, no reporting on any blinding, and its potentially limited generalizability to men receiving care in the VA setting.

South London, U.K. One study, performed in 1967, was a large randomized controlled trial of nearly 7,000 community dwelling persons in South London who attended one of two group general practices. This study was designed to assess the value of introducing a general practice based screening service (compared to usual care) for persons age 40-64 and followed patients for nine years for the incidence of co-morbid illnesses, hospitalization or mortality.⁵⁷ The general practice based multiphasic screening service was described as a visit in which patients completed a "symptoms questionnaire" and occupational history followed by a physical examination performed by nurses (primarily, supervised by a physician) and several screening tests. The goal was to screen for ischemic heart disease, elevated blood pressure, chronic bronchitis, diabetes, thyroid imbalance, arthritis, obesity, varicose veins and hearing and visual defects. Specific physical exam components included height, weight, blood pressure, skinfold, skin, mouth, joints, abdomen, legs, breast and pelvic exams; screening tests included pulmonary function tests, vision, audiometry, chest X-ray, ECG, blood count, blood urea, blood glucose, serum cholesterol, protein-bound iodine, uric acid and fecal occult blood testing. Two years after the first multiphasic screening, participants with initially abnormal screening results were invited to have a second screening. Outcomes included disease detection, health habits, disability, hospitalization and mortality up to nine years. Health habits and disability were self-reported. Seventy-three percent of eligible individuals participated in the first health screening of which 99% had both clinic tests and a physical examination. Limitations of this study include suboptimal reporting on blinding, suboptimal adjustment of confounders and incomplete presentation of statistical significance. In addition, this study was performed before the USPSTF or similar contemporary preventive services guidelines were in effect which may limit inferences that can be drawn.

Small Canadian RCT. The goal of this trial, performed in Canada in 1974, was to determine if a multiphasic screening program helps physicians identify new medical problems. One hundred twelve physicians in an academic teaching setting were randomized to a) have their patients undergo a multiphasic screening program, b) have their patients receive usual care followed by formal medical records abstraction, or c) have their patients receive usual care followed by an informal chart review by the physicians themselves. Patients ages 40 to 65 years being seen at least twice in the past year were eligible for the study, and one patient per physician was studied. The patients in the multiphasic screening program arm received their multiphasic exam after the regular physician visit. One to two weeks after the visit, physicians were given additional information about their patients according to the randomized study groups: multiphasic screening results, results from chart abstraction or being able to review their patients chart for 15 minutes. Disease detection of all new problems and all "important" problems were outcomes measured before and after the intervention. In the multiphasic screening program, patients were administered a "standard health questionnaire" followed by a physical examination and several screening tests.⁴⁵ The exam and screening tests included blood pressure, height, weight, visual acuity, tonometry, audiometry, blood leukocyte count, hematocrit, syphilis serology, 16-channel automated biochemistry profiles, urinalysis, ECG, chest X-ray, vital capacity, breast exam and Pap smear. Limitations of this study include suboptimal reporting on blinding and on the study population characteristics as well as potentially incomplete adjustment for residual confounding. In addition, this study was performed before the USPSTF or similar contemporary preventive services guidelines were in effect which may limit inferences that can be drawn.
Kaiser Multiphasic Health Checkup Study. A large trial randomized 10,713 Kaiser Health Plan members ages 35-54 years in 1964 to either being encouraged to undergo an annual multiphasic health checkup or receiving usual care.⁴¹ The study group resided in San Francisco, Oakland or Berkley and had to have at least two years continuous membership in the health plan. The intervention group received an initial letter and then regular phone calls over the eleven year study period urging them schedule a multiphasic health checkup appointment annually. The multiphasic health checkup consisted of a series of laboratory and radiologic tests, selfadministered history, and follow up physical exam by an internist. Testing included ECG, sphygmomanometery, anthropometry, chest and breast X-rays, visual acuity, tonometry, audiometry, spirometry, urine test and serum chemistry panel. After the evaluation, the patient's regular internist received a report of the results. Outcomes assessed included costs, self-reported disability and mortality. Mortality outcomes were followed up to 16 years. Fifty-four percent of the intervention group received four or more multiphasic check-ups over the first seven years compared to 13% of the control group. Eighty-three percent of the intervention group at had least one examination over seven years compared to53% of the control group. The limitations of this study include suboptimal reporting on any blinding as potential inadequate adjustment for confounders. As in other studies conducted before contemporary clinical preventive services guidelines were developed, this study may not have the same potential for improving health outcomes as later trials.

Stockholm, Sweden. This large RCT was conducted in Stockholm in 1969 to investigate the long-term effects of one "general health screening" on mortality.⁵⁸ In this study of over 32,000 residents ages 18 to 65 years, 2,578 underwent the general health screening. The "general health screening" included social, psychiatric and medical interviews, blood tests, physical examinations, ECGs, exercise tests, psychological tests and eye and dental examinations. Each participant was screened over the course of one day by social workers, psychiatrists and physicians. Mortality over 20 years was assessed by the national death registry. Eighty-four percent of individuals offered the health screening were examined. Limitations of this study include suboptimal reporting on blinding, differences between participants and non-participants, description of study population characteristics and detailed description of the PHE. In addition, there was potentially inadequate consideration of confounders. Finally, the PHE was performed in before USPSTF guidelines were available.

OXCHECK. This RCT was conducted in five urban and suburban general practices in Bedfordshire, England in 1989, and studied the effectiveness of health checks delivered by nurses in primary care in reducing risk factors for cardiovascular disease and cancer.⁵⁹ Over 11,000 individuals aged 35 to 64 years who returned a health questionnaire were randomly allocated to health checks during one of four years. This report focuses on participants who received a health check in year one of the study (n=2205) and year four (n=1660) compared to participants who received their first health check in year four (n=1916). The health check consisted of a 45 to 60 minute visit with medical history, lifestyle questionnaire, structured dietary assessment, height, weight, blood pressure, and serum cholesterol. Post visit counseling was also given. Nurses were formally trained to conduct health checks per a standard protocol. Outcomes included health habits, blood pressure, cholesterol level, BMI, and cost effectiveness. Of the 2205 participants in the intervention group (receiving PHE in year 1 and year 4), 75% received the health check at year 4. Limitations in this study include reporting on blinding and potentially inadequate adjustment for confounders.

U.K. System-level Intervention. This RCT examined an intervention on the uptake of the PHE. This study, published in 1992, randomized patients of a general practice in the Norfolk, England to receive either an invitation for a scheduled health check or an open invitation for a health check.⁶⁰ The health check consisted of a history and physical examination performed by a nurse, followed by the generation of a personalized letter summarizing results and providing personalized advice regarding health changes. Eight hundred eighteen patients ages 30 to 41 years were randomized. The outcome was attendance at the PHE. Limitations of this study include lack of reporting of detailed study population characteristics and potentially inadequate adjustment for confounding.

Benefits and Limitations of RCTs Assessing the PHE

RCTs provide the only study design capable of minimizing bias due to unmeasured confounding. However, it is difficult to follow long-term outcomes in RCTs, especially with the delay expected between the effects of health interventions mediated through the PHE (at times only one PHE was received in these studies) and durable effects many years later. During this time period, participants in RCTs may have many other interactions with the health care system which could limit the ability to detect meaningful differences in health outcomes. Randomized trials of the PHE also are expensive, and although the study design maximizes internal validity, results from one study population may not be broadly generalizable to others. Moreover, only one third of RCTs evaluating the PHE were performed in 1990 or later when the USPSTF guidelines were in effect. Earlier studies would not be expected to have the same effects on health outcomes as later trials if they did not incorporate contemporary preventive service guidelines.

Benefits and Limitations of Observational Studies Assessing the PHE

Observational studies on the PHE have inherent limitations that lessen inferences that can be drawn from their results. First, persons undergoing a PHE or volunteering for a PHE are likely healthier than those who do not. This selection bias can confound measurements of health outcomes, and possibly also preventive service delivery if physicians are less likely to recommend services to ill patients. Observational studies collecting information from self-report are subject to recall bias, and studies collecting information on preventive services from chart review are subject to the bias that clinicians may be more likely to record counseling services during a PHE. While some studies attempt to adjust for these issues, residual confounding usually remains a concern.

Despite their limitations, evidence from observational studies on the value of the PHE is included in this report (Table 2). Over 80% of studies conducted since 1990 have an observational design, likely due to the fact that randomized trials of the PHE are by nature large and very expensive. Thus, in order to consider the body of recent evidence on the PHE and to incorporate diverse populations (e.g., women, ethnic minorities), observational studies are included, while fully acknowledging their limitations.

Seven cohort studies, fourteen cross-sectional studies and three studies with pre/post comparison design assessed the value of the PHE. Nineteen of the studies took place in 1990 or later, two between 1980 and 1989 and three before 1980. The study populations were quite diverse ranging from middle management employees, to elderly residents in Taiwan, to primary

care clinic patients in settings across the U.S. Just as in the RCTs, the observational studies reported on a wide range of outcomes of the PHE.

Article Quality

The quality of reporting on studies varied, with only one study receiving quality scores in the highest tertile for external validity, internal validity, and quality of statistical analysis.⁵⁵ (Table 4) The majority of studies received varied ratings for external validity and internal validity, while five studies received scores in the lowest tertile for external validity, internal validity, and quality of statistical analysis (Table 4).^{28,61-64} Total quality scores for experimental trials were generally high (median score of 68 (range 56 to 87) out of 100 total possible points). Total quality scores for observational studies were also generally high, but with more variability in range (median score of 63 (range 37 to 77) out of 100 total possible points). Total quality scores are included in the evidence tables Appendix G).

Key Question 1: What Definitions are Used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value?

Summary of findings. Definitions of the PHE were heterogeneous. While central elements used to define the PHE included the clinical history and risk assessment of patients and a physical examination, the specific composition of these central elements varied among studies. The most frequently cited types of history and risk assessment performed were assessment of dietary, alcohol/substance abuse, and tobacco smoking risks; the least frequently cited types of risk assessment included assessment of calcium and folic acid intake. In many cases, the physical examination was referred to with no specific clarification of what components were included. When specified, the most frequently cited components of the examination were assessment of blood pressure, weight and height, breast examination, gynecological examination, and rectal examination; the least frequently cited components included neurological and foot examinations.

Findings. A description of components studies reported as being part of the PHE is listed in Table 5. The most frequently reported components involving history and risk assessment were: assessment of tobacco smoking (14 studies); alcohol and substance use (13 studies); dietary risk factors (12 studies); and physical activity (10 studies). Fewer studies included assessments of injury risk/injury prevention (6 studies), calcium intake (2 studies) or folic acid intake (2 studies). The most frequently reported components involving the physical examination were: blood pressure (18 studies), breast examination (12 studies), weight (12 studies), height (10 studies), and gynecological examination (10 studies). Fourteen studies described the delivery of the PHE in general terms (e.g., as a "well visit" or a "health maintenance visit") without further reporting what specific components were included in the PHE itself. Fewer studies reported on assessments of pulse (4 studies) rectal, prostate, abdominal or neurological examinations (4 studies for each), neurological examination (3 studies) or foot examination (2 studies). Complete definitions of the PHE varied tremendously (Table 2).

Key Question 2: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits Compared to Care Without a PHE?

Studies addressing Key Question 2 included studies reporting on the association of receipt of the PHE with: a) the delivery/receipt of seven clinical preventive services (gynecological examination/Pap smear, counseling, immunizations, cholesterol screening, colon cancer screening, and mammography); b) seven proximal clinical outcomes (disease detection, patient health habits, patient attitudes, health status, blood pressure, serum cholesterol, and BMI); c) three distal clinical outcomes (disability, hospitalization, and mortality); and d) economic outcomes (costs and cost-effectiveness).

Delivery of Clinical Preventive Services

Gynecological Examination/Pap Smear

Summary of findings. Thirteen studies (including two RCTs and eleven observational studies) evaluated the association of receiving the PHE with delivery/receipt of the gynecological examination/Pap smear. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of two large RCTs, performed in the late 1980's, and it was deemed to be of "high" grade based on standard criteria. In these studies, the PHE had small to large positive effects on the receipt of the gynecological examination/Pap smear (see below for details). While these RCTs were specifically designed to assess the effect of the PHE on this outcome, they focused on Medicare recipients, and thus may be limited in their generalizability to other populations. Observational studies of the association of receipt of the PHE with receipt of the gynecological examination/Pap smear revealed both positive and mixed results. Observational studies had a variety of limitations, including potential confounding of results not accounted for and use of data subject to recall bias.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from two large RCTs, received an overall grade of "high." In grading the evidence, these studies were found to have few serious limitations in quality, no important inconsistency with regard to the direction of effects, adequate data, and a low probability of reporting bias (Table 6). These two studies evaluated the effect of the PHE on the delivery/receipt of the gynecological examination/Pap smear among community dwelling Medicare recipients who received reimbursement for the PHE compared to Medicare recipients receiving usual care. While these studies were limited in their generalizability to other ambulatory populations, they were specifically designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on delivery/receipt of clinical preventive services and therefore directly addressed Key Question 2 (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. Two randomized controlled trials performed in 1988 and 1989 studied Medicare recipients (over 5000 patient combined total).^{55,56} Follow up of patients ranged from twelve to 26 months. In one study, funded as a Medicare demonstration project, the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical

preventive services including annual history and physical on at least an annual basis, delivered by both a nurse and a physician. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians' practices.⁵⁵ In the other study, also funded as a Medicare demonstration project in which participants in the intervention group received vouchers for free preventive visits to be delivered by participants' primary care physicians, the PHE was described as consisting of a history and physical examination followed by the provision of USPSTF recommended clinical preventive services. The comparison group received no coverage for annual preventive visits or tests.⁵⁶ The PHE had a small positive effect (Cohen's d (95% confidence interval (CI)): 0.07 (0.07,0.07)) to a large positive effect (Cohen's d (95% CI):1.71 (1.69,1.73)) on delivery/receipt of the gynecological examination/Pap smear (Table 7, Evidence Table 1a). Limitations of these studies include their potential limited generalizability to non-Medicare populations (Table 2).

Observational studies. Observational studies evaluating the association of receipt of the PHE with delivery/receipt of the gynecological examination/Pap smear included one retrospective cohort study, eight cross-sectional studies, and two observational studies with pre-post design performed from 1976 to 2004. Study populations for these studies included patients seen in community practices who interacted (or did not interact) with a touch-sensitive computer system placed in primary care practices to promote the delivery of preventive services.⁶⁵ a crosssectional audit of outpatient billing claims for adults seen at least once by a primary care provider classified by visit type (visits for preventive care vs. acute care).⁶⁶ female residents in Ontario, Canada who completed the National Population Health Survey reporting their use of annual examinations with answers linked to their use of services in a national health insurance plan,⁶⁷ respondents to a California telephone survey who were contacted to assess their access to preventive services and satisfaction with preventive services,⁶⁸ data from the National Ambulatory Medical Care and National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Surveys in which physicians completed forms describing reasons for ambulatory visits (including general medical visits or gynecological) and the receipt of preventive services,⁶⁴ Mexican-American participants in a telephone and door-to-door survey designed to assess access to and use of ambulatory health care,⁶⁹ patients randomly selected from 44 ambulatory outpatient clinics who completed a survey to ascertain their receipt of preventive services in the context of "checkup physical examinations" versus other types of visits,³¹ patients from randomly selected community practices agreeing to complete a questionnaire and medical record review to assess their receipt of a "periodic health examination" and their receipt of recommended clinical preventive services.⁷⁰ employed health insurance enrollees responding to a questionnaire regarding the receipt of clinical preventive services in the past year,⁶³ patients in an ambulatory family practice residency clinic in which physicians participated in a quality improvement program to enhance the delivery of the "health maintenance examination" and clinical preventive services,⁷¹ and family practice residents and faculty physicians using a practice-based teaching model to increase resident compliance with USPSTF guidelines.⁷² Eight of these observational studies reported a positive association between receipt of the PHE and delivery/receipt of the gynecological examination/Pap smear, while three of these studies reported mixed results (Table 8, Evidence Tables 1b-d). Several limitations were noted among these observational studies including inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the studies, lack of detail in studies' descriptions of the PHE, and the potential for recall bias in studies based on participant interviews/questionnaire responses (Table 2).

Preventive Counseling

Summary of findings. Thirteen studies (including one RCT and eight observational studies) evaluated the association of receiving the PHE with delivery/receipt of preventive counseling. A variety of types of counseling were examined within studies, including counseling regarding diet (6 studies), regarding physical activity (9 studies), smoking cessation (9 studies), alcohol/substance abuse (8 studies), injury prevention (3 studies), safe sexual practices (3 studies), calcium intake (one study), oral health (one study), sun exposure (one study), and general counseling (not otherwise specified) (one study). Four studies reported on other types of counseling. The delivery of all types of preventive counseling among studies was treated as a single outcome. The best available evidence to assess this outcome emanated from one RCT and six cross-sectional observational studies performed from1981 to 2004, and it was deemed to be of "low" grade based on standard criteria. Most studies reported a positive association of receiving a PHE with the delivery/receipt of preventive counseling with a strongly positive effect rendered by the PHE on delivery/receipt of smoking cessation counseling and alcohol abuse counseling in the RCT. Five observational studies reporting moderate to large positive associations of receipt of the PHE with receipt of counseling, while one observational study reported a negative association. The RCT was noted to have poor description of the study population and the PHE itself as well as its potentially limited generalizability to persons receiving care in the Veterans Affairs setting. However, this study did directly address Key Question 2. The seven cross-sectional studies were noted to have several limitations, including not directly addressing Key question 2, inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the studies, lack of detail in studies' descriptions of the PHE, and the potential for recall bias in studies based on participant interviews/questionnaire responses.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from one RCT and six cross-sectional observational studies received an overall grade of "low." In grading the evidence, these studies were found to have serious limitations in quality, moderate inconsistency in the direction of results (one observational study reporting a negative association with remaining studies reporting positive associations) but adequate data and low probability of reporting bias (Table 6). Although the RCT was designed to assess this outcome directly, its limitations included poor description of the study population and the PHE itself as well as its potentially limited generalizability to persons receiving care in the VA setting.⁴⁴ The seven cross-sectional studies were noted to have several limitations, including not being designed to specifically assess this outcome, inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the studies, lack of detail in studies' descriptions of the PHE, and the potential for recall bias in studies based on participant interviews/questionnaire responses (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trial. In this study, patients attending a VA medical center were randomized to receive the PHE in the context of a "health promotion clinic" versus usual care.⁴⁴The study measured the delivery of both alcohol abuse counseling and smoking cessation counseling.⁴⁴ The study began in 1981 with follow up for five years. Limitations of this study included lack of detail provided on the study population or the content of the PHE and limited generalizability. Delivery/receipt of alcohol abuse and smoking counseling were improved by randomization to the health promotion clinic in this study (Cohen's d (95% (CI)): 1.18 (1.17,1.21) and 1.09 (1.08,1.11), respectively) (Tables 2 and 7, Evidence Table 2a).

Observational studies. Observational studies evaluating the delivery/receipt of preventive counseling included six cross-sectional studies and two observational studies with pre-post design performed from 1993 to 2004. Study populations included reports from ambulatory patients across the U.S.,⁷³ data from the National Ambulatory Medical Care and National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Surveys in which physicians completed forms describing reasons for ambulatory visits (including general medical visits or gynecological) and the receipt of preventive services,⁶⁴ outpatients seen in family practices in Ohio,^{42,74} patients randomly selected from 44 ambulatory outpatient clinics who completed a survey to ascertain their receipt of preventive services in the context of "checkup physical examinations" versus other types of visits,³¹ patients from randomly selected community practices agreeing to complete a questionnaire and medical record review to assess their receipt of a "periodic health examination" and their receipt of recommended clinical preventive services,⁷⁰ patients in an ambulatory family practice residency clinic in which physicians participated in a quality improvement program to enhance the delivery of the "health maintenance examination" and clinical preventive services,⁷¹ and family practice residents and faculty physicians using a practice-based teaching model to increase resident compliance with USPSTF guidelines.⁷² Six of these observational studies reported positive associations of receipt of the PHE with receipt of counseling, while one study reported a negative association and one reported mixed results (Table 8, Evidence Tables 2b-c). Several limitations were noted among these observational studies including inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the studies, lack of detail in studies' descriptions of the PHE, studies not specifically designed to examine Key Question 2, and the potential for recall bias in studies based on participant interviews/questionnaire responses (Table 2).

Preventive Immunizations

Summary of findings. Nine studies (including three randomized controlled trials and six observational studies) evaluated the association of receiving the PHE with delivery/receipt of preventive immunizations. The association of receiving the PHE with delivery of a variety of immunizations was examined within studies, including the delivery of influenza (7 studies), tetanus (6 studies) and pneumonia (4 studies) vaccinations. Two studies reported on the delivery of other immunizations. The delivery of all types of preventive immunization among studies was treated as a single outcome. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from three RCTs performed from 1981 to 1999, and it was deemed to be of "medium" grade based on standard criteria. Results in these three RCTs were mixed with two studies reporting small to medium sized positive effects (two studies) and one study reporting a small negative effect of the PHE on delivery/receipt of preventive immunization. While these RCTs were specifically designed to assess the effect of the PHE on this outcome, they focused on Medicare recipients and patients of a Veterans Affairs medical center and thus may be limited in their generalizability to other populations. Six observational studies reported the PHE improved the delivery/receipt of preventive immunizations. Several limitations were noted among these observational studies including inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the studies, lack of detail in studies' descriptions of the PHE or study populations, and studies not specifically designed to assess this outcome.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from three RCTs, received an overall grade of "medium." In grading the evidence,

these studies were felt to have some serious limitations in quality, and important inconsistency in the direction of results (Table 6). These three studies evaluated the effect of the PHE on the delivery/receipt of preventive immunizations among Medicare enrollees and patients of a Veterans Affairs medical center compared to similar patients receiving usual care. While these studies were limited in their generalizability to other ambulatory populations, they were specifically designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on delivery/receipt of clinical preventive services and therefore directly addressed Key Question 2 (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. Three randomized controlled trials performed from 1981 to 1999 studied Medicare recipients and patients attending a VA medical center (over 5000 patients combined total).^{44,53,55} Follow up of patients ranged from twelve months to five years. In one study, a Medicare demonstration project performed in 1993, the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including a health risk assessment, a health promotion visit (including health risk appraisals, positive behavior reinforcement and referrals for interventions where appropriate), disease prevention visit (visit with nurses and physicians who conducted history and physical examinations and reviewed patients' health risks), and follow up educational classes. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians practices.⁵³ In the second study, also a Medicare demonstration project, the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including annual history and physical on at least an annual basis, delivered by both a nurse and a physician. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians practices.⁵⁵ In the third study, patients attending a VA medical center were randomized to receive the PHE in the context of a "health promotion clinic" versus usual care.⁴⁴ The PHE improved delivery of preventive immunizations improved statistically significantly in two studies with effect sizes ranging from small to medium positive effects (Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.10 (0.10,0.10) and 0.35 (0.33,0.36), respectively).^{53 55} The PHE worsened delivery of preventive immunizations worsened in the group of VA patients attending a health promotion clinic, with a small magnitude of negative effect (Cohen's d (95% CI): -0.22(-0.20, -0.24))⁴⁴ (Table 7, Evidence Table 3a). These studies have potentially limited generalizability to non-Medicare or VA populations (Table 2).

Observational studies. Observational studies evaluating the association of receipt of the PHE with delivery/receipt of preventive immunizations included one retrospective cohort study, three cross-sectional studies, and two observational studies with pre-post design performed from 1993 to 2003. Study populations included community-dwelling patients aged 70 and older,¹⁶ a crosssectional audit of outpatient billing claims for adults seen at least once by a primary care provider classified by visit type (visits for preventive care vs. acute care),⁶⁶ outpatients seen in family practices in Ohio,⁴² patients randomly selected from 44 ambulatory outpatient clinics who completed a survey to ascertain their receipt of preventive services in the context of "checkup physical examinations" versus other types of visits,³¹ patients in an ambulatory family practice residency clinic in which physicians participated in a quality improvement program to enhance the delivery of the "health maintenance examination" and clinical preventive services,⁷¹ and family practice residents and faculty physicians using a practice-based teaching model to increase resident compliance with USPSTF guidelines.⁷² All six of these observational studies reported a positive association between receipt of the PHE and the delivery of immunizations (Table 8, Evidence Tables 3b-c). Several limitations were noted among these observational studies including inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the

studies, lack of detail in studies' descriptions of the PHE or study populations, and studies not specifically designed to examine Key Question 2 (Table 2).

Cholesterol Screening

Summary of findings. Seven studies (including one RCT and six observational studies) evaluated the association of receiving the PHE with delivery/receipt of cholesterol screening. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of one RCT and four cross-sectional observational studies, performed from 1995 to 2003, and it was deemed to be of "medium" grade based on standard criteria. These studies demonstrated receiving the PHE was positively associated with receipt of cholesterol screening (small to large positive effect sizes). While the RCT was specifically designed to assess this outcome, it was limited to Medicare recipients and thus may be limited in its generalizability to other populations. The four cross-sectional observational studies had a variety of limitations, including the potential for recall bias in studies based on participant interviews/questionnaire responses, inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the studies, and lack of detail in studies' descriptions of the PHE or study populations.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from one RCT and four cross-sectional observational studies, received an overall grade of "medium." In grading the evidence, these studies were felt to have some serious limitations in quality, but they were consistent in the direction of findings, had adequate data to assess the outcome, and they had low probability of reporting bias (Table 6). The RCT evaluated the effect of the PHE on the delivery/receipt of the cholesterol screening among community dwelling Medicare recipients who received reimbursement for the PHE compared to Medicare recipients receiving usual care. While this study was limited in its generalizability to other ambulatory populations, it was specifically designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on delivery/receipt of clinical preventive services and therefore directly addressed Key Question 2. The four cross-sectional studies were noted to have several limitations, including inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the studies, lack of detail in studies' descriptions of the PHE and study populations, and the potential for recall bias in studies based on participant interviews/questionnaire responses (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. The RCT studied 455 Medicare recipients for 24 months beginning in 1995.⁵⁵ This study was a Medicare demonstration project in which the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including annual history and physical on at least an annual basis, delivered by both a nurse and a physician. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians practices.⁵⁵ Delivery/receipt of cholesterol screening was improved by randomization to the preventive care package in this study (Cohen's d (95% (CI)): 0.02 (0.00,0.04). This study was potentially limited in its lack of generalizability to non-Medicare populations (Tables 2 and 7, Evidence Table 4a).

Observational studies. Observational studies evaluating the delivery/receipt of cholesterol screening included four cross-sectional studies and two observational studies with pre-post designs performed from 1993-2003. Study populations included evaluated a variety of study subjects including female residents in Ontario, Canada who completed the National Population Health Survey reporting their use of annual examinations with answers linked to their use of services in a national health insurance plan,⁶⁷ a cross-sectional audit of outpatient billing claims

for adults seen at least once by a primary care provider classified by visit type (visits for preventive care vs. acute care),⁶⁶ Mexican-American participants in a telephone and door-to-door survey designed to assess access to and use of ambulatory health care,⁶⁹ patients randomly selected from 44 ambulatory outpatient clinics who completed a survey to ascertain their receipt of preventive services in the context of "checkup physical examinations" versus other types of visits,³¹ patients in an ambulatory family practice residency clinic in which physicians participated in a quality improvement program to enhance the delivery of the "health maintenance examination" and clinical preventive services,⁷¹ and family practice residents and faculty physicians using a practice-based teaching model to increase resident compliance with USPSTF guidelines.⁷² In four cross-sectional studies, receipt of the PHE was positively associated with the delivery/receipt of cholesterol screening while both pre-post studies reported neutral results (Table 8, Evidence Tables 4b-c). Several limitations were noted among these observational studies including inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the studies, lack of detail in studies' descriptions of the PHE or study populations, and the potential for recall bias in studies based on participant interviews/questionnaire responses (Table 2).

Colon Cancer Screening

Summary of findings. Six studies (including two randomized controlled trials and four observational studies) assessed the association of receipt of the PHE with delivery/receipt of colon cancer screening. Both the delivery of fecal occult blood testing (6 studies) and sigmoidoscopy (4 studies) were studied. The delivery of all types of colon cancer screening among studies was treated as a single outcome. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of two randomized controlled trials, performed from 1988 to 1995, and it was deemed to be of "high" quality based on standard criteria. These studies reported large positive effects of the PHE on the delivery/receipt of fecal occult blood testing. While these studies were specifically designed to assess this outcome, one was noted to have poor description of the study population and the PHE itself. Both studies were limited by their focus on Medicare populations and patients receiving care in the Veterans Affairs setting.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. Six studies assessed the effect of the PHE on delivery/receipt of colon cancer screening. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from two RCTs, received an overall grade of "high." In grading the evidence, one study was felt to have serious limitations in quality. However, these studies did not have important inconsistency in terms of the direction of the results, had sufficient data to ascertain results, and both studies demonstrated a strong association between the intervention and the outcome (Table 6). These two studies evaluated the effect of the PHE on the receipt of colon cancer screening among Medicare enrollees and patients of a Veterans Affairs medical center compared to similar patients receiving usual care. While these studies were limited in their generalizability to other ambulatory populations, they were specifically designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on receipt of clinical preventive services and therefore directly addressed Key Question 2. These studies only evaluated the delivery of fecal occult blood testing in the setting of the PHE (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. Two randomized controlled trials performed from 1988 to 1995 studied Medicare recipients and patients attending a VA medical center (over 1000 patient combined total).^{44,55} Follow up of patients ranged from 24 months to five years. In one study, a

Medicare demonstration project, the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including annual history and physical on at least an annual basis, delivered by both a nurse and a physician. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians practices.⁵⁵ In the second study, patients attending a VA medical center were randomized to receive the PHE in the context of a "health promotion clinic" versus usual care.⁴⁴ In both studies, receipt of the PHE improved delivery/receipt of fecal occult blood testing with large positive effect sizes (Cohen's d (95% CI): 1.19(1.17,1.21) and 1.07 (1.05,1.08), respectively).^{44,55} (Table 7, Evidence Table 5a). Limitations of these studies included their potential limited generalizability to non-Medicare or VA populations (Table 2).

Observational studies. Observational studies evaluating the delivery/receipt of colon cancer screening included one retrospective cohort study, two cross-sectional studies, and one observational study with pre-post design performed from 1997-2003. Study populations included patients seen in community practices who interacted (or did not interact) with a touch-sensitive computer system placed in primary care practices to promote the delivery of preventive services,⁶⁵ a cross-sectional audit of outpatient billing claims for adults seen at least once by a primary care provider classified by visit type (visits for preventive care vs. acute care),⁶⁶ patients from randomly selected community practices agreeing to complete a questionnaire and medical record review to assess their receipt of a "periodic health examination" and their receipt of recommended clinical preventive services,⁷⁰ and patients in an ambulatory family practice residency clinic in which physicians participated in a quality improvement program to enhance the delivery of the "health maintenance examination" and clinical preventive services.⁷¹ Both cross sectional studies reported receipt of the PHE was positively associated with delivery/receipt of both sigmoidoscopy and fecal occult blood testing, as did the pre-post study. The retrospective cohort study reported mixed results (Table 8, Evidence Tables 5b-d). Several limitations were noted among these observational studies including poor description of the study populations, inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the studies, studies not specifically designed to answer Key Question 2 (Table 2).

Mammography

Summary of findings. Twelve studies (including one RCT and eleven observational studies) assessed the association of receipt of the PHE with delivery/receipt of mammography. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of one RCT and one retrospective cohort study. These studies were performed in 1988 and 1998, were deemed to be of "low" grade based on standard criteria. The PHE had a small positive effect on the receipt of mammography in the RCT study, while it had mixed effects in the observational study. While the RCT was limited in its generalizability to non-Medicare populations, it was specifically designed to assess the effect of the PHE on this outcome. In contrast, the retrospective cohort study was not specifically designed to assess this outcome, did not employ a detailed description of the PHE, and was potentially limited by inadequate adjustment for residual confounding.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from one RCT and one RCT analyzed as a retrospective cohort study, received an overall grade of "low." In grading the evidence, these studies were felt to have some serious limitations in quality and important inconsistency in the direction of results. However the data were not deemed to be sparse, and the studies did not appear to have high probability of

reporting bias (Table 6). The RCT evaluated the effect of the PHE on the receipt of mammography among community dwelling Medicare recipients who received reimbursement for the PHE compared to Medicare recipients receiving usual care. While this study was limited in its generalizability to other ambulatory populations, it was specifically designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on receipt of clinical preventive services and therefore directly addressed Key Question 2. The other RCT studied the effectiveness of a computerized touch screen system employed in primary care practices to improve rates of preventive screening. While the study compared patients seen in primary care practices randomized to employ the touch screen system versus patients seen in practices not employing the touch screen system, they performed a retrospective chart review to assess whether patients in the intervention and control groups had received a "health maintenance examination" during the past year. Thus, for the purposes of our analyses, this study was analyzed as a retrospective cohort study (of persons exposed versus not exposed to the health maintenance examination) without regard to the study's randomized intervention. While this was a study of adult patients of all ages being seen in representative primary care practices, it was not designed to directly address Key Question 2 (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. The RCT studied 455 Medicare recipients for 24 months beginning in 1988.⁵⁵ This study was a Medicare demonstration project in which the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including annual history and physical on at least an annual basis, delivered by both a nurse and a physician. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians practices.⁵⁵ In this study, receipt of the PHE improved delivery/receipt of mammography with a small positive effect size (Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.14(0.12,0.16) (Tables 2 and 7, Evidence Table 6 a).⁵⁵ Inferences from this study are potentially limited to non-Medicare populations.

Observational studies. Observational studies evaluating the delivery/receipt of mammography included one RCT analyzed as a retrospective cohort study, eight cross-sectional studies, and two observational study with pre-post design performed from 1988-1998. Study populations included patients seen in community practices who interacted (or did not interact) with a touch-sensitive computer system placed in primary care practices to promote the delivery of preventive services,⁶⁵ respondents to a California telephone survey who were contacted to assess their access to preventive services and satisfaction with preventive services.⁶⁸ data from the National Ambulatory Medical Care and National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Surveys in which physicians completed forms describing reasons for ambulatory visits (including general medical visits or gynecological) and the receipt of preventive services,⁶⁴ female residents in Ontario, Canada who completed the National Population Health Survey reporting their use of annual examinations with answers linked to their use of services in a national health insurance plan,⁶⁷ a cross-sectional audit of outpatient billing claims for adults seen at least once by a primary care provider classified by visit type (visits for preventive care vs. acute care),⁶⁶ Mexican-American participants in a telephone and door-to-door survey designed to assess access to and use of ambulatory health care,⁶⁹ patients randomly selected from 44 ambulatory outpatient clinics who completed a survey to ascertain their receipt of preventive services in the context of "checkup physical examinations" versus other types of visits,³¹ 93 physicians in an ambulatory practice network surveyed to recall the content of non-acute care visits with women age 40-75 years seen in their practices,⁷⁵ patients from randomly selected community practices agreeing to complete a questionnaire and medical record review to assess their receipt of a "periodic health

examination" and their receipt of recommended clinical preventive services,⁷⁰ patients in an ambulatory family practice residency clinic in which physicians participated in a quality improvement program to enhance the delivery of the "health maintenance examination" and clinical preventive services,⁷¹ and family practice residents and faculty physicians using a practice-based teaching model to increase resident compliance with USPSTF guidelines.⁷² The RCT analyzed as a retrospective cohort study, performed in 1998, reported mixed associations of the PHE with receipt of mammography. Seven cross-sectional studies reported a positive association. Both pre-post studies reported no statistically significant effect of the PHE on improving mammography rate (Table 8, Evidence Tables 6b-d). Several limitations were noted among these observational studies including poor description of the study populations, inability to completely control for potential confounding in several of the studies, studies not specifically designed to answer Key Question 2, and the potential for recall bias in studies based on participant interviews/questionnaire responses (Table 2).

Proximal Clinical Outcomes

Disease Detection

Summary of findings. Three studies (including two RCTs and one observational study) assessed the association of receipt of the PHE with disease detection. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of two large RCTs, performed in 1967 and 1974, and it was deemed to be of "medium" quality based on standard criteria. The detection of all illnesses was treated as a single outcome. These studies reported the PHE had mixed effects on disease detection (increased disease detection in some cases, decreased detection in some cases, and no effect in some cases). While these studies were specifically designed to assess this outcome, they were both performed before the availability of USPSTF or similar contemporary clinical guidelines were in effect, thus inferences from these studies may be limited by dated approaches to the PHE.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from two large RCTs, received an overall grade of "medium." In grading the evidence, these studies were felt to have at least one serious limitation in quality and inconsistency in the direction of their results. However, they were not found to have sparse data or a high probability of reporting bias (Table 6). One study was performed community dwelling persons in South London, and one study was performed in Canadian patients age 40 to 65 years being seen in an academic teaching setting. Both of these studies were performed before USPSTF or similar contemporary preventive services guidelines were in effect. Thus, while they were specifically designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on the detection of disease (and therefore directly addressed Key Question 2), inferences drawn from these studies could be limited by dated approaches to the PHE (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. One study, performed in 1967, was a large randomized controlled trial of nearly 7,000 community dwelling persons in South London who attended one of two group general practices. This study was designed to assess the value of introducing a general practice based screening service (compared to usual care) for persons age 40-64 and followed patients for nine years for the incidence of co-morbid illnesses, hospitalization or

mortality.^{57,76} The general practice based screening service was described as a visit in which patients completed a "symptoms questionnaire" and occupational history followed by a physical examination performed by nurses (primarily, supervised by a physician) and several screening tests. In this study, the PHE was associated with increased detection of ischemia on an electrocardiogram (small positive effect-- (Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.03(0.02,0.03)), with decreased detection of angina and bronchitis symptoms (small negative effects--(Cohen's d (95% CI): -0.01(-0.01, -0.01) and -0.03(-0.03, -0.03), respectively), and with no effect on the detection of increased diastolic blood pressure (Table 7, Evidence Table 7a). The second study, performed in 1974, identified Canadian patients age 40 to 65 years being seen by 112 physicians in an academic teaching setting and randomized patients (via physician) to a multiphasic screening program versus usual care. In the multiphasic screening program, patients were administered a "standard health questionnaire" followed by a physical examination and several screening tests. Patients were followed for twelve months for the development of co-morbid illnesses (referred to as "medical problems").⁴⁵ In this study, the PHE was associated with increased detection of "all medical problems" and "important medical problems" (defined as medical problems in which the physician caring for the patients would be likely to investigate further and provide advice regarding the condition and any necessary treatment) with medium to large effect sizes (Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.96(0.84,1.08) and 0.53 (0.41,0.64), respectively) (Table 7, Evidence Table 7a). Inferences from these studies are limited by their performance before USPSTF or similar contemporary guidelines were in place as well as potentially incomplete accounting for potential confounding of outcomes (Table 2).

Observational studies. The one observational study on the association of receipt of the PHE with disease detection was a retrospective cohort study of 240 employees of the Japan Maritime Self-Defense Force working on the Iwo Jima military defense base in December 1999. The study reported lower rates of hyperlipidemia and severe obesity among personnel receiving a pre-assignment medical examination (described as a medical examination followed by screening testing) one year prior to the study when compared to those not receiving a pre-assignment medical examination (Table 8, Evidence Table 7b). Limitations of this study included potential inability to completely control for potential confounding and the study's potentially limited generalizability beyond Japanese military populations (Table 2).⁷⁷

Health Habits

Summary of findings. Five RCTs evaluated the effect of the PHE on patient health habits. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of five RCTs, performed from 1967 to 1989, and it was deemed to be of "medium" grade based on standard criteria. Changes in all health habits were treated as a single outcome. These studies demonstrated the PHE had mixed effects on patient health habits (improved health habits in some cases, worsened health habits in some cases, and no effect in some cases). While these studies were specifically designed to assess this outcome, one was performed before the availability of USPSTF or similar contemporary clinical guidelines were in effect, thus inferences from these studies may be limited by dated approaches to the PHE. Other studies were limited by their focus on Medicare enrollees or focus on participant living in the U.K. only. Health habits were assessed via self-report in all studies, thus results are potentially subject to recall bias.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. Five RCTs comprised the best evidence to assess this outcome, which received an overall grade of "medium." When grading the evidence, these

studies were felt to have at least one serious limitation in quality as well as important inconsistency in the direction of their results. However, they were not felt to have sparse data or high probability of reporting biased results (Table 6). Three studies funded as Medicare demonstration projects evaluated the effect of the PHE on patient behaviors among community dwelling Medicare recipients and members of a health maintenance organization who received reimbursement for the PHE, one study was a large randomized controlled trial of nearly 7,000 persons dwelling in South London who attended one of two group general practices, and one study was a study of patients seen in urban and suburban general practices in Bedfordshire, U.K. While the most notable limitations of these studies included their potentially limited generalizability to non-Medicare populations and persons living outside the U.K., as well as one study performed before USPSTF or similar contemporary guidelines, they were specifically designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on health behaviors and therefore directly addressed Key Question 2. All behaviors were assessed via self-report in these studies, and could therefore have been subject to recall bias (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. In one study, performed in 1989 and funded as a Medicare demonstration project, participants in the intervention group received vouchers for free preventive visits to be delivered by participants' primary care physicians, in which the PHE was described as consisting of a history and physical examination followed by the provision of USPSTF recommended clinical preventive services. The comparison group received no coverage for annual preventive visits or tests. In this study, the PHE had mixed effects on patient behaviors. Behaviors were assessed via patient self-report at baseline and follow up. Patients receiving the PHE were statistically significantly more likely to decrease smoking when compared to those receiving usual care (small positive effect— (Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.13(0.11, 0.14)) but were less likely to improve problem drinking when compared to those receiving usual care (small negative effect— (Cohen's d (95% CI): -0.02(-0.03, -0.02)).^{56,78} In a second study, a Medicare demonstration project published in 1993, subjects who were Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in a health maintenance organization were randomly assigned to receive a PHE in the setting of receiving selected clinical tests and immunizations, a health risk appraisal with individual counseling, and a series of health promotion sessions compared to usual care. Behaviors were assessed from patients' self reports. In this study, patients receiving the PHE demonstrated improvement in the number of fiber servings per day (small to medium positive effect— (Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.28(0.14, 0.42)), but there was no observed effect of the PHE on patients' fat servings per week, salt use, caffeine drinks per day, stretching minutes per weeks, or consumption of cruciferous foods.⁵⁴ In the third study, a Medicare demonstration project performed in 1993, the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including a health risk assessment, a health promotion visit (including health risk appraisals, positive behavior reinforcement and referrals for interventions where appropriate), disease prevention visit (visit with nurses and physicians who conducted history and physical examinations and reviewed patients' health risks), and follow up educational classes. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians practices. Behaviors were assessed via patients' self reports. In this study, receipt of the PHE was associated with improvement in physical activity (small positive effect--(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.12(0.12, 0.12)), improvement in fat and fiber dietary intake (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.04 (0.04, 0.04)), use of advanced directives (medium positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.34 (0.34, 0.34)), breast selfexamination (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.08 (0.08, 0.08)), smoking (small

positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.02 (0.02, 0.02)), and alcohol use (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.02 (0.02, 0.02)). This same study demonstrated the PHE was associated with a worsening in rates of seatbelt use (small negative effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): -0.04 (-0.04, -0.04)).⁵³The fourth study, performed in 1967, was a large randomized controlled trial of nearly 7,000 community dwelling persons in South London who attended one of two group general practices. This study was designed to assess the value of introducing a general practice based screening service (compared to usual care) for persons age 40-64 and followed patients for nine years for the incidence of co-morbid illnesses, hospitalization or mortality. The general practice based screening service was described as a visit in which patients completed a "symptoms questionnaire" and occupational history followed by a physical examination performed by nurses (primarily, supervised by a physician) and several screening tests. Behaviors were assessed via patients' self reports. In this study, receipt of the PHE was associated with worsening rates of smoking (small negative effect-(Cohen's d (95% CI): -0.014 (-0.012, -0.016)).⁷⁶ In the fifth study, performed in 1989 in five urban and suburban general practices in the UK, participants were randomly assigned to receive a "health check" (consisting of a comprehensive history and physical examination followed by several screening studies and post-visit health counseling) versus usual care. Behaviors were assessed via patient self-report. Patients were followed for two years after their initial intervention. In this study, the PHE was associated with improvements in smoking (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.10 (0.10, 0.10)), alcohol use (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.03 (0.03, 0.03)), exercise (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.09 (0.09, 0.09)), use of full cream (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.24 (0.24, 0.24)), and use of butter or hard margarine (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.25 (0.25, 0.25)) (Table 7, Evidence Table 8).⁵⁹ Limitations of these studies included inability to completely control for potential confounding and the study's potentially limited generalizability beyond Medicare populations and persons living in the UK. One study was performed before USPSTF or similar contemporary guidelines were in place as well as incomplete accounting for potential confounding of outcomes(Table 2).⁷⁶

Patient Attitudes

Summary of findings. One RCT assessed the effect of the PHE on patient attitudes. This single study, performed in 1993, was deemed to comprise "medium" grade evidence, based on standard criteria. This study reported an improvement in patient worry with receipt of the PHE. While this study was specifically designed to assess the effect of the PHE on this outcome, inferences may be limited beyond non-Medicare populations.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. This one RCT comprised the best available evidence to assess this outcome, which received an overall grade of "medium." In assessing the evidence, the study was felt to have at least one serious limitation. Data on this outcome was also considered sparse (Table 6). The RCT was funded as Medicare demonstration projects evaluating the effect of the PHE on patient attitudes among Medicare recipients enrolled in a health maintenance organization who received reimbursement for the PHE (versus usual care). The most notable limitation of the RCT included potentially limited generalizability to non-Medicare populations. However, this study was specifically designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on health behaviors and therefore directly addressed Key Question 2 (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized Controlled Trial. In this study, a Medicare demonstration project performed in 1993, the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including a health risk assessment, a health promotion visit (including health risk appraisals, positive behavior reinforcement and referrals for interventions where appropriate), disease prevention visit (visit with nurses and physicians who conducted history and physical examinations and reviewed patients' health risks), and follow up educational classes. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians practices.⁵³ Health worry was measured as part of the administration of the Quality of Well Being Scale. This study reported smaller increases in health worry at 24 months follow up (13% increase in baseline worry score) among persons receiving the PHE compared to persons receiving usual care (23% increase in baseline worry score at follow up) (Tables 2 and 7, Evidence Table 9). Inferences from this study are potentially limited to non-Medicare populations.

Health Status

Summary of findings. Two RCTs assessed the effect of receipt of the PHE on health status. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of these two studies, funded as Medicare demonstration projects and performed in 1989 and 1993, and it was deemed to be of "high" quality based on standard criteria. These studies reported the PHE had mixed effects on health status (both measured using the Quality of Well Being Scale, one study demonstrating health status declined less among persons receiving the PHE versus persons not receiving the PHE, one study demonstrating no effect). In the study demonstrating changes positive effect of the PHE at 2 years follow up, follow up of study participants to 4 years revealed the effect of the PHE two years after the study ended was not persistent (no differences between those receiving the PHE and those who did not receive the PHE). While these studies were designed to specifically assess this outcome, they were performed among Medicare recipients, and thus may be limited in generalizability beyond this select population. In addition one study was felt not to have accounted for potential confounding.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence was comprised of two RCTs, performed in 1989 and 1993. This evidence received a grade of "medium," as one study⁵³ was felt to have major limitations in quality. In addition, there was some inconsistency in the direction of results, however, there was not felt to be a high probability of reporting bias and data was felt to be adequate (Table 6). While these studies were designed to specifically assess this outcome, they were performed among Medicare recipients, and thus may be limited in generalizability beyond this select population. In addition one study was felt not to have accounted for potential confounding (Tables 2, 6 and 7).⁵³

Randomized controlled trials. One RCT of a Medicare demonstration project provided a "preventive services package" for four years to the intervention group.⁵³ The "preventive services package" consisted of an annual health-risk assessment, health-promotion visit, disease-prevention visit and follow up classes. Health status was measured using the Quality of Well Being Scale. The study reported no differences in health status similar between intervention and control at 2 years follow up (-0.01 point change for persons receiving the PHE versus a 0.00 change for persons receiving usual care; effect sizes could not be calculated). The second study, funded as a Medicare demonstration project in which participants in the intervention group received vouchers for free preventive visits to be delivered by participants' primary care

physicians, the PHE was described as consisting of a history and physical examination followed by the provision of USPSTF recommended clinical preventive services. The comparison group received no coverage for annual preventive visits or tests. The study reported a small difference in the decline in health status as measured by the Quality of Well Being Scale between persons receiving the PHE (-0.0631 points over 2 years follow up) versus persons not receiving the PHE (-0.0832 points decline over 2 years follow up) (Table 7, Evidence Table 10).⁷⁹ However, investigators followed participants for 2 years after the study ended, to assess the persistence of the effect of the PHE. Investigators reported no differences in declines in health status between those receiving the PHE and those not receiving the PHE between 2 and 4 years after the study began.⁸⁰ These studies were limited by their focus on Medicare enrollees. In addition, one study did not account for potential residual confounding (Table 2).⁵³

Blood Pressure

Summary of findings. Three studies (two RCTs and one observational study) assessed the association of receipt of the PHE with changes in blood pressure. The best available evidence, comprised of two RCTs performed from 1989 to 1992, were deemed to be of "high" grade based on standard criteria. These studies reported the PHE had mixed effects on blood pressure (consistent small improvements in blood pressure outcomes demonstrated in one study and mixed results in one study). While these studies were specifically designed to assess this outcome, their results may be limited in generalizability beyond Medicare beneficiaries and patients seen in general practices in the U.K. Results from one study may also be affected by inadequate adjustment for potential confounders.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. Two RCTs comprised the best evidence to assess this outcome, which received an overall grade of "high." When grading the evidence, the studies were found to have minor limitations in quality and some inconsistency. However, they were not felt to have sparse data or high probability of reporting bias (Table 6). One study was a study of patients seen in urban and suburban general practices in Bedfordshire, U.K. and one study was funded as a Medicare demonstration project to study community-dwelling Medicare recipients who were health maintenance organization enrollees. While these studies were designed to assess this outcome, they were potentially limited by their focus on patients receiving care in the UK and Medicare enrollees (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized Controlled Trials. In one study, a Medicare demonstration project performed in 1992, subjects who were Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in a health maintenance organization were randomly assigned to receive a PHE in the setting of receiving selected clinical tests and immunizations, a health risk appraisal with individual counseling, and a series of health promotion sessions compared to usual care. In this study, patients receiving the PHE demonstrated improvement in mean systolic blood pressure at 12 months follow up (small positive effect--Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.12(0.02, 0.21)), but there was no observed effect of the PHE on mean diastolic blood pressure at 12 months follow up (Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.03(-0.06, 0.13)).⁵⁴ In the second study, performed in 1989 in five urban and suburban general practices in the UK, participants were randomly assigned to receive a "health check" (consisting of a comprehensive history and physical examination followed by several screening studies and postvisit health counseling) versus usual care. Patients were followed for two years after their initial intervention. In this study, the PHE was associated with improvements in systolic blood pressure at follow up (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.11 (0.04, 0.18)), improvements in

diastolic blood pressure at follow up (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.13 (0.06, 0.19)), and improvement in the proportion of persons with diastolic blood pressure \geq 100mmHg (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.022 (0.019, 0.24)) (Tables 2 and 7, Evidence Table 11a).⁵⁹

Observational Studies. The one observational study on the association of receipt of the PHE with blood pressure was a retrospective cohort study of 240 employees of the Japan Maritime Self-Defense Force working on the Iwo Jima military defense base in December 1999. The study reported lower rates of hypertension among personnel receiving a pre-assignment medical examination (described as a medical examination followed by screening testing) one year prior to the study when compared to those not receiving a pre-assignment medical examination, but no statistically significant difference in absolute levels of blood pressure among all participants (Table 8, Evidence Table 11b). Limitations of this study included potential inability to completely control for confounding and the study's potentially limited generalizability beyond Japanese military populations (Table 2).⁷⁷

Serum Cholesterol

Summary of findings. Two studies (one RCT and one observational study) evaluated the association of receipt of the PHE with changes in serum cholesterol. The best available evidence comprised of one RCT performed in 1989 and one retrospective cohort study performed in 1999 was deemed to be of "low" grade based on standard criteria. The RCT reported the PHE improved serum cholesterol, while the observational study reported mixed results. While these studies were specifically designed to assess this outcome, their results may be limited in generalizability beyond patients seen in general practices in the U.K and Japanese military recruits. Results from one study may also be affected by inadequate adjustment for potential confounders.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. One RCT and one observational study comprised the best available evidence to assess this outcome, which received and overall grade of "low." When grading the evidence, at least one of the studies was felt to have some serious limitations in quality. In addition, there was felt to be some inconsistency in the direction of results reported among the studies (Table 6). The studies were not felt to have sparse data or high probability of reporting bias, however. The RCT evaluated the effect of the PHE on cholesterol among patients seen in general practices in the U.K., while the retrospective cohort study identified differences in cholesterol among Iwo Jima military defense employees. The most notable limitations of these studies included their potential lack of generalizability beyond the populations studied (patients in the UK and Japanese military) as well as the potential inability to completely control for confounding in the observational study (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trial. In this study, performed in 1989 in five urban and suburban general practices in the UK, participants were randomly assigned to receive a "health check" (consisting of a comprehensive history and physical examination followed by several screening studies and post-visit health counseling) versus usual care. The PHE was associated with improvements in mean total cholesterol (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.22 (0.16, 0.19)) and the proportion of person with serum cholesterol \geq 8mmol/L (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.09 (0.09, 0.10)) (Table 2 and 7, Evidence Table 12a).⁵⁹

Observational study. The one observational study on the association of receipt of the PHE with serum cholesterol was a retrospective cohort study of 240 employees of the Japan Maritime

Self-Defense Force working on the Iwo Jima military defense base in December 1999. The study reported statistically significantly lower rates of hyperlipidemia among personnel receiving a pre-assignment medical examination (described as a medical examination followed by screening testing) one year prior to the study when compared to those not receiving a pre-assignment medical examination, statistically significantly greater absolute levels of total cholesterol among persons receiving the pre-assignment medical examination, and no difference in LDL cholesterol, triglycerides, or HDL among all participants (Table 8, Evidence Table 12b). Limitations of this study included potential inability to completely control for confounding and the study's potentially limited generalizability beyond Japanese military populations (Table 2).⁷⁷

Body Mass Index

Summary of findings. Four studies (including three randomized controlled trials and one observational study) assessed the association of receipt of the PHE with BMI. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of three RCTs, performed from 1989 to 1993, and it was deemed to be of "medium" quality based on standard criteria. These studies reported the PHE had mixed effects on BMI (small improvements in BMI for persons receiving the PHE compared to usual care in one study, less improvement in BMI for persons receiving the PHE compared to usual care in one study, and no effect in one study). While these studies were specifically designed to assess this outcome, two were performed among community-dwelling Medicare recipients, and one was performed among persons seen in a general practice in the U.K. Thus inferences may be limited to these select populations.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from three large RCTs, received an overall grade of "medium." In grading the evidence, these studies were felt to have at least one serious limitation in quality and inconsistency in the direction of results. However, they were not felt to have sparse data or to have high probability of reporting bias (Table 6). Two studies, funded as Medicare demonstration projects, studied community dwelling Medicare recipients (in one study, participants were also health maintenance organization enrollees). The other study was performed among patients seen in general practices in the U.K. Thus, while they were specifically designed to assess this outcome, inferences could be limited to these populations. Two of the studies were felt to have potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding as well (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. Three randomized controlled trials performed from 1989 to 1993 studied Medicare recipients and patients attending one of 5 general practices in the UK (over 5000 patients combined total).^{53,54,59} Follow up of patients ranged from two to three years. In one study, a Medicare demonstration project performed in 1993, the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including a health risk assessment, a health promotion visit (including health risk appraisals, positive behavior reinforcement and referrals for interventions where appropriate), disease prevention visit (visit with nurses and physicians who conducted history and physical examinations and reviewed patients' health risks), and follow up educational classes. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians practices.⁵³ Limitations of this study include potential lack of generalizability of results beyond Medicare populations as well as potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding. This study reported persons receiving usual care had greater improvements in BMI when compared to

their counterparts receiving the PHE (small negative effect--(Cohen's d (95% CI): -0.020 (-0.023, -0.017)) (Table 7, Evidence Table 13a). In the second study, a Medicare demonstration project published in 1993, subjects who were Medicare beneficiaries enrolled in a health maintenance organization were randomly assigned to receive a PHE in the setting of receiving selected clinical tests and immunizations, a health risk appraisal with individual counseling, and a series of health promotion sessions compared to usual care. In this study, the PHE had no effect on BMI at either 24 or 48 months of follow up.⁵⁴ Limitations of this study include potential lack of generalizability of results beyond Medicare health maintenance organization enrollees. In the third study, performed in 1989 in five urban and suburban general practices in the UK, participants were randomly assigned to receive a "health check" (consisting of a comprehensive history and physical examination followed by several screening studies and post-visit health counseling) versus usual care. Patients were followed for two years after their initial intervention. In this study, the PHE was associated with improvements in mean BMI at follow up (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.087 (0.022, 0.153)) as well as the proportion of persons with BMI≥30 at follow up (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.032 (0.030, 0.034)).⁵⁹ Limitations of this study include potential lack of generalizability of results beyond U.K. populations as well as potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding (Table 2).

Observational study. The one observational study on the association of receipt of the PHE with disease detection was a retrospective cohort study of 240 employees of the Japan Maritime Self-Defense Force working on the Iwo Jima military defense base in December 1999. The study reported no differences in mean BMI between groups but a significantly lower proportion of persons with BMI≥28.6 among personnel receiving a pre-assignment medical examination (described as a medical examination followed by screening testing) one year prior to the study when compared to those not receiving a pre-assignment medical examination (Table 8, Evidence Table 13b). Limitations of this study included potential inability to completely control for potential confounding and the study's potentially limited generalizability beyond Japanese military populations (Table 2).⁷⁷

Distal Clinical and Economic Outcomes

Seven studies reported on mortality as a clinical outcome of delivery of the PHE, and nine studies reported on health care costs as an economic outcome of delivery of the PHE. Hospitalizations and disability may be considered both clinical and economic outcomes. Four studies reported on hospitalizations and three studies reported on disability as outcomes of delivery of the PHE (Table 8).

Costs

Summary of findings. Nine studies (including 5 RCTs and 4 observational studies) evaluated the association of receiving the PHE with health care costs. Cost outcomes assessed were varied and included annual physician visit costs, annual multiphasic health clinic costs, total health care charges, total Medicare charges, Medicare reimbursement, Medicare Part A charges, health care claims per capita, medical expenses per claim, inpatient cost per capita, outpatient cost per capita, and cost-effectiveness. All cost outcomes were considered as a single outcome. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of four large RCTs, one performed in the 1970's and three performed in the 1990s, and it was deemed to be

"medium" grade, based on standard criteria. In these studies, the PHE had mixed effects on health care costs (decreased costs in one study, increased costs in one study, no change in costs in two studies). While the RCTs were specifically designed to assess the effect of the PHE on this outcome, three of the RCTs were focused on Medicare recipients, and thus may be limited in their generalizability to other populations. The fourth RCT was performed before USPSTF or similar contemporary preventive service guidelines were in effect. A fifth RCT (assessing costeffectiveness) was not incorporated when grading the evidence due to inability to assess direction of results.[6883] Observational studies of the association of receipt of the PHE with health care costs revealed both positive and negative results. Observational studies had a variety of limitations, including not reporting on differences between participants and non-participants, use of claims data not created for research purposes, results not generalizable beyond particular populations studied and potential for confounding.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from four large RCTs, received an overall grade of "medium." In grading the evidence, these studies were found to have serious limitations in quality, important inconsistency with regard to direction of effects, adequate data and a low probability of reporting bias (Table 6). Three studies evaluated the effect of the PHE on health care costs among community dwelling Medicare recipients who received reimbursement for the PHE compared to Medicare recipients receiving usual care. The fourth RCT was conducted in the Kaiser health care system in adults ages 35-54 years in the 1970s before contemporary clinical preventive guidelines were in effect. While the Medicare studies were limited in their generalizability to non-Medicare populations, and three of the studies did not report on blinding, they were specifically designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on costs and therefore directly addressed Key Question 2 (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. Three randomized trials performed in 1988, 1989 and

1993 studied Medicare recipients (over 8000 patients combined total) as part of Medicare demonstration projects to determine if Medicare payment for preventive services resulted in better health and less acute care utilization.^{53,55,56} Two Medicare studies had two-year interventions with either twelve or 24 month follow up of patients. In one study, the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including a history and physical at least annually. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians' practices.⁵⁵ In this study the PHE showed no effect on cumulative Medicare charges or Medicare reimbursements for the 2-year intervention and one year following (Cohen's d (95% CI)):0.06 (-0.03, 0.15) and 0.05(-0.04, 0.14)). A second Medicare demonstration study provided vouchers for participants in the intervention group for free preventive visits to be delivered by participants' primary care physicians.⁵⁶ In this study both total health care charges and monthly Medicare part A charges were lower for the intervention group (effect sizes could not be calculated) (Table 7, Evidence Table 14a). A third RCT of a Medicare demonstration project provided a "preventive services package" for four years to the intervention group.⁵³ The "preventive services package" consisted of an annual health-risk assessment, health-promotion visit, disease-prevention visit and follow up classes. The study reported the intervention group had a non-statistically significant increase in costs during year 2 and year 4 of the intervention than the control group: the change in costs from baseline to follow up appeared similar between intervention and control (effect sizes could not be calculated) (Table 7, Evidence Table 14a). The fourth RCT randomized

Kaiser Health Plan members ages 35-54 years in 1964 to either being encouraged to undergo an annual multiphasic health checkup or receiving usual care.⁴¹ The multiphasic health checkup consisted of a series of laboratory and radiologic tests, self-administered history, and follow up physical exam by an internist. At both seven and eleven years of follow up, the intervention group had a small increase in cost for physician visits and for multiphasic health exam expenses compared to the control group (effect sizes could not be calculated) (Table 7, Evidence Table 14a). A fifth RCT conducted in England in 1989 evaluated the effectiveness of health checks delivered by nurses in primary care in reducing risk factors for cardiovascular disease and cancer and provides the only cost-effectiveness outcome in this report.⁸¹ The health check consisted of medical history, physical exam, serum cholesterol and post-visit counseling. For participants who received a health check at both baseline and year 4 (intervention group) compared to participants who only received a health check at year 4 (control group), the cost per patient of a 1% reduction in coronary risk using Dundee risk scores was 1.46 British pounds. The cost effectiveness for men was 1.63 pounds and for women was 1.22 pounds. This study was not included in grading the strength and consistency of the evidence because of the inability to assess direction of the results. Limitations of these RCTs include limited generalizability to non-Medicare populations,^{53,55,56} issues with blinding,^{41,53,56} suboptimal adjustment for potential cofounders,⁴¹ and one trial conducted before contemporary preventive service guidelines were in effect (Table 2).⁴¹ Differences in costs could be attributed to differences in comorbid disease profiles or health habits between study groups in these studies as well, which was not well documented in most studies. Costs of the PHE were variably incorporated into findings regarding outcomes, limiting inferences from these studies.

Observational Studies. Observational studies evaluating the association between the receipt of the PHE and health care costs included three retrospective cohort studies and one cross-sectional study performed in 1956 to 1989 (Table 8, Evidence Tables 14b-c). Study populations for these studies included corporation executives or middle management exposed (or not exposed) to a PHE, ^{28,29,61} and a sample of Japanese adults in Osaka area 40 years and older covered by National Health Insurance who received (or did not receive) a PHE.⁸² Three of these studies reported an association between receipt of the PHE and lower health care costs (positive outcome),^{61,82} while one study showed association between receipt of the PHE and higher health care costs (negative outcome).²⁸ Limitations of these studies included lack of generalizability to non-management employees,^{28,29,61} or non-Japanese populations,⁸² suboptimal reporting of study population characteristics,^{28,61} and comparison between participants and non-participants,⁸² suboptimal adjustment for potential confounders,^{28,61} and one study performed before contemporary preventive service guidelines in effect.⁶¹ (Table 2) Selection bias must be considered for the employeer studies where employees opted to have a physical exam or not to have a physical exam.^{28,29,61}

Disability

Summary of findings. Three studies (including two RCTs and one observational study) evaluated the association of receiving the PHE with reduction in disability. Disability outcomes assessed included self-reported limitations in usual activities, self-reported "major disability" such as problems with dressing, and short-term disability days measured from employer records. All disability outcomes were considered as a single outcome. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of two large RCTs performed in the late 1960s and 1970s, and it was deemed to be "medium" grade based on standard criteria. In these studies, the PHE

had from small negative to small positive effects on reducing disability. While these RCTs were specifically designed to assess the effect of the PHE on this outcome, they were performed before the availability of the USPSTF or other contemporary preventive service guidelines and may be limited. The observational study was limited in external generalizability and raised concerns of selection bias.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, emanating from two large RCTs, received an overall grade of "medium." In grading the evidence, these studies were judged to have at least one serious limitation in quality and inconsistency in the direction of their results. However, they were not found to have sparse data or a high probability of reporting bias (Table 6). One study was performed in community dwelling persons in South London, and the other was performed in Kaiser Health plan enrollees ages 35-54 years. Both studies were performed before USPSTF or other similar clinical guidelines were available. Thus, while they were specifically designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on disability and other outcomes, inferences drawn from these studies could be limited by dated approaches to the PHE. In addition, both studies had suboptimal reporting on blinding and suboptimal adjustment for potential confounding (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized Controlled Trials. One study, performed in 1967, was a large

randomized controlled trial of nearly 7,000 community dwelling persons in South London who attended one of two group general practices. This study was designed to assess the value of introducing a general practice based screening service (compared to usual care) for persons ages 40-64 and followed patients for nine years for the incidence of illness, hospitalization, disability or death.⁷⁶ The general practice based screening service was described as a visit in which patients completed a "symptoms" questionnaire and occupational history followed by a physical examination performed by nurses (primarily, supervised by a physician) and several screening tests. In this study, the intervention group receiving the PHE reported increased major disability (e.g., inability to dress themselves) compared to the control group (small negative effect— (Cohen's d (95%CI) -0.014(-0.016, -0.012)) (Table 7, Evidence Table 15a). The second study, performed in 1964, randomized Kaiser Health Plan members ages 35-54 years to either being encouraged to undergo an annual multiphasic health checkup or receiving usual care.⁴¹ The multiphasic health checkup consisted of a series of laboratory and radiologic tests, selfadministered history, and follow up physical exam by an internist. At eleven years of follow up, the intervention group had an improvement in self-reported limitations in usual activities compared to the control group (small positive effect—Cohen's d (95%CI) 0.06(0.05-0.07) (Table 7, Evidence Table 15a). Inferences from these studies are limited by their performance before contemporary preventive service guidelines were in place, suboptimal reporting on blinding and suboptimal adjustment for potential confounding (Table 2).

Observational Studies. The one observational study on the association of receipt of the PHE with disability was a retrospective cohort study of 1773 executive employees at a bank in 1989.²⁹ Executives volunteering to receive an executive PHE were compared to those who chose not to receive a PHE. The study reported lower rates of mean short-term disability days per employee, total short-term disability days in three years and proportion of employees with short-term disability days for those receiving the PHE compared to those who did not receive the PHE (Evidence table 15b). Limitations of this study included selection bias due to employees choosing whether or not to have a physical exam and limited generalizability to non-management, non-employed populations (Tables 2, 8).

Hospitalization

Summary of findings. Four studies (including three RCTs and one observational study) evaluated the association of receiving the PHE with reduction in hospitalizations. Hospitalization outcomes included hospital days per person (and per 1000) and hospital admissions per person (and per 1000). All hospital outcomes were considered as a single outcome. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of three large RCTs performed in 1967, 1988 and 1989, and it was deemed to be "high" grade. In these studies, the PHE had from small positive to mixed results on reduction in hospitalizations. While these RCTs were specifically designed to assess the effect of the PHE on this outcome, two studies were performed in Medicare recipients and may have limited generalizability outside of this population. The third study, performed in community dwelling persons in South London, was conducted before USPSTF clinical guidelines were developed.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence for this outcome, derived from three large RCTs, received an overall grade of "high." In grading the evidence, the studies were judged to have minor limitations in quality, minor inconsistencies, no problems with imprecise or sparse data and not a high probability of reporting bias (Table 6). Two of the studies evaluated the effect of the PHE on hospitalizations among community dwelling Medicare recipients who received reimbursement for the PHE compared to Medicare recipients receiving usual care. Both of these have limited generalizability to non-Medicare populations. The study performed in South London is limited because it was conducted before contemporary preventive service guidelines were in effect. Two of the RCTs were limited also by suboptimal reporting of blinding (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. Two randomized trials performed in 1988 and

1989 studied Medicare recipients (over 6000 patients combined total) as part of Medicare demonstration projects to determine if Medicare payment for preventive services resulted in better health and less acute care utilization.^{55,56} The Medicare studies had two-year interventions, one with twelve and one with 24 month follow up of patients. In one study, the PHE was delivered in the context of a "preventive care package" in which patients received clinical preventive services including a history and physical at least annually. The comparison group received clinical preventive services as customarily offered in their physicians' practices.⁵⁵ In this study the PHE showed no effect on hospital days for the 2-year intervention and one year following (Cohen's d (95% CI)):0.06 (-0.03, 0.15) and 0.05(-0.04, 0.14)). A second Medicare demonstration study provided vouchers for participants in the intervention group for free preventive visits to be delivered by participants' primary care physicians.⁵⁶ In this study, the PHE had mixed effects on hospitalizations. The intervention group receiving the vouchers for preventive visits had slightly higher mean inpatient days but lower hospital discharges per 1000 than the control group (effect sizes could not be calculated) (Table 7, Evidence Table 16a). The third study, performed in 1967, was a large randomized controlled trial of nearly 7,000 community dwelling persons in South London who attended one of two group general practices. This study was designed to assess the value of introducing a general practice based screening service (compared to usual care) for persons ages 40-64 and followed patients for nine years for the incidence of illness, hospitalization, disability or death.⁷⁶ The general practice based screening service was described as a visit in which patients completed a "symptoms" questionnaire and occupational history followed by a physical examination performed by nurses

(primarily, supervised by a physician) and several screening tests. In this study, the intervention group receiving the PHE had fewer hospitalizations per 1000 person-years at risk compared to the control group (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95%CI) 0.01 (0.00, 0.01)) (Tables 2 and 7, Evidence Table 16a). Inferences from these studies are limited by lack of generalizability to non-Medicare populations,^{55,56} performance before contemporary preventive service guidelines were in place,⁷⁶ suboptimal reporting on blinding^{56,76} and suboptimal adjustment for potential confounding (Table 2).⁷⁶

Observational studies. One observational study reported on the association between receipt of the PHE and hospitalizations. This cross-sectional study, performed in 1992, examined health care utilization for Japanese adults ages 40 years and older covered by the National Health Insurance Program and living in nine cities in the northern part of Osaka Prefecture. Health check-up rates were negatively correlated with both hospital admission rate per 1000 persons and a negative correlation with length of hospital stay of 180 days or more (Table 8, Evidence Table 16b). Limitations of this study include lack of generalizability outside Japan and suboptimal description of study population characteristics (Table 2). In addition, the analysis uses population-level variables (i.e., health check-up rates and hospitalization rates for the whole population) thus limiting ability to draw conclusions about any individuals.

Mortality

Summary of findings. Seven studies (including five RCTs and two observational studies) evaluated the association of receiving the PHE with mortality. The best available evidence to assess this outcome was comprised of five large RCTs performed from the 1960s to early 1990s, and it was deemed to be "medium" grade based on standard criteria. In these studies, the PHE had mixed effects on mortality. While these studies were designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on this outcome, two were limited to the Medicare population and may not be generalizable to other groups. Three RCTs were performed in the 1960s before contemporary preventive services guidelines were developed. Observational studies limitations included generalizability to other populations, selection bias, and taking place before USPSTF guidelines were in effect.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. Five large RCTs comprised the best evidence to assess this outcome, which received an overall grade of "medium." When grading the evidence, these studies were judged to have at least one serious limitation in quality and important inconsistency, but not imprecise data or a high probability of reporting bias (Table 6). Two studies funded as Medicare demonstration projects evaluated the effect of the PHE on mortality among community dwelling Medicare recipients, one study was a trial of nearly 7,000 persons dwelling in London who attended one of two group general practices, one study was a trial of over 10,000 Kaiser Health Plan enrollees, and one study was a trial of over 32,000 Stockholm residents. While these studies were designed to evaluate the effect of the PHE on mortality, they were limited in their generalizability to non-Medicare populations and persons living outside the U.K. or Stockholm. In addition, inferences for the three studies performed in the 1960s may be limited by dated approaches to the PHE. Other limitations of these studies include suboptimal blinding. The long follow up time of some of the studies (up to 20 years) may make it difficult to ascertain a durable effect of a PHE or series of PHEs given many years earlier (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trials. Two randomized trials performed in 1989 and 1993 studied Medicare recipients (over 6500 patients combined total) as part of Medicare demonstration

projects to determine if Medicare payment for preventive services resulted in better health and less acute care utilization.^{53,56} One Medicare demonstration study provided vouchers for participants in the intervention group for free preventive visits over two years to be delivered by participants' primary care physicians.⁵⁶ This study showed a reduction in overall mortality at the end of the two-year intervention period for those receiving the vouchers compared to usual care (small positive effect—(Cohen's d (95%CI) 0.06 (0.05, 0.06)) (Table 7, Evidence Table 17a). A second RCT of a Medicare demonstration project provided a "preventive services package" for four years to the intervention group.⁵³ The "preventive services package" consisted of an annual health-risk assessment, health-promotion visit, disease-prevention visit and follow up classes. The study reported the intervention group had an increase in mortality compared to controls (small negative effect—(Cohen's d -0.03 (-0.04, -0.03)) (Table 7, Evidence Table 17a). The third RCT randomized Kaiser Health Plan members ages 35-54 years in 1964 to either being encouraged to undergo an annual multiphasic health checkup or receiving usual care.⁴¹ The multiphasic health checkup consisted of a series of laboratory and radiological tests, selfadministered history, and follow up physical exam by an internist. At seven, eleven and 16 years of follow up, the intervention group receiving the PHE had a small decrease in mortality compared to the control group (small positive effect—Cohen's d (16 years) 0.0004 (0.0004, 0.0005) (Table 7, Evidence Table 17a). The fourth study, performed in 1967, was a large randomized controlled trial of nearly 7,000 community dwelling persons in South London who attended one of two group general practices. This study was designed to assess the value of introducing a general practice based screening service (compared to usual care) for persons ages 40-64 and followed patients for nine years for the incidence of illness, hospitalization, disability or death.⁷⁶ The general practice based screening service was described as a visit in which patients completed a "symptoms" questionnaire and occupational history followed by a physical examination performed by nurses (primarily, supervised by a physician) and several screening tests. In this study, the intervention group receiving the PHE had an increase in mortality per 1000 persons at risk compared to the control group (small negative effect—(Cohen's d (95%CI) -0.002 (0.000, 0.003)). The fifth RCT was conducted in Stockholm in 1969 to investigate the long-term effects of one "general health screening" on mortality.⁵⁸ In this large study of over 32,000 residents, 2,578 underwent the general health screening. The "general health screening" included social, psychiatric and medical interviews, blood tests, physical examinations, ECGs, exercise tests, psychological tests and eye and dental examinations. At 20 years of follow up, the relative risk of death was not significantly different in the intervention group receiving the PHE than the usual care control group (Relative Risk (95%CI) 1.03 (0.94, 1.14) (Table 7, Evidence Table 17a).

Limitations of these RCTs include limited generalizability to non-Medicare,^{53,55} non-U.K.,⁷⁶ and non-Stockholm⁵⁸ populations. Issues with blinding,^{41,53,56,58} and suboptimal adjustment for potential confounders,^{58 41,53,76} also contributed to the limitations. Three trials were conducted before contemporary preventive service guidelines were in effect and may be limited to dated approaches to the PHE.^{41,58,76} The long follow up time of some of the studies (up to 20 years) may make it difficult to ascertain a durable effect of a PHE or series of PHEs given many years earlier (Table 2).^{41,58,76}

Observational studies. Two observational studies reported on the association of the PHE with mortality, one concurrent cohort study and one concurrent cohort study with a historical control. The first study compared over 20,000 employed men from 1950-1964, mostly in middle management positions, receiving at least one "periodic health examination."⁶² The periodic

health examination included a health history, "thorough" physical examination, and laboratory, x-ray and electrocardiographic studies. The actual deaths for these men receiving the PHE compared to expected deaths from white, male managerial workers nationally during 1960 was 0.56. The second study was a concurrent cohort study of Taiwanese ages 65 years and older in Kaohsiung City during the time period 1993-1998 when free annual health examinations were offered.⁸³ The health examinations included a physical exam, urine, fecal occult blood, fasting lipids and glucose, electrocardiography and chest x-ray. A randomly selected sample of 1193 elderly residents was followed from 1993-1998 to determine if receipt of this annual health examination in the past year was associated with decreased mortality. The study reported that the relative risk of mortality was 0.50 (95% CI 0.36-0.69) for those receiving the health examination compared to those who did not (Table 8, Evidence Tables 17b-c). Both of these observational studies have limitations. First, because the PHEs were voluntary, it is possible that healthier persons would seek the PHE, making selection bias important to consider. In addition, one study took place decades before the USPSTF or other contemporary clinical preventive guidelines were in effect.⁶² The other study may not be generalizable to those under age 65 or to non-Taiwanese residents (Table 2).83

Outcomes of Interest not Reported on in Eligible Studies

No studies reported on changes in patient knowledge of clinical guidelines or health care system use as a result of the PHE. Similarly, no studies reported on ways in which the PHE could affect patients' expectations regarding their care. While eligible studies reported on patients' changes in health habits, no studies reported on whether the PHE could affect patients' motivations to change, self-efficacy, or adherence to continuous care. Few studies (but no RCTs) reported on ⁵⁹ glucose⁷⁷ and hearing and vision.⁵³ Finally, no studies reported on public health outcomes such family health or communicable disease containment.

Key Question 3: What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, Is Associated with Harms Compared to Care Without a PHE?

We identified no studies reporting on the delivery of non-recommended preventive services or the inducement of poor health outcomes as a result of the PHE. Evidence pertaining to costs induced by the PHE is discussed under Key Question 2.

Key Question 4: What System-based Interventions Improve the Receipt or Delivery of the PHE?

Summary of findings. Five studies (one RCT, one non-randomized controlled trial, and three observational studies) assessed the effect of various interventions to enhance the PHE. The best available evidence assessing this outcome, comprised of one RCT and one non-randomized controlled trial performed from 1990 to 1992, was deemed to be of "medium" grade based on standard criteria. In these studies, offering a scheduled PHE (versus an unscheduled open invitation to a PHE) and offering a free PHE (versus a PHE at small expense) had a medium to large positive effect on the receipt of the PHE. These studies were noted to be limited by their lack of detail in describing the PHE itself as well as potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding.

Findings

Strength and limitations of the evidence. The best available evidence, comprised of the RCT and non-RCT, received an overall grade of "medium." These studies were felt to have at least moderate limitations in quality, but no major inconsistency in the direction of results (Table 6). The RCT studied the effect of a scheduled invitation (versus an open invitation) on attendance at the PHE. The non-randomized controlled trial studied the effect of offering a free PHE on attendance of the PHE in two communities in Denmark. The most notable limitations of the RCT included poor classification of study withdrawals and potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding, while the most notable limitations of the non-randomized controlled trial included limited description of the PHE itself. However, these studies were specifically designed to evaluate the effect of interventions on receipt of the PHE and therefore directly addressed Key Question 4 (Tables 2, 6 and 7).

Randomized controlled trial. In this study, published in 1992, patients of a general practice in the U.K. received either an invitation for a scheduled health check versus an open invitation for a health check. The health check consisted of a history and physical examination performed by a nurse, followed by the generation of a personalized letter summarizing results and providing personalized advice regarding health changes. This study reported a medium to large effect positive effect of the scheduled appointments on receipt of the PHE (Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.69 (0.68, 0.70)) (Tables 2 and 7, Evidence Table 18a).⁶⁰

Observational studies. The non-randomized controlled trial, performed in 1990, studied the effect of offering a free PHE versus offering a PHE costing 40 Danish Krone (converts to six US dollars in 2006) in two similar communities in Denmark. This study reported a medium to large positive effect of offering a free PHE versus the PHE with minimal expense (Cohen's d (95% CI): 0.61 (0.60, 0.61)).⁸⁴ Three other observational studies (two cross-sectional studies and one study with pre-post design) studied adults aged 18 to 64 from the Centers for Disease Control's 1991 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System to assess the association of health insurance coverage with the receipt of preventive services,²² employed individuals who had health insurance (indemnity health insurance plan versus prepaid group health insurance) responding to household survey regarding their receipt of clinical preventive services in the past year,⁶³ and patients in an ambulatory family practice residency clinic in which physicians participated in a quality improvement program to enhance the delivery of the "health maintenance examination" and clinical preventive services.⁷¹ In this study, patients received written materials and reminder phone calls to enhance their receipt of the PHE.⁷¹ In the study of the BRFSS data, persons receiving more health plan coverage for preventive services were more likely to receive the

PHE.²² In contrast, the study comparing employees with indemnity health insurance plans versus prepaid group health insurance found no difference in rates of receipt of the PHE.⁶³ The observational study with pre-post design demonstrated a significant increase in receipt of the PHE after institution of written materials and reminder phone calls (Table 8, Evidence Table 18b-c).

Chapter 4: Discussion

Summary of Main Findings

Key Question 1. What Definitions are Used for the Adult PHE in Studies of its Value?

Two central elements used to define the PHE were a) the clinical history and risk assessment of patients, and b) the performance of a physical examination. However, the specific composition of these central elements of the PHE varied among studies. For history and risk assessment, the most frequently cited types of history and risk assessment performed were assessment of dietary risk, alcohol and substance abuse risk, tobacco smoking risk, and physical activity. In most cases, the physical examination was referred to with no specific clarification of what components were included. When specific components of the physical examination were specified, the most frequently cited components were assessment of blood pressure, assessment of weight, assessment of height, breast examination, gynecological examination, and rectal examination.

Key Question 2. What is the Evidence that a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated with Benefits Compared to Care Without a PHE?

A summary of study designs assessing outcomes, the strength of the best available evidence assessing each outcomes and the direction of the evidence pertaining to each outcome is contained in Table 9.

Delivery/receipt of clinical preventive services. Among the best available evidence, the PHE consistently improved the delivery/receipt of the gynecological examination/Pap smear, cholesterol screening, and fecal occult blood testing. The strength and consistency of evidence for these outcomes ranged from "medium" (cholesterol screening) to "high" (gynecological examination/Pap smear and fecal occult blood testing). Effects of the PHE were mixed among studies assessing the delivery/receipt of preventive counseling, immunizations, and mammography). The strength and consistency of the evidence regarding these outcomes ranged from "low" (mammography and counseling) to "medium" (immunizations).

Proximal clinical outcomes. One study assessing patient attitudes reported the PHE had a positive effect on patient "worry." The strength and consistency of the evidence from this study was graded as "medium." Among the best available evidence, the PHE had mixed effects on disease detection, health habits, blood pressure, serum cholesterol, and BMI. The strength and consistency of the evidence assessing these outcomes ranged from "low" (serum cholesterol) to "medium" (disease detection, health habits, health status, blood pressure, and BMI).

Distal clinical and economic outcomes. Among the best available evidence, the PHE had mixed effects on costs, disability, hospitalization, and mortality. The strength and consistency of the evidence ranged from "medium" (costs, disability, mortality) to "high" (hospitalization).

Key Question 3. What is the Evidence That a PHE, Delivered at Different Patient Ages or Different Frequencies, is Associated With Harms Compared to Care Without a PHE?

We identified no studies focused on the delivery of non-recommended preventive services or the inducement of poor health outcomes as a result of the PHE.

Key Question 4. What System-based Interventions Improve the Receipt or Delivery of the PHE?

Among the best available evidence, two interventions (scheduling of appointment for the PHE and offering a free PHE) improved delivery of the PHE with medium to large positive effects. The strength and consistency of the evidence assessing this outcome was "medium."

Limitations

Limitations of the literature studied and this review deserve mention. First, we used comparative studies of the effect of the PHE on clinical outcomes to assess the ways in which the PHE is defined. Given that the studies did not set out to define the PHE themselves, this may represent a suboptimal approach. It is possible qualitative assessment of definitions of the PHE obtained through interviews of health care providers or patients with a vested interest in the PHE would reveal perceptions regarding the nature of the PHE that are different from our findings. Second, there were few large-scale randomized controlled trials assessing the effect of the PHE on the receipt of clinical preventive services and outcomes. The largest trials to directly assess the effect of the PHE on clinical outcomes were performed in Medicare demonstration projects in the late 1980's and 1990's, among Kaiser enrollees in the early 1960s, and among residents Southeast London in the late 1960s. Thus, inferences are limited not only to these select populations but are also limited by differences in the timeframe of the studies. Studies performed prior to the first USPSTF guidelines in 1989 were less likely to incorporate clinical preventive services that are most frequently used today and may have implemented clinical preventive services in a way that would be considered inappropriate today, further limiting the generalizability of their results. Despite this limitation, we included these studies in the review because we felt they could provide information regarding benefits of the PHE which might not be explicitly linked to the delivery of currently recommended clinical preventive services. Results of studies performed before 1980 largely mirrored results of more recent studies or yielded neutral results (in the case of long-term outcomes such as mortality). Thus, we do not feel their inclusion substantially altered our main conclusions. While we incorporated observational studies in our review in an attempt to observe effects of the PHE across a variety of clinical settings and in various patient populations as well as to include more recent studies, these studies were often limited by their design (many studies were not specifically designed to assess the effect of the PHE on the receipt of clinical preventive services or clinical outcomes) or their inability to completely account for potential confounding of results.

Heterogeneity in the definitions of the PHE incorporated by studies pose a particularly important limitation in this review. Although we developed a standard definition of the PHE for

identification of the PHE in studies, we found substantial differences in the composition of the PHE across studies as well as substantial variation in the degree to which different studies also incorporated interventions to enhance the delivery of the PHE itself (such as patient reminders or physician prompts regarding PHE attendance). This heterogeneity could result in variation in the magnitude and direction of studies' results and hinders drawing broad conclusions regarding the effect of the PHE on a variety of outcomes. For instance, many studies (such as the Medicare demonstration trials) bundled the PHE with other forms of structured counseling (such as nurseled educational classes). While we attributed changes in outcomes to the PHE delivered in different forms, it is possible changes in outcomes were related to the structured programs themselves and not the PHE. This concern may be particularly relevant when considering studies evaluating the effect of the PHE on patient behaviors, which may be greatly impacted by multifaceted interventions.⁴⁸ It is possible findings of positive behavior change associated with the PHE could be attributed to interventions delivered in conjunction with the PHE and not the PHE itself. In addition, many studies contained incomplete descriptions of the PHE, making it difficult to ascertain which components of the evaluation contributed most to observed effects of the PHE. It is unclear how well the PHE employed in these studies reflects the PHE as practiced in real-world settings. The PHE was also delivered by various personnel in these studies, further complicating the interpretation of findings. Many studies identified the PHE as an intervention led by nurses or nurse-practitioners while other identified the PHE as involving physician interaction. In some cases, it was unclear if studies intended to assess the feasibility of performing the PHE without substantial physician involvement. If nurse and physician approaches to the PHE are different (particularly in their approaches to counseling or the performance of diagnostic testing), inferences regarding the effect of the PHE could be influenced by these differences. Finally, many studies included an invitation to the PHE as part of the intervention, however, adherence or uptake of the PHE among study subjects was variably achieved. In addition, people attending the PHE may be more healthy than non-participants. The power to detect differences between the intervention group and persons receiving usual care would be limited if studies failed to achieve a meaningful separation in rates of receipt of the PHE between study groups or if participants had low risk of developing outcomes (such as death). Most RCTs did report moderate to high rates of PHE attendance.

Outcomes in some categories were heterogeneous (e.g., the effect of the PHE on several types of counseling was reported across studies), limiting our ability to draw definitive conclusions regarding the effect of the PHE on many outcomes. In some cases, the assessment of outcomes could be biased by their measurement. For example, many studies assessing the effect of the PHE on behavior change assessed behaviors from patient-self report. Measurement of behavior change in this manner could be strongly biased by patient recall. Further, there was little evidence to address the effect of the PHE on many meaningful intermediate outcomes. For example, few studies assessed the effect of the PHE on blood glucose control, diabetes management, or control of other common risk factors. Similarly, while some studies reported on disability, few studies were performed to measure potential enhancements of worker productivity in association with receipt of the PHE. Evidence regarding the cost-effectiveness of the PHE was similarly sparse. As many studies captured direct costs of care associated with the PHE, few captured indirect costs, and we found only one study directly assessing both the costs and effectiveness of the PHE. In addition, many of our outcomes were reported among a few RCTs. The effect of an individual study's design on the direction of multiple outcomes measured within that study could be substantial. This is important, given the heterogeneity of interventions among

our studies—it is possible the benefit of the PHE could be overestimated if multiple positive outcomes are reported among a select few studies. Studies reporting on multiple studies may also be limited by lack of power to assess some outcomes, potentially contributing to the reporting of neutral results.

Many studies described the PHE being compared to "usual care" with little or no description of the nature of usual care. This limitation reflects not only lack of specificity within the studies, but a lack of clarity in clinical practice regarding what constitutes "usual care." Usual care could vary widely, depending on the system of care which is being examined, and could include the delivery of preventive services at specific intervals during short visits or systems which provide reminders to perform prevention at acute visits. Lack of specificity in identifying the components of usual care could significantly affect outcomes, particularly if some preventive services are delivered as a part of usual care.

Limitations in studies assessing the long-term outcomes associated with receipt of the PHE deserve special attention. While assessment of the PHE's effects on long-term outcomes such as hospitalization or death is desirable, the feasibility of isolating the effect of the PHE on these long-term outcomes is unclear, especially given the periodic nature of the PHE and given multiple other episodes of patient care that typically occur outside of the PHE. It is possible that, although patients receive a PHE at baseline, the effect of other episodes of care (such as management of chronic illnesses detected before or after the PHE) have a more powerful effect on long-term outcomes than the PHE itself. It is also possible that the receipt of more frequent PHEs results in improved outcomes over a single PHE, particularly for persons with chronic illnesses who might require more than one visit to adequately address their prevention needs. While many studies evaluated the institution of a PHE for one to two years, others evaluated the effect of a single PHE. It is possible differences in outcomes could be attributed to differences in the intensity of the PHE or the frequency with which patients received the PHE in different studies. It is also possible differences in outcomes could be related to differences in the burden of comorbid illnesses among participants of different studies.

Our review is also subject to potential publication bias, in that investigators may have been more likely to publish articles reporting the PHE improved outcomes. A lack of enough RCTs assessing the effect of the PHE on several outcomes prohibited a formal analysis of publication bias, however. In addition, all articles reported on benefits of the PHE and none specifically studied the inducement of harms associated with the PHE. Lack of evidence on harms may reflect not only difficulty in collecting this information for some outcomes but also a bias on the part of researchers toward publicizing the benefits of the PHE. While the inclusion of observational studies in this review allowed for the ascertainment of the effect of the PHE across a more broad group of populations than did the RCTs alone, these studies are more subject to residual confounding of results that were incompletely accounted for in analyses, potentially enhancing the probability of positive findings.

Finally, we assigned grades regarding the strength and consistency of the evidence pertaining to each outcome in an effort to provide readers with information regarding the confidence with which inferences regarding summary results can be drawn. However, one tenet of the GRADE framework we used to guide our assessments is that the RCT represents the highest level of evidence to assess any one outcome. While we agree the RCT represents the 'gold standard' approach to assessing the effect of interventions in while minimizing sources of bias and unobserved confounding, institution of the RCT to assess system-level interventions may not

always be feasible. Thus, it is possible our grade of evidence pertaining to studies of system interventions to improve the receipt of the PHE (Key Question 4) is artificially low.

Recommendations for Future Research

While the available evidence reports on the effect of the PHE on the delivery/receipt of some clinical preventive services, it does not report on the effect of the PHE on the delivery of recommended versus non-recommended clinical services. Similarly, little evidence is available to discern the effect of the PHE on clinical harms (e.g., potential increase in patient complications from inappropriate testing). Studies specifically designed to assess whether the PHE could encourage delivery of inappropriate clinical preventive services or enhance the potential for harms inflicted on patients as a result of such inappropriate care could shed important light on ways in which the PHE should best be implemented.

Little evidence is available to ascertain whether the PHE improves intermediate clinical outcomes such as disease management (e.g., blood pressure or glucose control) or changes in worker productivity. The evidence is also sparse with regard to the PHE's effect on the incidence of clinical morbidity (e.g., cardiovascular disease, cancer). In addition, many studies evaluating proximal clinical outcomes followed patients for short time periods, which may not have provided ample enough opportunity to capture long-term changes in proximal clinical outcomes. While the best available evidence is largely neutral with regard to the effect of the PHE on mortality, it is possible the PHE could have an effect on more proximal outcomes, thus potentially leading to improvements in patients' quality of life. Work to elucidate the magnitude and duration of effects of the PHE on more proximal clinical outcomes, including potential enhancements in worker productivity may also help clarify the potential role of the PHE in affecting health care utilization and costs.

Studies reporting on the effect of the PHE on costs of health care reported primarily on direct costs of clinical care, with little focus on the effect of the PHE on indirect health care costs (e.g., potential cost savings associated with less time lost due to premature morbidity, mortality and illness) or the cost-effectiveness of the PHE. Work more fully elucidating the effect of the PHE on both direct and indirect costs may help health care practitioners and policy makers assess the economic value of the PHE more effectively. Cost effectiveness models are needed to more fully understand the complex interplay of induced costs associated with preventive services offered as a result of the PHE as well as reduced costs associated with potentially improved management of chronic illnesses and potential improvements in quality of life which could occur as a result of the PHE.

Although some studies reported on the effect of the PHE on patient health habits, we identified no studies reporting on whether the PHE could affect patients' motivations to change, self-efficacy, or adherence to continuous care. Work to elucidate the PHE's effect in these areas would help to clarify mechanisms through which the PHE could improve both proximal and distal clinical outcomes.

While some evidence is available regarding the effect of the PHE on patient attitudes, we found no evidence regarding the potential effect of the PHE on patient knowledge of clinical guidelines, health care system use, or the patient-physician relationship. As consumer-driven health care is increasingly touted as a mechanism through which health care costs could be contained and greater patient satisfaction could be achieved, research to identify the effects of
the PHE on patient knowledge and health care system use could prove valuable.^{85,86} In addition, the patient-physician relationship is increasingly reported as important in affecting patient satisfaction, adherence to clinical recommendations, and receipt of appropriate clinical care.⁸⁷⁻⁸⁹

Work to determine whether the PHE enhances or detracts from the quality of the patientphysician relationship could be very important in guiding future clinical practice.

The available evidence does not address whether the implementation of preventive services in the context of the PHE results in improved public health outcomes such as communicable disease containment or improvements in family health. Such outcomes represent the potential for broad societal benefit of the PHE's strong focus on risk assessment and disease prevention. While studies of these outcomes may be difficult to perform, work employing modeling techniques to estimate the potential benefits or harms of the PHE for society could prove fruitful for health care policy makers and public health practitioners.

In addition, the evidence did not address in a systematic way the frequency and intensity of the PHE required to achieve potential improvements in clinical outcomes, nor did it assess ways in which the content of the PHE should change for persons of different age groups. Work is needed to ascertain the effects of both the frequency of the PHE (as opposed to a single visit) on outcomes as well as whether tailoring the PHE for persons at different levels of risk would be beneficial. Few studies addressed the persistence of the effect of the PHE, which may be short-lived, particularly if it is delivered only once. It is also unclear if the effect of the PHE would change based on the type of clinician delivering the PHE (i.e., physicians versus nurses or physicians of different clinical specialties) and the resources available to clinicians implementing the PHE. The potential role of the electronic health record in enhancing the delivery of the PHE could provide insight to mechanisms through which the PHE might be delivered more efficiently.

Finally, a paucity of studies evaluated interventions to improve the receipt of the PHE. Performance of additional, well-designed studies is needed to strengthen the evidence for or against such interventions.

Conclusions

The best available evidence suggests delivery of recommended clinical preventive services, patient attitudes, and patient health status are improved by the PHE and may be more directly affected by the PHE than other proximal clinical outcomes or long-term financial and clinical outcomes. Given that it may be impossible to entirely isolate the effect of receipt of the PHE on intermediate clinical outcomes which require ongoing management such as blood pressure or long-term outcomes such as mortality, studies linking the PHE with improved delivery of recommended clinical services may provide the best evidence of its value. Since appropriate implementation of currently recommended clinical preventive services has been demonstrated to improve health in evidence which provides the basis for USPSTF recommendations, findings of increased delivery of preventive services in the setting of the PHE may provide adequate justification for implementation of the PHE. Indeed, if the PHE, instituted in some standard fashion, could be consistently demonstrated to improve the delivery of several recommended clinical preventive services across a variety of settings, the value of the PHE might be substantial. This hypothesis assumes, however, that combining multiple evidence-based preventive services in the context of the PHE has additive benefits and that delivery of the same preventive services during other types of office visits (e.g., visits for management of chronic

illnesses) would not be as beneficial. While achieving consistency in the definition and delivery of the PHE stands as an important remaining challenge, efforts to clarify the underlying long term benefits (or harms) of receiving multiple clinical preventive services in the context of the PHE versus other types of ambulatory care visits are needed to fully clarify the PHE's value.

Mechanisms through which improvements in care attributed to the PHE occur are unclear, as studies were so heterogeneous in terms of the content of the PHE and their institution of additional interventions to enhance delivery of the PHE as to prohibit formal analysis in this regard. The PHE may provide clinicians, who are routinely pressured to deliver care in short intervals of time, time to consider preventive care more fully, thus leading to their institution of preventive measures more frequently. Given the heterogeneity of studies, it is unclear if differences in the effect of the PHE on the delivery of different preventive services represents differences in studies reporting on different preventive services, or if differences are related to the preventive services themselves. It is possible the PHE has a stronger effect in improving the delivery of preventive services which are performed by clinicians at the time of the office visit (such as gynecological examinations/Pap smears or fecal occult blood testing) when compared to preventive services which require patients to schedule appointments outside of the initial office visit for the PHE (such as mammography).

Improvements in patient worry (one study) and health status (one study) associated with the PHE may provide insight to reasons patients and clinicians have persisted in implementing the PHE despite evidence to conclusively support its use as well as why the PHE may be associated with enhanced delivery of clinical preventive services. Elimination of worry or concern regarding possibly undetected illnesses or prevention of illnesses which has not yet occurred may represent a powerful motivator for action on the part of patients. The PHE, in providing an opportunity for both patients and physicians to contemplate potential risks, may provide a vehicle through which worries can be more fully elucidated from patients and addressed through completion of the evaluation. Evidence reflecting improvement in self reported health status may reflect the provision of time for physicians to consider patients' needs in greater entirety and may allow physicians to address less frequently assessed aspects of health (e.g., depression and functional status).

Several unanswered questions remain regarding the circumstances under which the PHE may provide the most benefit. Studies are needed to ascertain the frequency and intensity of the PHE needed to consistently improve outcomes (with study of precisely which components of the PHE are necessary), the patient populations that could benefit most from the PHE, and systems of care in which the PHE might be best delivered. Work is also needed to more adequately assess the potential benefit of the PHE on patient attitudes and patient health status as well as to assess whether the PHE could encourage the delivery of inappropriate clinical services or inflict harm on patients. Work to ascertain mechanisms for differential effects of the PHE on delivery of different clinical preventive services, to identify whether the PHE consistently improves intermediate clinical outcomes, to characterize the effect of the PHE on the patient-physician relationship, and to assess the effect of the PHE on broad societal outcomes such as disease containment will contribute greatly to knowledge regarding the value of the PHE.

The design of future studies to more completely assess the value of the PHE as it is currently delivered will require careful attention. While observational studies leave open the possibility for inadequate adjustment for potential confounding or bias in findings, larger randomized controlled trials should incorporate study populations which are generalizable to the majority of patients seeking health care in the U.S., including persons of a variety of ages, women, persons

of diverse ethnicity and race, and persons utilizing different health plans. In addition, such studies should seek to carefully and clearly define systems of "usual care" with which the PHE is to be compared, to measure the degree to which both intervention and comparison groups comply with assignments to receive the PHE, and to capture outcomes in a standardized way. Large scale trials could be costly and may be unable to adequately capture long-term effects of the PHE on outcomes such as costs and mortality, as these outcomes could be influenced by multiple factors, including the degree to which individuals seek health care for other reasons such as the management of chronic illnesses. For this reason, the development of computerized models (incorporating evidence identified in this review, evidence from future studies, and existing evidence regarding the long-term value of preventive services delivered in the context of the PHE) to simulate trajectories of quality of life, the development of morbidity and mortality as well as direct and indirect costs incurred or saved as a result of the PHE could be most helpful in clarifying the value of the PHE.

Figure 1. Conceptual Framework



Figure 2. Summary of literature search and review process (number of articles).



^{*} CINAHL® - Cumulative Index of Nursing and Alliance Health Literature.

[†]Total may exceed 1202, multiple reasons for exclusion at the Abstract Review level were allowed.

⁺ A total of 54 articles were included in the data abstraction. These 54 articles represented 36 studies that reported multiple outcomes and/or multiple follow-ups. and condensed into a total of 36 studies included in this review.

[§] Total may exceed 759, multiple reasons for exclusion at the Article Inclusion/exclusion Review level were allowed.

Figure 3: Explanation of GRADE Using Colon Cancer as an Example

Outcome	Example: Colon Cancer	Explanation
Number of studies [*]	2 (2)	Of the 51 articles promoted to full review, 6 examined the effect of the PHE on colon cancer; 2 of these studies comprised the best available evidence, and both were randomized controlled trials (RCTs).
Strength of study design [†]	4	Evidence is graded based on the highest level of available evidence for that outcome which in this case is the RCT. [‡] Each outcome is given a starting score based on the following matrix: 4 - two or more RCTs 3 - one RCT +/- non-randomized controlled trials 3 - one RCT +/- cohort studies (prospective or retrospective) 3 - one RCT and one Pre-post 2 - cohort studies (prospective or retrospective) 2 - one non-randomized controlled trial + 2 cross-sectional studies 1 - all other study designs This outcome was given a 4 as the body of evidence included four RCTs.
Did the studies have serious (-1) or very serious (-2) limitations in quality? (Enter 0 if none)	-1	The quality scores for the 2 RCTs on colon cancer were 87 (high), and 63 (low). A 1 point deduction for a serious limitation in quality was warranted.
Did the studies have important inconsistency? (-1)	0	Of the 2 RCTs, both reported results in favor of the PHE so 0 points were deducted for this inconsistency.
Were data imprecise or sparse? (-1)	0	Data was not deemed sparse or imprecise as the results included several observations from studies of reasonable size. No points were deducted.
Did the studies have a high probability of reporting bias (-1)?	0	There was a low probability of reporting bias. No points were deducted.
Did the studies show strong evidence of association between intervention and recruitment outcome? [§]	+1	Of the 2 RCTs evaluated there were no major plausible confounders and the association between intervention and recruitment outcome was deemed "strong" based on a clinically significant relative risk (or Cohen's d ≥0.8) therefore 1 point was added to the score.
OVERALL GRADE OF EVIDENCE	4 HIGH	Overall Grades of Evidence: <1.0 VERY LOW 1.0-1.9 LOW 2.0-2.9 MEDIUM 3.0 to 4.0 HIGH

* Parentheses contain number of randomized controlled trials considered among the best available evidence.

 † High quality – randomized trials, Medium quality – non-randomized control trials, Low quality – observational studies

[‡] If an outcome has at least 2 RCTs then the grading is based on the RCTs alone as is the case with colon cancer. If an article has one or no RCTs then the grading of the evidence is based on the next highest level of available evidence (in combination with the one RCT if there is only one available). If cohort studies are the highest grade of evidence available, grading is based on the cohort studies. The levels of evidence are (from highest to lowest): randomized controlled trails, non-randomized controlled trials, prospective cohort studies, retrospective cohort studies, studies, studies with pre-post observational design.

[§] Evidence was deemed "strong" if significant relative risk or odds ratio >2 (or Cohen's d ≥ 0.8) based on consistent evidence from 2 or more studies with no plausible confounders (+1); "very strong" if significant relative risk or odds ratio >5 based on direct evidence with no major threats to validity (+2).

References and Included Studies

- Han PK. Historical changes in the objectives of the periodic health examination. Ann Intern Med 1997; 127(10): 910-7.
- 2. Charap MH. The periodic health examination: genesis of a myth. Ann Intern Med 1981; 95(6): 733-5.
- 3. Davis AB. Life insurance and the physical examination: a chapter in the rise of American medical technology. Bull Hist Med 1981; 55(3): 392-406.
- Leeder S. Commentary: Learning in Lambeth— the South-East London Screening Study revisited. Int J Epidemiol 2001; 30(5): 944-5.
- 5. Siegel GS. An American dilemma--the periodic health examination. Arch Environ Health 1966; 13(3): 292-5.
- 6. Collen MF, Garfield SR, Richart RH, et al. Cost analyses of alternative health examination modes. Arch Intern Med 1977; 137(1): 73-9.
- The South-East London Screening Study Group. A controlled trial of multiphasic screening in middleage: results of the South-East London Screening Study. The South-East London Screening Study Group. Int J Epidemiol 1977; 6(4): 357-63.
- Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality RMD. February 2005. About USPSTF. U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Available at: http://www.ahrq.gov/clinic/uspstfab.htm. accessed 2005.
- Friedman GD, Collen MF, and Fireman BH. Multiphasic Health Checkup Evaluation: a 16-year follow-up. J Chronic Dis 1986; 39(6): 453-63.
- Frame PS, Carlson SJ. A critical review of periodic health screening using specific screening criteria. 3. Selected diseases of the genitourinary system. J Fam Pract 1975; 2(3): 189-94.
- Canadian Task Force on Preventive Care History and Methodology . Available at: http://www.ctfphc.org. accessed 2005.
- Frame PS, Carlson SJ. A critical review of periodic health screening using specific screening criteria. Parts 1-3. J Fam Pract 1975; 2(1): 29-194.
- Medical Practice Committee American College of Physicians. Periodic health examination: a guide for designing individualized preventive health care in the asymptomatic patients. Ann Intern Med 1981; 95(6): 729-32.
- 14. Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination. The periodic health examination. Canadian Medical Association Journal

- Smith HE, Herbert CP. Preventive practice among primary care physicians in British Columbia: relation to recommendations of the Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination. CMAJ 1993; 149(12): 1795-800.
- 16. Freedman A, Pimlott N, and Naglie G. Preventive care for the elderly. Do family physicians comply with recommendations of the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care? Can Fam Physician 2000; 46(1): 350-7.
- Aromaa A, Koponen P, Tafforeau J, et al. Evaluation of Health Interview Surveys and Health Examination Surveys in the European Union. Eur J Public Health 2003; 13(3 Suppl): 67-72.
- Singapore Ministry of Health. 2003. Clinical Practice Guidelines. Available at: <u>http://www.moh.gov.sg/corp/publications/list.do?id=p</u><u>ub_guide_clinics</u>. accessed 2005 Oct.
- 19. Romm FJ. Patients' expectations of periodic health examinations. J Fam Pract 1984; 19(2): 191-5.
- Romm FJ. Periodic health examination: effect of costs on patient expectations. South Med J 1985; 78(11): 1330-2, 1340.
- Hudon E, Beaulieu MD, and Roberge D. Integration of the recommendations of the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care: obstacles perceived by a group of family physicians. Fam Pract 2004; 21(1): 11-7.
- Faulkner LA, Schauffler HH. The effect of health insurance coverage on the appropriate use of recommended clinical preventive services. Am J Prev Med 1997; 13(6): 453-8.
- 23. Salinsky E. Clinical preventive services: when is the juice worth the squeeze? NHPF Issue Brief 2005; (806): 1-30.
- CMS. 2003. The Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003. Available at: http://www.medicare.gov/Publications/Pubs/pdf/1105 4.pdf. accessed 2005.
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. 2003. Prevention Makes Common 'Cents'. Available at: http://aspe.hhs.gov/health/prevention/. accessed 2005.
- Pronk NP, Goodman MJ, O'Connor PJ, et al. Relationship between modifiable health risks and short-term health care charges. JAMA 1999; 282(23): 2235-9.

- 27. Sturm R. The effects of obesity, smoking, and drinking on medical problems and costs. Health Aff (Millwood) 2002; 21(2): 245-53.
- Bernacki EJ, Tsai SP, and Malone RD. Participation in a periodic physical examination program and group health care utilization and costs. J Occup Med 1988; 30(12): 949-52.
- 29. Burton WN, Chen CY, Conti DJ, et al. The value of the periodic executive health examination: experience at Bank One and summary of the literature. J Occup Environ Med 2002; 44(8): 737-44.
- Hayward RS, Steinberg EP, Ford DE, et al. Preventive care guidelines: 1991. American College of Physicians. Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination. United States Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med 1991; 114(9): 758-83.
- Kottke TE, Solberg LI, Brekke ML, et al. Delivery rates for preventive services in 44 midwestern clinics. Mayo Clin Proc 1997; 72(6): 515-23.
- Oboler SK, Prochazka AV, Gonzales R, et al. Public expectations and attitudes for annual physical examinations and testing. Ann Intern Med 2002; 136(9): 652-9.
- Ren A, Okubo T, and Takahashi K. Comprehensive periodic health examination: impact on health care utilisation and costs in a working population in Japan. J Epidemiol Community Health 1994; 48(5): 476-81.
- Sciamanna CN, Novak SP, Houston TK, et al. Visit satisfaction and tailored health behavior communications in primary care. Am J Prev Med 2004; 26(5): 426-30.
- 35. Gordon PR, Senf J, and Campos-Outcalt D. Is the annual complete physical examination necessary? Arch Intern Med 1999; 159(9): 909-10.
- 36. Frame PS. The complete annual physical examination refuses to die. J Fam Pract 1995; 40(6): 543-5.
- Oboler SK, LaForce FM. The periodic physical examination in asymptomatic adults. Ann Intern Med 1989; 110(3): 214-26.
- Preisser JS, Cohen SJ, Wofford JL, et al. Physician and patient predictors of health maintenance visits. Arch Fam Med 1998; 7(4): 346-51.
- Solanki G, Schauffler HH. Cost-sharing and the utilization of clinical preventive services. Am J Prev Med 1999; 17(2): 127-33.
- Olsen DM, Kane RL, and Proctor PH. A controlled trial of multiphasic screening. N Engl J Med 1976; 294(17): 925-30.

- 41. Cutler JL, Ramcharan S, Feldman R, et al. Multiphasic checkup evaluation study. 1. Methods and population. Prev Med 1973; 2(2): 197-206.
- 42. Stange KC, Flocke SA, Goodwin MA, et al. Direct observation of rates of preventive service delivery in community family practice. Prev Med 2000; 31(2 Pt 1): 167-76.
- van Walraven C, Goel V, and Austin P. Why are investigations not recommended by practice guidelines ordered at the periodic health examination? J Eval Clin Pract 2000; 6(2): 215-24.
- 44. Belcher DW. Implementing preventive services. Success and failure in an outpatient trial. Arch Intern Med 1990; 150(12): 2533-41.
- Fletcher SW, Sourkes M, Rabzel M, et al. Multiphasic screening. Case-finding tool in a Teaching Hospital Medical Clinic. JAMA 1977; 237(9): 887-91.
- 46. Knox EG. Multiphasic screening. Lancet 1974; 2(7894): 1434-6.
- Collen MF, Dales LG, Friedman GD, et al. Multiphasic checkup evaluation study. 4. Preliminary cost benefit analysis for middle-aged men. Prev Med 1973; 2(2): 236-46.
- Frijling B, Hulscher ME, van Leest LA, et al. Multifaceted support to improve preventive cardiovascular care: a nationwide, controlled trial in general practice. Br J Gen Pract 2003; 53(497): 934-41.
- Atkins D, Best D, Briss PA, et al. Grading quality of evidence and strength of recommendations. BMJ 2004; 328(7454): 1490.
- Jacob Cohen. Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, N.J.: L. Erlbaum Associates; 1988.
- 51. Rosenthal R. Parametric Measures of Effect Size. New York: Russell Sage Foundation Publications; 1994.
- Lee A. Becker. 2006. Effect Size Measures for Two Independent Groups. Available at: <u>http://web.uccs.edu/lbecker/Psy590/es.htm#II.%20ind</u> <u>ependent</u>. accessed 2006 Feb 16.
- Patrick DL, Grembowski D, Durham M, et al. Cost and outcomes of Medicare reimbursement for HMO preventive services. Health Care Financ Rev 1999; 20(4): 25-43.
- Elder JP, Williams SJ, Drew JA, et al. Longitudinal effects of preventive services on health behaviors among an elderly cohort. Am J Prev Med 1995; 11(6): 354-9.

- 55. Morrissey JP, Harris RP, Kincade-Norburn J, et al. Medicare reimbursement for preventive care. Changes in performance of services, quality of life, and health care costs. Med Care 1995; 33(4): 315-31.
- 56. Burton LC, Steinwachs DM, German PS, et al. Preventive services for the elderly: would coverage affect utilization and costs under Medicare? Am J Public Health 1995; 85(3): 387-91.
- Stone DH, D'Souza MF. Multiphasic screening in middle age: results and implications of a controlled trial in British general practice. Isr J Med Sci 1981; 17(2-3): 215-21.
- Theobald H, Bygren L, Carstensen J, et al. Effects of an assessment of needs for medical and social services on long-term mortality: a randomized controlled study. Int J Epidemiol 1998; 27(2): 194-8.
- Imperial Cancer Research Fund OXCHECK Study Group. Effectiveness of health checks conducted by nurses in primary care: final results of the OXCHECK study. BMJ (Clinical research ed) 1995; 310: 1099-104.
- Norman P, Conner M. Health checks in general practice: the patient's response. Fam Pract 1992; 9(4): 481-7.
- 61. Grimaldi JV. The worth of occupational health programs: a new evaluation of periodic physical examinations. J Gnathol 1965; 56(1): 365-74.
- Roberts NJ, Ipsen J, Elsom KO, et al. Mortality among males in periodic-health-examination programs. N Engl J Med 1969; 281(1): 20-4.
- 63. Slesinger DP, Tessler RC, and Mechanic D. The effects of social characteristics on the utilization of preventive medical services in contrasting health care programs. Med Care 1976; 14(5): 392-404.
- 64. Tao G, Zhang P, and Li Q. Services provided to nonpregnant women during general medical and gynecologic examinations in the United States. Am J Prev Med 2001; 21(4): 291-7.
- 65. Williams RB, Boles M, and Johnson RE. A patientinitiated system for preventive health care. A randomized trial in community-based primary care practices. Arch Fam Med 1998; 7(4): 338-45.
- Hahn DL. The delivery of clinical preventive services: acute care intervention. J Fam Pract 1999; 48(10): 785-9.
- Finkelstein MM. Preventive screening. What factors influence testing? Can Fam Physician 2002; 481: 494-501.

- Somkin CP, McPhee SJ, Nguyen T, et al. The effect of access and satisfaction on regular mammogram and Papanicolaou test screening in a multiethnic population. Med Care 2004; 42(9): 914-26.
- Parchman M, Byrd T. Access to and use of ambulatory health care by a vulnerable Mexican American population on the U.S.-Mexico border. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2001; 12(4): 404-14.
- Sox CH, Dietrich AJ, Tosteson TD, et al. Periodic health examinations and the provision of cancer prevention services. Arch Fam Med 1997; 6(3): 223-30.
- Schneider GW, DeHaven M, and Snell LM. Fostering a culture of prevention in a residency program through a continuous quality improvement project. Am J Med Qual 2003; 18(2): 82-9.
- Geiger WJ, Neuberger MJ, and Bell GC. Implementing the US preventive services guidelines in a family practice residency. Fam Med 1993; 25(7): 447-51.
- 73. Lin SX, Gebbie KM, Fullilove RE, et al. Do nurse practitioners make a difference in provision of health counseling in hospital outpatient departments? J Am Acad Nurse Pract 2004; 16(10): 462-6.
- Flocke SA, Stange KC. Direct observation and patient recall of health behavior advice. Prev Med 2004; 38(3): 343-9.
- 75. Nutting PA, Baier M, Werner JJ, et al. Competing demands in the office visit: what influences mammography recommendations? J Am Board Fam Pract 2001; 14(5): 352-61.
- 76. South-East London Screening Study Group. A controlled trial of multiphasic screening in middleage: results of the South-East London Screening Study. Int J Epidemiol 2001; 30(5): 935-40.
- Hama Y, Masumori K, Tagami H, et al. Preassignment examination for personnel on Iwo Jima. Mil Med 2001; 166(8): 721-4.
- Burton LC, Paglia MJ, German PS, et al. The effect among older persons of a general preventive visit on three health behaviors: smoking, excessive alcohol drinking, and sedentary lifestyle. The Medicare Preventive Services Research Team. Prev Med 1995; 24(5): 492-7.
- 79. German PS, Burton LC, Shapiro S, et al. Extended coverage for preventive services for the elderly: response and results in a demonstration population. Am J Public Health 1995; 85(3): 379-86.

- Burton LC, German PS, and Shapiro S. A preventive services demonstration. Health status, health behaviors, and cost outcomes 2 years after intervention. The Johns Hopkins Medicare Preventive Services Demonstration Team. Med Care 1997; 35(11): 1149-57.
- Langham S, Thorogood M, Normand C, et al. Costs and cost effectiveness of health checks conducted by nurses in primary care: the Oxcheck study. BMJ 1996; 312(7041): 1265-8.
- Nakanishi N, Tatara K, and Fujiwara H. Do preventive health services reduce eventual demand for medical care? Soc Sci Med 1996; 43(6): 999-1005.
- Chiou CJ, Chang HY. Do the elderly benefit from annual physical examination? An example from Kaohsiung City, Taiwan. Prev Med 2002; 35(3): 264-70.
- Christensen B. Payment and attendance at general practice preventive health examinations. Fam Med 1995; 27(8): 531-4.
- 85. Halterman S, Camero C, and Maillet P. The consumer-driven approach: can it pick up where managed care left off? Benefits Q 2003; 19(2): 13-26.
- 86. Samuel TW, Raleigh SG, Hower JM, et al. The next stage in the health care economy: aligning the interests of patients, providers, and third-party payers through consumer-driven health care plans. Am J Surg 2003; 186(2): 117-24.
- Donahue KE, Ashkin E, and Pathman DE. Length of patient-physician relationship and patients' satisfaction and preventive service use in the rural south: a crosssectional telephone study. BMC Fam Pract 2005; 6(1): 40.
- Piette JD, Heisler M, Krein S, et al. The role of patient-physician trust in moderating medication nonadherence due to cost pressures. Arch Intern Med 2005; 165(15): 1749-55.

- Thom DH, Kravitz RL, Bell RA, et al. Patient trust in the physician: relationship to patient requests. Fam Pract 2002; 19(5): 476-83.
- Mayer JA, Jermanovich A, Wright BL, et al. Changes in health behaviors of older adults: the San Diego Medicare Preventive Health Project. Prev Med 1994; 23(2): 127-33.
- Stone DH, Shannon DJ. Screening for impaired visual acuity in middle age in general practice. Br Med J 1978a; 2(6141): 859-61.
- Stone DH, Crisp AH. The effect of multiphasic screening on aspects of psychiatric status in middle age: results of a controlled trial in general practice. Int J Epidemiol. 1978b; 7(4): 331-4.
- Trevelyan H. Study of evaluate the effects of multiphasic screening within general practice in Britain: design and method. Prev Med 1973; 2(2): 278-94.
- 94. Dales LG, Friedman GD, Ramcharan S, et al. Multiphasic checkup evaluation study. 3. Outpatient clinic utilization, hospitalization, and mortality experience after seven years. Prev Med 1973; 2(2): 221-35.
- Ramcharan S, Cutler JL, Feldman R, et al. Multiphasic checkup evaluation study. 2. Disability and chronic disease after seven years of multiphasic health checkups. Prev Med 1973; 2(2): 207-20.
- Dales LG, Friedman GD, and Collen MF. Evaluating periodic multiphasic health checkups: a controlled trial. J Chronic Dis 1979; 32(5): 385-404.
- 97. Norinder A, Persson U, Nilsson P, et al. Costs for screening, intervention and hospital treatment generated by the Malmo Preventive Project: a largescale community screening programme. J Intern Med 2002; 251(1): 44-52.
- Eaton CB, Goodwin MA, and Stange KC. Direct observation of nutrition counseling in community family practice. Am J Prev Med 2002; 23(3): 174-9.

Summary Tables

Characteristics		n (%)
Study design	Randomized controlled trial	11 (31)
· · ·	Non-randomized controlled trial	1 (3)
	Prospective cohort	2 (5)
	Retrospective cohort	5 (14)
	Cross-sectional	14 (39)
	Pre-post comparison	3 (8)
First year study conducted	1940-1969	4 (11)
	1970-1989	9 (25)
	1990-2005	19 (53)
	Not specified	4 (11)
Country where study conducted	United States	25 (69)
	United Kinadom	3 (8)
	Canada	3 (8)
	Japan	2 (5)
	Taiwan	1 (3)
	Denmark	1 (3)
	Sweden	1 (3)
Study setting	Urban	17 (47)
	Suburban	8 (22)
	Rural	5 (14)
	Unclear	18 (50)
Delivery site for PHE	Ambulatory practice office	16 (44)
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	Academic practice	7 (19)
	Resident/housestaff clinic	5 (14)
	Hospital outpatient clinic	4 (11)
	Community health center	1 (3)
	Health checkup/physical exam clinic	3 (8)
	Military (not otherwise specified)	1 (3)
	Employer health clinic	1 (3)
	Community center	1 (3)
	Not applicable (observational study with survey	8 (22)
	design)	
	Not specified	4 (11)
Physician specialty delivering PHE	Family medicine practice	10 (28)
	Internal medicine practice	7 (19)
	General Practice	6 (17)
	Multispecialty	1 (3)
	Not specified	4 (11)
	Not applicable (observational study with survey	8 (22)
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	design)	
Health plan under which PHE delivered	National health system (non-U.S. studies)	10 (28)
	Medicare	4 (11)
	Employer health plan	4 (11)
	Staff model health maintenance organization	2 (5)
	Other managed care plan	2 (5)
	Veterans Affairs or other U.S. Department of	1 (3)
	Detense health plan	45
Publicat of atudu	Not specified of mixed (surveys, of NOS)	10
	Materia	21 (96)
	Employee or executive	ST (00) 9 (22)
	Employee of executive	0 (22)
		9 (22)
	Coporal internists	5(22)
	General practitioners	4 (11)

Table 1. Characteristics of Studies Eligible for Inclusion in the Review (N = 36).

Table 1.	Characteristics	of Studies Eligible	e for Inclusion in the	e Review (<i>N</i> = 36).	(continued)
----------	-----------------	---------------------	------------------------	----------------------------	-------------

Characteristics		n (%)
	Medical trainees (fellows, residents/house staff, medical students)	3 (8)
	Nurses or nurse practitioners	3 (8)
	Internists	2 (5)
	Physicians' assistants	1 (3)
	Health providers, not otherwise specified	1 (3)
	Obstetricians/gynecologists	0 (0)
	Medical specialist/subspecialist physicians	0 (0)
	Physicians, not otherwise specified	0 (0)
	Office staff	0 (0)

PHE = periodic health evaluation. Percents may not add to 100. Reviewers were able to give multiple answers to many of the questions.

Table 2. Summary of Study Results.

Author	,Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
yea	rStudy	(months	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this	Limitations
	Began	of follow				PHE		study	
		up)							
Randomized	d Controlle	d Trials	-		-	-			
Randomized Patrick 1999 ⁵	3 Controlle	d Trials 48 months (2 years after inter- vention)	The study population consisted of 2,558 HMO enrollees in Seattle, WA. Medicare demonstration project.	The intervention group included Group Health Comparative of Puget Sound Medicare enrollees invited to receive preventive services benefits package for two years. Uptake of PHE: 90% attended health promotion and disease prevention visits year 1; 83% attended health promotion and disease prevention visits in year 2; 78% had visits in both years,; 9% attended none in any year; 24% attended any classes.	The comparison group consisted of Medicare enrollees receiving usual care.		1. Immunization – influenza 2. Health habits – improvement in: - Physical activity - Diet (fat and fiber) - Advance directives - Breast self- exam - Smoking - Alcohol - Seat belt use 3. Patient attitudes – mean score health worry [‡] 4. Body mass index – at risk for obesity, 24- month F/U 5. Costs – average total cost per participant 6. Mortality - Mortality at 24 months 48 months	The PHE was described as a preventive service package that include - 1)health-risk assessment (telephone interview); 2) health- promotion visit (90 minute nurse visit with health risk appraisals, positive behavior reinforcement and referrals for interventions where appropriate); 3)disease- prevention visit (by nurse and physician who conducted history and physical examination and reviewed pationte' health	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Reporting on blinding External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of outcomes not detailed 2. Results potentially not generalizable beyond Medicare recipient population Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding
							- 48 months	risks) and 4)	

Author year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Randomized	Controlle	d Trials					-		
Patrick 1999 (cont')								classes (exercise, planning ahead). Counseling on exercise, high fiber/low fat diet and advance directives offered to all. Health promotion visit and disease prevention visits and group exercise were offered in both years.	
Elder 1995 ⁵⁴ Mayer 1994 ⁹⁰	1992	48 months (2 years after inter- vention comp- letion)	The study population consisted of 1,203 HMO enrollees in San Diego, CA. Medicare demonstration project.	The two-year intervention consisted of Medicare beneficiaries receiving a health risk appraisal with individual counseling and health promotion workshops. Uptake of PHE: 96% completed health risk appraisal and	The comparison group received usual care.		1. Health habits - Fiber servings per day - Fat servings per week - Salt use - Caffeine drinks per day - Stretching minutes per week - Consumption of cruciferous foods 2. Blood	The PHE was described as preventive services through a health risk appraisal with individual counseling, selected clinical tests and immunizations, and a series of 8 weekly group health promotion	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Reporting on differences between enrollees and non-enrollees 2. Reporting on blinding 3. Reporting on withdrawals or crossovers External Validity Concerns: 1. Results

Author	Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
year	Study	(months	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this	Limitations
	Began	of follow				PHE		study	
		<u>up)</u>							
Randomized	Controlle	ed Trials		b					
Elder, 1995				individual			pressure	sessions	potentially not
Mayer				counseling; 87%			- Mean	(memory,	generalizable
1994 (cont)				attended at least			systolic blood	mental	beyona Madiaara
				sossion 72%			pressure at 12	coping with	recipiont
				attended at least			- Mean		population
				4 50% attended			diastolic blood	for	population
				at least 6			pressure at 12	independent	
							months	living, self-	
							3. Body mass	enhancement.	
							index	exercise.	
							- Mean BMI at	nutrition,	
							24 months	relaxation, self-	
							(end of	care).	
							intervention	Individual	
							period)	counseling	
							- Mean BMI at	was continued	
							48 months	during year 2.	
	1000						(end of F/U)		
Morrissey	1988	12-26	The study	I he intervention	The comparison	Intervention	1. Pap smear	The PHE was	External
1995*		months	population	group received	group received	Group:	2.	described as a	Validity
		atter	consisted of 1914	full Medicare	usual care.		immunization -	preventive	Concerns:
		of inter		neimbursement to		1. Willen		offered ence a	1. Results
		Vention	medical practices	proventive care		2 phone call	5. Cholesteror		polenilally not
		(for cost	in central North	and health		Providers:	4 Colon	a breast exam	beyond
		outcomes.	Carolina.	promotion		1. annual	cancer	eve exam, pap	Medicare
		3 vears	Medicare	packages.		capitated	screening -	smear, hearing	recipient
		after	demonstration	regular reminding		payments for	fecal occult	test.	population
		beginning	project.	of physicians to		preventive care	blood testing	depression	
		of inter-		routinely		and health	4.	test, influenza	
		vention –		schedule		promotion visits	Mammogram	& pneumovax	
		1 year after		preventive care		2. prompting to	5. Costs	immunization,	
		inter-		visits, a new		schedule	- 3-year post-	cholesterol	
		vention		office system in		preventive care	intervention	test, fecal	
		completion)		which nurse		visits	cumulative	occult blood	
				carried out many		office system	Medicare	test, urinalysis	

Author,	Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
year	Study	(months	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this	Limitations
_	Began	of follow			-	PHE		study	
	_	up)							
Randomized	Controlle	d Trials							
Morrissey,				preventive		change for nurse	charges.	and a urinary	
1995 (cont')				procedures, and		delivery of	- 3-year post-	incontinence	
				a form for		preventive	intervention	test. One hour	
				charting		services	cumulative	health	
				preventive care.		4. form for	Medicare	promotion	
				Duration of		charting	reimbursement	sessions were	
				intervention was		preventive care	6.	conducted	
				two years.			Hospitalization	every 6	
							- Utilization	months for	
				Uptake of the			data: hospital	physical	
				PHE: 88%			days per	activity,	
				received at least			enrollee over	nutrition, stress	
				one clinical			two years of	management/p	
				screening; 87%			intervention	roblem solving	
				received at least			and one year	and others	
				one health			post-	based on risk.	
				promotion			intervention		
				service.			 Admissions 		
							per enrollee		
							over two years		
							of intervention		
							and one year		
							post-		
							intervention		
Burton,	1989	24 months	The study	The intervention	The comparison	Intervention	1. Pap smear	The PHE was	Internal
1995 ⁵⁶ ;		after	population	group received	group received	Group:	2. Health	described as a	Validity
German		beginning	consisted of	coverage for an	no coverage for	Patients:	habits	physical	Concerns:
1995 ⁷⁹		of	4,195 older,	annual	an annual	1. Written	- Smoking	examination.	1. Reporting
Burton,		interventio	community-	preventive visit	preventive visit	material	- Problem	The	on blinding
1997 ⁸⁰ ;		n and for	dwelling	and tests	and tests.		alcohol	examination	External
Burton,		some	Medicare	(Medicare			drinking	included a	Validity
1995 ⁷⁸		outcomes	recipients in	vouchers for 2			3. Health	breast, pelvic	Concerns:
Burton,		48 months	Baltimore.	yearly preventive			status –	(including Pap	1. Results
1995;		after	Medicare	visits and			change in	smear), and	potentially not
German, 1995		beginning	demonstration	optional			health status of	digital rectal	generalizable
Burton,		of inter-	project.	counseling			intervention	exam, fecal	beyond
1997;		vention (2		visits).			and control	occult blood	Medicare

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Randomized	Controll	ed Trials	•		1		•		
Burton, 1995 (cont') Burton, 1995; German, 1995; Burton,		years after end of inter- vention)		Uptake of the PHE: 63% made preventive visit year 1; 52% counseling visit year 2; 33% counseling visit year 2.			groups from base-line to 2 years 4. Costs - Total health care charges, Year 1. - Total health care charges, Year 2. - Mean monthly Medicare Part A charges, Year 1 - Mean monthly Medicare Part A, charges Year 2 - Mean monthly Medicare Part A, charges Year 2 - Mean monthly Medicare Part A charges Year 3 (1 year post- intervention) - Mean monthly Medicare Part A charges Year 3 (1 year post- intervention) - Mean monthly Medicare Part A charges Year 3 (1 year post- intervention) - Mean monthly Medicare Part A charges Year 4 (2 years post- intervention) 5. Hospitalization	testing, cholesterol testing, immunizations, counseling for health risks, and a complete history including vision, hearing, and dentition.	recipient population

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Randomized	Controlled	d Trials							
Burton, 1995 (cont')							inpatient days for the intervention and control groups who had a hospital discharge in that year (Year 1) - Mean inpatient days Year 2 - Hospital discharges per 1000 Year 1 - Hospital discharges per 1000 Year 2 6. Mortality		
Norman, 1992 ⁶⁰	1992*		The study population consisted of 818 patients from one general practice in Norfolk, England aged 30 to 41.	The intervention group consisted of patients who received an invitation letter with an appointment for a health check.		Intervention Group: Patients: 1. Written material Control Group: Patients: 1. Written material	1. Receipt of PHE – attendance of PHE	The PHE was described as a health check that included the assessment of smoking behavior, alcohol consumption, diet and	External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of study population characteristics not detailed Statistical Validity Concerns:

Author,	Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
year	Study	(months	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this	Limitations
	Began	of follow				PHE		study	
		up)							
Randomized	Controlle	d Trials							
Norman, 1992 (cont')				The intervention group also included patients who received an open invitation letter to health				exercise levels, blood pressure and weight.	1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding
Belcher, 1990 ⁴⁴	1981	60 months	The study population consisted of 1,224 male patients who attended the Seattle Veterans Affairs Medical Center during October to December 1980. (We included 674 patients in the study who either attended a health promotion clinic or received usual care. Other groups received other interventions)	The intervention group was offered self- referral to a health promotion clinic. Uptake of the PHE: 71% participated in health promotion clinic in year 1; 78% participated in health promotion clinic in year 1 or year 2; 90% attending in year 1 returned for year 2	The comparison group received usual care.	Intervention Group: Patients: 1. Written material 2. Phone call	1. Counseling - Alcohol abuse - Smoking cessation 2. Immunization – influenza 3. Colon cancer screening - fecal occult blood testing	The PHE was described as a physical examination similar to USPSTF recommended activities. Included history and physical examination items (alcoholism screen, smoking assessment, blood pressure check, breast examination); laboratory testing (fecal occult blood, cholesterol, tuberculin skin test, VDRL, Pap smear and mam- mography); tetanus/diphth	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Reporting on blinding External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of study population not detailed 2. Results potentially not generalizable beyond Veterans Affairs (male) population

Author,	Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
year	Study	(months	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this	Limitations
	Began	wollot to				PHE		study	
Pandomized	Controller	up) 1 Triale							
Reicher	Controller							eria and	
1990 (cont')								influenza vaccination, and counseling on breast self- examination and alcoholism and smoking cessation.	
Stone, 1981 ⁵⁷ ; South-east London, 2001 ⁷⁶ ; Stone, 1978a ⁹¹ ; Stone, 1978 ⁹² ; Trevelyan, 1973 ⁹³	1967	60-108 months	The study population consisted of 7229 patients in South- east London aged 40 to 64 years in 1967 receiving care in primary care group practices.	The intervention group were South London patients aged 40 to 64 years in specific group practices; received 2 multiphasic screenings 2 years apart. Uptake of the PHE: 73% participated in first year screening; 99% of these had both physical exam and clinic tests	The comparison group consisted of South London patients aged 40 to 64 years in specific group practices; received usual care.		1. Disease detection - Angina - High diastolic blood pressure - Ischemia on electrocardiogr am - Bronchitis symptoms 2. Health habits – percentage still smoking 3. Disability – major disability (e.g., inability to dress or undress themselves) 4. Hospitalization – hospitalization s/ 1000 person years at risk	The PHE was described as multiphasic screening. Screening for ischemic heart disease, elevated blood pressure, chronic bronchitis, diabetes, thyroid imbalance, arthritis, obesity, venous varicosities, hearing and visual defects. (PFTs, ECG, blood pressure, serum cholesterol, uric acid, fecal occult blood),	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Reporting on blinding External Validity Concerns: 1. Study performed before USPSTF or similar contemporary preventive services guidelines in effect Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Differences in control and treatment group at baseline not specifically

Author year	,Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Randomized	I Controlle	d Trials							
Stone, 1981 South-eas London 1977 South-eas London 2001 Stone 1978a Stone 1978b Trevelyan 1973 (cont [*])							(1976) 5. Mortality mortality rate per 1000 person-years at risk: - All cause death - Neoplasm - Central nervous system - Cardiovascular disease - Respiratory disease - All other causes	abdominal exam, leg exam, breast and pelvic exam, chest x- ray, height, weight and skin fold, vision and audiometry testing, skin, mouth, teeth and joint exams	accounted for in analysis 2. Incomplete presentation of statistical significance

Author,	Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
year	Study	(months	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this	Limitations
	Began	of follow				PHE		study	
		up)							
Randomized	Controlle	d Trials							
Fletcher,	1974	Outcomes	The study	The intervention			1. Disease	The PHE was	Internal
1977 ⁴⁵		(disease	population	group consisted	The first		detection	described as	Validity
		detection)	consisted of 112	of patients who	comparison		- Disease	multiphasic	Concerns:
		measured	patients 40 to 65	received	group was the		detection of	screening that	1. Reporting
		directly	years old seen by	multiphasic	medical chart		ALL problems	included a	on blinding
		after multi-	112 physicians.	screening.	abstraction group		before and	standard	External
		-phasic	Physicians		(physicians given		after	questionnaire,	Validity
		screening	randomized to	Uptake of the	abstracted		intervention	measurement	Concerns:
		visit.	receiving results	PHE: Not	information about		(number of	of blood	1. Study
			of multiphasic	mentioned, but	patients from		new medical	pressure,	performed
		Charts	screening	by design, all	chart).		problems	height, weight,	before
		were	program versus	intervention			detected at	visual acuity,	USPSTF or
		reviewed	reviewing	group	In the second		F/U)	tonometry,	similar
		at 12	prepared chart	participants	comparison		- Disease	audiometry,	contemporary
		months to	abstract versus	would have	group, physicians		detection of	blood	preventive
		assess	reviewing actual	received the	reviewed the		important	leukocyte	services
		rollow-up	chart	multipnasic	patient's actual		problems	count,	guidelines in
		of new		screening.	chart.		before and	nematocrit and	
		problems					atter	nemogiobin	2. Description
							Intervention	levels,	of study
								service for	population not
									Octation
								syphilis,	Statistical
								Diochemistry of	Concorney
									Concerns:
								specimen,	in Polentially
								Ulliarysis,	inauequate
								eboot	regidual
								roontaonoaram	confounding
									comounding
								also included	
								clinical breast	
								examination	
								nan smear and	
								vital canacity	
								vital capacity.	
1			1	1					

Author	,Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
year	Study	(months	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this	Limitations
	Began	of follow				PHE		study	
		up)							
Randomized	Controlle	ed Trials	L	— ———————————————————————————————————	L				
	,1964	84-192	The study	The intervention	The comparison	Intervention	1. Costs	The PHE was	Internal
1973		months	population	group consisted	group consisted	Group:	- Average	described as	Validity
Collen	,		consisted of	of California	of California	Patients:	annual cost for	an annual	Concerns:
1973			10,713 randomly	Kaiser Health	Kaiser Health	1. Written	physician visit	multiphasic	1. Reporting
Dales	,		selected	Plan members	Plan members	Material	per participant	health check-	on blinding
1973**			California Kaiser	aged 35-54	aged 35-54 who	2. Reminder	at 7 years	up (MHC)	External
Ramcharan	,		Health Plan	encouraged to	received usual	3. Phone calls	(men, aged 45-	consisting of a	Validity
1973**			members in	have an annual	care.		54 years at	multiphasic	Concerns:
Friedman	,		1964, age 35-54.	multiphasic			baseline)	exam (which is	1. Study
1986				checkup for 11			- Average	a series of	performed
Dales	,			years.			annual cost for	tests	before
1979-							physician visit	performed in	USPSIFOr
Norinder	2			Uptake of the			per participant	the automated	similar
2002				PHE: 54% Of			at 11 years	multi-test lab),	contemporary
				Intervention	lintelie of the		(men, aged 45-	and a follow-up	preventive
				group received at			54 years at	evaluation of	services
				least 4 PHES	PHE: 13% Of		baseline)	Trom	guidelines in
				over 7 years,			- Average	multiphasic	enect
					group received at			exam. me	Statistical
					east 4 PHES		expense per	multiphasic	Concorne:
				over / years	52% received at		participant in multiphonio		1 Detentially
							hoalth chookup	a stanuaru	1. Potentially
							ovpoppo et 7	questionnaire	inauequate
					over / years			history and	regidual
							years. (men,	nrocont	confounding
							voare at	symptoms	comounding
							basolino)	guestions	
								measurement	
							- Average	of blood	
							annuar avnansa par		
							narticinant in	visual acuity	
							multinhasic	tonometry	
							health checkup	audiometry	
							evnense at 11	urinalveie	
							vears (men	FCG and	
							aged 45-54	chest & breast	

Author year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Randomized	l Controll	ed Trials							
Cutler 1973 Collen 1973 Dales 1973 Ramcharan 1973 Friedman 1986 Dales 1979 Norinder 2002 (cont')							years at baseline) 2. Disability - Disability at 7 years - Disability at 11 years among men aged 45-54 3. Mortality Deaths, rate per 1000 persons - All cause deaths - Death from potentially postponable causes ¶ - Death from colorectal cancer - Death from breast cancer (women only) - Death from cervical/uterine cancer (women only) - Death from prostate cancer (men only) - Death from prostate cancer (men only) - Death from	x-rays,. The MHC also included anthropometry, spirometry, and a serum chemistry panel.	

Author	Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
year	Study	(months	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this	Limitations
	ведап	wollot to				PHE		study	
Randomized	Controlle	d Trials							
Cutler							- Death from		
1973							ischemic heart		
Collen							disease		
1973							- Death from		
Dales							respiratory		
1973							system		
Ramcharan							disease.		
1973							- Death from		
Friedman							musculoskelet		
1986							al disease		
Dales							- Death from		
1979							mental,		
Norinder							nervous, or		
2002 (cont)							sensory organ		
							disease		
							- Death from		
							endocrine,		
							metabolic		
							disease		
							- Death from		
							suicide		
							- Death from		
							lymphohemato		
							-poetic cancer		
Theobald	1969	20 years	The study	The intervention	The comparison		1. Mortality	The PHE was	Internal
1998 ⁵⁸		5	population	group consisted	group were		- All cause	described as a	Validity
			consisted of	of Stockholm	Stockholm		mortality	general health	Concerns:
			32,186 patients	residents aged	residents aged		-	examination	1. Reporting
			aged 18-65.	18-65 who were	18-65 who		Cardiovascular	that included	on differences
				offered a general	received usual		disease	social,	between
				health	care.		mortality	psychiatric,	participants
				examination.			- Cancer	and medical	and non-
							mortality	interviews and	participants
				Uptake of PHE:			- Accidents	exams to	2. Reporting
				2578/3064 (84%)			and	determine	on blinding
				of those offered			intoxication	social and	Description

Author,	Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
year	Study Bogon	(months	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this	Limitations
	Беуап	un)				FNE		Sludy	
Randomized	Controlled	d Trials							
Randomized Theobald, 1998 (cont')	Controlled			the PHE were examined.			mortality	medial needs. Also, blood tests, physical examinations, ECGs, exercise tests, psychological tests and eye and dental examinations.	of PHE is not detailed External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of study population characteristics not detailed 2. Study performed before USPSTF or similar contemporary preventive services guidelines in effect Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding
	1000			The intervention	The expression	Intervention			Internel
1995 ⁵⁹	1909	So monuns	ne sludy	aroup received a	aroup received	Group	habits	described as a	Validity
Langham.			consisted of	health check at	no health check	Patients:	- Smoking	health check	Concerns:
1996 ⁸¹]			11,090 patients	baseline (year 1)	at baseline but	1. Written	- Alcohol use	and consisted	1. Reporting
			aged 35 to 64	and in year 4.	received a health	Material	- Exercise less	of medical	on blinding
			from 5 general	-	check in year 4.	2. Reminder	than once per	history,	Statistical
			practices in	Uptake of the		3. Phone call	month	lifestyle	Validity
			Bedfordshire,	PHE: Of the 2205		4. Encou-	- Use full	questionnaire,	Concerns:

yearStudy Began(months of follow up)populationGroupGroupoutside of the PHEAssesRandomized Controlled TrialsOXCHECK, 1995; Langham, (cont')England.receiving PHE in year 1, 75%ragement to make a visit teceived PHE in year 4, 75%ragement to make a visit teceived PHE in year 4cream hard m year 4.1996 (cont')England.received PHE in year 4 (control group) and in year 4 (control group) comprise the study population for this analysis.received PHE in year 4ragement to make a visit to use the study population for this analysis.	SessedPHE in this studyLimitationsam milkmeasurements of height, weight, blood pressure, and1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual
Began or follow up) PHE Randomized Controlled Trials Regand. receiving PHE in year 1, 75% ragement to received PHE in year 1, 75% ragement to make a visit cream hard m bard m 1996 (cont') 4,908 patients receiving PHE n year 1, year 4 (intervention group) and in year 4 (control group) comprise the study population for this analysis. receiving PHE in year 4 ragement to control Group: Patients: - Use hard m 2. Reminder 3. Phone call - Syste blood p 4. Encourage- ment to make a visit during other healthcare visits - Dias blood p	am milk measurements of height, weight, blood pressure, and residual
Randomized Controlled TrialsOXCHECK, 1995; Langham,England.receiving PHE in year 1, 75%ragement to make a visitcream - Use1996 (cont')receiving PHE n year 1, year 4 (intervention group) and in year 4 (control group) comprise the study population for this analysis.receiving PHE in year 4ragement to make a visit - Use during other healthcare visits2. Bloc Control Group: Patients: 2. Bloc Patients: - Syste 1. WrittenSyste blood p at 3-yee up3. Phone call analysis Dias blood p at 3-yee up4. Encourage- ment to make a visit during other healthcare visits- Dias blood p at 3-yee up9. Control Group: Patients: - Syste - Prop high risd diastol- Dias blood p at 3-yee up9. Control Group: Patients: - Syste - Prop high risd diastol- Dias blood p at 3-yee up	am milk measurements 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for slood pressure, and residual
OXCHECK, 1995; Langham, (cont')England.receiving PHE in year 1, 75%ragement to make a visit - Use during other healthcare visits 2. Bloc pressu pressu Patients: the study population for this analysis.ragement to make a visit - Use during other healthcare visits 2. Bloc pressuragement to make a visit pressu pressu pressu pressuOXCHECK, pressu pressu pressu pressu pressu pressureceived PHE in pressu pressu pressu pressu pressu pressureceived PHE in pressu pressu pressu pressu pressu pressureceived PHE in pressu pressu pressu pressu pressu pressu pressureceived PHE in pressu pressu pressu pressu pressu pressu pressureceived PHE in pressu pressu pressu pressu pressu pressu pressuOutput pressu pressu pressu pressureceived PHE in pressu pressu pressu pressu pressureceived PHE in pressu pressu pressu pressu pressuOutput pressu <b< th=""><th>am milk measurements of height, inadequate adjustment for slood pressure, and slood margarine weight, blood pressure, and slood slood slood measurements of the slood measurement for the slow measure</th></b<>	am milk measurements of height, inadequate adjustment for slood pressure, and slood margarine weight, blood pressure, and slood slood slood measurements of the slood measurement for the slow measure
(≥100n from 3 F/U wh compa control 3. Cha serum choles - Meal choles 3-year - Prop high ris choles	ssure serum confounding ystolic cholesterol levels, and post-visit counseling. iastolic cod pressure levels, and post-visit counseling. iastolic cod pressure levels and post-visit counseling. iastolic confounding post-visit counseling. iastolic counseling. i

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Randomized	Controlled	d Trials							
OXCHECK, 1995; Langham, 1996 (conť)							- Percentage of participants with BMI ≥ 30 5. Cost- effectiveness		

Author year	,Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Non-random	nized Contr	olled Trial	5						
Christensen 1995 ⁸	1990		The study population consisted of 2,452 patients of 65 general practitioners.	The intervention group consisted of Denmark patients of general practitioners who received mailing that a preventive health examination was free.	The comparison group were Denmark patients of general practitioners who received mailing that a preventive health examination was 40 Danish Krone.	Intervention Group: Patients: 1. Written material 2. Financial disincentive (charge) Control Group: Patients: 1. Written material 2. Financial disincentive (charge)	1. Receipt of PHE – attendance at PHE	The PHE in this study was described as a preventive health examination.	External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of PHE is not detailed

Author yea	,Year rStudy Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Prospective	Cohorts								
Roberts 1969 ⁶	3 1950	180 months	The study population consisted of 20,648 male patients who had employee- sponsored periodic health exams.	The intervention group consisted of U.S. employed men receiving a employer- sponsored periodic health examination.	The comparison group consisted of a historical comparison of U.S. white men.		1. Mortality – actual/expecte d deaths	The PHE was described as a periodic health exam that included a health history, and a thorough physical examination supplemented by laboratory, x-ray, and ECG studies.	External Validity Concerns: 1. Study performed before USPSTF or similar contemporary preventive services guidelines in effect 2. Results potentially not generalizable beyond persons who are non-White men

	Table 2.	Summar	/ of S	tudy	Results.	continued)	
--	----------	--------	--------	------	----------	------------	--

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Prospective	Cohorts								
Chiou, 2002 ⁸³	1993	6 years	The study population consisted of a sample of 1,193 elderly people in each of the 11 districts in Kaohsiung City, Taiwan.	The intervention group consisted of Taiwanese adults aged 65 years and older reporting receiving a physical examination in past year.	The comparison group were Taiwanese adults aged 65 and older not receiving physical examination in past year		1. Mortality – Relative risk of mortality	The PHE was defined as an annual physical exam that included measurements of weight, height, blood pressure, pulse, visual acuity, oral health, and hearing. A PHE also included urine, fecal occult blood, fasting blood lipids, and glucose laboratory tests.	External Validity Concerns: 1. Results potentially not generalizable beyond elderly Taiwanese.

	Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Re	trospectiv	e Cohort	s							
	Burton, 2002 ²⁹	1989	3 years	The study population consisted of 1,773 Bank One executives who were enrolled in the Bank Medical Plan, or a preferred provider plan.	The intervention group consisted of executives that were eligible for and receiving the periodic health examination.	The comparison group consisted of executives eligible for but not participating in the periodic health examination.		1. Costs – average cost in medical claims paid per employee 2. Disability - Average number of short-term disability days per employee - Total short- term disability days in 3 years - Any short- term disability days (%)	The PHE was described as a complete history and physical examination, fasting laboratory tests including multiphasic chemistries (blood count etc), lipid profile, total cholesterol, HDL- cholesterol, calculated LDL- cholesterol, dipstick urinalysis, resting 12 lead- electrocardiogr am, pulmonary function testing and vision and glaucoma	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Use of claims data not specified for research purposes External Validity Concerns: 1. Results potentially not generalizable beyond executive employees

Author, year	Year	Years	Study	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study Limitations
	Bogan	(months	population	Group	Group		Assessed		Limitations
	Degan							Sludy	
Retrospectiv	e Cohort	<u>s</u>							
Hama, 2001 ⁷⁷	1999	12 months	The study population consisted of 240 employees of the Japan Maritime Self-Defense Force working on the Iwo Jima military defense base.	The patients in the intervention group received a pre-assignment medical exam 1 year before their assignment.	The patients in the comparison group didn't receive a pre- assignment medical exam 1 year before their assignment.		1. Disease detection - Cardiac arrhythmia - Neurological problems Hyperlipidemia - Gl ulcers Hypertension - Severe obesity (BMI > 28.6 kg/m ²) - Proteinuria 2. Blood pressure - Mean systolic blood pressure - Mean diastolic blood pressure - Mean diastolic blood pressure - Proportion of hypertension 3. Changes in serum cholesterol levels - Mean total cholesterol - Mean LDL cholesterol - Mean HDL cholesterol	The PHE was defined as an annual health examination including analysis of height, body weight, blood pressure, BMI, chest radiography, electrocardiogr aphy, vital capacity, serum chemistry, stool samples, and urine samples.	External Validity Concerns: 1. Results potentially not generalizable beyond Japanese males. Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding
Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
---------------------------------	------------------------	--------------------------------------	---	---	---	---	--	--	---
Retrospectiv	ve Cohort:	3							-
Hama, 2001 (conť)	9						 Proportion of hyperlipidemia 4. Body mass index Mean BMI; Proportion of severe obesity (BMI ≥ 28.6) 		
Freedman, 2000 ¹⁶	1995	18 months	The study population consisted of 136 community- dwelling patients aged 70 and older.	The intervention group included patients who received a periodic health examination.	The comparison group received no periodic health examination and attended clinic 3 or more times.	Intervention Group: Providers: 1. Chart-based reminders	1. Immunization - Received influenza vaccine - Received tetanus vaccine	The PHE in this study included screening for smoking, alcohol, influenza vaccination, tetanus vaccination, exercise, nutrition, blood pressure, hearing, and vision.	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Reporting on differences between enrollees and non-enrollees External Validity Concerns: 1.Description of study inclusion/exclu sion criteria not detailed 2. Description of study population characteristics not detailed 3. Description of PHE is not detailed Statistical Validity

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Retrospectiv	/e Cohorts								
Freedman 2000 (cont')									Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding 2. Incomplete presentation of statistical significance
Williams 1998 ⁶⁶	1998*	12 months	The study population consisted of 50 adult patient's medical records before and 50 after intervention in each of 60 primary care practices.	The intervention group consisted of patients who received a Health Maintenance Exam (HME) and interacted with a touch-sensitive computer system (TSCS), which provided patient- specific preventive service recommendation s.	The comparison group consisted of patients who had an HME and did not use a TSCS.	Intervention Group: Patients: 1. touch-sensitive computer system Providers: 1. touch-sensitive computer system Control Group: Patients: 1. touch-sensitive computer system Providers: 1. touch-sensitive computer system	1. Pap smear 2. Colon cancer screening - Flexible sigmoidoscopy - Fecal occult blood test 3. Mammogram	The PHE, called a HME in this study, was defined as an office visit specifically for a physical exam, breast examination, pap smear, and pelvic examination, or annual check-up.	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Reporting on differences between enrollees and non-enrollees External Validity Concerns: 2. Description of study population characteristics not detailed

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Retrospectiv	ve Cohorts								
Williams, 1998 (cont')			The study population also consisted of 507 touch-sensitive computer system users.						 Description of PHE is not detailed Statistical Validity Concerns: Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding Incomplete presentation of statistical significance
Bernacki 1988 ²⁶	1983	36 months	The study population consisted of 710 male executives of a multinational US corporation.	The intervention group consisted of corporation executives that were eligible for periodic physical exam (PPE) and receiving 3 PPEs during 3-year study period.	The comparison group consisted of corporation executives eligible for PPE and not receiving a PPE during the 3-year study period.		1. Costs – health care claims cost per capita in Year 3	The PHE was described as a periodic physical examination that included a medical history, physical examination, visual acuity testing, resting electrocardiogr am, multiple	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Reporting on withdrawals 2. Standard/valid reporting of outcomes External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of study

Author, year	Year Study	Years (months	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this	Study Limitations
	ведап	of follow				PHE		study	
Retrospectiv	ve Cohorts	<u>чр</u> /							
Bernacki 1988 (conť)				The second intervention group were corporation executives eligible for PPE and receiving 1 or 2 PPEs during 3-year study period				lab studies, audiometry, cervical cytology, chest radiograph, proctosig- moidoscopy, tonometry, pulmonary function test, maximal exercise electrocardiogr aphy, and a barium enema.	population characteristics not detailed Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding
Grimaldi 1965 ⁶⁷	1956	96 months	The study population consisted of 194 employees.	The intervention group consisted of corporation middle management employees opting to participate in a periodic physical examination (PPE).	The first comparison group consisted of corporation middle management employees opting not to participate in PPE.		1. Costs – mean medical expense per claim	The PHE was described as a preventive health examination that included a thorough self- administered health inventory question-naire, a physical examination, a 14 X 17 x-ray film of the chest, audiometric testing, visual	External Validity Concerns: 1. Study performed before USPSTF or similar contemporary preventive services guidelines in effect 2. Description of study population characteristics not detailed

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Retrospectiv	e Cohorts	;							
Grimaldi 1965 (cont')					The second comparison group were employees from another site not offered the PPE.			acuity, tonometry, 12- lead ECG, urinalysis for albumin and sugar, hematocrit and microscopic study of the blood smear, blood sugar determina-tion, and a protoscopic examination when indicated.	Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding 2. Incomplete presentation of statistical significance

Author year	,Year rStudy Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Cross-section	onal Studie	S				-			
Lin, 2004 ⁷³	³ 1997		The study population consisted of 21,025 patients who visited the outpatient department from 1997 through 2000. (NHAMCS data)	Patients receiving an outpatient department visit including a nurse practitioner defined the Intervention group.	Patients receiving an outpatient visit not including a nurse practitioner defined the comparison group.		1. Counseling - Diet counseling - Injury prevention counseling - Physical activity counseling - Safe sexual practices counseling - Tobacco use counseling	The PHE was defined as a non-illness care visit to the outpatient department.	External Validity Concerns: 1. Data from pediatric outpatient clinics included 2. Study not specifically designed to address Key Question Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding
Flocke 2004 ⁷⁴ Eaton 2002 ⁹⁶	,1994 ; ;		The study population consisted of 2,670 adult outpatients, visiting 138 family physicians in 84 practices from October 1994 through August 1995 in Northeast Ohio.	The intervention group included patients who were seen by a health care professional for well care.	The first comparison group included patients who were seen for chronic illness. The second comparison group included patients who were seen for acute illness.		1. Counseling - Patient diet advice recall - Patient smoking counseling recall - Physical activity patient recall - Nutritional counseling— univariate	The PHE was defined as a well care visit with a health care professional.	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Reporting on differences between enrollees and non-enrollees External Validity Concerns: 1. Study not specifically

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Cross-section	onal Studie	S							
Flocke 2004 Eaton 2002 (cont')	, , ,				The last comparison group included patients who were seen for things other than chronic illness, acute illness or well care.		analysis total n = 3475 - Nutritional counseling— multivariate analysis total n = 3475		designed to address Key Question Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding
Finkelstein, 2002 ⁶⁷	,1994		The study population consisted of 2,232 women aged 20 and older who were residents in Ontario, Canada that completed the National Population Health Survey reporting their use of annual examinations with answers linked to their use of services in a national health insurance plan	The intervention group received an annual health examination/ preventive screening.	The comparison group received no annual health examination/prev entive screening.		1. Pap smear 2. Cholesterol screening 3. Mammogram	The PHE was defined as an annual or periodic health examination by a healthcare professional.	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Data obtained from questionnaire, results subject to recall bias External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of study population characteristics not detailed 2. Results potentially not generalizable beyond female population

Author, year	Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
	Study	(months	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this	Limitations
	Began	of follow		-	-	PHE		study	
	_	up)							
Cross-section	onal Studie	S							
Hahn,	1995		The study	The first	The first		1. Pap smear	The PHE was	External
1999 ⁶⁶			population	intervention	comparison		2.	defined as a	Validity
			consisted of an	group received	group did not		Immunization –	physical exam	Concerns:
			audit of the	preventive	receive		tetanus	or preventive	Description of
			computerized	services with only	preventive		Cholesterol	services.	study
			billing data of	HMO insurance	services with		screening		population
			75,621 cross-		HMO insurance.		4. Colon		characteristics
			sectional audit of	The other	The second		cancer		not detailed
			outpatient billing	intervention	comparison		screening		Study did not
			claims for adults	group received	group did not		-		provide
			seen at least	preventive	receive		Sigmoidoscopy		information on
			once by a	services with only	preventive		 Fecal occult 		level of
			primary care	FFS insurance.	services with		blood testing		insurance for
			provider in 1995,		FFS insurance.		5.		the PHE and
			classified by visit				Mammogram		screening tests
			type (visits for						in HMO and
			preventive care						FFS plans
			vs. acute care).						Statistical
									Validity
									Concerns:
									Potentially
									inadequate
									adjustment for
									residual
									confounding
			1			1		1	

Author, year	Year Study	Years (months	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this	Study Limitations
	Began	of follow	р - р			PHE		study	
Cross-sectio	nal Studie	es						L	
Tao 2001 ⁶⁴	1997		The study population consisted of data on women age >18 years from the 1997 National Ambulatory Medical Care and National Hospital Ambulatory Medical Care Surveys in which physicians completed forms describing reasons for ambulatory visits (including general medical visits or gynecological) and the receipt of preventive services	The intervention group received general medical or gynecologic exam as defined by either physician or patient.	The comparison group received non-general medical or gynecologic exam visits as defined by both patient and physician.		 Pap smear Counseling - family planning or contraceptive given Mammogram 	The PHE was defined as a general medical examination, gynecologic exam, or periodic health examination.	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Data obtained from questionnaire, results subject to recall bias External Validity Concerns: 1. Study not specifically designed to address Key Question Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding
Parchman, 2001 ⁶⁶	1996		The study population consisted of 1,409 Mexican American El Paso County, Texas residents, aged 18 to 64 years of age participating in a telephone and door-to door	The intervention group reported they had received a check- up in the past year.	The comparison group reported they hadn't received a check- up in the past year.		 Pap smear Cholesterol screening in past 5 years Mam- mogram 	The PHE was defined as a check-up or visit to a healthcare professional.	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Data obtained from questionnaire, results subject to recall bias External Validity Concerns: 1. Study not

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Cross-section Parchman, 2001 (cont')	onal Studie	:S	survey designed to assess access to and use of ambulatory health care						specifically designed to address Key Question Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding
Nutting 2001 ⁷⁵	1991		The study population consisted of 1,138 patient- visits by 93 physicians in the Ambulatory Sentinel Practice Network, in 50 community- based practices. Physicians were surveyed to recall the content of nonacute care visits with women age 40-75 years seen in their practices.	The intervention group had an annual examination.	The comparison group had a routine chronic are visit.		1. Mam- mogram	The PHE was described as a routine annual examination that didn't included visits for chronic care, intercurrent illness, emergent conditions, or injuries.	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Data obtained from questionnaire, results subject to recall bias External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of PHE is not detailed Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Cross-section	onal Studie	es							
Stange, 2000 ⁴²	1994		The study population consisted of 4,049 patient- visits in the offices of 138 family physicians in North-east Ohio.	The intervention group was described by well care visits.	The comparison group was described by illness visits.		1. Counseling - Mean % (SD) receipt of USPTF health habits counseling - Mean % (SD) receipt of cancer-related health habits counseling 2. Immunization - Mean % receiving USPSTF recommended vaccinations	The PHE was described as preventive services that consisted of screening, health habit counseling, and immuniza- tion services.	External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of study inclusion/exclu sion criteria not detailed Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding 2. Incomplete presentation of statistical significance

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Cross-section	onal Studie	s							
Faulkner, 1997 ²²	1991		The study population consisted of 34,236 adults aged 18 to 64 from the Centers for Disease Control's 1991 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System studied to assess the association of health insurance coverage with the receipt of preventive services.	The intervention consisted of a Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey 1991: All preventive services covered by health plan.	The first comparison group consisted of patients having most preventive services covered by a health plan.		1. Receipt of PHE odds of receiving checkup according to level of health insurance compared to no health insurance coverage - Men, aged 18-39 years - Men, aged 40-64 years - Women, aged 18-39 years - Women, aged 40-64 years	The PHE was defined as a period health exam where a patient has receipt of recommended services within the periodicity schedules recommended for specific age/gender groups.	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Reporting on differences between enrollees and non-enrollees External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of study inclusion/exclu sion criteria not detailed 2. Description of study population characteristics not detailed 3. Description of PHE is not detailed Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding 2. Incomplete presentation of statistical significance

Author, year	Year	Years	Study	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of PHE in this	Study Limitations
	Began	of follow	population	Group	Group	PHF	Assesseu	study	Linnations
	Began							Study	
Cross-sectio	nal Studi	es							
Kottke	1994		The study	The intervention	The first	Intervention	1. Pap smear	The PHE was	Internal
1997 ³			consisted of	group consisted	comparison group	<u>Group:</u>	2. Counseling	defined as a	Validity
			6,830 randomly	of patients who	included patients	Providers:	 smoking 	physical	Concerns:
			selected patients	had a visit	with visits (reason	1. continues	cessa-tion	examination or	1. Reporting
			from 44 primary-	(reason for visit	for visit as	quality improve-	3.	check up that	on differences
			care clinics who	as declared by	declared by	ment initiative	Immunization	consisted of a	between
			completed a mail	patient) for a	patient) for urgent		- Rate**	breast exam,	enrollees and
			survey to	health risk	problems.	_	influenza	blood pressure	non-enrollees
			ascertain their	appraisai.	The second		vaccine offered	measurement,	External
			receipt of		comparison group		by providers	pap smear,	Validity
			preventive		included patients		- Rate""	Smoking	Concerns:
			services in the				prieumococcar	cessation	1. Description
			Context of		for visit as		by providers	influonza 8	or study
			neckup		declared by		4 Cholostorol		characteristics
			evaminations"				4. Cholesteror	immunization	not detailed
			versus other		condition		5	cholesterol	2 Description
			types of visits		Contaition.	-	0. Mammouram	screening and	of PHE is not
							Marinogram	mammodram	detailed
					included patients			mannogram	Statistical
					with visits (reason				Validity
					for visit as				Concerns:
					declared by				1. Potentially
					patient) for a				inadequate
					follow-up.				adjustment for
					The fourth				residual
					comparison group				confounding
					included patients				2. Incomplete
					with visits (reason				presentation of
					for visit as				statistical
					declared by				significance
					patient) other than				
					for follow-up,				
					continuing				
					education, urgent				
					problems, or				
	1				health risk				

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Cross-section	onal Studie	es							
					appraisal.				
Sox, 1997 ⁷⁰	1992		The study population consisted of 2,775 patients of family physicians and general internists in Vermont, age 42 years and older, with no life- threatening illness, and recently visited a physician completing a questionnaire and agreeing to review of medical records to assess their receipt of a "periodic health examination" and their receipt of recommended clinical preventive services	The intervention group received a periodic health examination.	The comparison group received cancer-specific, age-appropriate and sex- appropriate exams during usual care.		 Pap smear Counseling dietary Colon cancer screening Mean proportion of persons in each practice receiving sigmoidoscopy Mean proportion of persons in each practice receiving sigmoidoscopy Mean proportion of persons in each practice receiving fecal occult blood testing Mammogram	The PHE is this study was described as a routine physical examination that wasn't for a particular illness, but for a general check-up.	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Reporting on differences between enrollees and non-enrollees External Validity Concerns: 1. Description of study inclusion/exclu sion criteria not detailed 2. Description of study population characteristics not detailed 3. Description of PHE is not detailed Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Concern regarding unit of analysis employed in presentation of

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Cross-section	onal Stud	ies				•	•	•	•
									results 2. Incomplete presentation of statistical significance
Slesinger 1976 ⁶³	1973		The study population consisted of 989 employed individuals who had health insurance responding to household survey regarding their receipt of clinical preventive services in the past year	The intervention group consisted of employees who chose a prepaid group insurance plan.	The comparison group consisted of a random sampling of employees who chose the traditional Blue Cross/Blue Shield plan.	Intervention Group: Patients: 1. Comprehen- sive benefit package on a pre-payment basis <u>Control Group:</u> Patients: 1. Did not offer prepaid compre- hensive benefits package (no reimbursement for MD office visits or physical exams)	1. Pap smear 2. Receipt of PHE – receipt of general checkup in the past year	The PHE was described as a general physical check-up or Physical examination.	External Validity Concerns: 1. Study performed before USPSTF or similar contemporary preventive services guidelines in effect Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding

Author, year	Year	Years	Study	Intervention	Comparison	Interventions	Outcome(s)	Definition of	Study
	Study Began	(months of follow	population	Group	Group	outside of the	Assessed	PHE in this study	Limitations
	Dogan	up)						olday	
Cross-sectio	nal Studi	es							
Nakanishi,	1992		The study	The intervention			1. Costs	The PHE was	Internal
1996°2			population	group consisted			 Inpatient 	described as a	Validity
			consisted of	of Japanese			cost per	health	Concerns:
			227,581 inpatient	adults aged 40			insured person	examination	1. Reporting
			and outpatient	years and older			(yen)	that included	on differences
			claims of	in the National			correlated with	(1)	between
Nakanishi,			residents aged	Health Insurance			rate of use of	health check-	enrollees and
1996 (cont')			40 and over in 9	program.			health check-	ups as basic	non-enrollees
			cities in Japan.				ups	health	External
							- High	examination	Validity
							inpatient cost	(interview,	Concerns:
							(600,000 yen	body measure-	1. Results
							or more)	ment, physical	potentially not
							correlated with	tests, blood	generalizable
							rate of use of	pressure	beyond
							health check-	measure-ment,	Japanese
							ups	urinalysis and	population
							 Outpatient 	blood test)	
							cost per	with special	
							insured person	examina-tions	
							correlated with	when	
							rate of use of	indicated, and	
							health check-	screenings for	
							ups	stomach	
							2.	cancer	
							Hospitalization	(stomach	
							- Hospital	radiography),	
							admission rate	uterus cancer	
							per 1000	(visual	
							insured	examination,	
							persons	cytodiagnosis	
							correlation with	and internal	
							rate of use of	examination as	
							health	cervical cancer	
							checkups	screening and	
							- Length of	cytodiagnosis	
							stay of 180	as uterine	

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Cross-sectio	nal Stud	ies							
Cross-section	I onal Stud						days or more per 1000 insured persons correlated with rate of use of health checkups	body screening), lung cancer (chest radiography and phlegm cellular test), breast cancer (visual examination and palpation), and colon cancer (occult blood test, starting in 1992) (for uterus cancer screening and breast cancer screening, women aged 30 or more are eligible); (2) issuance of a health notebook (recording health examinations, providing the eligibility of patients to receive	
								medical care and maintaining	

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Cross-section	nal Studie	es	L			I			
Nakanishi 1996 (cont')								medical care records); (3) health education (health classes using brochures, posters, cable broadcasting, etc.); (4) individual health counseling; (5) rehabilitation programs; and (6) home-visit guidance (nursing techniques, treatment methods, training for activities for daily living at home, etc.).	
Somkin, 2004 ⁶⁶	1999		The study population consisted of, 463 subjects aged 40 to 74 residing in Alameda County, California respondents to a telephone survey assessing their access to and	The intervention group included persons reporting they received a check-up in the last 12 months.	The comparison group included persons reporting they had not received a check- up in the last 12 months.		1. Pap smear 2. Mam- mogram	The PHE was defined as a check-up in the last 12 months.	External Validity Concerns: 1. Study not specifically designed to address Key Question

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Cross-section	onal Studie	S							
			satisfaction with preventive services						

Author, year	Year Study Bogger	Years (months	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this	Study Limitations
	Degan	wonor io (au				FNC		study	
Pre-post Stu	dies	1.1.7			•	1			
Schneider, 2003 ⁷¹	1999	2 months	The study population consisted of 319 adult patients in an ambulatory family practice residency clinic in which physicians participated in a quality improvement program to enhance the delivery of the "health maintenance examination" and clinical preventive services	Patients received written material, and a reminder phone call. Providers received education on prevention measures.		Intervention Group: Patients: 1. Patient-held medical records Providers: 1. Chart-based reminders 2. Educational sessions on preventive mea- sures Control Group: Patients: 1. Patient-held medical records Providers: 1. Chart-based reminders 2. Educational sessions on preventive mea- sures	 Pap smear Counseling Exercise counseling Diet counseling Alcohol counseling Substance abuse counseling Tobacco cessation counseling Cholesterol screening Colon cancer screening Percentage receiving fecal occult test. Percentage receiving sigmoidoscopy Mammogram Receipt of PHE 	The PHE was defined as a health maintenance examination.	External Validity Concerns: 1. Study not specifically designed to address Key Question Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding

Author, year	Year Study Began	Years (months of follow up)	Study population	Intervention Group	Comparison Group	Interventions outside of the PHE	Outcome(s) Assessed	Definition of PHE in this study	Study Limitations
Pre-post Stu	idies		•						
Geiger, 1993 ⁷²	1990	5 months	The study population consisted of 23 family practice residents and faculty physicians who provided for 3,300 patients, using a practice- based teaching model to increase resident compliance with USPSTF guidelines	The intervention consisted of two sequential phases. In phase one, physicians were educated about providing preventive services in accordance with USPSTF guidelines in the context of a "health check." In phase two, physicians were monitored for their delivery of a recommended preventive services during scheduled health checks.		Intervention Group: Patients: 1. Written Material Control Group: Patients: 1. Written Material	1. Pap smear 2. Counseling - Substance abuse counseling - Diet counseling (dental care) - Physical activity counseling 3. Cholesterol screening 4. Mammogram	Te PHE was described as preventive services (health check; physical examination) that assessed blood pressure, breast exam, pap smear, height, weight, visual acuity, hearing, substance abuse activity, injury prevention activity, oral health, and physical activity use. In addition, Influenza, pneumovax, & tetanus immunizations, cholesterol screening, mammography , urinalysis, and thyroid function.	Internal Validity Concerns: 1. Standard/valid reporting of outcomes Statistical Validity Concerns: 1. Potentially inadequate adjustment for residual confounding

[‡] Larger values indicate worse health. [¶]Colon/rectum, breast, cervix/uterine, prostate, and kidney cancer, hypertension, hypertensive cardiovascular disease, hemorrhagic cerebrovascular disease.

*Date published; unspecified **Clinic weighted rate across 44 primary care clinics.

Table 3.	Type and	Number (of Outcomes	Reported in	Studies.

Type of outcomes and number reported in studies	<i>n</i> (%) studies
Delivery of Clinical Preventive	
Services	
1 outcome	7(19) ^{16,53,56,63,73-75}
2 outcomes	2(6) ^{42,68}
3 or more outcomes	11(31) ^{31,44,55,64-67,69-72}
Proximal Clinical Outcomes	
1 outcome	1(3) ⁴⁵
2 outcomes	2(6) ^{56,57}
3 or more outcomes	3(8) ^{53,54,59,77}
Distal Clinical and Economic	
1 outcome	5(14) ^{28,58,61,62,83}
2 outcomes	4(11) ^{29,53,55,82}
3 or more outcomes	3(8) ^{41,56,57}
Interventions to improve receipt of PHE	
1 outcome	5(14) ^{22,60,63,71,84}
All Outcomes (regardless of type)	
1 outcome	13(36) ^{45,58,60,62,83,84} 16,22,28,61,73-75
2 outcomes	5(14) ^{29,42,63,68,82}
3 or more outcomes	18(50) ^{44,53-57 31,41,59,64-67,69-72,77}

Author, year	External validity*	Internal validity [†]	Statistical Analysis [‡]	Total score [§]				
Lin, 2004	low	high	high	high				
Somkin, 2004	high	medium	high	high				
Flocke, 2004; Eaton, 2002	medium	high	high	high				
Schneider, 2003	medium	medium	medium	medium				
Finkelstein, 2002	low	medium	high	medium				
Hahn, 1999	medium	low	low	low				
Chiou, 2002	low	low	high	medium				
Burton, 2002	high	low	low	low				
Tao, 2001	low	low	low	low				
Parchman, 2001	low	medium	low	low				
Nutting, 2001	low	low	medium	low				
Hama, 2001	medium	high	medium	high				
Patrick, 1999	medium	medium	low	low				
Stange, 2000	hiah	hiah	medium	high				
Freedman, 2000	high	high	medium	high				
Williams, 1998	high	low	high	medium				
Faulkner, 1997	low	high	medium	medium				
Kottke, 1997	medium	low	high	medium				
Sox, 1997	low	medium	medium	medium				
Elder, 1995; Mayer, 1994	high	medium	high	high				
Christensen, 1995	high	medium	high	high				
Morrissey, 1995	high	high	high	hiah				
Burton, 1995; German, 1995;	high	high	medium	high				
Burton, 1997; Burton, 1995	5	5						
Morrissey, 1995	medium	high	medium	high				
Norman, 1992	medium	high	low	medium				
Belcher, 1990	medium	medium	medium	low				
Bernacki, 1988	low	low	low	low				
Stone, 1981; Stone, 1978;	high	medium	low	medium				
South-east London, 1977;	-							
Trevelyan, 1973; South-east								
London, 2001 Elotebor, 1077	high	low	madium	modium				
Slesinger 1976	low	low		low				
Cutler 1973: Colleg. 1973:	low	IUW	low	low				
Dales 1973: Ramcharan	nign	medium	IOW	1010				
1973: Friedman, 1986:								
Dales, 1979; Norinder, 2002								
Robert, 1969	low	low	low	low				
Grimaldi, 1965	low	low	low	low				
Theobald, 1998	medium	low	medium	low				
OXCHECK, 1995a; OXCHECK, 1995b	medium	medium	low	medium				
Nakanishi, 1996	medium	high	medium	high				

Table 4. Quality of Identified Studies on the Value of the Periodic Health Evaluation.

Table 4. Quality of Identified Studies on the Value of the Periodic Health Evaluation. (continued)

*External validity includes quality of reporting on study inclusion/exclusion criteria, characteristics of study population, description of periodic health evaluation (PHE) or interventions to change the delivery of the PHE, and description of outcomes. See text under "Article summary quality" for more detail regarding assessment of quality.

[†]Internal validity includes assessment of randomization scheme (for trials), appropriateness of control group (for trials), assessment of those who enrolled versus those who did not enroll, assessment of withdrawals, blinding of intervention assignment and outcome assessment (for trials), and adequacy of outcome measurement. See text under "Article summary quality" for more detail regarding assessment of quality.

^{*} Statistical analysis quality includes reporting on sample size calculations, presentation of statistical significance, and appropriateness of statistical methods. See text under "Article summary quality" for more detail regarding assessment of quality. [§] Scores of high, medium, or low indicate that the article scored in the highest, middle, or lowest tertile of scores.

Table 5. Components Which were Included (or may have been included) in Studies on the Periodic Health Evaluation (N=36)

Component of PHE	n(%)
History and Risk Assessment	
Tobacco smoking	14(39)
Alcohol/ substance abuse	13(36)
Dietary risk factors	12(33)
Physical Activity	10(27)
Injury prevention	6(17)
Safe sexual practices	6(17)
Sun exposure	4(11)
Oral health	4(11)
Medications/ Poly-pharmacy	4(11)
Calcium intake	2(6)
Folic acid intake	2(6)
Physical Examination	
Blood pressure assessment	18(50)
Examination (not otherwise specified)	14(39)
Breast examination	12(33)
Weight	12(33)
Height	10(28)
Gynecological examination	10(28)
Cardiovascular examination	5(14)
Pulmonary examination	5(14)
Eye* examination	5(14)
Pulse	4(11)
Rectal examination	4(11)
Prostate examination	4(11)
Abdominal examination	4(11)
Neurological examination	3(8)
Foot examination	2(6)
Other [†]	13(36)

* fundoscopic [†] vision testing, tonometry, audiometry

Outcomo	Pap smear	Coun- seling	Immun- izations	Choles -terol	Colon cancer	Mam- mogram	Disease detection	Health habits	Patient attitudes	Health Status	Blood Pressure	Serum Choles-	Body Mass	Costs
Number of studies§	2 (2)	7 (1)	3 (3)	5(1)	2 (2)	2 (1)	2 (2)	5 (5)	1 (1)	2 (2)	2 (2)	2 (1)	3 (3)	4(4) ‡
Strength of study design*	4	3	4	3	4	3	4	4	4	4	4	3	4	4
Did the studies have serious (-1) or very serious (-2) limitations in quality? (Enter 0 if none)	-0.5	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-1	-0.5	-1	-1	-1
Did the studies have important inconsistency? (-1)	0	-0.5	-1	0	0	-0.5	-1	-1	0	-0.5	-0.5	-0.5	-1	-1
Were data imprecise or sparse? (-1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	-1	0	0	0	0	0
Did the studies have high probability of reporting bias? (-1)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Did the studies show strong evidence of association between intervention and recruitment outcome? [†]	0	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Overall grade of evidence (high, medium, low, very low)	3.5 High	1.5 Low	2 Med.	2 Med	4 High	1.5 Low	2 Med	2 Med	2 Med	2.5 Mediu m	3 High	1.5 Low	2 Med	2 Med

Table 6. Grading of the Overall Strength of Evidence on the Value of the Periodic Health Evaluation.

Outcome	Dis- ability	Hospi- talization	Mortality	Receipt of PHE
Number of studies§	2 (2)	3 (3)	5 (5)	2 (1)
Strength of study design*	4	4	4	3
Did the studies have serious (- 1) or very serious (-2) limitations in quality? (Enter 0 if none)	-1	-0.5	-1	-0.5
Did the studies have important inconsistency? (-1)	-1	-0.5	-1	0
Were data imprecise or sparse? (-1)	0	0	0	0
Did the studies have high probability of reporting bias? (-1)	0	0	0	0
Did the studies show strong evidence of association between intervention and recruitment outcome? [†]	0	0	0	0
Overall grade of evidence (high, medium, low, very low)	2 Med	3 High	2 Med	2.5 Med

Table 6. Grading of the Overall Strength of Evidence on the Value of the Periodic Health Evaluation. (continued)

Table 6. Grading of the Overall Strength of Evidence on the Value of the Periodic Health Evaluation. (continued)

* Were study designs randomized trials (high quality), non-randomized controlled trials (medium quality), or observational studies (low quality)?

[†] Evidence was deemed "strong" if significant relative risk or odds ratio >2 (or Cohen's $d \ge 0.8$) based on consistent evidence from 2 or more studies with no plausible confounders

(+1); "very strong" if significant relative risk or odds ratio >5 based on direct evidence with no major threats to validity (+2).

PHE = periodic health evaluation

§ Parentheses contain number of randomized controlled trials considered among the best available evidence.

^{*}One study evaluating cost-effectiveness as cost per percent coronary risk reduction not included⁸¹ due to inability to assess direction of results.

 Table 7. Comparison of Effect Sizes in Randomized Controlled Trials.

	Effect size (95% CI)						
	Outcomes in studies with positive effect of PHE	Outcomes in studies with negative effect of PHE	Confidence interval crosses 0	calculate ES			
Outcomes							
Receipt of Pap smear	1.71 (1.69, 1.73) ⁵⁵						
	0.07 (0.07, 0.07) ⁸⁰						
Preventive counseling	1.09 (1.08,1.11) ^{44c}						
	1.19 (1.17, 1.21) ^{44b}						
Immunizations	0.35 (0.33, 0.36) ^{55a}	-0.22 (-0.24, -0.20) ^{44a}					
	0.10 (0.10, 0.10) ^{53a}						
Cholesterol screening	0.02 (0.00, 0.04) ⁵⁵						
Colon cancer screening	1.19 (1.17, 1.21) ⁵⁵						
(fecal occult blood testing)	1.07 (1.05, 1.08) ⁴⁴						
Mammography	0.14 (0.12, 0.16) ⁵⁵						
Disease detection	0.03 (0.02, 0.03) ^{76f}	-0.01 (-0.01, -0.01) ^{76d}	-0.01 (-0.01, 0.00) ^{76e}				
	0.96 (0.84, 1.08) ^{45a}	-0.03 (-0.03, -0.03) ^{76g}					
	0.53 (0.41, 0.64) ^{45b}						
Health habits	$\begin{array}{l} 0.28 \ (0.14, \ 0.42)^{54a} \\ 0.120 \ (0.117, \ 0.123)^{53b} \\ 0.040 \ (0.037, \ 0.043)^{53c} \\ 0.345 \ (0.342, \ 0.348)^{53d} \\ 0.080 \ (0.077, \ 0.083)^{53e} \\ 0.020 \ (0.017, \ 0.023)^{53f} \\ 0.020 \ (0.017, \ 0.023)^{53g} \\ 0.100 \ (0.098, \ 0.102)^{59a} \\ 0.032 \ (0.030, \ 0.034)^{59b} \\ 0.088 \ (0.086, \ 0.090)^{59c} \\ 0.244 \ (0.242, \ 0.246)^{59e} \\ 0.250 \ (0.248, \ 0.252)^{59e} \\ 0.13 \ (0.11, 0.14)^{78a} \end{array}$	-0.040 (-0.043, -0.037) ^{53h} -0.014 (-0.016, -0.012) ^{76c} 02 (03,02) ^{78b}	0.000 (-0.14, 0.14) ^{54b} 0.01 (-0.13, 0.15) ^{54c} 0.02 (-0.12, 0.16) ^{54d} 0.05 (-0.09, 0.19) ^{54e} 0.01 (-0.13, 0.15) ^{54f}				
Patient attitudes				53			
Health Status				56			
Blood Pressure	0.12 (0.02,0.21) ^{54g} 0.11(0.04, 0.18) ^{59f} 0.13 (0.06, 0.19) ^{59g} 0.022 (0.019, 0.024) ^{59h}		0.03 (-0.06, 0.13) ^{54h}				
Changes in serum cholesterol levels	0.22 (0.16, 0.29) ^{59k} 0.09 (0.09, 0.10) ^{59l}						

Table 7. Comparison of Effect Sizes in Randomized Controlled Trials. (continued)

	Effect size (95% CI)								
	Outcomes in studies with positive effect of PHE	Outcomes in studies with negative effect of PHE	Confidence interval crosses 0	calculate ES					
Outcomes									
Body Mass Index	0.087 (0.022, 0.153) ⁵⁹ⁱ 0.032 (0.030, 0.034) ^{59j}	-0.020 (-0.023,-0.017) ⁵³ⁱ	-0.031 (-0.170, 0.108) ⁵⁴ⁱ -0.036 (-0.174, 0.103) ^{54j}						
Reduction in health care costs			0.06 (-0.03, 0.15) ^{55d} 0.05(-0.04, 0.14) ^{55e}	47,53,56					
Reduction in disability	0.060 (0.054, 0.066) ^{96a}	-0.014 (-0.016, -0.012) ⁷⁶							
Reduction in hospitalizations	0.01 (0.00, 0.01) ^{76a}		0.02 (-0.07, 0.11) ^{55b} -0.04 (-0.13, 0.05) ^{55c}	56b,c,d,e					
Reduction in all-cause mortality	0.06 (0.05, 0.06) ^{56a} 0.004 (0.004, 0.005) ^{9a}	-0.03 (-0.04, -0.03) ^{53a} -0.002 (-0.003, -0.0003) ^{76b}	Rate ratio: 1.03 (0.94,1.14) ⁵⁸						
Receipt of PHE (Question 4)	$0.69 (0.68, 0.70)^{60}$								

ES = effect size; CI = confidence interval

- Citation(⁵⁵) a: influenza vaccination, b: hospital days per enrollee, c: Admissions per enrollee, d: 3-year post-intervention cumulative Medicare charges; e: 3-year post-intervention cumulative Medicare reimbursement
- Citation⁽⁴⁵⁾ a: disease detection of ALL problems before and after intervention, b: disease detection of important problems before and after intervention;
- Citation(⁵³) a: Influenza vaccination, b: Physical activity, c: Diet (fat and fiber), d: Advance directives, e: Breast self-exam, f: Smoking, g: Alcohol, h: Seat belt use; I: at risk for obesity, 24-month F/U
- Citation⁽⁴⁴⁾ a: influenza vaccination, b: alcohol abuse, c: smoking cessation
- Citation(⁷⁶) a: Hospitalizations, b: Mortality rate per 1000 person-years at risk: all cause death, c: percentage still smoking, d: angina, e: high diastolic blood pressure, f: ischemia on electrocardiogram, g: bronchitis symptoms;
- Citation⁽⁵⁶⁾ a: Death; b: Mean inpatient days for the intervention and control groups who had a hospital discharge in that year (Year 1), c: Mean inpatient days Year 2, d: Hospital discharges per 1000 Year 1, e: Hospital discharges per 1000 Year 2;

Citation⁽⁵³⁾ a: Mortality at 48 months;

Citation⁽⁹⁾ a: Deaths, rate per 1000 persons 16 years;

Citation⁽⁹⁶) a: Disability at 11 years

- Citation(⁵⁴) a: fiber servings per day, b: fat servings per week, c: salt use, d: caffeine drinks per day, e: stretching minutes per week, f: consumption of cruciferous foods; g: mean systolic blood pressure at 12 months; h: mean diastolic blood pressure at 12 months; i: mean BMI at 24 months (end of intervention period); j: mean BMI at 48 months (end of F/U)
- Citation(⁵⁹) a: smoking, b: alcohol use, c: exercise less than once per month, d: use full cream milk, e: use butter or hard margarine; f: systolic blood pressure at 3-year follow up; g: diastolic blood pressure at 3-year follow up; h: proportion of high risk diastolic pressure (\geq 100mm Hg) from 3 year F/U when compared to control; i: mean BMI at 3-

year F/U; j: percentage of participants with BMI ≥ 30; k: mean total cholesterol at 3-year F/U; l: proportion of high risk cholesterol (≥8mmol/l) at 3 year F/U

Citation(78) a: smoking, b: problem alcohol drinking

	Number of Studies According to Study Design and Direction [‡] of Results							Totals													
		E	xperi	menta	al		Observational														
	RCT* (N [†] = 11)		No	n-RC	:T*	(Cohor	ť*	Cross-			Pre-Post*		st*	Experimental			Observational			
			((N [⊤] = 1)		((N [†] = 7	')	Sectional*		$(N^{\dagger} = 3)$		5)	-							
								(N [†] = 14)													
	+	ø	-	+	ø	-	+	ø	-	+	ø	-	+	ø	-	+	ø	-	+	ø	-
Examined Outcome	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р	Р
Examined Outcome	Н	н	н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	н	Н	Н
	E	E	E	E	E	E	E	E	E	E	E	E	Е	E	E	E	E	E	E	Е	E
Delivery of Clinical Preventive Services																					
Physical Examination																					
Pap Smear	2							1		7	1		1	1		2			8	3	
Preventive Counseling																					
Counseling	1									5		1	1	1		1			6	1	1
Preventive Immunizations																					
Immunizations	2		1				1			3			2			2		1	6		
Laboratory, Radiological Testing																					
Cholesterol Screening	1									4				2		1			4	2	
Colon Cancer Screening	2							1		2			1			2			3	1	L
Mammography	1							1		7		1		2		1			7	3	1
Proximal Clinical Outcomes																					
Disease Detection	1	1					1									1	1		1		
Health Habits	1	3	1													1	3	1			
Patient Attitudes	1															1					
Health Status	1	1														1	1				
Blood Pressure	1	1						1								1	1			1	
Serum Cholesterol	1							1								1				1	
Body Mass Index	1	1	1					1								1	1	1		1	
Distal Clinical and Economic Outcomes																					
Costs [£]	1	2	1				2		1	1						1	2	1	3		1
Disability	1		1				1									1		1	1		
Hospitalization	1	2								1						1	2		1		
Mortality	2	2	1				2									2	2	1	2		
Interventions to improve receipt of PHE	1			1						1	1		2			2			2	1	

Table 8. Number of Studies (presented in cells) Reporting Outcomes According to Study Design and Direction of Results Reported.

Table 8. Number of Studies (presented in cells) Reporting Outcomes According to Study Design and Direction of Results Reported. (continued)

*Study design definitions: RCT=randomized controlled trial (study of two groups randomly assigned to intervention (versus control)); non-RCT=non-randomized controlled trial (study of two groups randomly assigned to intervention (versus control)—intervention assignment not random); Cohort (study with prospective or retrospective longitudinal observation of study population (no intervention assignment)); Cross-sectional (study population observed at one point in time (no intervention assignment, no prospective or retrospective observation); Pre-Post=Pre-post observational design (one study group in which baseline measurements are taken (pre-intervention phase). These measurements are repeated on the same study group following the implementation of an intervention (post-intervention phase).

[†]N represents total number for entire review.

[‡]Direction of results: +PHE = Articles reporting the PHE improves delivery (or is associated with improved delivery) of clinical preventive services, proximal clinical outcomes, or distal and economic outcomes; -PHE = Articles reporting the PHE worsens delivery (or is associated with worse delivery) of clinical preventive services, proximal clinical outcomes, or distal and economic outcomes; ϕ PHE = Articles reporting mixed results (positive, negative, or neutral) with regard to the association of receipt of the PHE with clinical outcomes.

[£]One RCT examining cost-effectiveness is not included because of the inability to assess direction of results.⁸¹

Table 9. Summary of Results from Best Available Evidence to Assess Each Outcome.

	Type* of Evidence Assessing Considered	Strength and Consistency	Range of Magnitude and Direction
Outcome	(number of studies)	of Evidence	of Effects of PHE on Outcome**
Delivery of Clinical Preventive Services			
Gynecological examination/ Pap smear	RCTs (2)	High	Small to Large Positive
Counseling	RCTs (1) Observational (6)	Low	Mixed
Immunizations	RCTs (3)	Medium	Mixed
Cholesterol Screening	RCTs (1)	Medium	Small to Large Positive
	Observational (4)		
Colon Cancer Screening (Fecal Occult Blood Testing)	RCTs (2)	High	Large Positive
Mammography	RCTs (1)	Low	Mixed
	Observational (1)		
Proximal Clinical Outcomes			
Disease Detection	RCTs (2)	Medium	Mixed
Health Habits	RCTs (5)	Medium	Mixed
Patient Attitudes (Worry)	RCTs (1)	Medium	Positive†
Health Status	RCTs (2)	Medium	Mixed†
Blood Pressure	RCTs (2)	High	Mixed
Serum Cholesterol	RCTs (1)	Low	Mixed
	Observational (1)		
Body Mass Index	RCTs (3)	Medium	Mixed
Distal Clinical and Economic Outcomes			
Costs	RCTs (4)	Medium	Mixed
Disability	RCTs (2)	Medium	Mixed
Hospitalization	RCTs (3)	High	Mixed
Mortality	RCTs (5)	Medium	Mixed
Improvement in Receipt of PHE	RCTs (1)	Medium	Medium to Large Positive
	Non-RCTs (1)		-

*RCT=Randomized controlled trial; Observational=Studies with observational design; non-RCT=non-randomized controlled trials

^{**}Magnitude and direction of effect of receipt of PHE on outcome, based on standardized effect sizes calculated using Cohen's d. We considered effect sizes ranging from 0 to 0.25 to represent "small" effects, ranging from 0.25 to 0.8 to represent "medium" sized effects, and effect sizes greater than 0.8 to represent "large" effects. Effect sizes can be thought of as the average percentile standing of the average treated (or experimental) participant relative to the average untreated (or control) participant. An ES of 0.0 indicates that the mean of the treated group is at the 50th percentile of the untreated group. An ES of 0.25 indicates that the mean of the treated group is at the 58th percentile of the untreated group. An ES of 0.8 indicates that the mean of the treated group is at the 58th percentile of the untreated group. †Standardized effect size could not be calculated for the study or studies assessing this outcome.

Technical Experts and Peer Reviewers

Harold Sox, MD, MACP Editor-in-Chief, Annals of Internal Medicine 190 N. Independence Mall West Philadelphia, PA 19106

J. Sanford Schwartz, MD University of Pennsylvania School of Medicine Philadelphia, PA

Karen DeSalvo, MD, MPH Chief, Section of General Internal Medicine Office of Health Research Tulane University School of Medicine New Orleans, LA

Russell Harris, MD, MPH Sheps Center for Health Services Research University of North Carolina School of Medicine Chapel Hill, NC

J. Thomas Cross, Jr., MD, MPH Vice President, Education MedStudy Corporation Colorado Springs, CO

Nancy Keating, MD, MPH Department of Health Care Policy Harvard Medical School Boston, MA Robert Smith, PhD Director of Cancer Screening American Cancer Society

Paul S. Frame, MD Tri-County Family Medicine Cohocton, NY

Subash Babu Duggirala, MD, MPH, FAAFP Senior Medical Officer CMS Baltimore, MD

Vincenza Snow, MD American College of Physicians Philidelphia, PA

Wayne N. Burton, MD Senior Vice President, Medical Executive JPMorgan Chase Chicago, IL

Mike LeFevre, MD University of Missouri-Columbia Columbia, MO

Alfred Berg, MD, MPH Professor and Chair Department of Family Medicine University of Washington Seattle, WA

Bob Rehm, MBA Director, Public Health Strategies America's Health Insurance Plans Washington, DC
Internal Technical Experts

Wanda Nicholson, MD, MPH The Johns Hopkins Hospital Gynecology-Obstetrics Baltimore, MD

Daniel Ford, MD, MPH Professor Division of General Internal Medicine Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine Baltimore, MD

Robert Lawrence, MD Associate Dean Bloomberg School of Public Health Professional Education Programs Johns Hopkins University Baltimore, MD

All Journals Hand Searched January 2005 through January 2006.

American Family Physician American Journal of Managed Care American Journal of Preventive Medicine American Journal of Public Health Annals of Internal Medicine Archives of Family Medicine Archives of Internal Medicine Canadian Family Physician Canadian Medical Association Journal Cancer Family Medicine Journal of Community Health Journal of Family Practice Journal of General Internal Medicine Journal of Occupational Medicine Journal of the American Academy of Nurse Practitioners Journal of the American Geriatrics Society Journal of the American Medical Association (JAMA) Mayo Clinic Proceedings Medical Care Medical Journal of Australia New England Journal of Medicine Preventive Medicine Public Health Reports

MEDLINE Strategy

("Periodic physical examination"[tiab] OR "Periodic physical examinations"[tiab] OR "Periodic health examination"[tiab] OR "Periodic health examinations"[tiab] OR "Periodic health evaluations"[tiab] OR "Periodic screening"[tiab] OR "Periodic check up"[tiab] OR "Periodic checkup"[tiab] OR "Annual physical examination"[tiab] OR "Annual physical examinations"[tiab] OR "Annual health examination"[tiab] OR "Annual health examinations"[tiab] OR "Annual screen"[tiab] OR "Annual screening"[tiab] OR "Annual health check up"[tiab] OR "Annual check up"[tiab] OR "Annual checkup"[tiab] OR "Annual health check up"[tiab] OR "Annual check up"[tiab] OR "Annual checkup"[tiab] OR "Multiphasic health examination"[tiab] OR "Multiphasic screening"[tiab] OR "Multiphasic checkup"[tiab] OR "Multiphasic Health testing "[tiab] OR "Preventive health examinations"[tiab] OR "Preventive screening"[tiab] OR "Preventive health examinations"[tiab] OR "Initial screen"[tiab] OR "Initial physical examination"[tiab] OR "Initial screen"[tiab] OR "Initial check up"[tiab] OR "preventive services delivery"[tiab] OR "preventive service delivery"[tiab] OR "preventive service"[tiab] OR "preventive services"[tiab] OR "well care visit"[tiab] OR "well care visits" [tiab]) NOT	4827
service"[tiab] OR "preventive services"[tiab] OR "well care visit"[tiab] OR "well care visits" [tiab]) NOT (animal[mh] NOT human[mh]) AND English[lang]	

Cochrane Library (all databases)

(Periodic NEAR (examination OR physical OR health OR evaluation OR screening OR checkup)) OR	782
(Multiphasic NEAR (health OR examination OR screen OR screening OR checkup OR testing)) OR (
Preventive NEAR (health OR examination OR screening OR screen OR services OR delivery))	

CINAHL Strategy

((TX Periodic W1 Health W1 Examination) OR (TX Periodic W1 Health W1 Evaluation)) OR ((TX	1207
Annual W1 physical) OR (TX Annual W1 health W1 examination) OR (TX Annual W1 checkup)) OR	
((TX Multiphasic W1 Health W1 screening) OR (TX Multiphasic W1 Health W1 testing)) OR ((TX	
Preventive W1 Health W1 Examination) OR (TX Preventive W1 Health W1 screening) OR (TX	
Preventive W1 Health W1 services) OR (TX Preventive W1 screening) OR (TX Preventive W1	
services)) OR ((TX Initial W1 screening) OR (TX Initial W1 screen))	

Previewing Only: You cannot submit data from this form

Previewing at Level 1

🖨 🔸 🍢 🚞

REF ID1Cole, R. C., Morandi, F., Avenell, J., and Daniel, G. B. **Trans-splenic portal scintigraphy in normal dogs**Vet Radiol Ultrasound2005462146-52 State: Excluded, Level: Abstract Review

Save to finish later Submit Data

1. Does this article **POTENTIALLY apply** to any of our Key Questions?

O Potentially eligible

Ineligible--contains NO USEFUL INFORMATION

Ineligible--SAVE as a reference article/ SCAN references

Clear Selection

Save to finish later Submit Data

Form took 0.765625 seconds to render





Previewing at Level 2

REF ID1Cole, R. C., Morandi, F., Avenell, J., and Daniel, G. B. **Trans-splenic portal scintigraphy in normal dogs** Vet Radiol Ultrasound2005462146-52 State: Excluded, Level: Abstract Review

·	
Keywords:	Save to finish later Submit Data
No keywords available	1 No Abstract provided (check ONLX if the abstract is upayailable on
Increase Font Size	0000011.
Increase Forit Size	Pull article
Decrease Font Size	
	Clear Selection
	3. Reason for exclusion (check ONE)
Abstract	No useful information (does not apply to the key questions)
The purpose of this study was to (1) establish a technique for	
ultrasound-guided trans-splenic portal scintigraphy (TSPS)	Not English language
using 99mTcO4(-), (2) evaluate portal vein morphology, (3)	
compare the radiation exposures for TSPS vs. per-rectal	Includes only subject less than 18 years-old
portal scintigraphy (PRPS), and (4) compare the quality of	
numerical data from the TSPS vs. PRPS. Eight juvenile dogs	Review or Opinion piece, OR no original data
underwent PRPS and TSPS (minimum of 48h between	
studies) after initial screening tests. PRPS was done	Review or opinion piece: PULL FOR REFERENCE SEARCHING
according to established protocol using 425 ± 7 - solving (mean $1/2$ SD) of 00mTcO4(). TSPS was done with the data in right	Clear Selection
(-50) or $99111004(-)$. (-57) was done with the dogs in right	4 Inclusion criteria (choose ALL that apply)
\pm /- 13.9 MBg) was injected into the spleen 1-2s following	
initiation of the dynamic acquisition. The frame rate was 4	Key Question 2. What is the evidence that a PHE, delivered at
frames/s for 5 min. There was significantly lower radioactivity	different patient ages or different frequencies, is associated with
of 99mTcO4(-) given and significantly higher total counts	benefits (i.e. improved outcomes) compared to care without a PHE
recorded in the liver and heart during the TSPS compared	(e.g. usual care or opportunistic delivery of clinical preventive
with PRPS. The total counts for the TSPS and PRPS were	services)?
7120 +/- 4386 and 830 +/- 523, respectively. Percent	Key Oversion 2. What is the evidence that a DUF, delivered at
absorption from the spleen was 52.5 +/- 19.1% compared	Key Question 3. What is the evidence that a PHE, delivered at
With 9.2 +/- 5.7% for the colon. Calculated transit time for the	different patient ages or different frequencies, is associated with narms
and portal voins were clearly identified. Padiation exposure	(i.e. worse outcomes) compared to care without a FTIE (e.g. usual care or opportunistic delivery of clinical preventive services)?
levels of the dogs were significantly lower following TSPS	care of opportainate derivery of chinical preventive acriteca):
than after PRPS. TSPS appears superior to PRPS as a	Key Question 4. What system-based interventions improve the
method to image the portal venous system representing a	receipt or delivery of the PHE (e.g. cost sharing such as deductibles,
valid alternative diagnostic test for animals with suspected	provider reminders)?
portosystemic shunts.	*
	*
	*
Increase Font Size	*
Decrease Font Size	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	*
	Save to finish later Submit Data

Form took 0.625 seconds to render

Previewing Only: You cannot submit data from this form

Previewing at Level 3

🚔 🔸 🏲 🔂 🗎

REF ID1Cole, R. C., Morandi, F., Avenell, J., and Daniel, G. B. Trans-splenic portal scintigraphy in normal dogs Vet Radiol Ultrasound2005462146-52 State: Excluded, Level: Abstract Review
Save to finish later Submit Data
1. After reviewing the ENTIRE artcile, should this article be included in the review?
○ YES
○ NO
Clear Selection 2. Exclusion criteria. Check all that apply:
Not English language
No human data
Meeting abstractno full article for review
Includes ONLY subjects less than 18 year of age
Exposure is NOT the PHE (at least one group in the intervention must meet the minimu definition of the PHE)
Article focuses on specific preventive measures ONLY without mention of the global PHE
Clinical preventive services delivered only during opportunistic visit (e.g., illness or symptom-related visit) without mention of the PHE
Article does not apply to any of the key questions
No Original Data no useful information
No Original Data pull for reference check
No eligible comparison group (not pre-post, historical control, clinical trial, or concurrent cohort)
No eligible comparison group but article contains valuable qualitative information
Other State Stat
3. KEY QUESTIONS: (check all that apply)
Key Question 2: What is the evidence that a PHE, delivered at different patient ages or different frequencies, is associated with benefits (i.e. improved outcomes) compared to care without a PHE (e.g. usual care or opportunistic delivery of clinical preventive services)? GO TO question 4 and choose outcomes
Key Question 3: What is the evidence that a PHE, delivered at different patient ages or different frequencies, is associated with harms (i.e. worse outcomes) compared to care without a PHE (e.g. usual care or opportunistic delivery of clinical preventive services)? GO TO question 5 and choose outcomes
Key Question 4: What system-based interventions improve the receipt or delivery of the PHE (e.g. cost sharing such as deductibles, provider reminders)? See the "Minimum definition of the PHE"

4. Key Question 2 outcomes (choose all that apply):

a. Delivery of recommended clinical preventive services

b. Patient attitudes/perceptions (e.g. knowledge, satisfaction, trust, respect)

c. Behavioral outcomes (e.g. tobacco cessation, adherence)

1			
d. Proximal/intermediate clinical	outcomes (e.g.	. cholesterol lowering,	disease management)

- e. Distal clinical outcomes (e.g. measurable clinical events such as death, myocardial infarction)
- f. Economic outcomes (cost savings, improved health care utilization)
- g. Public Health (e.g. .improvements in family and community health, communicable disease containment)

5. Key Question 3 outcomes (choose all that apply):

a. Delivery of non-recommended clinical preventive services

b. Patient attitudes/perceptions (e.g. worry/anxiety)

c. Behavioral outcomes (e.g. continuation of risky behaviors)

d. Proximal/intermediate clinical outcomes (e.g. complications from testing)

e. Distal clinical outcomes (e.g. measurable clinical events such as death)

f. Economic outcomes (induced costs, less efficient health care utilization)

g. Public Health (e.g. declines in family and community health)

DEFINITION OF THE PHE

The Periodic Health Evaluation (PHE) consists of one or more visits with a health care provider for the primary purpose of assessing a patient's overall health and risk factors for disease which may be prevented by early intervention. During the PHE, health care providers perform a history and risk assessment, followed by a physical exam. Based on the information gathered, patients may receive counseling, immunizations, lab testing or arrangements for other preventive health services during the evaluation. This opportunity may serve to improve intermediate and long-term patient outcomes and ultimately the public's health by appropriate clinical management of chronic conditions, patient education, and fostering the patient-provider relationship. The PHE has the potential to affect patient health and health care cost for the individual, the health care industry, and society as a whole.

Save to finish later Submit Data

Form took 0.671875 seconds to render

🔸 🕨 🔂 ا

Previewing Only: You cannot submit data from this form

Previewing at Level 4

Refid: 1, Cole, R. C., Morandi, F., Avenell, J., and Daniel, G. B., Trans-splenic portal scintigraphy in normal dogs, *Vet Radiol Ultrasound*, 46(2), 2005, p.146-52 State: Excluded, Level: 2

Save to finish later Submit Data

1. Pull previous article on this study for methods description (fill in only if this applies).

₽

OPull reference #	

С	lear	Se	lection	
-				

STUDY CHARACTERISTICS

₽

2.	What	is	the	study	design?
----	------	----	-----	-------	---------

Randomized	controlled trial
------------	------------------

- Controlled trial, non-randomized
- Concurrent cohort
- Historical comparison
- Pre-post comparison
- Other (specify)
- Not reported

Clear Selection

3. What are the years that the study was conducted?

If this infomation is not given please enter "NS" in each of the boxes below.

Year beginning		3
Year ending	199	B
4. Length of study follow-up		
Months		
Vears		
Not specified		
not applicable (cross-sectional)	ll study)	

Clear Selection

5. What country(ies) was the study conducted in (choose all that apply).



Check all that apply about the study set	tting:
--	--------

Urban
Orburi

Suburban

Rural

unclear

HEALTH CARE DELIVERY STRUCTURE

Choose all that apply to STUDY RECRUITMENT

7. Health care delivery system site (check all that apply):

r. nearth care derivery system site (check an that apply).		
Physician office		
Solo practice		
Group practice		
Hospital outpatient clinic		
Academic practice		
Community health center		
Employee health clinic		
VA/other US DOD		
National health service clinic		
Family medicine practice		
Internal medicine practice		
Ob/gyn practice		
Specialty practice		
Housestaff clinic	_	
Other health care site	B	
Not specified		
Not applicable		
8. Non-health care site (check all that apply):		
Worksite		
Non-worksite community setting		
Health fair		
Public place (i.e., supermarket), specify:		₽
Other		₽
9. Health Plan (check all that apply):		
Commercial insurance		
Medicare		
Medicaid		
VA/ other DOD		

National health plan		
Other managed care plan		
Employer health plan		
Other	₽	
Not specified		
Not applicable		
10. Who are the subjects?		
Patients		
O How many patient comparison groups?		₽
O Health providers		
How many provider comparison groups?		₽
Both (when choosing this option fill out the number of but do not choose	of comparison groups for providers and patients,	

Clear Selection

STUDY ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA for PATIENTS

11. Age range		
Minimum		₽
Maximum		⊮
Average		⊮
Unclear		
12. Gender		
Male		
Female		
Both		
Clear Selection 13. Select one or more racial or e	ethnic groups	
American Indian or Alaska N	Jative	
Asian		
Black or African American		
Native Hawaiian or Other Pa	acific Islander	
Latino/Hispanic		
White		
Not Specified		
Other		₽
Other		₽
14. Is the patient an employee?		

Yes

O No

Not apllicable

Clear Selection

15. Is the patient an executive?

Yes

🔵 No

Not Applicable

Clear Selection

16. Is the patient a dependant?

Yes

No

Not applicable

Clear Selection

17. Health insurance plan type (check all that apply)

Commercial insurance

Medicare

Medicaid

VA/other US DOD

National Health Insurance

Managed Care Plan

Staff Model HMO

Other managed care plan

Employer health plan

Not Specified

Other (specify)

18. Visit to practice required?

- Yes
- No

Not Specified

Clear Selection

19. Initial visit only?

- Yes
- 🔵 No

Not applicable

Clear Selection

20. Number of visits:

₽

Enlarge Shrink

21. Over what time period:

Enlarge Shrink

22. Specific health conditions (check all that apply):

Hypertension Diabetes mellitus Tobacco smoking Hyperlipidemia Obesity Renal disease COPD Coronary artery disease Cancer Not Specified Other Other

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

₽

Other	
Other	 ₽
Other	 B
Other	 <u>-</u>

STUDY ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA for PROVIDERS

23. Were there provider eligibility criteria?

Yes	\bigcirc	Yes
-----	------------	-----

O No

Clear Selection

24. Provider Type (check all that apply):

Internists		
General Internists		
Ostetricians/Gynecologists		
Family Practitioners		
General Practitioners		
Medical sub-specialist (physician	ר)	₽
Other specialist		₽
Housestaff		
Fellows		
Medical students		
Physicians NOS		
Other physicians		₽
Nurses		
Nurse practitioners		
Physician assistants		
Health provider NOS		
Other health provider		₽
Office Staff		
Not specified		
Not Applicable		

Health Care Delivery Structure (includes health care delivery system site, non-health care site, and health plan). Click all that apply to PROVIDER ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA

OF	I loolth	00.00	dalivani	a) (at a m	0.40	(ah a al		+ 6 6 +	annh		
23.	nealin	care	delivery	system	Sile	спеск	all	เกลเ	appiv	/).	
						(

Physician office		
Solo practice		
Group practice		
Hospital outpatient clinic		
Academic practice		
Community health center		
Employee health clinic		
VA/other US DOD		
National health service clinic		
Family medicine practice		
Internal medicine practice		
Ob/gyn practice		
Specialty practice		
Other health care site	₽	
Not specified		
Not applicable		
26. Non-health care site (check all that apply):		
Worksite		
Non-worksite community setting		
Health fair		
Public place (i.e., supermarket), specify:		₽
Other		₽
Not specified		
Not Applicable		
27. Health Plan (check all that apply):		
Commercial insurance		
Medicare		
Medicaid		
VA/ other DOD		
National health plan		
Staff model HMO		

Other managed care plan	
Employer health plan	
Other	₽
Not Specified	
Not Applicable	
28. Provider experience	
Number of years in training	₽
Number of years since training	₽
Number of years in practice	3
Information not provided	 _

TARGET PATIENT POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS

complete for each group of subjects

29.

COMPARISON GROUP 1 (define)

Enlarge Shrink

How is the PHE defined in GROUP 1?

30. Frequency. check all that apply	
Periodic (define)	
Annual (define)	
Initial visit	
Pre-employment	
Employment exam	
Scheduled	
Unclear	
not applicable	
Usual care	

WHAT COMPONENTS WERE PART OF THE PHE FOR GROUP 1?

Minimum included: part of the defined PHE in the study.

May have included: defined in the articles as "may have occured"

Minimum	included
---------	----------

May have included

History and risk assessment including:

•	0	
	Minimum included	May have included
32. Diet		
33. Physical activity		
34. Alcohol/Substance abuse		
35. Injury prevention		
36. Safe sexual practices		
37. Tobacco smoking		
38. Calcium intake		
39. Folic acid		
40. Sun exposure		
41. Oral health		
42. Polypharmacy		

Physical exam including:

	Minimum included	May have included
43. Blood pressure		
44. Height		
45. Weight		
46. Pulse		
47. Cardiac exam		
48. Pulmonary		
49. Abdominal		
50. Neurologic		
51. Breast		
52. Gynecologic		
53. Rectal		
54. Prostate		
55. Foot Exam		
56. Eye exam (fundoscopic)		

57. Physical excam not otherwise specified		
58. Other 1 (define below)		
59. Other 2 (define below)		
60. Other 3 (define below)		
61. Define: Other 1		
Enlarge Shrink		
62. Define: Other 2		
Enlarge Shrink		
63. Define: Other		
Enlarge Shrink		

Was any counseling given as a part of or as a result of the PHE for GROUP 1?

Part of PHE Result of PHE				
64. Diet	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
65. Physical activity	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
66. Alcohol/substance abuse	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
67. Injury prevention	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
68. Safe sexual practices	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
69. Smoking	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
70. Folic Acid	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
71. Sun exposure	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
72. Oral health	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
73. Polypharmacy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
74. Unspecified counseling	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
75. Were any immunizations ordered or performed as part of the PHE for GROUP 1?				
Yes				
No or not applicable				
Clear Selection				
	Specify	Pe 乱	erformed Ordered	



Was any testing performed or ordered as a result of the PHE for GROUP 1?

	Performed Ordered			
79. Pap smear	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
80. GC/chyl screen	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
81. Audiometry	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
82. Vision testing	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
83. EKG	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
84. CXR	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
85. Mammography	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
86. Colon cancer screening	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
87. Sigmoidoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
88. Colonoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
89. Fecal occult blood	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
90. Bone mineral density testing	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
91. Glucose (lab)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
92. Lipids (lab)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
93. HgbA1C	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
94. CBC	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
95. Chem-7	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
96. PSA	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
97. U/A	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
98. TB	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
99. Other 1	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
100. Other 2	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
101. Other 3	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
102. Define Other 1 for labs				

Enlarge Shrink

103. Define other 2 for labs

Enlarge Shrink

104. Define Other 3 for labs

Enlarge Shrink

105.

Is the exposure to the PHE defined in the same way across groups?

Yes

O No

Clear Selection

DESCRIPTION OF THE INTERVENTION for GROUP 1

106. Was there an intervention outside of the PHE in the study?

Yes	
No	
Clear Selection	
107. Who was the target of the intervention?	
Providers/office staff	
Office Staff/administration	
Patients	
108. Who was the outcome measured on?	
Providers/office staff	
Office staff/administration	
Patients	
109. Interventions targeting providers/office staf	f, check all that apply.
Chart-based reminder	
Computer-based reminder	
Provider detailing	
Financial incentives	
CME incentives	
Other	B -
110. Interventions targeting patients, check all the	hat apply.
Written material (e.g., letter, invitation)	
Reminder	
Phone call	
Incentive (gift)	
Financial incentive (change in co-pay/dedu	ictible)

Financial incentive (offer free health care)	
Patient-held medical record	
Other	
111. Is the intervention the same across groups?	
◯ Yes	
◯ No	
Clear Selection	

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 1

	Ν	%
112. Female	₽	₽
113. American Indian or Alaska Native	₽	₽
114. Asian	G	<u>_</u>
115. Black or African American	₽	₽
116. Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	G	<u>-</u>
117. Latino/Hispanic	₽	<u></u>
118. White	G	<u></u>
119. Other	6	<u></u>
120. Low socioeconoimic status	B	₽
121. Rural	6	<u></u>
122. Income (describe)		

₽

Enlarge Shrink

123. Define "Other" for Comparison Group 1

Enlarge Shrink

124. Define "low socioeconomic status" for Comparison Group 1

Enlarge Shrink

125. Define "rural" for Comparison Group 1

Enlarge Shrink

https://www.clinical-analytics.com/d2d/ul1/review.asp?mode=previewMode&articleid=6... 02/28/2006

CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 1

	N	%
126. Age	₽	6
127. Hypertension	B	6
128. Diabetes mellitus	₽	6
129. Tobacco smoking	B	6
130. Hyperlipidemia	₽	6
131. Obesity	B	9
132. Renal disease	₽	6
133. COPD	B	6
134. Coronary artery disease	₽	6
135. Cancer	B	6
136. Other	₽	₽

137. Define "other" clinical condition for Comparison Group 1.

Enlarge Shrink

EMPLOYMENT/INSURANCE CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 1

	Ν	%
138. Executive employee	⊡	6
139. Non-executive employee	<u></u>	6
140. Employee dependant	₽	6
141. Commercial insurance	₽	6
142. Medicare	₽	B
143. Medicaid	₽	6
144. VA/ other US DOD	₽	B
145. National health insurance	<u></u>	6
146. Managed care plan	₽	
147. Staff model HMO	<u></u>	6

https://www.clinical-analytics.com/d2d/ul1/review.asp?mode=previewMode&articleid=6... 02/28/2006

148. Other managed care plan			
149. Employer health plan	₿-	6	
150. Other health plan	₽	B	
151. Define other managed care plan for comparison group	1		
Enlarge Shrink			
152. Define other health plan for comparison group 1			
Enlarge Shrink			_
153. Other information not captured in previous questions.			
Enlarge Shrink			
-	*****		
154.			

COMPARISON GROUP 2 (define)

Enlarge Shrink

How is the PHE defined in this study for GROUP 2?

155. Frequency. check all that apply	

Periodic (define)	₽
Annual (define)	₽
Initial visit	
Pre-employment	
Employment exam	
Scheduled	
Unclear	
Not applicable	
Usual care	

WHAT COMPONENTS WERE PART OF THE PHE FOR GROUP 2?

Minimum included: part of the defined PHE in the study.

May have included: defined in the articles as "may have occured"

156. Visit

Minimum included

May have included

History and risk assessment including:

	Minimum included	May have included
157. Diet		
158. Physical activity		
159. Alcohol/Substance abuse		
160. Injury prevention		
161. Safe sexual practices		
162. Tobacco smoking		
163. Calcium intake		
164. Folic acid		
165. Sun exposure		
166. Oral health		
167. Polypharmacy		

Physical e	xam includin	g:
------------	--------------	----

	Minimum included M	ay have included
168. Blood pressure		
169. Height		
170. Weight		
171. Pulse		
172. Cardiac exam		
173. Pulmonary		
174. Abdominal		
175. Neurologic		
176. Breast		
177. Gynecologic		
178. Rectal		
179. Prostate		
180. Foot Exam		
181. Eye exam (fundoscopic)		
182. Physical exam not otherwise specified		
183. Other 1 (define below)		
184. Other 2 (define below)		

185. Other 3 (define below)		
186. Define: Other 1		
Enlarge Shrink		
187. Define: Other 2		
Enlarge Shrink 188. Define: Other 3		
Enlarge Shrink		

Was any counseling given as a part of or as a result of the PHE for GROUP 2?

F	Part of PHE Re	esult of PH	ΙE		
189. Diet	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
190. Physical activity	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
191. Alcohol/substance abuse	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
192. Injury prevention	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
193. Safe sexual practices	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
194. Smoking	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
195. Folic Acid	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
196. Sun exposure	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
197. Oral health	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
198. Polypharmacy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
199. Unspecified counseling	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
200. Were any immunizations ordered or performed as part of the PHE for GROUP 2?					
Yes					
No or not applicable					
Clear Selection					
	Specify	P	erformed (Ordered	
201. Immunization 1		₽			
202. Immunization 2		₽			

Was any testing performed or ordered as a result of the PHE for GROUP 2?

https://www.clinical-analytics.com/d2d/ul1/review.asp?mode=previewMode&articleid=6... 02/28/2006

	Performed (Ordered	k
204. Pap smear	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
205. GC/chyl screen	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
206. Audiometry	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
207. Vision testing	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
208. EKG	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
209. CXR	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
210. Mammography	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
211. Colon cancer screening	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
212. Sigmoidoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
213. Colonoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
214. Fecal occult blood	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
215. Bone mineral density testing	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
216. Glucose (lab)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
217. Lipids (lab)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
218. HgbA1C	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
219. CBC	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
220. Chem-7	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
221. PSA	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
222. U/A	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
223. TB	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
224. Other 1	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
225. Other 2	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
226. Other 3	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
227. Define Other 1 for labs			

Enlarge Shrink 228. Define other 2 for labs

Enlarge Shrink 229. Define Other 3 for labs

Enlarge Shrink DESCRIPTION OF THE INTERVENTION for GROUP 2

https://www.clinical-analytics.com/d2d/ul1/review.asp?mode=previewMode&articleid=6... 02/28/2006

230. Was there an intervention outside of the PHE in the study?
Yes
No
Clear Selection 231. Who was the target of the intervention?
Providers/office staff
Office Staff/administration
Patients
232. Who was the outcome measured on?
Providers/office staff
Office staff/administration
Patients
233. Interventions targeting providers/office staff, check all that apply.
Chart-based reminder
Computer-based reminder
Provider detailing
Financial incentives
CME incentives
Other 🚱
234. Interventions targeting patients, check all that apply.
Written material (e.g., letter, invitation)
Reminder
Phone call
Incentive (gift)
Financial incentive (change in co-pay/deductible)
Financial incentive (offer free health care)
Patient-held medical record
Other Strength Contract Contra
GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 2

	Ν	%
235. Female	<u></u>	₽
236. American Indian or Alaska Native	₽	G-
237. Asian	₽	6
238. Black or African American	₽	6
239. Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	₽	6
240. Latino/Hispanic	₽	B



Enlarge Shrink

246. Define "Other" for Comparison Group 2

Enlarge Shrink

247. Define "low socioeconomic status" for Comparison Group 2

Enlarge Shrink

248. Define "rural" for Comparison Group 2

Enlarge Shrink

CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 2

	N	%
249. Age	₽	₽
250. Hypertension	₽	₽
251. Diabetes mellitus	₽	₽
252. Tobacco smoking	₽	₽
253. Hyperlipidemia	₽	₽
254. Obesity	₽	₽
255. Renal disease	₽	⊡
256. COPD	₽	₽
257. Coronary artery disease	₽	₽
258. Cancer	B	₽
259. Other	₽	₽
260. Define "other" clinical con	dition for Comparison Group 2.	

Enlarge Shrink

EMPLOYMENT/INSURANCE CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 2

	Ν	%
261. Executive employee	₽	₽
262. Non-executive employee	₽	₽
263. Employee dependant	₽	₽
264. Commercial insurance	₽	₽
265. Medicare	₽	₽
266. Medicaid	₽	₽
267. VA/ other US DOD	₽	₽
268. National health insurance	₽	₽
269. Managed care plan	₽	₽
270. Staff model HMO	₽	₽
271. Other managed care plan	₽	₽
272. Employer health plan	₽	₽
273. Other health plan	₽	₽
274. Define other managed care plan	for comparison group 2	

Enlarge Shrink

275. Define other health plan for comparison group 2.

Enlarge Shrink

276. Other information not captured in previous questions.

Enlarge Shrink

COMPARISON GROUP 3 (define)

Enlarge Shrink

https://www.clinical-analytics.com/d2d/ul1/review.asp?mode=previewMode&articleid=6... 02/28/2006

How is the PHE defined in this study for GROUP 3?

278. Frequency. check all that apply

Periodic (define)	₽
Annual (define)	₽
Initial visit	
Pre-employment	
Employment exam	
Scheduled	
Unclear	
Not applicable	
Usual care	

WHAT COMPONENTS WERE PART OF THE PHE FOR GROUP 3?

Minimum included: part of the defined PHE in the study.

May have included: defined in the articles as "may have occured"

279. Visit

Minimum included		
May have included		
History and risk assessment inclu	uding:	
	Minimum included May h	ave included
280. Diet		
281. Physical activity		
282. Alcohol/Substance abuse		
283. Injury prevention		
284. Safe sexual practices		
285. Tobacco smoking		
286. Calcium intake		
287. Folic acid		
288. Sun exposure		
289. Oral health		
290. Polypharmacy		
Physical exam including:		
	Minimum inc	luded May have included
291. Blood pressure		

292. Height	
293. Weight	
294. Pulse	
295. Cardiac exam	
296. Pulmonary	
297. Abdominal	
298. Neurologic	
299. Breast	
300. Gynecologic	
301. Rectal	
302. Prostate	
303. Foot Exam	
304. Eye exam (fundoscopic)	
305. Physical exam not otherwise specified	
306. Other 1 (define below)	
307. Other 2 (define below)	
308. Other 3 (define below)	
309. Define: Other 1	

Enlarge Shrink

310. Define: Other 2

Enlarge Shrink

311. Define: Other 3

Enlarge Shrink

Was any counseling given as a part of or as a result of the PHE for GROUP 3?



317. Smoking	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
318. Folic Acid	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
319. Sun exposure	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
320. Oral health	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
321. Polypharmacy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
322. Unspecified counseling	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear

323. Were any immunizations ordered or performed as part of the PHE for GROUP 3?

○Yes

No or not applicable

Clear Selection

	Specify	F	Performed	Ordered
324. Immunization 1		₽		
325. Immunization 2		₽		
326. Immunization 3		₽		

Was any testing performed or ordered as a result of the PHE for GROUP 3?

	Performed (Ordered	t l
327. Pap smear	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
328. GC/chyl screen	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
329. Audiometry	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
330. Vision testing	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
331. EKG	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
332. CXR	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
333. Mammography	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
334. Colon cancer screening	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
335. Sigmoidoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
336. Colonoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
337. Fecal occult blood	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
338. Bone mineral density testing	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
339. Glucose (lab)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
340. Lipids (lab)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
341. HgbA1C	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
342. CBC	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
343. Chem-7	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
344. PSA	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
345. U/A	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear

346. TB	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
347. Other 1	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
348. Other 2	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
349. Other 3	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
350. Define Other 1 for labs			

Enlarge Shrink 351. Define other 2 for labs

Enlarge Shrink 352. Define Other 3 for labs

Enlarge Shrink

DESCRIPTION OF THE INTERVENTION FOR GROUP 3

353. Was there an intervention outside of the PHE in the study?

Yes	
No	
Clear Selection 354. Who was the target of the intervention?	
Providers/office staff	
Office Staff/administration	
Patients	
355. Who was the outcome measured on?	
Providers/office staff	
Office staff/administration	
Patients	
356. Interventions targeting providers/office staff, check all that a	pply.
Chart-based reminder	
Computer-based reminder	
Provider detailing	
Financial incentives	
CME incentives	
Other 🚱	
357. Interventions targeting patients, check all that apply.	
Written material (e.g., letter, invitation)	

Reminder
Phone call
Incentive (gift)
Financial incentive (change in co-pay/deductible)
Financial incentive (offer free health care)
Patient-held medical record
Other

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 3

	N	%	
358. Female	6	<u></u>	
359. American Indian or Alaska Native	G	₿÷	
360. Asian	5	₽	
361. Black or African American	6	<u></u>	
362. Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	₽	₽	
363. Latino/Hispanic	6	<u></u>	
364. White	₽	₽	
365. Other	6	<u></u>	
366. Low socioeconoimic status	5	₽	
367. Rural	G	<u></u>	
368. Income (describe)			

₽

Enlarge Shrink

369. Define "Other" for Comparison Group 3

Enlarge Shrink 370. Define "low socioeconomic status" for Comparison Group 3

Enlarge Shrink 371. Define "rural" for Comparison Group 3

Enlarge Shrink CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 3 N % 372. Age

https://www.clinical-analytics.com/d2d/ul1/review.asp?mode=previewMode&articleid=6... 02/28/2006

373. Hypertension	₽	6
374. Diabetes mellitus	9	₽
375. Tobacco smoking	₽	6
376. Hyperlipidemia	9	9
377. Obesity	G-	6
378. Renal disease	₽	6
379. COPD	⊡ ≁	B
380. Coronary artery disease	9	9
381. Cancer	G-	6
382. Other	₽	6
383. Define "other" clinical condition for Con	mparison Group 3.	

Enlarge Shrink

EMPLOYMENT/INSURANCE CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 3

	Ν	%
384. Executive employee	₽	₽
385. Non-executive employee	₽	₽
386. Employee dependant	<u></u>	₽
387. Commercial insurance	B	₽
388. Medicare	<u></u>	₽
389. Medicaid	<u></u>	₽
390. VA/ other US DOD	<u>_</u>	₽
391. National health insurance	₽	₽
392. Managed care plan	<u></u>	₽
393. Staff model HMO	₽	₽
394. Other managed care plan	<u></u>	<u></u>
395. Employer health plan	₽	₽
396. Other health plan	₽	₽

397. Define other managed care plan for comparison group 3

Enlarge Shrink

398. Define other health plan for comparison group 3.

Enlarge Shrink399. Other information not captured in previous questions.

COMPARISON GROUP 4 (define)

Enlarge Shrink

How is the PHE defined in this study for GROUP 4?

401. Frequency. check all that apply

Periodic (define)	₽
Annual (define)	₽
Initial visit	
Pre-employment	
Employment exam	
Scheduled	
Unclear	
Not applicable	
Usual care	

WHAT COMPONENTS WERE PART OF THE PHE FOR GROUP 4?

Minimum included: part of the defined PHE in the study.

May have included: defined in the articles as "may have occured"

402. Visit



May have included

History and risk assessment including:

Minimum included	May have included
------------------	-------------------

403. Diet	
404. Physical activity	
405. Alcohol/Substance abuse	
406. Injury prevention	
407. Safe sexual practices	
408. Tobacco smoking	
409. Calcium intake	
410. Folic acid	
411. Sun exposure	
412. Oral health	
413. Polypharmacy	

Physical exam including:

Minimum included May have included

414. Blood pressure	
415. Height	
416. Weight	
417. Pulse	
418. Cardiac exam	
419. Pulmonary	
420. Abdominal	
421. Neurologic	
422. Breast	
423. Gynecologic	
424. Rectal	
425. Prostate	
426. Foot Exam	
427. Eye exam (fundoscopic)	
428. Physical exam not otherwise specified	
429. Other 1 (define below)	
430. Other 2 (define below)	
431. Other 3 (define below)	

432. Define: Other 1

Enlarge Shrink 433. Define: Other 2
Enlarge Shrink 434. Define: Other 3

Enlarge Shrink

Was any counseling given as a part of or as a result of the PHE for GROUP 4?

	Part of PHE F	Result of PH	E
435. Diet	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
436. Physical activity	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
437. Alcohol/substance abuse	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
438. Injury prevention	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
439. Safe sexual practices	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
440. Smoking	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
441. Folic Acid	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
442. Sun exposure	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
443. Oral health	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
444. Polypharmacy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
445. Unspecified counseling	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear

446. Were any immunizations ordered or performed as part of the PHE for GROUP 4?

Yes

No or not applicable

Clear Selection

	Specify	F	Performed	Ordered
447. Immunization 1		₽		
448. Immunization 2		₽		
449. Immunization 3		₽		

Was any testing performed or ordered as a result of the PHE for GROUP 4?

	Performed C	Orderec	ł
450. Pap smear	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
451. GC/chyl screen	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
452. Audiometry	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
453. Vision testing	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
454. EKG	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
455. CXR	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear

456. Mammography	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
457. Colon cancer screening	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
458. Sigmoidoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
459. Colonoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
460. Fecal occult blood	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
461. Bone mineral density testing	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
462. Glucose (lab)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
463. Lipids (lab)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
464. HgbA1C	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
465. CBC	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
466. Chem-7	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
467. PSA	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
468. U/A	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
469. TB	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
470. Other 1	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
471. Other 2	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
472. Other 3	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
473. Define Other 1 for labs			

Enlarge Shrink

474. Define other 2 for labs

Enlarge Shrink

475. Define Other 3 for labs

Enlarge Shrink

DESCRIPTION OF THE INTERVENTION FOR GROUP 4

476. Was there an intervention outside of the PHE in the study?

Yes

O No

Clear Selection

477. Who was the target of the intervention?

Providers/office staff

Office Staff/administration

Page	32	of	50	
------	----	----	----	--

Patients	
478. Who was the outcome measured on?	
Providers/office staff	
Office staff/administration	
Patients	
479. Interventions targeting providers/office staff, check all that apply.	
Chart-based reminder	
Computer-based reminder	
Provider detailing	
Financial incentives	
CME incentives	
Other 🚱	
480. Interventions targeting patients, check all that apply.	
Written material (e.g., letter, invitation)	
Reminder	
Phone call	
Incentive (gift)	
Financial incentive (change in co-pay/deductible)	
Financial in continue (offer free health come)	
Financial incentive (offer free health care)	
Patient-held medical record	

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 4

	Ν	%
481. Female	5	}
482. American Indian or Alaska Native	5	}
483. Asian	5	} 🕑
484. Black or African American	5	}
485. Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	5	} 🕑
486. Latino/Hispanic	5	}
487. White	5	} 🕑
488. Other	5	}
489. Low socioeconoimic status	5	} 🕑
490. Rural	5	}
491. Income (describe)		

Enlarge Shrink

492. Define "Other" for Comparison Group 4

Enlarge Shrink 493. Define "low socioeconomic status" for Comparison Group 4

Enlarge Shrink

494. Define "rural" for Comparison Group 4

Enlarge Shrink

CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 4

	Ν	%
495. Age	<u></u>	₽
496. Hypertension	₽	₽
497. Diabetes mellitus	<u></u>	₽
498. Tobacco smoking	₽	B
499. Hyperlipidemia	<u></u>	₽
500. Obesity	₽	₽
501. Renal disease	<u></u>	₽
502. COPD	₽	B
503. Coronary artery disease	<u></u>	₽
504. Cancer	₽	₽
505. Other	<u></u>	₽

506. Define "other" clinical condition for Comparison Group 3.

Enlarge Shrink

EMPLOYMENT/INSURANCE CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 4

	Ν	%
507. Executive employee	⊡ ≁	₽
508. Non-executive employee	₽	₽
509. Employee dependant	₽	₽
510. Commercial insurance	₽	6

511. Medicare	₽	<u>-</u>
512. Medicaid	₽	<u>-</u>
513. VA/ other US DOD	B	<u></u>
514. National health insurance	<u></u>	<u></u>
515. Managed care plan	6	₽
516. Staff model HMO	₽	B
517. Other managed care plan	B	<u>-</u>
518. Employer health plan	3	₽
519. Other health plan	₽	₽

520. Define other managed care plan for comparison group 4

Enlarge Shrink

521. Define other health plan for comparison group 4.

Enlarge Shrink

522. Other information not captured in previous questions.

Enlarge Shrink

523. *********

COMPARISON GROUP 5 (define)

Enlarge Shrink

How is the PHE defined in this study for GROUP 5?

524. Frequency. check all that apply



Scheduled
Unclear
Not applicable
Usual care

WHAT COMPONENTS WERE PART OF THE PHE FOR GROUP 5?

Minimum included: part of the defined PHE in the study.

May have included: defined in the articles as "may have occured"

525. Visit

525. VISIL			
Minimum included			
May have included			
History and risk assessment including	ng:		
Μ	linimum included	I May have inclu	ided
526. Diet			
527. Physical activity			
528. Alcohol/Substance abuse			
529. Injury prevention			
530. Safe sexual practices			
531. Tobacco smoking			
532. Calcium intake			
533. Folic acid			
534. Sun exposure			
535. Oral health			
536. Polypharmacy			
Physical exam including:			
	Minin	num included Ma	ay have included
537. Blood pressure			
538. Height			
539. Weight			
540. Pulse			
541. Cardiac exam			
542. Pulmonary			
543. Abdominal			
544. Neurologic			

545. Breast	
546. Gynecologic	
547. Rectal	
548. Prostate	
549. Foot Exam	
550. Eye exam (fundoscopic)	
551. Physical exam not otherwise specified	
552. Other 1 (define below)	
553. Other 2 (define below)	
554. Other 3 (define below)	
555. Define: Other 1	

Enlarge Shrink

556. Define: Other 2

Enlarge Shrink

557. Define: Other 3

Enlarge Shrink

Was any counseling given as a part of or as a result of the PHE for GROUP 5?

	Part of PHE I	Part of PHE Result of PHE		
558. Diet	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
559. Physical activity	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
560. Alcohol/substance abuse		\bigcirc	Clear	
561. Injury prevention	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
562. Safe sexual practices	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
563. Smoking	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
564. Folic Acid	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
565. Sun exposure	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
566. Oral health	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
567. Polypharmacy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
568. Unspecified counseling	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	

569. Were any immunizations ordered or performed as part of the PHE for GROUP 5?

Yes				
◯ No or not applica	ble			
Clear Selection				
	Specify	I	Performed	d Ordered
570. Immunization 1		₽		
571. Immunization 2		₽		
572. Immunization 3		₽		

Was any testing performed or ordered as a result of the PHE for GROUP 5?

	Performed Ordered		
573. Pap smear	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
574. GC/chyl screen	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
575. Audiometry	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
576. Vision testing	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
577. EKG	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
578. CXR	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
579. Mammography	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
580. Colon cancer screening	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
581. Sigmoidoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
582. Colonoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
583. Fecal occult blood	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
584. Bone mineral density testing	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
585. Glucose (lab)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
586. Lipids (lab)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
587. HgbA1C	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
588. CBC	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
589. Chem-7	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
590. PSA	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
591. U/A	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
592. TB	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
593. Other 1	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
594. Other 2	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
595. Other 3	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
596. Define Other 1 for labs			

Enlarge Shrink

597. Define other 2 for labs

Enlarge Shrink

598. Define Other 3 for labs

Enlarge Shrink

DESCRIPTION OF THE INTERVENTION FOR GROUP 5

599. Was there an intervention outside of the PHE in the study?

Yes
No
Clear Selection
600. Who was the target of the intervention?
Providers/office staff
Office Staff/administration
Patients
601. Who was the outcome measured on?
Providers/office staff
Office staff/administration
Patients
602. Interventions targeting providers/office staff, check all that apply.
Chart-based reminder
Computer-based reminder
Provider detailing
Financial incentives
CME incentives
Other 🚱
603. Interventions targeting patients, check all that apply.
Written material (e.g., letter, invitation)
Reminder
Phone call
Incentive (gift)
Financial incentive (change in co-pay/deductible)
Financial incentive (offer free health care)
Patient-held medical record
Other

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 5

https://www.clinical-analytics.com/d2d/ul1/review.asp?mode=previewMode&articleid=6... 02/28/2006

₽

	N	%	
604. Female	5	k 6	3-
605. American Indian or Alaska Native	3		<u>}</u>
606. Asian	5	k6	3
607. Black or African American	5	-	3-
608. Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	3	k G	3
609. Latino/Hispanic	2	-	<u>}</u>
610. White	3	k G	3
611. Other	5	k6	₽
612. Low socioeconoimic status	5	k G	3
613. Rural	5	k 6	3-

614. Income (describe)

Enlarge Shrink

615. Define "Other" for Comparison Group 5

Enlarge Shrink

616. Define "low socioeconomic status" for Comparison Group 5

Enlarge Shrink

617. Define "rural" for Comparison Group 5

Enlarge Shrink

CLINICAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 5

	Ν	%
618. Age	⊡ ≁	₽
619. Hypertension	6	B
620. Diabetes mellitus	₽	₽
621. Tobacco smoking	₽	B
622. Hyperlipidemia	6	₽
623. Obesity	₽	B
624. Renal disease	6	₽
625. COPD	B	B

626. Coronary artery disease		
627. Cancer	G	B
628. Other	₽	•

629. Define "other" clinical condition for Comparison Group 5.

Enlarge Shrink

EMPLOYMENT/INSURANCE CHARACTERISTICS FOR GROUP 5

	N	%
630. Executive employee	<u></u>	6
631. Non-executive employee	6	B
632. Employee dependant	<u></u>	G-
633. Commercial insurance	₽	6
634. Medicare	₽	G
635. Medicaid	₽	6
636. VA/ other US DOD	₽	6
637. National health insurance	B	B
638. Managed care plan	₽	6
639. Staff model HMO	₿	B
640. Other managed care plan	₽	G
641. Employer health plan	B	B
642. Other health plan	B	B

643. Define other managed care plan for comparison group 5

Enlarge Shrink

644. Define other health plan for comparison group 5.

Enlarge Shrink

645. Other information not captured in previous questions.

Enlarge Shrink

TARGET PROVIDER POPULATION CHARACTERISTICS

646.

COMPARISON GROUP 1 (define)

Enlarge Shrink

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR PROVIDER GROUP 1

	Ν	%
647. Female	₽	₽
648. American Indian or Alaska Native	B	₽
649. Asian	<u></u>	₽
650. Black or African American	₽	₽
651. Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	<u></u>	₽
652. Latino/Hispanic	₽	₽
653. White	<u></u>	₽
654. Other	₽	₽
655. Not specified	₽	₽

656. Define "Other" for Comparison goup 1

Enlarge Shrink

GENERAL PHYSICIAN EXPERIENCE FOR GROUP 1

	Mean	Median	Range
657. Age	₽	₽	₽
658. Number of years in training (housestaff and fellows)	₽	6	B
659. Years since training	₽	₽	B
660. Number of years in practice.	₽	G	B

661. Practice setting; where was PHE delivered? Click all that apply

Physician office

Solo practice	
Group practice	
Hospital outpatient clinic	
Academic practice	
Community health center	
Employee health clinic	
VA/other US DOD	
National health service clinic	
Family medicine practice	
Internal medicine practice	
Ob/gyn practice	
Specialty practice	
Other health care site	₽
Worksite	
Non-work site community setting	
Health fair	
Public Place (specify)	₽
Commercial insurance	
Public insurance: Medicare	
Public insurance: Medicaid	
Public insurance: VA/ other US DOD	
National health insurance	
Managed care plan	
Staff model HMO	
Other managed care plan	₽
Employer health plan	
Other (specify)	6
662.	
****	*****

COMPARISON GROUP 2 (define)

Enlarge Shrink 663.

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR PROVIDER GROUP 2

Not specified

O See below

Clear Selection



Enlarge Shrink

GENERAL PHYSICIAN EXPERIENCE FOR GROUP 2

	Mean	Median	Range
673. Age	⊡ -	<u></u>	₽
674. Number of years in training (housestaff and fellows)	B	6	5
675. Years since training	₽	<u></u>	₽
676. Number of years in practice.	B	6	₽
677. Practice setting; where was PHE d	elivered? Click all that apply		
Physician office			
Solo practice			
Group practice			
Hospital outpatient clinic			
Academic practice			
Community health center			
Employee health clinic			
VA/other US DOD			
National health service clinic			

Family medicine practice	
Internal medicine practice	
Ob/gyn practice	
Specialty practice	
Other health care site	₽
Worksite	
Non-work site community setting	
Health fair	
Public Place (specify)	₽
Commercial insurance	
Public insurance: Medicare	
Public insurance: Medicaid	
Public insurance: VA/ other US DOD	
National health insurance	
Managed care plan	
Staff model HMO	
Other managed care plan	₽
Employer health plan	
Other (specify)	₽
678.	
*******	*****

COMPARISON GROUP 3 (define)

Enlarge Shrink 679.

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR PROVIDER GROUP 3



682. Asian	⊡ -	B -
683. Black or African American	B	B -
684. Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	₽	₽
685. Latino/Hispanic	⊡ -	<u></u>
686. White	₽	₽
687. Other	⊡ -	<u></u>
688. Define "Other" for Comparison group 3		

Enlarge Shrink

GENERAL PHYSICIAN EXPERIENCE FOR GROUP 3

	Mean	Median		Range
689. Age		₽	₽	₽
690. Number of years in training (housestaff and fellows)		₽	B	3
691. Years since training		₽	₽	6
692. Number of years in practice.		B	₽	₽
693. Practice setting; where was PHE d	elivered? Click all that apply	/		
Physician office				
Solo practice				
Group practice				
Hospital outpatient clinic				
Academic practice				
Community health center				
Employee health clinic				
VA/other US DOD				
National health service clinic				
Family medicine practice				
Internal medicine practice				
Ob/gyn practice				
Specialty practice				
Other health care site		₽		
Worksite				
Non-work site community setting				

Health fair	
Public Place (specify)	<u></u>
Commercial insurance	
Public insurance: Medicare	
Public insurance: Medicaid	
Public insurance: VA/ other US DOD	
National health insurance	
Managed care plan	
Staff model HMO	
Other managed care plan	<u></u>
Employer health plan	
Other (specify)	<u>_</u>
694.	
*****	*****

COMPARISON GROUP 4 (define)

Enlarge Shrink 695.

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR PROVIDER GROUP 4

Not specified

O See below

Clear Selection

	Ν	%
696. Female	₽	₽
697. American Indian or Alaska Native	B	6
698. Asian	6	₽
699. Black or African American	B	₽
700. Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	B	₽
701. Latino/Hispanic	B	₽
702. White	B	6
703. Other	6	B

704. Define "Other" for Comparison group 4

Enlarge Shrink

GENERAL PHYSICIAN EXPERIENCE FOR GROUP 4

	Mean	Median	Range	
705. Age	5	}	₽	₽
706. Number of years in training (housestaff and fellows)	٥	}	B	3
707. Years since training	5	}	₽	₽
708. Number of years in practice.	5	}	6	B
709. Practice setting; where was PHE delive	red? Click all that apply			
Physician office				
Solo practice				
Group practice				
Hospital outpatient clinic				
Academic practice				
Community health center				
Employee health clinic				
VA/other US DOD				
National health service clinic				
Family medicine practice				
Internal medicine practice				
Ob/gyn practice				
Specialty practice				
Other health care site		₽		
Worksite				
Non-work site community setting				
Health fair				
Public Place (specify)		₽		
Commercial insurance				
Public insurance: Medicare				
Public insurance: Medicaid				
Public insurance: VA/ other US DOD				
National health insurance				

*****	*****
710.	
Other (specify)	₽
Employer health plan	
Other managed care plan	B
Staff model HMO	
Managed care plan	

COMPARISON GROUP 5 (define)

Enlarge Shrink 711.

GENERAL CHARACTERISTICS FOR PROVIDER GROUP 5

Not specified

O See below

Clear Selection

	N	%
712. Female	B	₽
713. American Indian or Alaska Native	G	G-
714. Asian	B	₽
715. Black or African American	G	G
716. Native Hawaiian or other Pacific Islander	B	₽
717. Latino/Hispanic	G	G
718. White	6	₽
719. Other	G	G
720. Define "Other" for Comparison goup 5		

Enlarge Shrink

GENERAL PHYSICIAN EXPERIENCE FOR GROUP 5

https://www.clinical-analytics.com/d2d/ul1/review.asp?mode=previewMode&articleid=6... 02/28/2006

SRS Form

	Mean	Median	Ra	nge
721. Age		₽	₽	B -
722. Number of years in training (housestaff and fellows)		₽-	₽	6
723. Years since training		₽	₽	<u></u>
724. Number of years in practice.		₽	₽	B
725. Practice setting; where was PHE del	livered? Click all that apply	,		
Physician office				
Solo practice				
Group practice				
Hospital outpatient clinic				
Academic practice				
Community health center				
Employee health clinic				
VA/other US DOD				
National health service clinic				
Family medicine practice				
Internal medicine practice				
Ob/gyn practice				
Specialty practice				
Other health care site		₽		
Worksite				
Non-work site community setting				
Health fair				
Public Place (specify)		₽		
Commercial insurance				
Public insurance: Medicare				
Public insurance: Medicaid				
Public insurance: VA/ other US DOD)			
National health insurance				
Managed care plan				
Staff model HMO				
Other managed care plan		⊡ ≁		
Employer health plan				
Other (specify)		₿ ₽		

AUDITOR INFORMATION

this section IS NOT to be completed by reviewer #1

726. Auditor information	
Auditor Name	B-
Auditor review completion date	B-
727. Auditor Notes	
Enlarge Shrink	
Save to finish later Submit Data	

Form took 69.25 seconds to render

P 🕒

Previewing Only: You cannot submit data from this form

Previewing at Level 5

Refid: 1, Cole, R. C., Morandi, F., Avenell, J., and Daniel, G. B., Trans-splenic portal scintigraphy in normal dogs, *Vet Radiol Ultrasound*, 46(2), 2005, p.146-52 State: Excluded, Level: 2

Save to finish later Submit Data

STUDY DESIGN

1. What is the design of the study?

- Randomized controlled trial.
- Nonrandomized controlled trial
- Prospective cohort study with comparison group
- Retospective cohort study with comparison group
- Mixed prospective/retrospective cohort study with comparison group
- Case-control study
- Pre-post comparison study with comparison group
- Other

Clear Selection

STUDY POPULATION SELECTION

₽

2. How good was the randomization to treatment groups and how difficult would it have been to manipulate the randomization?

- Excellent ((centralized randomization scheme [randomized in different location than treatment] and study monitor)
- Good (centralized randomization scheme or study monitor but not both)
- Fair (neither centralized randomization scheme or study monitor)
- Poor (insufficient documentation of randomization scheme or highly questionable methods)
- Does not apply

Clear Selection

- 3. How appropriate was the control group?
- Excellent (chosen from an appropriate concurrent population of subjects)
- Good (chosen from a concurrent but not ideal population of subjects)
- Fair (chosen from a historical population of subjects)
- Poor (no information given on origin of control group)
- Can't tell
- Does not apply

Clear Selection

- 4. Were the control and treatment groups of enrolled subjects comparable at the beginning of the study?
- Excellent (No significant difference in any characteristic likely to affect success of intervention or other outcome)
- Good (Minor differences in one or more characteristics unlikely to affect success of intervention or other outcome)

Fair (Moderate differences in one or more characteristics which may affect success of intervention or other outcome)

Poor (Major differences in one or more characteristics likely to affect success of intervention or other outcome)

🔵 Can't tell

Does not apply

Clear Selection

5. How well were the inclusion and exclusion criteria for subjects described in the study?

Excellent The inclusion and exclusion criteria were specifically and clearly stated or it was specified that all consecutive subjects were enrolled)

Good (The inclusion and exclusion criteria were stated reasonably completely and clearly, but could have been improved on one or two items)

Fair (The inclusion and exclusion criteria appeared to be lacking in a few items)

Poor (No description of specific inclusion and exclusion criteria)

Can't tell

Clear Selection

6. How well were the characteristics of the study population described?

Excellent (All important subject characteristics are reported, including age, gender, race. For patients, at least one other aspect of socioeconomic status or comorbidities. For providers, specialty and type of practice.)

Ocod (Most of the important subject characteristics are reported, 1-2 missing or characteristics are not classified by subgroup)

Fair (Some of the important subject characteristics are reported, >2 missing. Characteristics may not be classified by subgroup.)

Poor (Few or none of the important subject characteristics are reported. Characteristics may not be classified by subgroup.)

Can't tell

Clear Selection

7. How similar were the sociodemographic and/or clinical characteristics of the subjects who enrolled and the eligible subjects who did not enroll?

Excellent (No significant difference in any characteristic likely to affect success of intervention or other outcome)

Good (Minor differences in one or more characteristics unlikely to affect success of intervention or other outcome)

Fair (Moderate differences in one or more characteristics which may affect success of intervention or other outcome)

Poor (Major differences in one or more characteristics likely to affect success of intervention or other outcome)

Can't tell

Clear Selection

8. Dit the authors specify the reasons that eligible subjects did not enroll specified?

- Yes
- 🔵 No

Not applicable (less than 10% of patients did not enroll)

Don't know who didn't enroll

Clear Selection

STUDY PROTOCOL

9. How well did the authors describe the intervention for changing delivery of the PHE?

Excellent (One could definitely replicate the intervention with the completeness and detail of the description. Or, in the case of a reference description, one could probably replicate the intervention.)

- O Good (One could understand, but not necessarily replicate, the intervention with the detail of the description given.)
- Fair Not nearly enough information about the intervention to fully understand it.)
- Poor (Minimal description of the intervention)

Clear Selection

- 10. How well did the authors describe the PHE?
- Excellent (One could definitely replicate the PHE as described in this study)
- O Good (One could understand, but not necessarily replicate, the PHE as described in this study)
- Fair (Not nearly enough information about the PHE was given for the reader to fully understand what was done)
- Poor (Minimal description of the PHE)

Clear Selection

- 11. Description of intervention referenced?
- Yes
- 🔘 No

Clear Selection

- 12. Were the control and treatment groups treated comparably except for the study intervention(s)?
- Excellent (The groups had no visible differences in the way they were treated)
- Good (The groups had minor differences in treatment unlikely to affect the outcome of the study)
- Fair (The groups had moderate differences in treatment which may affect the outcome of the study)
- Poor (The groups had major differences in treatment likely to affect the outcome of the study)
- Can't tell
- Does not apply

Clear Selection

13. Was there adequate blinding of the target(s) of the intervention to group assignment?

- Yes
- O No
- 🔵 Can't tell
- Not possible given study/intervention
- Does not apply

Clear Selection

14. Was there adequate blinding of the provider(s) of the preventive service to intervention group assignment?

- Yes
- 🔘 No
- Can't tell
- Not possible given study/intervention
- O Does not apply

Clear Selection

15. Was there adequate blinding of the assessor(s) of outcomes to group assignments?

Yes

O No

🔵 Can't tell

Does not apply

Clear Selection

16. How were withdrawals (drop-outs while the study was ongoing) or crossovers (subjects who changed from control to intervention group, intervention to control group, or from one intervention to another) handled in the study?

Excellent (Intention to treat and sensitivity analysis are used to examine how results would have differed depending on the inclusion or exclusion of withdrawals or crossovers)

Good (Intention to treat analysis used without sensitivity analysis)

Fair (Withdrawals counted as an end-result at the time of withdrawal, or numbers of cross-overs reported but without intention-to-treat or sensitivity analysis)

Poor (Withdrawals eliminated from study at time of withdrawal or ignored, or cross-overs considered in the new group when they change groups.)

Can't tell

Not applicable (No withdrawals or cross-overs)

Clear Selection

17. How comparable were subjects who withdrew to retained subjects?

Excellent (No significant difference in any characteristic likely to affect success of intervention or other outcome)

O Good (Minor differences in one or more characteristics unlikely to affect success of intervention or other outcome)

Fair (Moderate differences in one or more characteristics which may affect success of intervention or other outcome)

Poor (Major differences in one or more characteristics likely to affect success of intervention or other outcome)

Can't tell

Not applicable

Clear Selection

18. Were withdrawals comparable across intervention groups and across treatment and control arms?

- Yes
- O No
- Can't tell

Not applicable or no withdrawals

Clear Selection

19. Were reasons for withdrawal specified?

Yes

🔵 No

🔵 Can't tell

Not applicable (no withdrawals)

Clear Selection

20. Were relevant and appropriate outcomes measured in this study?

Excellent (The outcomes measured were relevant and were appropriate for the intervention studied. Important, feasible outcomes were measured.)

Good (The outcomes measured were relevant to the preventable condition or to behavior change and were generally appropriate for the intervention studied. Many important, feasible outcomes were measured, but some were clearly lacking.)

Fair (The outcomes measured were relevant to the preventable condition or to behavior change, but lacked appropriateness for the intervention studied.)

Poor (The outcomes measured were only somewhat relevant to the preventable condition or to behavior change.)

Can't tell

Clear Selection

21. Did the length of follow-up for the intervention and frequency of outcome assessments seem appropriate for the outcomes measured?

- Excellent (The length of follow-up and frequency of outcome measurements seemed appropriate.)
- O Good (Either the length of follow-up or the frequency of outcome measurements could have been improved, but both were adequate)
- Fair (Either the length of follow-up or the frequency of outcome measurements was not appropriate)
- Poor (Both the length of follow-up and the frequency of outcome measurements were not appropriate)
- Can't tell

Clear Selection

22. Did the percentage of subjects completing the intervention and evaluation seem appropriate for the main outcomes measured?

- Excellent (The percentage of subjects was desirable for the outcomes measured. Likely >=85%.)
- Good (The percentage of subjects was acceptable for the outcomes measured. Likely 70-84%.)
- Fair (The percentage of subjects is likely lower than needed for at least one of the outcomes measured. Likely 50-69%.)
- Poor (The percentage of subjects is clearly too low for the outcomes measured. Likely less than 50%.)
- Can't tell

Clear Selection

23. Were the outcomes described so that they were understood easily?

- Yes
- 🔵 No

Clear Selection

24. Was assessment of the outcomes standardized and valid?

- Excellent/Good (Both standardized and valid)
- Fair (Standardized or valid, but not both)
- Poor (Neither standardized nor valid)
- Can't tell

Clear Selection

STATISTICAL ANALYSES

25. Were power calculations reported in the study?

A priori estimate (The number of subjects needed to detect a statistically significant difference in the study's outcomes was calculated before the study was conducted.)

Post-hoc estimate (The number of subjects needed was calculated after the study was conducted or at an unspecified time)

No power calculations

Can't tell

Not applicable

Clear Selection

26. How appropriate was the choice of statistical test(s)?

- Excellent (All tests were appropriate for the variables examined and the data distribution. Tests were named for all of the analyses.)
- Good (Most tests were appropriate for the variables examined and the data distribution. Tests were named for most of the analyses.)
- Fair (Some tests were appropriate for the variables examined and the data distribution)
- Poor (Inappropriate statistical tests for the data or no statistical analysis done)
- Can't tell

Clear Selection

27. How was statistical significance presented?

- Confidence limits with or without p-values
- P-values, but not confidence limits
- Neither p-values nor confidence limits
- Other
- Can't tell

Clear Selection

28. Were adjustments made for potential confounders or differences between comparison groups in the study? If potential confounding was present, were adjustments made?

₽

- (Multivariate analysis performed and adequately accounted for potential confounding)
- (Multivariate analysis performed that probably accounted for potential confounding)
- Fair (Multivariate analysis performed that probably did not adequately account for potential confounding)
- Poor (No adjustment made for potential confounding)
- Can't tell
- No confounding present

Clear Selection

29. Were there potential problems with unit of analysis where a prominent outcome of the study involved an endpoint for which providers could not be assumed to be interchangeable, and patients were used as the unit of analysis when physicians should have been used? Were there potential problems with whether the intervention was targeting patients or providers?

- Yes, and the authors accounted for this in their analysis.
- Yes, and the authors acknowledge this in the discussion but not the analysis.
- Yes, and the authors did not account for this in their analysis or discussion.
- O No
- Can't tell
- Does not apply
- **Clear Selection**

Save to finish later Submit Data

Form took 0.46875 seconds to render

Previewing Only: You cannot submit data from this form



Previewing at Level 7

REF ID1Cole, R. C., Morandi, F., Avenell, J., and Daniel, G. B. **Trans-splenic portal scintigraphy in normal dogs** Vet Radiol Ultrasound2005462146-52 State: Excluded, Level: Abstract Review

Save to finish later Submit Data

CHECK ALL OUTCOMES THAT WERE MEASURED IN THIS STUDY CLINICAL PREVENTIVE SERVICES

Physical Exam

	Delivered I	Not deliver	ed		
1. Abdominal	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
2. Blood pressure	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
3. Breast exam	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
4. Cardiac Exam	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
5. Eye exam, general	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
6. Eye exam, fundiscopic	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
7. Gynecologic	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
8. Gynecologic, PAP smear	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
9. Gynecologic, Pap smear	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
10. Height	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
11. Neurologic	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
12. Prostate	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
13. Pulmonary	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
14. Pulse	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
15. Rectal	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
16. Weight	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
17. Physical exam not otherwise specified	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
Delivered Not delivered	Defi	ne			
18. Other 1			₽		
19. Other 2			₽		
20. Other 3			<u></u>		
Counseling					
Delivered Not delivered	Ł				
21. Alcohol abuse	Clear				
		Deli	vered Not d	elivered	
22. Substance abuse		(\bigcirc	Clear

23. Calcium intake	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
24. Diet	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
25. Firearms	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
26. Folic acid	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
27. Injury prevention	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
28. Oral health	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
29. Physical activity	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
30. Polypharmacy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
31. Safe sexual practices (my include STD/HIV counseling)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
32. Smoking cessation	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
33. Sun exposure	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
34. Counseling not otherwise specified	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
Delivered Not delivered Define			
35. Other 1	₽		
36. Other 2	B		

Immunization

37. Other 3

1	Delivered	Not Delivere	ed	
38. Hepatitis B	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
39. Influenza	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
40. Measles	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
41. Mumps	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
42. Pneumovax	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
43. Rubella	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
44. Tetanus	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
45. Immunization not otherwise specified	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
Delivered Not delivered	De	fine		
46. Other 1			₽	
47. Other 2			B	
47. Other 2			₽ ₽	
47. Other 2			₽ ₽	
47. Other 2	Ē	Delivered No	Dt delivere	d
47. Other 2	C	Delivered No	Dt delivere	d Clear
47. Other 2	C	Delivered No	ot delivere	d Clear Clear

₽

	\bigcirc	\bigcirc			
52. Colon cancer screening, colonoscopy	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
53. Colon cancer screening, fecal occult blood test	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
54. GC/chlamydia	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
55. Glucose	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
56. Hemoglobin A1c	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
57. Mammography	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
58. PSA	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
59. Tuberculosis skin test	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
60. Testing not otherwise specified	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
Delivered Not delivered De	fine				
61. Other 1		₽			
62. Other 2		₽			
63. Other 3		₽			
DISTAL CLINICAL OUTCOME	S, ge	neral			
Applies Does not apply					
64. Death Clear					
65. Hospitalization O Clear					
Applies Does not apply De	fine				
66. Other 1		₽			
67. Other 2		₽			
68. Other 3		₽			
DISTAL CLINICAL OUTCOMES, Major diagnostic category					



78. Other 1				
79. Other 2			₽	
80. Other 3			₽	
DISTAL ECONOMIC	ουτ	COMES		
	Applies	Does not apply	,	
81. Charges	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
82. Cost	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
83. Disability days	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
84. Disease-specific disability days	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
85. Work days	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
Applies Does not apply	,	Define		
86. Other 1			<u>-</u>	

₽

₽

DISEASE DETECTION

87. Other 2

88. Other 3

Applies I	Does not apply	Ý	
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear	
ot apply	D	efine	
			3
			3
			3
	Applies I	Applies Does not apply	Applies Does not apply Clear Clear

PROXIMAL CLINICAL OUTCOMES

	Applies	Does not apply	
101. Blood pressure, diastolic or change in DBP	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
102. Blood pressure, systolic or change in SBP	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
103. Cholesterol, total	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear

₽ ₽

104. Cholester	rol, LDL ar	nd triglycerides	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
105. Cholester	rol, HDL		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
106. Health sta	atus		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
107. Hemoglo	bin A1c		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
108. Hyperten	sion		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
109. Weight cl	hange		\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear
A	Applies Do	es not apply	Define		
110. Other 1				B	
111. Other 2				B	
112. Other 3				B	

BEHAVIORAL OUTCOMES



PATIENT ATTITUDES

Applies Does not apply					
120. Knowledge	e 🔘	\bigcirc	Clear		
121. Respect	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	Clear		
122. Satisfaction	n 🔵	\bigcirc	Clear		
Ap	plies Does	not apply		Define	
123. Other 1					₽
124. Other 2					₽
125. Other 3					₽

PUBLIC HEALTH

	Applies Does	not apply	Define
126. Other 1			₽
127. Other 2			6
128. Other 3			6

If outcomes for any of the following categories have been identifed please proceed to the outcome specific forms for THIS article: Delivery of Preventive Clinical Services, Distal Clinical Outcomes, Distal Economic Outcomes, Disease Detection

******	**********************************

AUDITOR INFORMATION

this section IS NOT to be completed by reviewer #1

129. Auditor information		
Auditor Name	₽	
Auditor review completion date	₽	
130. Auditor Notes		
Enlarge Shrink		
Save to finish later Submit Data		

Form took 1.71875 seconds to render

🗁 🔸 🕒 🚞

Previewing Only: You cannot submit data from this form

Previewing at Level 8

Refid: 1, Cole, R. C., Morandi, F., Avenell, J., and Daniel, G. B., Trans-splenic portal scintigraphy in normal dogs, Vet Radiol Ultrasound, 46(2), 2005, p.146-52 State: Excluded, Level: 2

Save to finish later Submit Data

1. OUTCOME #1:

Define outcomes in order they are identified in previous questions on this form.

2. Who assessed OUTCOME 1? check all that apply
Practicing Health Provider
Community health worker
3. Is OUTCOME 1 self-reported?
◯ Yes-physician
O Yes-patient
No
Not applicable
Clear Selection 4. Are the results for OUTCOME 1 adjusted for potential confounding factors?
Ves
No
Not applicable
Clear Selection 5. OUTCOME 1 Adjusted for (check all that apply)
Age
Sex
Race
Insurance
Education
Comorbid disease
Medication use
Practice mix
Provider experience
Body mass index
Weight
Smoking
Lipids
Blood pressure
Diabetes
Not Specified
Other
Other
Other
Not applicable
6. Does OUTCOME 1 apply to the target patient population or providers?

Patient	
Physician	
Both	
Clear Selection	

7. OUTCOME 1

Target PATIENT Population GROUP number (use group # as assigned in the General Abstraction form)



8. OUTCOME 1

Target PROVIDER Population GROUP number (use group # as assigned in the General Abstraction form)



Specify units for OUTCOME 1

Absolute number	
Diagnoses	
mmHg	
mg/dl	
pounds	
kilograms	
percentage	
dollars	
cost effectiveness ratio	₽
Other	₽
Other	₽
Other	
no units specified	
no applicable	
10. Was there a reference/comparision group for this stu	udy?
Yes	
No	

Clear Selection

For each PATIENT group complete all that apply for OUTCOME 1

Sample size

	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5
11. Baseline n	₽	₽	₽	₽	₽
12. Follow-up n	6	G	₽	₽	6

Absolute result

	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
13. Baseline	6	<u></u>	G-	B	G		
14. Follow-up	6	B	6	B	G		
15. Change	₽	5	₽	B	6		
Mean, baseli	ne						
16 Moon	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
To. Mean							
17. Standard	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
error of mean		· 🗳	8	197 17	197 1		
deviation	<u>ت</u>	الله ا		ال ان	م ن ا		
19. Variance	₽	·B	B	₽	B		
Mean, follow	-up						
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
20. Mean	AC	1 C	10 m	1 m	10 m		
21. Standard	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
error of mean			5		2		
deviation	6		6	40	40		
23. Variance		·	<u>ل</u>				
Mean, chang	e						
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
24. Mean	1 C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C C		م ك ن	S.			
25. Standard	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
error of mean	1 State 1 Stat	محف م	1 m	10 m	10 m		
deviation	₽	• 🕑	6	<u></u>	₽		
27. Variance	⊡	• •	G	⊡ ≁	6		
Median, base	eline						
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
28. Median	₽	G	G	⊡ ≁	₽		
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
29. Standard error	G-	• •	G	G-	6		
30. Standard deviation	B	·	G	₽	₽		
31. Variance	9	• 🕞	G	G-	₽		
Median, follo	ow-up						
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
32. Median	B	B	₽	₽	₽		
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
33. Standard error	3	· 🕑	G	₽	6		
34. Standard deviation	•		₽	₽	₽		
35. Variance	G	·	G	B	B		
Median, chai	nge				1		
-	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
36. Median		3		₽ . ₽	•		
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2	Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5		
37. Standard error		· · ·		•	· · ·		
38. Standard deviation	6		B	B	9	•	₽
-----------------------------	-----------------	-----------------	----------	-----------------	-----------------	-----------------	---
39. Variance	6		₽	B	3		₽
Correlation coe	efficient						
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2		Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5	5
40. Measured coefficient	₽		3	9	5	}	3
Odds Ratio							
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2		Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5	
41. Odds ratio	<u></u>		₽	₽	<u></u>		₽
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2		Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5	;
42. Mark reference group	B		B	₽		ł	3
43. 95% Cl upper/lower	B		₽	₽		ł	3
Relative Risk							
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2		Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5	i
44. Relative risk	₽		₽	B	3	Þ	₽
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2		Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5	
45. Mark reference	6		3	6	6		₽
46. 95% Cl upper/lower	6		₽	6	<u></u>		3
Hazard Ratio							
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2		Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5	
47. Hazard ratio	B		₽	B	5	k	₽
	Patient group 1	Patient group 2		Patient group 3	Patient group 4	Patient group 5	5
48. Mark reference group	6		₽	B		Þ	3
49. 95% CI upper/lower	₽		₽	<u>-</u>		k	₽

For each PROVIDER group complete all that apply for OUTCOME 1

Sample siz	e							
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provi	der group 3	Р	rovider group 4	Provider group 5	
50. <i>n</i>	₽	₽		₽		₽	B	
Absolute re	esult							
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2		Provider group 3		Provider group 4	Provider group 5	
51. Baseline	5	}	⊮		3	₽		₽
52. Follow-up		}	B		₽	B -		₽
53. Change	5	}	₽		₽	⊡ -		₽
Mean, base	eline							
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Р	rovider group 3		Provider group 4	Provider group 5	
54. Mean	B	C	3-	3	þ	B	3	þ
	Provider group 1	Provider group	2	Provider group 3		Provider group 4	Provider group 5	
55. Standard error of mean		₽	₽		₽	G		₽
56. Standard deviation		6	₽		3	9		3
57. Variance		₽	₽		₽	6		3
Mean, follo	w-up							
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Р	rovider group 3		Provider group 4	Provider group 5	
58. Mean	B	le l	3-	3	þ	B	3	þ

https://www.clinical-analytics.com/d2d/ul1/review.asp?mode=previewMode&articleid=637&level=8

	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
59. Standard error of mean	B	6	}	₽	₽ ₽
60. Standard	B	6	}	₽	B B
61 Variance	n.		L	2	D. D.
Moon abong	•				0
Mean, chang	e				
62 Mean	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
			<u> </u>	U	
63 Standard	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
error of mean	1		2	3 C	¥
64. Standard deviation	₽	6	}	₽	₿ ₽
65. Variance	6	6	}	₽	B B
Median, base	eline				
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
66. Median	₽	6	· · ·		
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
67. Standard					
error of mean 68. Standard				2	n n
deviation	ال ا	Ľ	8	₩	19°
69. Variance	G-	6	}	₽	G- G-
Median, follo	ow-up				
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
70. Median	B	6	9		P
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
71. Standard error of mean	5		}	₽	₿ ₽
72. Standard	B	6	}	₽	B B
73. Variance	n,		2		D D
					00
median, char	ige				
74 Median	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
74. Wedian					
75 Standard	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
error of mean	1		2	2	1 (C)
deviation	G-		}	₽	₽
77. Variance	6	6	}	₽	₽ ₽
Correlation of	oefficient				
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
 78. Measured coefficient 		*	3	₽	₽ ₽
Odds Ratio					
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
79. Odds ratio	₽	3	•	₽	₽ ₽
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
80. Mark			1.		n. n.
group	U	0			<u> </u>
81.95% Cl upper/lower	6	6	}	₽	₽ 02
Relative Risk	c				
	Provider group 1	Provider group 2	Provider group 3	Provider group 4	Provider group 5
82. Relative risk	6	e (3	₽	₽ ₽

	Provider group 1		Provider group 2		Provider group 3		Provider group 4		Provider group 5	
83. Mark reference group		₽		₽		₽		₽		₽
84. 95% Cl upper/lower		B		₽		₽		₽		₽
Hazard Ratio)									
	Provider group 1		Provider group 2		Provider group 3		Provider group 4		Provider group 5	
85. Hazard ratio		₽		₽		₽		₽		₽
	Provider group 1		Provider group 2		Provider group 3		Provider group 4		Provider group 5	
86. Mark reference group		₽		₽		₽		₽		₽
87. 95% Cl upper/lower		₽		₽		₽		₽		₽
				AUDITOR	INFORMATION					
			this section	IS NOT to b	e completed by revie	ewer #1				

88. Auditor information			
Auditor Name	B		
Auditor review completion date	⊡ -		
89. Auditor Notes			
Enlarge Shrink			
Save to finish later Su	bmit Data		

Form took 2.578125 seconds to render

Included Articles

- The South-East London Screening Study. A controlled trial of multiphasic screening in middle-age: results of the South-East London Screening Study. 1977. Int J Epidemiol 2001; 30(5):935-40.
- Belcher DW. Implementing preventive services. Success and failure in an outpatient trial. Arch Intern Med 1990; 150(12):2533-41.
- Bernacki EJ, Tsai SP, Malone RD. Participation in a periodic physical examination program and group health care utilization and costs. J Occup Med 1988; 30(12):949-52.
- Burton LC, German PS, Shapiro S. A preventive services demonstration. Health status, health behaviors, and cost outcomes 2 years after intervention. The Johns Hopkins Medicare Preventive Services Demonstration Team. Med Care 1997; 35(11):1149-57.
- Burton LC, Steinwachs DM, German PS *et al.* Preventive services for the elderly: would coverage affect utilization and costs under Medicare? Am J Public Health 1995; 85(3):387-91.
- Burton LC, Paglia MJ, German PS, et al. The effect among older persons of a general preventive visit on three health behaviors: Smoking, excessive alcohol drinking, and sedentary lifestyle. Prev Med .
- Burton WN, Chen CY, Conti DJ, Schultz AB, Edington DW. The value of the periodic executive health examination: experience at Bank One and summary of the literature. J Occup Environ Med 2002; 44(8):737-44.
- Chiou CJ, Chang HY. Do the elderly benefit from annual physical examination? An example from Kaohsiung City, Taiwan. Prev Med 2002; 35(3):264-70.
- Christensen B. Payment and attendance at general practice preventive health examinations. Fam Med 1995; 27(8):531-4.
- Collen MF, Dales LG, Friedman GD, Flagle CD, Feldman R, Siegelaub AB. Multiphasic checkup evaluation study. 4. Preliminary cost benefit analysis for middle-aged men. Prev Med 1973; 2(2):236-46.
- Cutler JL, Ramcharan S, Feldman R *et al.* Multiphasic checkup evaluation study. 1. Methods and population. Prev Med 1973; 2(2):197-206.

- Dales LG, Friedman GD, Ramcharan S *et al.* Multiphasic checkup evaluation study. 3. Outpatient clinic utilization, hospitalization, and mortality experience after seven years. Prev Med 1973; 2(2):221-35.
- Dales LG, Friedman GD, Collen MF. Evaluating periodic multiphasic health checkups: a controlled trial. J Chronic Dis 1979.
- Eaton CB, Goodwin MA, Stange KC. Direct observation of nutrition counseling in community family practice. Am J Prev Med 2002; 23(3):174-9.
- Elder JP, Williams SJ, Drew JA, Wright BL, Boulan TE. Longitudinal effects of preventive services on health behaviors among an elderly cohort. Am J Prev Med 1995; 11(6):354-9.
- Faulkner LA, Schauffler HH. The effect of health insurance coverage on the appropriate use of recommended clinical preventive services. Am J Prev Med 1997; 13(6):453-8.
- Finkelstein MM. Preventive screening. What factors influence testing? Can Fam Physician 2002; 48:1494-501.
- Fletcher SW, Sourkes M, Rabzel M, Fletcher RH. Multiphasic screening. Case-finding tool in a Teaching Hospital Medical Clinic. JAMA 1977; 237(9):887-91.
- Flocke SA, Stange KC. Direct observation and patient recall of health behavior advice. Prev Med 2004; 38(3):343-9.
- Freedman A, Pimlott N, Naglie G. Preventive care for the elderly. Do family physicians comply with recommendations of the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care? Can Fam Physician 2000; 46:350-7.
- Friedman GD, Collen MF, Fireman BH. Multiphasic Health Checkup Evaluation: a 16-year follow-up. J Chronic Dis 1986.
- Geiger WJ, Neuberger MJ, Bell GC. Implementing the US preventive services guidelines in a family practice residency. Fam Med 1993; 25(7):447-51.
- German PS, Burton LC, Shapiro S *et al*. Extended coverage for preventive services for the elderly: response and results in a demonstration population. Am J Public Health 1995; 85(3):379-86.

- Grimaldi JV. The Worth of Occupational Health Programs: A New Evaluation of Periodic Physical Examinations. J Gnathol 1965; 56:365-74.
- Hahn DL. The delivery of clinical preventive services: acute care intervention. J Fam Pract 1999; 48(10):785-9.
- Hama Y, Masumori K, Tagami H, Fujiwara K, Kusano S. Preassignment examination for personnel on Iwo Jima. Mil Med 2001; 166(8):721-4.
- Kottke TE, Solberg LI, Brekke ML, Cabrera A, Marquez MA. Delivery rates for preventive services in 44 midwestern clinics. Mayo Clin Proc 1997; 72(6):515-23.
- Lin SX, Gebbie KM, Fullilove RE, Arons RR. Do nurse practitioners make a difference in provision of health counseling in hospital outpatient departments? J Am Acad Nurse Pract 2004; 16(10):462-6.
- Mayer JA, Jermanovich A, Wright BL, Elder JP, Drew JA, Williams SJ. Changes in health behaviors of older adults: the San Diego Medicare Preventive Health Project. Prev Med 1994; 23(2):127-33.
- Morrissey JP, Harris RP, Kincade-Norburn J *et al*. Medicare reimbursement for preventive care. Changes in performance of services, quality of life, and health care costs. Med Care 1995; 33(4):315-31.
- Nakanishi N, Tatara K, Fujiwara H. Do preventive health services reduce eventual demand for medical care? 1996.
- Norinder A, Persson U, Nilsson P, Nilsson J A, Hedblad B, Berglund G. Costs for screening, intervention and hospital treatment generated by the Malmo Preventive Project: a large-scale community screening programme. 2002.
- Norman P, Conner M. Health checks in general practice: the patient's response. Fam Pract 1992; 9(4):481-7.
- Nutting PA, Baier M, Werner JJ, Cutter G, Conry C, Stewart L. Competing demands in the office visit: what influences mammography recommendations? J Am Board Fam Pract 2001; 14(5):352-61.
- OXCHECK. Effectiveness of health checks conducted by nurses in primary care: final results of the OXCHECK study. Imperial Cancer Research Fund OXCHECK Study Group. BMJ 1995b; 310(6987):1099-104.

- OXCHECK. Effectiveness of health checks conducted by nurses in primary care: results of the OXCHECK study after one year. Imperial Cancer Research Fund OXCHECK Study Group. BMJ (Clinical Research Ed) 1995a.
- Parchman M, Byrd T. Access to and use of ambulatory health care by a vulnerable Mexican American population on the U.S.-Mexico border. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2001; 12(4):404-14.
- Patrick DL, Grembowski D, Durham M *et al.* Cost and outcomes of Medicare reimbursement for HMO preventive services. Health Care Financ Rev 1999; 20(4):25-43.
- Patrick DL, Grembowski D, Durham, M. et al. Cost and outcomes of Medicare reimbursement for HMO preventive services. Health Care Financ Rev 1999.
- Ramcharan S, Cutler JL, Feldman R *et al.* Multiphasic checkup evaluation study. 2. Disabilty and chronic disease after seven years of multiphasic health checkups. Prev Med 1973; 2(2):207-20.
- Roberts NJ, Ipsen J, Elsom KO, Clark TW, Yanagawa H. Mortality among males in periodic-healthexamination programs. N Engl J Med 1969; 281(1):20-4.
- Schneider GW, DeHaven M, Snell LM. Fostering a culture of prevention in a residency program through a continuous quality improvement project. Am J Med Qual 2003; 18(2):82-9.
- Slesinger DP, Tessler RC, Mechanic D. The effects of social characteristics on the utilization of preventive medical services in contrasting health care programs. Med Care 1976; 14(5):392-404.
- Somkin CP, McPhee SJ, Nguyen T *et al*. The effect of access and satisfaction on regular mammogram and Papanicolaou test screening in a multiethnic population. Med Care 2004; 42(9):914-26.
- Sox CH, Dietrich AJ, Tosteson TD, Winchell CW, Labaree CE. Periodic health examinations and the provision of cancer prevention services. Arch Fam Med 1997; 6(3):223-30.
- Stange KC, Flocke SA, Goodwin MA, Kelly RB, Zyzanski SJ. Direct observation of rates of preventive service delivery in community family practice. Prev Med 2000; 31(2 Pt 1):167-76.

- Stone DH, D'Souza MF. Multiphasic screening in middle age: results and implications of a controlled trial in British general practice. Isr J Med Sci 1981; 17(2-3):215-21.
- Stone DH, Shannon DJ. Screening for impaired visual acuity in middle age in general practice. Br Med J 1978; 2(6141):859-61.
- Stone DH CA. The effect of multiphasic screening on aspects of psychiatric status in middle age: results of a controlled trial in general practice. Int J Epidemiol.
- Tao G, Zhang P, Li Q. Services provided to nonpregnant women during general medical and gynecologic examinations in the United States. Am J Prev Med 2001; 21(4):291-7.
- The South-East London Screening Study Group. A controlled trial of multiphasic screening in middleage: results of the South-East London Screening Study. The South-East London Screening Study Group. Int J Epidemiol 1977; 6(4):357-63.
- Theobald, H, Bygren LO, Carstensen J, Hauffman M, Engfeldt P. Effects of an assessment of needs for medical and social services on long-term mortality: a randomized controlled study. Int J Epidemiol 1998.
- Trevelyan H. Study of evaluate the effects of multiphasic screening within general practice in Britain: design and method. Prev Med 1973; 2(2):278-94.
- Williams RB, Boles M, Johnson RE. A patient-initiated system for preventive health care. A randomized trial in community-based primary care practices. Arch Fam Med 1998; 7(4):338-45.

Excluded Articles

Affinity Health Plan pays capitated doctors for preventive services. Capitation Manag Rep. 2004. 11(6):70-2 **Exposure not the PHE**

Health status of American Indians compared with other racial/ethnic minority populations--selected states, 2001-2002. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2003. 52(47):1148-52 **Exposure not the PHE**

The evolution of the annual checkup. Mayo Clin Womens Healthsource. 2002. 6(12):1-2 No original data

Health insurance coverage and receipt of preventive health services--United States, 1993. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 95. 44(11):219-25 **Exposure not the PHE**

From the Centers for Disease Control. Cardiovascular disease, motor-vehicle-related injury, and use of clinical preventive services--Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 1989. JAMA. 91. 266(8):1068 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Cardiovascular disease, motor-vehicle-related injury, and use of clinical preventive services--behavioral risk factor surveillance system, 1989. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 91. 40(28):477-482 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Questions and answers about EPSDT--Early and Periodic Screening, Diagnosis and Treatment. J Indiana State Med Assoc. 83. 76(9):651-4 Includes only subjects less than 18 years of age

Automated multiphasic health testing and services (AMHTS). Med Inform (Lond). 82. 7(3):163-266 No original data

Periodic health examination: a guide for designing individualized preventive health care in the asymptomatic patients. Medical Practice Committee, American College of Physicians. Ann Intern Med. 81. 95(6):729-32 **No original data**

Recommendations for periodic health examinations by the ACP Medical Practice Committee. Am Coll Physicians Obs. 81. 1(12):10-1 **Exposure not the PHE**

Medicaid requirements for state programs of early and periodic screening, diagnosis, and treatment of individuals under 21: final regulation. Fed Regist. 79. 44(98):29419-27 **Exposure not the PHE** Admission multiphasic screening. Lancet. 76. 2(7997):1229-30 No original data

Health services in Europe. 1. Administration and preventive services. WHO Chron. 76. 30(10):407-12 No original data

Multiphasic screening does not always mean better health care, changed behavior. Employee Benefit Plan Rev. 76. 31(2):68, 70 **No original data**

Massachusetts Department of Public Health. Early and periodic screening, diagnosis and treatment (EPSDT). N Engl J Med. 74. 290(19):1087-8 **Includes only subjects less than 18 years of age**

Multiphasic screening for state employees at State Park Health Centers. J S C Med Assoc. 74. 70(3):101 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Multiphasic screening in Rhode Island. R I Med J. 72. 55(3):84 No original data

Automated multiphasic health testing. A review of AMHT centers. Hospitals. 71. 45(5):75-87 **Exposure not the PHE** Multiphasic screening. N Engl J Med. 71. 284(5):275-8 **No original data**

Costs of automated multiphasic screening. JAMA. 70. 214(11):2047-8 No original data

Multiphasic screening. Md State Med J. 69. 18(5):133-4 No original data

OCCUPATIONAL health on wheels; periodic physical examinations in mobile units. Ind Med Surg. 55. 24(9):383-91 **Exposure not the PHE**

THE PERIODIC physical examination. Med Times. 55. 83(8):757-64 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

PERIODIC health examinations. J Am Med Assoc. 53. 153(16):1449-50 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

ANNUAL physical examinations. Med Bull U S Army Eur Command Med Div. 51. 8(10):465-6 No original data

4th Abelson, J. and Lomas, J. Do health service organizations and community health centres have higher disease prevention and health promotion levels than fee-for-service practices?. CMAJ. 90. 142(6):575-81 **Exposure not the PHE**

Achat, H., Close, G., and Taylor, R. Who has regular mammograms? Effects of knowledge, beliefs, socioeconomic status, and health-related factors. Prev Med. 2005. 41(1):312-20 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Adams, E. K., Florence, C. S., Thorpe, K. E., Becker, E. R., and Joski, P. J. Preventive care: female cancer screening, 1996-2000. Am J Prev Med. 2003. 25(4):301-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Adler, N. E. Community preventive services. Do we know what we need to know to improve health and reduce disparities?. Am J Prev Med. 2003. 24(3 Suppl):10-1 No original data

Allander, E., Bring, J., Gudmundsson, L., Mattson, S., Olafsson, O., Rign \tilde{A} ©r, K., Sigurgeirsson, B., and Taube, A. What is the long term value of multiphasic health screening and the initial judgement of benefit? Survival to 85 and 90 years, perceived health and functional ability of participants in the Swedish Eskilstuna study 1964 and 1969, 20 and 25 years later.. **No eligible comparison** group

Allison, J. E. and Feldman, R. Cost benefits of hemoccult screening for colorectal carcinoma. Dig Dis Sci. 85. 30(9):860-5 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Altshuler, C. H. Multiphasic screening. JAMA. 72. 222(13):1653 **Exposure not the PHE**

Anderson, R. T., Weisman, C. S., Scholle, S. H., Henderson, J. T., Oldendick, R., and Camacho, F. Evaluation of the quality of care in the clinical care centers of the National Centers of Excellence in Women's Health. Womens Health Issues. 2002. 12(6):309-26 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Aparasu, R. R. and Hegge, M. Autonomous ambulatory care by nurse practitioners and physician assistants in office-based settings. J Allied Health. 2001. 30(3):153-9 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Aena, J. M. A comparison of european health services. 2. PREVENTIVE SERVICES. WHO Chron. 65. 19240-5 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Aubin, M., Vezina, L., Fortin, J. P., and Bernard, P. M. Effectiveness of a program to improve hypertension screening in primary care. CMAJ. 94. 150(4):509-15 **Exposure not the PHE**

Ayanian, J. Z., Weissman, J. S., Schneider, E. C., Ginsburg, J. A., and Zaslavsky, A. M. Unmet health needs of uninsured adults in the United States. JAMA. 2000. 284(16):2061-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Ayers, W. R., Hochberg, H. M., and Caceres, C. A. Automated multiphasic health testing. Public Health Rep. 69. 84(7):582-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Balas E A, Weingarten S Garb C T Blumenthal D Boren S A Brown G D Improving preventive care by prompting physicians (Structured abstract). **No original data**

Balkrishnan, R., Hall, M. A., Mehrabi, D., Chen, G. J., Feldman, S. R., and Fleischer, A. B. Jr Capitation payment, length of visit, and preventive services: evidence from a national sample of outpatient physicians. Am J Manag Care. 2002. 8(4):332-40 **Exposure not the PHE**

Banta, J. E. and Franklin, R. R. Cost and technology: significance of multiphasic screening to public health. Clin Eng. 77. 5(5):1-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

Barnes, B. A. Papanicolaou cervical smears for screening in asymptomatic women. Prim Care. 81. 8(1):131-40 **Exposure not the PHE**

Barnsley, J., Williams, A. P., Kaczorowski, J., Vayda, E., Vingilis, E., Campbell, A., and Atkin, K. Who provides walk-in services? Survey of primary care practice in Ontario. Can Fam Physician. 2002. 48519-26 **Exposure not the PHE**

Barr, J. K., Franks, A. L., Lee, N. C., Herther, P., and Schachter, M. Factors associated with continued participation in mammography screening. Prev Med. 2001. 33(6):661-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Baskerville NB, Hogg W Lemelin J Process evaluation of a tailored multifaceted approach to changing family physician practice patterns improving preventive care.. **Meeting abstract**

Bates, B. and Yellin, J. A. The yield of multiphasic screening. JAMA. 72. 222(1):74-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Bates, B., Parker, R. C. Jr, and Reifler, C. B. Clinical evaluation and multiphasic screening. A comparison of yields. Ann Intern Med. 71. 75(6):929-31 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Battista, R. N., Beaulieu, M. D., Feightner, J. W., Mann, K. V., and Owen, G. The periodic health examination: 3. An evolving concept. Can Med Assoc J. 84. 130(10):1288-92 **No original data** Baugh, C. W. Evaluation of the periodic health examination. Can Med Assoc J. 65. 92983-4 **No original** data

Baum E, Donner Banzhoff N Jakle C Keller S Miko M Sarafowa A Basler H D Health education and motivation to change. A study of high-risk patients detected by health check-up.. **Not English language**

Beck, A., Scott, J., Williams, P., Robertson, B., Jackson, D., Gade, G., and Cowan, P. A randomized trial of group outpatient visits for chronically ill older HMO members: the Cooperative Health Care Clinic. J Am Geriatr Soc. 97. 45(5):543-9 Exposure not the PHE

Beck, L. H. Clinical experience. Periodic health examination and screening tests in adults.. **No original data**

Becker, D. M., Gomez, E. B., Kaiser, D. L., Yoshihasi, A., and Hodge, R. H. Jr Improving preventive care at a medical clinic: how can the patient help?. Am J Prev Med. 89. 5(6):353-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Bednarek, H. L. and Schone, B. S. Variation in preventive service use among the insured and uninsured: does length of time without coverage matter?. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2003. 14(3):403-19 **Exposure not the PHE**

Benadum, C. E. Occupational health nurses, a periodic screening examination program, and the computer. Occup Health Nurs. 81. 29(7):28-9 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Benjamins, M. R., Kirby, J. B., and Bond Huie, S. A. County characteristics and racial and ethnic disparities in the use of preventive services. Prev Med. 2004. 39(4):704-12 **Exposure not the PHE**

Berg GD, Thomas E. Silverstein S. Neel C. L. Mireles M. Reducing medical service utilization by encouraging vaccines: Randomized controlled trial. **Exposure not the PHE**

Berg, A. O. Screening for lipid disorders in adults: recommendations and rationale.. Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Berki, S. E. and Ashcraft, M. L. On the analysis of ambulatory utilization: an investigation of the roles of need, access and price as predictors of illness and preventive visits. Med Care. 79. 17(12):1163-81 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only Bernstein, J. M. and Dolan, L. J. Multiphasic screening as part of family doctoring. Practitioner. 69. 203(218):789-805 **No eligible comparison group**

Bertakis, K. D., Robbins, J. A., Callahan, E. J., Helms, L. J., and Azari, R. Physician practice style patterns with established patients: determinants and differences between family practice and general internal medicine residents.

Fam Med. 99. 31(3):187-94 Exposure not the PHE

Bertrand, C. A., Pomper, I., Hillman, G., Duffy, J. C., Michell, I., and Trout, K. W. Electrocardiogram in multiphasic health testing. N Y State J Med. 77. 77(13):2063-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Berwick, D. M. Screening in health fairs. A critical review of benefits, risks, and costs. JAMA. 85. 254(11):1492-8 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Bhuripanyo, K., Leowattana, W., Ruangratanaamporn, et al. Are routine checkups necessary?: The Shinawatra''s employee study. J Med Assoc Thai. 2000. 83 Suppl 2S163-71 No eligible comparison group

Biem H J, Turnell R W D apos Arcy C Computer telephony: automated calls for medical care (Provisional record). **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Biles and Abrams, M. Commentary. Clinical preventive services in managed care plans: case studies and next steps.. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Bindman, A. B., Grumbach, K., Osmond, D., Vranizan, K., and Stewart, A. L. Primary care and receipt of preventive services. J Gen Intern Med. 96. 11(5):269-76 **Exposure not the PHE**

Blair, K. A. Cancer screening of older women : a primary care issue. Cancer Pract. 98. 6(4):217-22 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Bluestein, D. Preventive services: counseling for healthy lifestyles. Geriatrics. 2005. 60(4):34-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Bluestein, D. Preventive services: immunization and chemoprevention. Geriatrics. 2005. 60(3):35-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Bolt, R. J., Mallery, O. T. Jr, and Tupper, C. J. An appraisal of laboratory procedures in periodic health examinations. AMA Arch Ind Health. 56. 13(3):253-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Bolt, R. J., Tupper, C. J., and Mallery, O. T. Jr An

appraisal of periodic health examinations. AMA Arch Ind Health. 55. 12(4):420-6 **No eligible comparison group** Bombardier, C., McClaran, J., and Sackett, D. Periodic health examinations and multiphasic screening. Can Med Assoc J. 73. 109(11):1123-7 **No original data**

Borders, T. F., Warner, R. D., and Sutkin, G. Satisfaction with health care and cancer screening practices among women in a largely rural region of West Texas. Prev Med. 2003. 36(6):652-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Boustani M, Peterson B Harris R Lux L J Krasnov C Sutton S F Hanson L Lohr K N Screening for dementia. **No** original data

Boutwell, J. H. Multiphasic health testing. Trans Stud Coll Physicians Phila. 70. 37(4):291-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Branch, L. G. and Rabiner, D. J. Rediscovering the patient"s role in receiving health promotion services. Med Care. 2000. 38(1):70-7 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Branch, L. G., Rabiner, D. J., Patterson, P., and Sullivan, R. J. Jr Prevention services received by veterans visiting VHA facilities. Prev Med. 98. 27(4):604-10 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Breslow, L. Prevention and control of chronic disease. V. Periodic health examination and multiple screening. Am J Public Health. 59. 491148-56 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Breslow, L. Multiphasic screening in California. J Chronic Dis. 55. 2(4):375-83 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Breslow, L. Multiphasic screening examination, an extension of the mass screening technique. Am J Public Health. 50. 40(3):274-8 **No original data**

Brett, K. M. and Burt, C. W. Utilization of ambulatory medical care by women: United States, 1997-98. Vital Health Stat 13. 2001. (149):1-46 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Brinton, L. A., Williams, R. R., Hoover, R. N., Stegens, N. L., Feinleib, M., and Fraumeni, J. F. Jr Breast cancer risk factors among screening program participants. J Natl Cancer Inst. 79. 62(1):37-44 **Exposure not the PHE**

Bronson, D. L., Flynn, B. S., Solomon, L. J., Vacek, P., and Secker-Walker, R. H. Smoking cessation counseling during periodic health examinations. Arch Intern Med. 89. 149(7):1653-6 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only** Bown, F. R. Multiphasic screening program including a cardiovascular survey in Carter County, Oklahoma. South Med J. 61. 541383-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Brown, P. and Golden, W. E. Second national "report card": Arkansas" clinical performance still needs improvement.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Bruhn, J. G. The complete health checkup: fad, fiction, or fact. South Med J. 79. 72(7):865-8 **No original data**

Buchwald, D., Furman, R., Ashton, S., and Manson, S. Preventive care of older urban American Indians and Alaska natives in primary care. J Gen Intern Med. 2001. 16(4):257-61 **Exposure not the PHE**

Burdick, M. B. Nurses and prevention: the leap into the 21st century.. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Burns, C. Clinical preventive services -- where do PNPs stand?... president"s message.. **No original data**

Burrows, S. Multiphasic screening--panacea or wasted effort?. J Med Soc N J. 72. 69(11):919-23 No original data

Burton, L. C., Weiner, J. P., Stevens, G. D., and Kasper, J. Health outcomes and medicaid costs for frail older individuals: a case study of a MCO versus fee-for-service care. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2002. 50(2):382-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Caldroney, R. D. The periodic health examination. Hosp Pract (Off Ed). 87. 22(7):189, 194, 197 passim **No original** data

Callahan, E. J. and Bertakis, K. D. A comparison of physician-patient interaction at fee-for-service and HMO sites. Fam Pract Res J. 93. 13(2):171-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Campione, K. M. Periodic health evaluations should be more than multiphasic screening. Occup Health Saf. 77. 46(6):32-5 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination The periodic health examination. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Carcillo, J. A., Diegel, J. E., Bartman, B. A., Guyer, F. R., and Kramer, S. H. Improved maternal and child health care access in a rural community. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 95. 6(1):23-40 **Includes only subjects less than 18 years of age** Carel, R. S. Findings in pre-employment examinations. Isr J Med Sci. 92. 28(8-9):666-74 No eligible comparison group

Carel, R. S. and Leshem, G. Evaluation of the costeffectiveness of an automated multiphasic health testing system. Prev Med. 80. 9(5):689-97 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Carel, R. S. and Meyased-Kfir, M. Repeated multiphasic screening examinations: evaluating the process. Methods Inf Med. 93. 32(3):195-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Carel, R. S., Kahan, E., Hart, Y., and Panush, N. Utilization of an automated multiphasic health testing system for performing prehospitalization examinations. Med Care. 82. 20(8):871-5 **Exposure not the PHE**

Carey, T., Weis, K., and Homer, C. Prepaid versus traditional Medicaid plans: effects on preventive health care. J Clin Epidemiol. 90. 43(11):1213-20 **Exposure not the PHE**

Carney, P. A., Dietrich, A. J., Freeman, D. H. Jr, and Mott, L. A. The periodic health examination provided to asymptomatic older women: an assessment using standardized patients. Ann Intern Med. 93. 119(2):129-35 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Carpiano, R. M., Flocke, S. A., Frank, S. H., and Stange, K. C. Tools, teamwork, and tenacity: an examination of family practice office system influences on preventive service delivery. Prev Med. 2003. 36(2):131-40 **Exposure not the PHE**

Carrasquillo, O., Lantigua, R. A., and Shea, S. Preventive services among Medicare beneficiaries with supplemental coverage versus HMO enrollees, medicaid recipients, and elders with no additional coverage. Med Care. 2001. 39(6):616-26 **Exposure not the PHE**

Cassard, S. D., Weisman, C. S., Plichta, S. B., and Johnson, T. L. Physician gender and women's preventive services. J Womens Health. 97. 6(2):199-207 **Does not apply to any** of the key questions

Cassidy, J. M. Periodic health examinations. Occup Health Nurs. 72. 20(6):16-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Celentano, D. D., Shapiro, S., and Weisman, C. S. Cancer preventive screening behavior among elderly women. Prev Med. 82. 11(4):454-63 **Exposure not the PHE** Chaudhry, R., Kottke, T. E., Naessens, J. M., Johnson, T. J., Nyman, M. A., Cornelius, L. A., and Petersen, J. D. Busy physicians and preventive services for adults. Mayo Clin Proc. 2000. 75(2):156-62 **Exposure not the PHE**

Cheney C, Ramsdell JW Effect of medical records" checklists on implementation of periodic health measures.. Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Cheng, E., Myers, L., Wolf, S., Shatin, D., Cui, X. P., Ellison, G., Belin, T., and Vickrey, B. Mobility impairments and use of preventive services in women with multiple sclerosis: observational study. BMJ. 2001. 323(7319):968-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Chirikos T N, Christman L K Hunter S Roetzheim R G Cost-effectiveness of an intervention to increase cancer screening in primary care settings (Provisional record). **Exposure not the PHE**

Chosewood, L. C. Improving patient care. Are your patients getting the preventive services they need?. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Cianci, M. H. Public health nursing in Maryland: our roots.. No original data

Clark, E. M. A non-automated multiphasic health testing program in a student health service. Am J Public Health. 73. 63(7):610-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Clark, T. W., SchorR, S. S., Elsom, K. O., Hubbard, J. P., and Elsom, K. A. The periodic health examination: evaluation of routine tests and procedures. Ann Intern Med. 61. 541209-22 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Cohen SJ, Weinberger M Hui SL Tierney WM McDonald CJ The impact of reading on physicians" nonadherence to recommended standards of medical care.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Cohen, D. I., Littenberg, B., Wetzel, C., and Neuhauser, D. Improving physician compliance with preventive medicine guidelines. Med Care. 82. 20(10):1040-5 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Cohen, R. A., Bloom, B., Simpson, G., and Parsons, P. E. Access to health care. Part 3: Older adults. Vital Health Stat 10. 97. (198):1-32 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Cohn, J. M., Koenig, F., and Baum, N. Preventive healthcare in physicians and attorneys. J La State Med Soc. 98. 150(6):264-70 **Exposure not the PHE** Collen, M. F. Periodic health examinations using an automated multitest laboratory. JAMA. 66. 195(10):830-3 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Collen, M. F. Periodic health evaluations: the multiphasic approach. Internist. 81. 22(4):13-5 No original data

Collen, M. F. Patient data acquisition. Med Instrum. 78. 12(4):222-5 Clinical preventive services delivered only durind an opportunistic visit

Collen, M. F. Periodic health examinations. Why? What? When? How?. Prim Care. 76. 3(2):197-204 No original data

Collen, M. F. Introduction to multiphasic health testing forum. Prev Med. 73. 2(2):175-6 **No original data** Collen, M. F. Automated multiphasic health testing. Implementation of a system. Hospitals. 71. 45(5):49-58 **No original data**

Collen, M. F., Feldman, R., Siegelaub, A. B., and Crawford, D. Dollar cost per positive test for automated multiphasic screening. N Engl J Med. 70. 283(9):459-63 **Exposure not the PHE**

Collen, M. F., Kidd, P. H., Feldman, R., and Cutler, J. L. Cost analysis of a multiphasic screening program. N Engl J Med. 69. 280(19):1043-5 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Collen, M. F., Rubin, L., Neyman, J., Dantzig, G. B., Baer, R. M., and Siegelaub, A. B. Automated multiphasic screening and diagnosis. 1964. MD Comput. 94. 11(3):170-7 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Collen, M. F., Rubin L., Neyman, J., Dantzig, G. B., Baer, R. M., and Siegelaub, A. B. Automated MULTIPHASIC SCREENING AND DIAGNOSIS. Am J Public Health Nations Health. 64. 54741-50 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Collins, S. D. and Phillips, F. R. Dental, eye, and personal preventive services received by an observed population; sample of white families canvassed at monthly intervals Eastern Health District of Baltimore 1938-43. Public Health Monogr. 53. 161-25 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Comninellis, N. B. and Harper, D. M. Does comprehensive preventive medicine training enhance clinical prevention?. Fam Med. 97. 29(2):112-4 **Exposure not the PHE**

Constantine, H. P. Adult health protection through an automated multiphasic screening center. R I Med J. 68.

51(4):258-60 Does not apply to any of the key questions

Cook, W. L. Jr Periodic health examinations. A M A Arch Ind Hyg Occup Med. 53. 7(3):241-8 **No original data**

Cooper, G. S., Goodwin, M. A., and Stange, K. C. The delivery of preventive services for patient symptoms. Am J Prev Med. 2001. 21(3):177-81 **Exposure not the PHE**

Copping, G. A. The business executive, his nervous tensions, and his periodic health examination. J Occup Med. 67. 9(2):59-63 **Exposure not the PHE**

Cornelius, L. J., Smith, P. L., and Simpson, G. M. What factors hinder women of color from obtaining preventive health care?. Am J Public Health. 2002. 92(4):535-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Cowan, J. A. Multiphasic screening tests of state employees explained in detailed report. Mich Med. 69. 68(15):852-3 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Cowan, J. A., Heckerling, P. S., and Parker, J. B. Effect of a fact sheet reminder on performance of the periodic health examination: a randomized controlled trial. Am J Prev Med. 92. 8(2):104-9 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Crabtree, B. F., Miller, W. L., and Stange, K. C. Understanding practice from the ground up. J Fam Pract. 2001. 50(10):881-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Craig, J. L. Automated multiphasic health testing: the TVA experience. Arch Environ Health. 73. 27(4):264-6 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Crumpacker, E. L. and Baker, J. P. Proctosigmoidoscopy in periodic health examinations. JAMA. 61. 1781033-5 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Cummings, D. M., Whetstone, L., Shende, A., and Weismiller, D. Predictors of screening mammography: implications for office practice. Arch Fam Med. 2000. 9(9):870-5 **Exposure not the PHE**

Cummings, S. R., Stein, M. J., Hansen, B., Richard, R. J., Gerbert, B., and Coates, T. J. Smoking counseling and preventive medicine. A survey of internists in private practices and a health maintenance organization. Arch Intern Med. 89. 149(2):345-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Cunnick, W. R., Cromie, J. B., Cortell, R., Wright, B., Beach, E., Seltzer, F., and Miller, S. Value of biochemical profiling in a periodic health examination program: analysis of 1,000 cases. Bull N Y Acad Med. 72. 18(1):5-22 **Does not apply to any of the key questions** Curry SJ, Ludman EJ Grothaus LC Donovan D Kim E A randomized trial of a brief primary-care-based intervention for reducing at-risk drinking practices.. **Exposure not the PHE**

D"Epiro, P., Goldbloom, R., Oboler, S. K., and Sox, H. C. Jr. Periodic health evaluation: what to include in the evaluation.. **No original data**

Dandoy, S. Early and periodic screening, diagnosis and treatment program (EPSDT). Ariz Med. 76. 33(1):39-40 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

DAVID, W. D. The usefulness of periodic health examinations. Arch Environ Health. 61. 2339-42 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Davidson, R. A., Fletcher, S. W., Retchin, S., and Duh, S. A nurse-initiated reminder system for the periodic health examination. Implementation and evaluation. Arch Intern Med. 84. 144(11):2167-70 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Davidson, R. A., Hale, W. E., Moore, M. T., May, F. E., Marks, R. G., and Stewart, R. B. Incidence of hypertension in an ambulatory elderly population. J Am Geriatr Soc. 89. 37(9):861-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

Davies, H. D. and Wang, E. E. Periodic health examination, 1996 update: 2. Screening for chlamydial infections. Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination. CMAJ. 96. 154(11):1631-44 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Day, E. Is the periodic health examination worthwhile?. Cancer. 81. 47(5 Suppl):1210-4 **No original data**

de Nooijer J, Lechner L Candel M de Vries H Short- and long-term effects of tailored information versus general information on determinants and intentions related to early detection of cancer.. **Exposure not the PHE**

de Raad, J. and Redekop, W. K. Analysis of health factors as predictors for the functioning of military personnel: study of the factors that predict fitness for duty and medical costs of soldiers of the Royal Netherlands Army.. **Exposure not the PHE**

DeFriese, G. H. and Hetherington, J. S. The "periodic physical examination" as a strategy for prevention in clinical practice. Mobius. 81. 1(3):59-65 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Delbanco, T. L. The periodic health examination for the

adult. Waste or wisdom?. Prim Care. 76. 3(2):205-14 No original data

Delbanco, T. L. The periodic health examination revisited. Ann Intern Med. 75. 83(2):271-3 **No original data**

Delbanco, T. L. and Taylor, W. C. The periodic health examination: 1980. Ann Intern Med. 80. 92(2 Pt 1):251-2 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Delnevo, C. D., Steinberg, M. B., Abatemarco, D. J., and Hausman, A. J. Correlates of clinical preventive practices among internal medicine residents. Prev Med. 2003. 36(6):645-51 **Exposure not the PHE**

DeVoe, J. E., Fryer, G. E., Phillips, R., and Green, L. Receipt of preventive care among adults: insurance status and usual source of care. Am J Public Health. 2003. 93(5):786-91 **Exposure not the PHE**

Diab, M. E. and Johnston, M. V. Relationships between level of disability and receipt of preventive health services. Arch Phys Med Rehabil. 2004. 85(5):749-57 **No eligible comparison group**

Diamant, A. L., Brook, R. H., Fink, A., and Gelberg, L. Use of preventive services in a population of very lowincome women. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2002. 13(2):151-63 **Exposure not the PHE**

Dickey, L. L. and Petitti, D. A patient-held minirecord to promote adult preventive care. J Fam Pract. 92. 34(4):457-63 **Exposure not the PHE**

Dietrich AJ, Duhamel M Improving geriatric preventive care through a patient-held checklist.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Dietrich AJ, Woodruff CB Carney PA Changing office routines to enhance preventive care. The preventive GAPS approach.. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Dietrich, A. J. and Duhamel, M. Improving geriatric preventive care through a patient-held checklist. Fam Med. 89. 21(3):195-8 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Dietrich, A. J. and Goldberg, H. Preventive content of adult primary care: do generalists and subspecialists differ?. Am J Public Health. 84. 74(3):223-7 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Dietrich, A. J., O"Connor, G. T., Keller, A., Carney, P. A., Levy, D., and Whaley, F. S. Cancer: improving early detection and prevention. A community practice randomised trial. BMJ. 92. 304(6828):687-91 **Exposure not the PHE** Dietrich, A. J., Tobin, J. N., Sox, C. H. et al. Cancer earlydetection services in community health centers for the underserved. A randomized controlled trial. Arch Fam Med. 98. 7(4):320-7; discussion 328 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Doescher, M. P., Saver, B. G., Fiscella, K., and Franks, P. Preventive care. J Gen Intern Med. 2004. 19(6):632-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Drake, B. Predictors of preventive services provision among unsubstantiated cases.. **Includes only subjects less than 18 years of age**

Druss BG, Rohrbaugh RM Levinson CM Rosenheck RA Integrated medical care for patients with serious psychiatric illness: a randomized trial.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Druss, B. G., Rosenheck, R. A., Desai, M. M., and Perlin, J. B. Quality of preventive medical care for patients with mental disorders. Med Care. 2002. 40(2):129-36 **Exposure not the PHE**

Duffy, J. C. Multiphasic screening: a dynamic development in medicine. Arch Environ Health. 73. 27(4):267-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Duncan, D. F. The Peckham experiment: a pioneering exploration of wellness. Health Values. 85. 9(5):40-3 **No original data**

Dunn, J. P. and Hawkes, R. Comparison of respondents and nonrespondents in a periodic health examination program to a mailed questionnaire. Am J Public Health Nations Health. 66. 56(2):230-6 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Durand Zaleski I, Zaleski S DEALE-ing and discounting: a simple way to compute the accrued cost of preventive strategies. **Exposure not the PHE**

Dykstra, A. J. Early periodic screening, diagnosis, and treatment. Mich Nurse. 74. 47(1):13-5 **Includes only subjects less than 18 years of age**

Earle, C. C., Burstein, H. J., Winer, E. P., and Weeks, J. C. Quality of non-breast cancer health maintenance among elderly breast cancer survivors. J Clin Oncol. 2003. 21(8):1447-51 **Exposure not the PHE**

Eaton, C. B., Monroe, A., McQuade, W., and Eimer, M. J. Cholesterol testing and management: a national comparison of family physicians, general internists, and cardiologists. J Am Board Fam Pract. 98. 11(3):180-6 **Article focuses on**

specific preventive measures only

Eccles M, Hawthorne G Whitty P Steen N Vanoli A Grimshaw J Wood L A randomised controlled trial of a patient based Diabetes Recall and Management System: the DREAM trial: a study protocol ISRCTN32042030.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Edwards, J. B. Partnerships for primary care in a changing health care system: a Tennessee nursing model.. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Edwards, K. S. Medicine and politics. The annual checkup. Ohio State Med J. 83. 79(1):23-67 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Egwu, I. N. Update: Primary care is not the same as primary health care, or is it?. Fam Community Health. 84. 7(3):83-8 **No original data**

Elinson, J., Henshaw, S. K., and Cohen, S. D. Response by a low income population to a multiphasic screening program: a sociological analysis. Prev Med. 76. 5(3):414-24 **Exposure not the PHE**

Ellenbecker, C. H., Wagner, L., and Cloutterbuck, J. Using insurance claims data and medical record reviews to assess the quality of medical care. J Healthc Qual. 97. 19(3):21-5, 28-31 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Ellsbury, K. E., Montano, D. E., and Parker, J. J. Jr Preventive services in a hybrid capitation and fee-forservice setting. J Fam Pract. 89. 28(5):540-3; discussion 543-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Elsom, K. A., Schor, S., Clark, T.W., Elsom, K.O., and Hubbard, J. P. Periodic health examination. Nature and distribution of newly discovered disease in executives. JAMA. 60. 1725-10 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Elsom, K. A., SoontT, S., and Potter R, H. P. An appraisal of the periodic health examination. Ind Med Surg. 56. 25(8):367-71 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Engberg M, Christensen B Karlsmose B Lous J Lauritzen T General health screenings to improve cardiovascular risk profiles: a randomized controlled trial in general practice with 5-year follow-up.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Erickson, K., Bradway, C., Beggs, C. M., Long, D. S., and Alford, D. M. Your turn. How do you carry out the Healthy People 2000 and the United States Preventive Services Task Force recommendations on immunizations, use of hormone replacement therapy, and prevention of incontinence in your older clients? Identify client information handouts you provide.. Does not apply to any of the key questions

Etter JF, Perneger TV Post-intervention effect of a computer tailored smoking cessation programme.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Evans, P. E. Accessing intravenous drug users via the health care system.. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Faust, H. S. Strategies for obtaining preventive services reimbursement. Am J Prev Med. 90. 6(4 Suppl):1-5 No original data

Feldman, R. and Taller, S. L. Multiphasic screening. JAMA. 73. 223(5):559-60 **Exposure not the PHE**

Felix-Aaron, K., Moy, E., Kang, M., Patel, M., Chesley, F. D., and Clancy, C. Variation in quality of men's health care by race/ethnicity and social class. Med Care. 2005. 43(3 Suppl):I72-81 **Exposure not the PHE**

Fielding, J. E., Knight, K. K., Goetzel, R. Z., and Laouri, M. Utilization of preventive health services by an employed population. J Occup Med. 91. 33(9):985-90 **Exposure not the PHE**

Fink, R., Shapiro, S., and Rosenberg, C. Social research problems in studies involving multiphasic health testing. Health Serv Res. 72. 7(4):314-21 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Finkelstein EA, Troped PJ Will JC Palombo R Costeffectiveness of a cardiovascular disease risk reduction program aimed at financially vulnerable women: the Massachusetts WISEWOMAN project.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Fiscella, K., Goodwin, M. A., and Stange, K. C. Does patient educational level affect office visits to family physicians?. J Natl Med Assoc. 2002. 94(3):157-65 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Flach, S. D., McCoy, K. D., Vaughn, T. E., Ward, M. M., Bootsmiller, B. J., and Doebbeling, B. N. Does patientcentered care improve provision of preventive services?. J Gen Intern Med. 2004. 19(10):1019-26 **Exposure not the PHE**

Flagle, D. Automated multiphasic health testing and services. Total systems analysis and design. Methods Inf Med. 71. 10(4):201-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

Fletcher, R. Review: hemoccult screening reduces death from colorectal cancer in average-risk patients greater than 50 years of age.. **Does not apply to any of the key**

questions

Fletcher, S. W. The periodic health examination and internal medicine: 1984. Ann Intern Med. 84. 101(6):866-8 **No original data**

Fletcher, S. W. and Dauphinee, W. D. Should colorectal carcinoma be sought in periodic health examinations?--an approach to the evidence. Clin Invest Med. 81. 4(1):23-31 **No original data**

Fletcher, S. W., Siscovick, D. S., and Inui, T. S. Research on the periodic health examination: opportunities for the general internist. J Gen Intern Med. 86. 1(4 Suppl):S45-9 **No original data**

Flocke, S. A. and Gilchrist, V. Physician and Patient Gender Concordance and the Delivery of Comprehensive Clinical Preventive Services. Med Care. 2005. 43(5):486-492 **Exposure not the PHE**

Flocke, S. A., Stange, K. C., and Zyzanski, S. J. The association of attributes of primary care with the delivery of clinical preventive services. Med Care. 98. 36(8 Suppl):AS21-30 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Flynn, E. D. Barriers to utilization of multiphasic screening. The nurse's role. Occup Health Nurs. 69. 17(7):19-21 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Flynn, E. D. Barriers to utilization of multiphasic screening: the nurse's role. J Occup Med. 69. 11(7):361-3 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Fontana, S. A., Baumann, L. C., Helberg, C., and Love, R. R. The delivery of preventive services in primary care practices according to chronic disease status. Am J Public Health. 97. 87(7):1190-6 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Fox, P. J., Breuer, W., and Wright, J. A. Effects of a health promotion program on sustaining health behaviors in older adults. Am J Prev Med. 97. 13(4):257-64 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Frame, P. S. Health maintenance in clinical practice: strategies and barriers. Am Fam Physician. 92. 45(3):1192-200 **No original data**

Frame, P. S. Can computerized reminder systems have an impact on preventive services in practice?. J Gen Intern Med. 90. 5(5 Suppl):S112-5 **Exposure not the PHE**

FRANCO, S. C. Multiphasic screening; occupational diseases; section on Industrial Medicine and Surgery, Medical Society of the State of New York. Ind Med Surg. 52. 21(9):447-8 No original data

FRANCO, S. C. Meeting the shortcomings of the periodic physical examination. Ind Med Surg. 51. 20(3):113-4 No original data

FRANCO, S. C. Periodic health examination of executives. Ind Med Surg. 50. 19(5):213-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

FRANCO, S. C. and GERL, A. J. The periodic health examination: a five-year survey. Ind Med Surg. 55. 24(4):161-7 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

FRANCO, S. C., GERL, A. J., and MURPHY, G. T. Periodic health examinations: a long term study, 1949-1959. J Occup Med. 61. 313-20 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Frank O, Litt J Beilby J Opportunistic electronic reminders. Improving performance of preventive care in general practice.. Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Franklin, R. R. and Banta, J. E. Systems analysis: motivational aspects of multiphasic screening. Clin Eng. 80. 8(3):30-3 **Exposure not the PHE**

Fretts, R. C., Rodman, G., Gomez-Carrion, Y., Goldberg, R., Sachs, B. P., Myers, E., and Kessel, B. Preventive health services received by minority women aged 45-64 and the goals of Healthy People 2000.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Friedman, C., Ahmed, F., Franks, A., Weatherup, T., Manning, M., Vance, A., and Thompson, B. L. Association between health insurance coverage of office visit and cancer screening among women. Med Care. 2002. 40(11):1060-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Friedman, C., Brownson, R. C., Peterson, D. E., and Wilkerson, J. C. Physician advice to reduce chronic disease risk factors. Am J Prev Med. 94. 10(6):367-71 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Friedman, G. D., Seltzer, C. C., Siegelaub, A. B., Feldman, R., and Collen, M. F. Smoking among white, black, and yellow men and women. Kaiser-Permanente multiphasic health examination data, 1964-1968. Am J Epidemiol. 72. 96(1):23-35 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Froelicher ES, Sohn M Max W Bacchetti P Women''s Initiative for Nonsmoking-VII: evaluation of health service utilization and costs among women smokers with cardiovascular disease.. **Exposure not the PHE** Galen, R. S. Multiphasic screening and biochemical profiles: state of the art, 1975. Prog Clin Pathol. 75. 683-110 **No original data**

Gambino, S. R. Multiphasic screening. J Med Soc N J. 69. 66(3):122-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Ganesan, K., Teklehaimanot, S., Akhtar, A. J., Wijegunaratne, J., Thadepalli, K., and Ganesan, N. Racial differences in preventive practices of African-American and Hispanic women. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2003. 51(4):515-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Gardner, H. L. The gynecologist and the periodic checkup. Presidential address. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 66. 95(1):1-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Garfield, S. R. Multiphasic health testing and medical care as a right. N Engl J Med. 70. 283(20):1087-9 No original data

Garr, D. R., Ornstein, S. M., Jenkins, R. G., and Zemp, L.
D. The effect of routine use of computer-generated preventive reminders in a clinical practice. Am J Prev Med.
93. 9(1):55-61 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Gary, A. Health promotion for special populations.. **No** original data Gelman, A. C. Automated multiphasic health testing.

Public Health Rep. 70. 85(4):361-73 Does not apply to any of the key questions

Gemson, D. H. and Sloan, R. P. Efficacy of computerized health risk appraisal as part of a periodic health examination at the worksite. Am J Health Promot. 95. 9(6):462-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

Gemson, D. H., Ashford, A. R., Dickey, L. L., Raymore, S. H., Roberts, J. W., Ehrlich, M. H., Foster, B. G., Ganz, M. L., Moon-Howard, J., Field, L. S., and et, a. l. Putting prevention into practice. Impact of a multifaceted physician education program on preventive services in the inner city. Arch Intern Med. 95. 155(20):2210-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

GETTING, V. A. and LOMBARD, H. L. Multiphasic screening: what is it; what are the advantages?. Trans Annu Meet Natl Tuberc Assoc. 52. 48678-90 **No original data**

Gilbert, F. I. Jr The Hawaii carrel--a modular approach to multiphasic screening. 1970. Hawaii Med J. 95. 54(6):624-5 No original data

Gilbert, F. I. Jr Multiphasic screening cut down to size. 1968. Hawaii Med J. 95. 54(6):623-4 No original data

Gilbert, F. I. Jr and Nordyke, R. A. Automated multiphasic health testing in multispecialty group practice. A laboratory for preventive medicine and health services research. Prev Med. 73. 2(2):261-5 **No original data**

Gill, J. M. and McClellan, S. A. Improving preventive care for women: impact of a performance improvement program in a family practice office. Del Med J. 98. 70(1):11-6 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Gilliland, F. D., Mahler, R., Hunt, W. C., and Davis, S. M. Preventive health care among rural American Indians in New Mexico. Prev Med. 99. 28(2):194-202 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Gitman, L. Automated multiphasic health testing. The sociological implications. Hospitals. 71. 45(5):63-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Gjesdal, K. and Stromme, J. H. Multiphasic screening programme for somatic diseases among elderly long-term psychiatric patients. Br J Psychiatry. 74. 124(0):564-72 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Glenn, J. The impact on interim payment system on New Mexico's home health care providers.. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Goebel LJ A peer review feedback method of promoting compliance with preventive care guidelines in a resident ambulatory care clinic.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Goetzel R Z The financial impact of health promotion and disease prevention programs--why is it so hard to prove value?. **Exposure not the PHE**

Goins, K. V., Zapka, J. G., Geiger, A. M., Solberg, L. I., Taplin, S., Yood, M. U., Gilbert, J., Mouchawar, J., Somkin, C. P., and Weinmann, S. Implementation of systems strategies for breast and cervical cancer screening services in health maintenance organizations. Am J Manag Care. 2003. 9(11):745-55 **Exposure not the PHE**

Goldbloom, R. and Battista, R. N. The periodic health examination: 1. Introduction. CMAJ. 88. 138(7):617-8 No original data

Goldbloom, R. B. Getting the most out of the periodic "checkup"--the view from Canada. Pediatrics. 80. 66(5):802-3 **Includes only subjects less than 18 years of age**

Goodwin, M. A., Zyzanski, S. J., Zronek, S., Ruhe, M., Weyer, S. M., Konrad, N., Esola, D., and Stange, K. C. A clinical trial of tailored office systems for preventive service delivery. The Study to Enhance Prevention by Understanding Practice (STEP-UP). Am J Prev Med. 2001. 21(1):20-8 **Exposure not the PHE** Gordon, R. E. Psychiatric screening through multiphasic health testing. Am J Psychiatry. 71. 128(5):559-63 **Exposure not the PHE**

Gotler, R. S., Williams, R. L., Flocke, S. A., Kikano, G. E., and Stange, K. C. Improving patient care. Race and preventive services delivery.. **No original data**

Gottlieb, N. H., Huang, P. P., Blozis, S. A., Guo, J. L., and Murphy Smith, M. The impact of Put Prevention into Practice on selected clinical preventive services in five Texas sites. Am J Prev Med. 2001. 21(1):35-40 **Exposure not the PHE**

Graman, H. B. and Tufo, H. M. Periodic health examinations: a systematic assessment of cost and yield. J Ambul Care Manage. 84. 7(1):61-71 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Griffith, H. M. The cost of clinical preventive services.. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Gross, C. P., Mead, L. A., Ford, D. E., and Klag, M. J. Physician, heal Thyself? Regular source of care and use of preventive health services among physicians. Arch Intern Med. 2000. 160(21):3209-14 **Exposure not the PHE**

Gupta S, Roos LL Walld R Traverse D Dahl M Delivering equitable care: comparing preventive services in Manitoba. **Exposure not the PHE**

Hagdrup, N. A., Simoes, E. J., and Brownson, R. C. Health care coverage: traditional and preventive measures and associations with chronic disease risk factors. J Community Health. 97. 22(5):387-99 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Hahn, D. L. Systematic cholesterol screening during acute care visits. J Am Board Fam Pract. 93. 6(6):529-36 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Halberstam, M. J. The silent debits of multiphasic screening. N Engl J Med. 70. 283(20):1114 No original data

Hamm, R. and Kitts, J. An approach to preventive periodic health examinations. Ala Med. 84. 54(2):16-9 **No original** data

Hampton, T. R. Multiphasic screening: report on Naval Study 1975-1979. J R Nav Med Serv. 80. 66(1):15-22 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Harris R, Lohr K N Beck R Fink K Godley P Bunton A J Screening for prostate cancer. **No original data**

Harris, J. S., Collins, B., and Majure, I. L. The prevalence of health risks in an employed population. J Occup Med.

86. 28(3):217-25 No eligible comparison group

Hartmann K E, Hall S A Nanda K Boggess J F Zolnoun D Screening for cervical cancer. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Harvey P Preventive social health programs: are they Australia"s answer to rising health care costs in rural communities?. **No original data**

HARVEY, J. C., REED, J. W., and THAMER, M. A. Development of a multiphasic screening examination for medical care patients-I. Historical review and description of the examination. J Chronic Dis. 62. 15827-33 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Harwell, T. S., McDowall, J. M., Gohdes, D., and Helgerson, S. D. Measuring and improving preventive care for patients with diabetes in primary health centers. Am J Med Qual. 2002. 17(5):179-84 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hawryluk, O. and Hagey, A. Multiphasic screening in a military community. Mil Med. 80. 145(8):539-41 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Hay, W. I., Browne, G., Roberts, J., and Jamieson, E. Prospective care of elderly patients in family practice. Part 3: Prevalence of unrecognized treatable health concerns. Can Fam Physician. 95. 411695-704, 1707-10 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hecker, R. Medical practice and multiphasic screening. Med J Aust. 75. 2(10):398-401 No original data

Heiser, N. A. and St. Peter, R. F. Quality management/improvement programs. Improving the delivery of clinical preventive services to women in managed care organizations: a case study analysis.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Helfand M, Mahon S Eden K Screening for skin cancer (Structured abstract). **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Heller, R. F., Chinn, S., Pedoe, H. D., and Rose, G. How well can we predict coronary heart disease? Findings in the United Kingdom Heart Disease Prevention Project. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). 84. 288(6428):1409-11 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Hemming, S. Alternative: providing preventive services for native people of Canada. Can Dent Hyg. 81. 15(3):69-70 **Exposure not the PHE**

Henderson, J. T. and Weisman, C. S. Physician gender effects on preventive screening and counseling: an analysis of male and female patients" health care experiences. Med Care. 2001. 39(12):1281-92 Exposure not the PHE

Henderson, J. T., Weisman, C. S., and Grason, H. Are two doctors better than one? Women's physician use and appropriate care. Womens Health Issues. 2002. 12(3):138-49 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hendriksen C, Lund E Strømgård E Consequences of assessment and intervention among elderly people: a three year randomised controlled trial.. **Exposure not the PHE**

HERBOLSHEIMER, H., DEYOUNG, W., BRASWELL, H., and GILLOEGLY, O. Periodic health examination of university students. Results of reevaluation. Arch Environ Health. 63. 6573-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Hershey, C. O. and Karuza, J. Assessment of preventive health care: design considerations.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Hershey, C. O., Karuza, J., and Szumigala, J. Assessment of delivery of preventive health services. Am J Med Qual. 96. 11(2):81-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hiatt, R. A. and Fireman, B. H. Smoking, menopause, and breast cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst. 86. 76(5):833-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hiatt, R. A. and Fireman, B. H. Serum cholesterol and the incidence of cancer in a large cohort. J Chronic Dis. 86. 39(11):861-70 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Hinohara, S., Takahashi, T., Suzuki, S., Matsuyama, M., Kawamura, N., Shinozuka, T., Hata, J., Tanabe, T., Tamachi, H., and Goto, Y. Diseases and cancer rate of AMHTS examines in the Tokai University Hospital. Tokai J Exp Clin Med. 81. 6(3):267-74 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hinohara, S., Takahashi, T., Uemura, H., Noto, T., Shinozuka, T., Kinoshita, H., Matsuyama, M., Suzuki, S., Osamura, Y., and Oogushi, Y. Checkup interval and cancers in automated multiphasic health testing and services. Methods Inf Med. 93. 32(3):192-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Hinohara, S., Takahashi, T., Uemura, H., Robinson, D., and Stehle, G. The use of computerized risk assessment for personal instruction in the primary prevention of ischaemic heart disease in a Japanese Automated Multiphasic Health Testing and Services Center. Med Inform (Lond). 90. 15(1):1-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hoffman, K., Remington, P., and Schell, W. Preventive service delivery by primary care physicians, Wisconsin, 1995. Wis Med J. 96. 95(10):717-9 **Exposure not the PHE** Hogg, W. E., Bass, M., Calonge, N., Crouch, H., and Satenstein, G. Randomized controlled study of customized preventive medicine reminder letters in a community practice. Can Fam Physician. 98. 4481-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Holbrook, A. Rule-based computerized reminders increased ordering of preventive services in an inpatient setting. ACP J Club. 2002. 136(2):74 **Meeting abstract**

Holland, B., Holland, P. M., and Hsieh, R. K. Automated multiphasic health testing. Diagnostic and testing results obtained at the Health Evaluation Center. Public Health Service Hospital, Baltimore. Public Health Rep. 75. 90(2):133-9 No eligible comparison group

Holmboe, E. S., Van Hoof, T. J., Barr, J. K., Cohen, K. L., Reisine, S., Natale, K. M., Petrillo, M. K., and Meehan, T. P. A collaborative project to increase the use of preventive services by older adults enrolled in a risk-based Medicare managed care plan.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Holmes, E. M., Pipes, J. E., and Bowden, P. W. An analysis of the Richmond, Virginia, multiphasic health examination program. Trans Stud Coll Physicians Phila. 52. 20(1):17-22 **Meeting abstract**

Holmes, J. S., Arispe, I. E., and Moy, E. Heart disease and prevention: race and age differences in heart disease prevention, treatment, and mortality. Med Care. 2005. 43(3 Suppl):I33-41 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hopkins, R. S. Insurance coverage and usage of preventive health services. J Fla Med Assoc. 93. 80(8):529-32 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Hopkins, S. C., Lenz, E. R., Pontes, N. M., Lin, S. X., and Mundinger, M. O. Context of care or provider training: the impact on preventive screening practices. Prev Med. 2005. 40(6):718-24 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hornsby, P. P., Reeve, R. H., Gwaltney, J. M. Jr, Parsons, B. D., and Morse, R. M. The University of Virginia health promotion and disease prevention program. Am J Prev Med. 97. 13(1):36-44 No eligible comparison group

Hourihan, F., Krass, I., and Chen, T. Rural community pharmacy: a feasible site for a health promotion and screening service for cardiovascular risk factors. Aust J Rural Health. 2003. 11(1):28-35 **Exposure not the PHE**

Howe, H. F. Organization and operation of an occupational health program (revised edition)--Part III. XIII. Special programs in occupational medicine. Automated multiphasic health testing (AMHT) of employees. J Occup Med. 75.

17(8):528-40 No original data

Howe, H. F. Application of automated multiphasic health testing in clinical medicine. The current state of the art. JAMA. 72. 219(7):885-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hsu, H. Y. and Gallinagh, R. The relationships between health beliefs and utilization of free health examinations in older people living in a community setting in Taiwan. J Adv Nurs. 2001. 35(6):864-73 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Hueston, W. J. and Hubbard, E. T. Preventive services for rural and urban African American adults. Arch Fam Med. 2000. 9(3):263-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

Hunter, J. B., de Zapien, J. G., Denman, C. A., Moncada, E., Papenfuss, M., Wallace, D., and Giuliano, A. R. Healthcare access and utilization among women 40 and older at the U.S.-Mexico border: predictors of a routine check-up. J Community Health. 2003. 28(5):317-33 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Huntley, R. R. Role of automated multiphasic screening in future patterns of health care. Bull N Y Acad Med. 69. 45(12):1383-7 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

HUNTLEY, R. R. Periodic health examinations in clinical practice. J Med Assoc State Ala. 63. 3320-5 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Hutchison, B., Woodward, C. A., Norman, G. R., Abelson, J., and Brown, J. A. Provision of preventive care to unannounced standardized patients. CMAJ. 98. 158(2):185-93 **Exposure not the PHE**

HUTCHISON, G. B. Evaluation of preventive services. J Chronic Dis. 60. 11497-508 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Iezzoni, L. I., McCarthy, E. P., Davis, R. B., Harris-David, L., and O''Day, B. Use of screening and preventive services among women with disabilities. Am J Med Qual. 2001. 16(4):135-44 **Exposure not the PHE**

Ingalls, T. H. and Gordon, J. E. Periodic health examination 1900, 1965. Am J Med Sci. 66. 251(3):333-50 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Iniguez, E. and Palinkas, L. A. Varieties of health services utilization by underserved Mexican American women. J Health Care Poor Underserved. 2003. 14(1):52-69 **Exposure not the PHE**

Inoue, M., Maeda, M., Ikeda, M., and Hayashida, Y. Blood pressure variability at annual periodic health examination for employees and cardiovascular risk factors. Occup Med

(Lond). 96. 46(3):228-30 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Ipsen, J., Clark, T. W., Elsom, K. O., and Roberts, N. J. Diabetes and heart disease: periodic health examination programs. Am J Public Health Nations Health. 69. 59(9):1595-612 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Jackson, P. L. Primary care approaches. A systems approach to delivering clinical preventive services.. **Includes only subjects less than 18 years of age**

Jacobs, E. A., Lauderdale, D. S., Meltzer, D., Shorey, J. M., Levinson, W., and Thisted, R. A. Impact of interpreter services on delivery of health care to limited-English-proficient patients. J Gen Intern Med. 2001. 16(7):468-74 **Exposure not the PHE**

Jamison, H. C. and McMillan, R. S. An index of malocclusion for use in multiphasic screening and epidemiological investigations. Ala J Med Sci. 66. 3(2):154-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Janes, G. R., Blackman, D. K., Bolen, J. C., Kamimoto, L. A., Rhodes, L., Caplan, L. S., Nadel, M. R., Tomar, S. L., Lando, J. F., Greby, S. M., Singleton, J. A., Strikas, R. A., and Wooten, K. G. Surveillance for use of preventive health-care services by older adults, 1995-1997. MMWR CDC Surveill Summ. 99. 48(8):51-88 Does not apply to any of the key questions

Jelley, D. and Madeley, R. J. Preventive health care for mothers and children. A study in Mozambique. J Trop Med Hyg. 83. 86(6):229-36 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Jenkins, C. N., Le, T., McPhee, S. J., Stewart, S., and Ha, N. T. Health care access and preventive care among Vietnamese immigrants: do traditional beliefs and practices pose barriers?. Soc Sci Med. 96. 43(7):1049-56 **Exposure not the PHE**

Jenkins, R. G. and Ornstein, S. M. Preventive services in the primary care practices of the Practice Partner Research Network. Top Health Inf Manage. 2000. 20(3):80-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Jha P, Bangoura O Ranson K The cost-effectiveness of forty health interventions in Guinea. **Exposure not the PHE**

Johns MB, Hovell MF Drastal CA Lamke C Patrick K Promoting prevention services in primary care: a controlled trial.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Johns, D. B. Multiphasic screening. Trans Natl Saf Congr.

71. 1818-9 Does not apply to any of the key questions

Johns, D. B. Multiphasic screening. Trans Natl Saf Congr. 70. 1818-9 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

JOHNSTON, J. H. Values of periodic health examinations. Occup Health (Auckl). 53. 13(4):53-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Johnston, M. V., Diab, M. E., Chu, B. C., and Kirshblum, S. Preventive services and health behaviors among people with spinal cord injury. J Spinal Cord Med. 2005. 28(1):43-54 **Exposure not the PHE**

JONES, W. T. Doubts on the periodic health examination. Trans Assoc Ind Med Off. 61. 1137-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Kane R L, Johnson P E Town R J Butler M Economic incentives for preventive care. **No original data** Kaplan, N. M. Hypertension: prevalence, risks, and effect of therapy. Ann Intern Med. 83. 98(5 Pt 2):705-9 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Kashima, S. Evaluating the effect of a preventive exam reminder letter sent to employees at an oil company.. **No eligible comparison group**

Katz, R. Preventive services as insured employee benefits. J Occup Med. 78. 20(4):273-4 **Exposure not the PHE**

Keller, G. C. Cancer detection in the periodic physical examination. Cancer. 83. 51(12 Suppl):2446-7 No original data

Kelley, C. R. The utilization of multiphasic screening in an ambulatory medical system. Bull N Y Acad Med. 73. 49(5):406-14 **Exposure not the PHE**

Kikano, G. E., Goodwin, M. A., and Stange, K. C. Physician employment status and practice patterns. J Fam Pract. 98. 46(6):499-505 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Kim, C. S., Kristopaitis, R. J., Stone, E., Pelter, M., Sandhu, M., and Weingarten, S. R. Physician education and report cards: do they make the grade? results from a randomized controlled trial. Am J Med. 99. 107(6):556-60 **Exposure not the PHE**

King, W. H., Owens, L. F., and Fadusko, J. A. Coronary risk factors in flying personnel: a progress report. Aviat Space Environ Med. 77. 48(2):162-3 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Kinne, S., Thompson, B., Chrisman, N. J., and Hanley, J. R. Community organization to enhance the delivery of preventive health services. Am J Prev Med. 89. 5(4):225-9 No original data

Kirby, J. B. and Kaneda, T. Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and access to health care. J Health Soc Behav. 2005. 46(1):15-31 **Exposure not the PHE**

Klatsky, A. L., Friedman, G. D., Siegelaub, A. B., and Gerard, M. J. Alcohol consumption and blood pressure Kaiser-Permanente Multiphasic Health Examination data. N Engl J Med. 77. 296(21):1194-200 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Klatsky, A. L., Friedman, G. D., Siegelaub, A. B., and Gerard, M. J. Alcohol consumption among white, black, or oriental men and women: Kaiser-Permanente multiphasic health examination data. Am J Epidemiol. 77. 105(4):311-23 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Kleiman, M. B. Importance of a regular source of medical care among the elderly. J Am Geriatr Soc. 79. 27(12):555-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Knox, E. G. Multiphasic screening. Lancet. 74. 2(7894):1434-6 No original data

Koch, M. W. Taking care of ourselves: healthy communities.. No original data

Koepsell, T., Reiber, G., and Simmons, K. W. Behavioral risk factors and use of preventive services among veterans in Washington State. Prev Med. 2002. 35(6):557-62 **Does not apply to any of the key question**

Kondo, H., Hashida, M., and Momotani, H. Serum gammaglutamyl transpeptidase as a diagnostic aid in the periodic health examination. Sangyo Igaku. 76. 18(2):95-101 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Koroukian, S. M., Litaker, D., Dor, A., and Cooper, G. S. Use of Preventive Services by Medicare Fee-For-Service Beneficiaries: Does Spillover From Managed Care Matter?. Med Care. 2005. 43(5):445-452 **Exposure not the PHE**

Kottke, T. E. Clinical preventive services: how should we define the indications?. Mayo Clin Proc. 90. 65(6):899-902 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Kremers, H. M., Bidaut-Russell, M., Scott, C. G., Reinalda, M. S., Zinsmeister, A. R., and Gabriel, S. E. Preventive medical services among patients with rheumatoid arthritis. J Rheumatol. 2003. 30(9):1940-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Kristofic, J. D. Impact of multiphasic health testing on the future of traditional medical practice. Pa Med. 74. 77(3):51-5 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Krumholz H M, Weintraub W S Bradford W D Heidenreich P A Mark D B Paltiel AD Task force #2 - The cost of prevention: Can we afford it? Can we afford not to do it?. **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

KUH, C. Lifelong adjustment of man and job; the possible role of multiphasic screening. Perm Found Med Bull. 52. 10(1-4):301-5 **No original data**

LaDou, J. Multiphasic health testing in the clinic setting. Calif Med. 71. 115(1):34-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

LaDou, J., Sherwood, J. N., and Hughes, L. Multiphasic health testing. Benefit-cost analysis of high-volume and low-volume testing programs. J Occup Med. 75. 17(8):495-501 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Lafata, J. E., Martin, S., Morlock, R., Divine, G., and Xi, H. Provider type and the receipt of general and diabetesrelated preventive health services among patients with diabetes. Med Care. 2001. 39(5):491-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

LAMAR, C. P. Search for cancer as a routine part of periodic physical examinations. Med Times. 60. 88285-9 **No original data**

Landon, B. E., Zaslavsky, A. M., Bernard, S. L., Cioffi, M. J., and Cleary, P. D. Comparison of performance of traditional Medicare vs Medicare managed care. JAMA. 2004. 291(14):1744-52 **Exposure not the PHE**

Lashof, J. C. MEDICHEK--the Illinois program of early periodic screening, diagnosis and treatment--what is it?. IMJ Ill Med J. 74. 145(3):268-9 passim **Exposure not the PHE**

Lave JR, Ives DG Traven ND Kuller LH Evaluation of a health promotion demonstration program for the rural elderly.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Lave, J. R., Ives, D. G., Traven, N. D., and Kuller, L. H. Participation in health promotion programs by the rural elderly. Am J Prev Med. 95. 11(1):46-53 **Exposure not the PHE**

Law, M. Health promotion and preventive services in primary care. Am J Prev Med. 88. 4(4 Suppl):3-5 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Lawthers, A. G., Rozanski, B. S., Nizankowski, R., and Rys, A. Using patient surveys to measure the quality of outpatient care in Krakow, Poland. Int J Qual Health Care. 99. 11(6):497-506 **Exposure not the PHE**

Leatt, P. and Frank, J. Organizational issues related to integrating preventive services into primary care. Am J Prev Med. 88. 4(4 Suppl):127-37; discussion 138-40 **No** original data

Leers, W. D., Kouroupis, G. M., and Dong, A. Feasibility of routine testing for hepatitis B surface antigen in hospital employees and restriction of carriers. Can Med Assoc J. 76. 115(10):995-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Lefkowitz, A., Snow, D. A., and Cadigan, D. A. Preventive care in a Veterans Administration continuity clinic. J Community Health. 90. 15(1):7-18 **Exposure not the PHE**

Lehman, D. J. Jr Multiphasic health testing. JAMA. 77. 237(20):2193-4 No original data

Lemelin J, Hogg W Baskerville N Evidence to action: a tailored multifaceted approach to changing family physician practice patterns and improving preventive care. [see comment]. **Exposure not the PHE**

Lemon, S. C., Zapka, J. G., and Puleo, E. Comprehensive cancer screening in a primary care population: Gender differences in the impact of ambulatory care system factors. J Ambul Care Manage. 2005. 28(1):86-97 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

LENSON, N. Analysis of a series of periodic physical examinations. N Engl J Med. 53. 248(22):943 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

LEVIN, M. L. and BRIGHTMAN, I. J. The place of multiphasic screening in the chronic disease program. N Y State J Med. 52. 52(21):2600-4 **No original data**

Levine, R. S., Husaini, B. A., Emerson, J. S., Hull, P. C., Briggs, N. C., Moriarty, C. J., and Cain, V. A. Using a nursing protocol to assure equitable delivery of cancerrelated prevention services. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-legrand). 2003. 49(8):1229-32 **Exposure not the PHE**

Levy, B. F. Multiphasic screening health examinations and practitioners. N Y State J Med. 69. 69(15):2169 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Lewis, D. A. and Giglio, R. J. Tools to aid nurses in providing preventive services. Nurs Success Today. 86. 3(3):9-15 **No original data**

LINCOLN, T. A. and HURT, H. B. THERAPEUTIC VALUE OF THE PERIODIC HEALTH EXAMINATION. J Gnathol. 65. 46465-7 **No original data** Litaker, D., Flocke, S. A., Frolkis, J. P., and Stange, K. C. Physicians" attitudes and preventive care delivery: insights from the DOPC study. Prev Med. 2005. 40(5):556-63 **Exposure not the PHE**

Lobo CM, Frijling BD Hulscher ME Bernsen RM Braspenning JC Grol RP Prins A van der Wouden JC Improving quality of organizing cardiovascular preventive care in general practice by outreach visitors: a randomized controlled trial.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Logsdon, D. N. Should health insurance cover preventive services?. Internist. 86. 27(9):11-3 No original data

Logsdon, D. N., Lazaro, C. M., and Meier, R. V. The feasibility of behavioral risk reduction in primary medical care. Am J Prev Med. 89. 5(5):249-56 **Exposure not the PHE**

Logsdon, D. N., Rosen, M. A., and Demak, M. M. The INSURE project on lifecycle preventive health services. Public Health Rep. 82. 97(4):308-17 **No original data**

Logsdon, D. N., Rosen, M. A., Thaddeus, S., and Lazaro, C. M. Coverage of preventive services by preferred provider organizations. J Ambul Care Manage. 87. 10(2):25-35 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Long, P. H. annual physical examinations?. Med Times. 64. 921199-200 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Lopez-de-Munain, J., Torcal, J., Lopez, V., and Garay, J. Prevention in routine general practice: activity patterns and potential promoting factors. Prev Med. 2001. 32(1):13-22 **Exposure not the PHE**

Love RR, Baumann LC Brown RL Fontana SA Clark CC Sanner LA Davis JE Cancer prevention services and physician consensus in primary care group practices.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Love, R. R., Davis, J. E., Mundt, M., and Clark, C. Health promotion and screening services reported by older adult patients of urban primary care physicians. J Fam Pract. 97. 45(2):142-50 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Lubin, A. N. and Young, G. D. Jr Periodic physical examination--a large investment with a small return. Aerosp Med. 72. 43(10):1141-3 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Luckmann, R. and Melville, S. K. Periodic health

evaluation of adults: a survey of family physicians. J Fam Pract. 95. 40(6):547-54 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Luft, H. S. Why do HMOs seem to provide more health maintenance services?. Milbank Mem Fund Q Health Soc. 78. 56(2):140-68 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Lusk, S. L. Priorities for preventive services. AAOHN J. 2001. 49(12):540-1 **Exposure not the PHE**

Lusk, S. L. Linking practice & research. Priorities for preventive services.. **No original data**

Lynch FL, Whitlock EP Valanis BG Smith SK Costeffectiveness of a tailored intervention to increase screening in HMO women overdue for Pap test and mammography services.. Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

MacDowell, M., Guo, L., and Short, A. Preventive health services use, lifestyle health behavior risks, and selfreported health status of women in Ohio by ethnicity and completed education status.. **Exposure not the PHE**

MacMillan H L, Patterson C J S Wathen C N with the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care Screening for depression in primary care: updated recommendations from the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care. **No original data**

Maddox, M. A. and Gibson, F. Affordable preventive health screening: mammograms for older African-American women... winner of the 1994 AJN/KNA writing contest.. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Madlon-Kay, D. J. Improving the periodic health examination: use of a screening flow chart for patients and physicians. J Fam Pract. 87. 25(5):470-3 **Exposure not the PHE**

Madlon-Kay, D. J., Harper, P. G., and Reif, C. J. Use of a "Health Habits Questionnaire" to improve health promotion counseling. Arch Fam Med. 95. 4(5):459-62 **Exposure not the PHE**

Magnan, S., Solberg, L. I., Kottke, T. E., Nelson, A. F., Amundson, G. M., Richards, S., and Reed, M. K. IMPROVE: bridge over troubled waters. Jt Comm J Qual Improv. 98. 24(10):566-78 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Maibach, E. W., Scutchfield, F. D., and Hovell, M. F. A survey of primary-care physician preventive services: implications for smoking-cessation counseling. Patient Educ Couns. 84. 6(3):113-5 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Maier, B. J. On the lead time of a periodic screening program. Methods Inf Med. 83. 22(1):45-50 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Mainous, A. G. 3rd, Hueston, W. J., Love, M. M., and Griffith, C. H. 3rd Access to care for the uninsured: is access to a physician enough?. Am J Public Health. 99. 89(6):910-2 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

MAKSIM, G. Periodic health examination campaign, a preview. Med Ann Dist Columbia. 51. 20(12):666-7 No original data

Mandelblatt, J., Traxler, M., Lakin, P., Thomas, L., Chauhan, P., Matseoane, S., and Kanetsky, P. A nurse practitioner intervention to increase breast and cervical cancer screening for poor, elderly black women. The Harlem Study Team. J Gen Intern Med. 93. 8(4):173-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Mandelson, M. T., Curry, S. J., Anderson, L. A., Nadel, M. R., Lee, N. C., Rutter, C. M., and LaCroix, A. Z. Colorectal cancer screening participation by older women. Am J Prev Med. 2000. 19(3):149-54 **Exposure not the PHE**

Markarian, S. An office-based guide to preventive services. Clin Prev Dent. 84. 6(4):8-12 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Marquis, P. Preventive medicine: cheaper than a car... commentary on Filak AT Jr., Ricer JS, and Ricer RE. Lifetime costs for preventive medical services. J FAM PRACT 1999;48:706-710.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Marsh, G. M. and Cassidy, L. D. The Drake Health Registry Study: findings from fifteen years of continuous bladder cancer screening. Am J Ind Med. 2003. 43(2):142-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

MARTIN, H. S. The periodic health examination. Burma Med J. 56. 4(4):24-30 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Martin, P. D., Rhode, P. C., Howe, J. T., and Brantley, P. J. Primary care weight management counseling: physician and patient perspectives. J La State Med Soc. 2003. 155(1):52-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

Matsuoka, K., Tanaka, G., Etoh, R., and Horiuchi, A. A 10year follow-up study of per oral glucose tolerance at annual physical examinations. Tohoku J Exp Med. 83. 141 Suppl105-9 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only** Mayer-Oakes, S. A., Atchison, K. A., Matthias, R. E., De Jong, F. J., Lubben, J., and Schweitzer, S. O. Mammography use in older women with regular physicians: what are the predictors?. Am J Prev Med. 96. 12(1):44-50 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Mays, G. P., Hesketh, H. A., Ammerman, A. S., Stockmyer, C. K., Johnson, T. L., and Bayne-Smith, M. Integrating preventive health services within community health centers: lessons from WISEWOMAN. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2004. 13(5):607-15 **Exposure not the PHE**

McBride, P., Underbakke, G., Plane, M. B., Massoth, K., Brown, R. L., Solberg, L. I., Ellis, L., Schrott, H. G., Smith, K., Swanson, T., Spencer, E., Pfeifer, G., and Knox, A. Improving prevention systems in primary care practices: the Health Education and Research Trial (HEART). J Fam Pract. 2000. 49(2):115-25 **Exposure not the PHE**

McCabe, B. W., Bergman-Evans, B., and Grasser, C. M. Keeping a watchful eye. Receipt of preventive service screening recommendations by women in long-term care facilities. Geriatr Nurs. 98. 19(5):279-83; quiz 283 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

McCall, T. Why you really must have an annual physical.. No original data

McCarty, C. A., Chyou, P. H., Greenlee, R., McCarty, D. J., Gunderson, P., and Reding, D. Differences in preventive screening rates in Wisconsin farm and non-farm resident women. WMJ. 2003. 102(5):22-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

McCusker J, Morrow G The relationship of health locus of controls to preventive health behaviors and health beliefs.. **Exposure not the PHE**

McDonald CJ, Hui SL Smith DM Tierney WM Cohen SJ Weinberger M McCabe GP Reminders to physicians from an introspective computer medical record. A two-year randomized trial. **Exposure not the PHE**

McFall, S. L., Solomon, T. G., Smith, D. W., and Kelley, M. Preventive services and satisfaction of Cherokee Nation patients. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2001. 7(1):76-83 **Exposure not the PHE**

MCGEE, L. C. Periodic health examinations in industry. Del Med J. 53. 25(1):1-8 No original data

McGuire, S. and Nalle, M. Healthy People initiative: an introduction... part 1.. No original data

McIntosh, I. B. and Power, K. G. Elderly people"s views of

an annual screening assessment. Br J Gen Pract. 93. 43(370):189-92 **Exposure not the PHE** McIsaac, W. J., Fuller-Thomson, E., and Talbot, Y. Does having regular care by a family physician improve preventive care?. Can Fam Physician. 2001. 4770-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

McNamara, J. J. Early and periodic screening. Medi-Screen program structure and standard setting. West J Med. 74. 120(3):263-6 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Mead, V. P., Rhyne, R. L., Wiese, W. H., Lambert, L., and Skipper, B. Impact of environmental patient education on preventive medicine practices. J Fam Pract. 95. 40(4):363-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Mehta, B. R. Non-automated multiphasic health examination using existing facilities. Hawaii Med J. 74. 33(9):336-9 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Melnikow, J., Kohatsu, N. D., and Chan, B. K. Put prevention into practice: a controlled evaluation. Am J Public Health. 2000. 90(10):1622-5 **Exposure not the PHE**

Meng, Q., Liu, X., and Shi, J. Comparing the services and quality of private and public clinics in rural China. Health Policy Plan. 2000. 15(4):349-56 **Exposure not the PHE**

Michalek, A. M., Wende, K., Cummings, K. M., and Aungst, C. W. Experiences with multiphasic screening for cancer. J Cancer Educ. 88. 3(3):187-92 **No eligible comparison group**

Miller, C. E. Advances in multiphasic screening and testing. Calif Med. 67. 107(5):385-90 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Miller, D. G. The yield of new problems found during periodic health examinations of impoverished patients. Ohio State Med J. 85. 81(9):660, 662-5 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Mills, P. K. Overview.. **Exposure not the PHE** Montgomery, R. L. and Singman, D. Multiphasic screening. Hospitals. 70. 44(6):71-4 **Exposure not the PHE**

Moore, L. J. Checkup doubts... for symptom-free adults, an annual physical is largely a waste of time.. **No original data**

Morales, L. S., Rogowski, J., Freedman, V. A., Wickstrom, S. L., Adams, J. L., and Escarce, J. J. Sociodemographic differences in use of preventive services by women enrolled in Medicare+Choice plans. Prev Med. 2004. 39(4):738-45 **Exposure not the PHE** Morgan, J., Vang, A., and Wong, W. PSA screening recommendations -- why experts disagree.. **No original** data

Morgan, M. M., Goodson, J., and Barnett, G. O. Long-term changes in compliance with clinical guidelines through computer-based reminders. Proc AMIA Symp. 98. 493-7 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Morgan, W. K. Admission multiphasic screening. Lancet. 77. 1(8003):142 No original data

Morgenstern, N. L. Automated multiphasic screening and periodic health examinations. J Iowa Med Soc. 69. 59(5):407-13 passim **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

MORHOUS, E. J., BAKER, J. P., BALLOU, H. C., and CRUMPACKER, E. L. Periodic health examinations. Ann Intern Med. 57. 46(4):744-9 No original data

Morrison, B. The periodic health examination: 3. Breast cancer. CMAJ. 86. 134(7):727-9 No original data

Moskowitz, M. Clinical examination of the breasts by nonphysicians: a viable screening option?. Cancer. 79. 44(1):311-4 **Exposure not the PHE**

Mukohara, K. Public expectation for annual physical examinations. Ann Intern Med. 2002. 137(9):773-4; author reply 773-4 **No original data**

Muldoon, J. T., Schootman, M., and Morton, R. F. Utilization of cancer early detection services among farm and rural nonfarm adults in Iowa. J Rural Health. 96. 12(4 Suppl):321-31 **Exposure not the PHE**

Murphy, D. J., Gross, R., and Buchanan, J. Computerized reminders for five preventive screening tests: generation of patient-specific letters incorporating physician preferences. Proc AMIA Symp. 2000. 600-4 **Exposure not the PHE**

Murphy-Smith, M., Meyer, B., Hitt, J., Taylor-Seehafer, M. A., and Tyler, D. O. Put Prevention into Practice implementation model: translating practice into theory. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2004. 10(2):109-15 **Exposure not the PHE**

Musich, S., Ignaczak, A., McDonald, T., Hirschland, D., and Edington, D. W. Self-reported utilization of preventive health services by retired employees age 65 and older. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2001. 49(12):1665-72 **Exposure not the PHE** Muto T, Yamauchi K Evaluation of a multicomponent workplace health promotion program conducted in Japan for improving employees" cardiovascular disease risk factors.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Muto, T., Hsieh, S. D., and Sakurai, Y. Status of health promotion programme implementation in small-scale enterprises in Japan. Occup Med (Lond). 99. 49(2):65-70 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Nagao, T. and Warnakulasuriya, S. Annual screening for oral cancer detection. Cancer Detect Prev. 2003. 27(5):333-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

NAHUM, L. H. Are periodic health examinations worthwhile?. Conn Med. 63. 2790-2 **No original data** Nilasena, D. S. and Lincoln, M. J. A computer-generated reminder system improves physician compliance with diabetes preventive care guidelines. Proc Annu Symp Comput Appl Med Care. 95. 640-5 **Exposure not the PHE**

O"Malley, A. S. and Mandelblatt, J. Delivery of preventive services for low-income persons over age 50: a comparison of community health clinics to private doctors" offices. J Community Health. 2003. 28(3):185-97 **Exposure not the PHE**

O"Malley, A. S., Sheppard, V. B., Schwartz, M., and Mandelblatt, J. The role of trust in use of preventive services among low-income African-American women. Prev Med. 2004. 38(6):777-85 **Exposure not the PHE**

Oboler, S. K., Prochazka, A. V., Gonzales, R., Xu, S., and Anderson, R. J. Public expectations and attitudes for annual physical examinations and testing. Ann Intern Med. 2002. 136(9):652-9 No original data

Okoro, C. A., Strine, T. W., Young, S. L., Balluz, L. S., and Mokdad, A. H. Access to health care among older adults and receipt of preventive services. Results from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2002. Prev Med. 2005. 40(3):337-43 **Exposure not the PHE**

Olsen, D. M., Kane, R. L., and Proctor, P. H. A controlled trial of multiphasic screening. N Engl J Med. 76. 294(17):925-30 **Exposure not the PHE**

Orford, R. R. and Carter, E. T. Preemployment and periodic physical examination of airline pilots at the Mayo clinic, 1939-1974. Aviat Space Environ Med. 76. 47(2):180-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Orme Johnson D W, Herron R E An innovative approach to reducing medical care utilization and expenditures. **Exposure not the PHE**

Ornstein, S. M., Garr, D. R., Jenkins, R. G., Musham, C., Hamadeh, G., and Lancaster, C. Implementation and evaluation of a computer-based preventive services system. Fam Med. 95. 27(4):260-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

Ornstein, S. M., Garr, D. R., Jenkins, R. G., Rust, P. F., and Arnon, A. Computer-generated physician and patient reminders. Tools to improve population adherence to selected preventive services. J Fam Pract. 91. 32(1):82-90 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Orso, C. L. Delivering ambulatory health care: the successful experience of an urban neighborhood health center. Med Care. 79. 17(2):111-26 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Ozminkowski, R. J., Dunn, R. L., Goetzel, R. Z., Cantor, R. I., Murnane, J., and Harrison, M. A return on investment evaluation of the Citibank, N.A., health management program. Am J Health Promot. 99. 14(1):31-43 **Exposure not the PHE**

PAGE, R. C. An objective appraisal of periodic health examinations. Ind Med Surg. 53. 22(11):510-3 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Palda V A, Van Spall H G C with the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care Screening for lung cancer: updated recommendations from the Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care. **No original data**

Palmer, K. Preventive medicine and screening II. Practitioner. 89. 233(1480):1611-2 **Does not apply to any** of the key questions

Parchman, M. L. and Burge, S. K. The patient-physician relationship, primary care attributes, and preventive services. Fam Med. 2004. 36(1):22-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Park, G. HMSA''s HealthPass--a strategy for delivery of preventive services. Hawaii Med J. 95. 54(8):697-703 No eligible comparison group

PATRIE, L. E. A multiphasic screening project on the Pine Ridge Indian Reservation. J Lancet. 62. 82511-4 **Exposure not the PHE**

Paukert, J. L., Chumley-Jones, H. S., and Littlefield, J. H. Do peer chart audits improve residents" performance in providing preventive care?. Acad Med. 2003. 78(10 Suppl):S39-41 **Exposure not the PHE**

Pels, R. J., Bor, D. H., and Lawrence, R. S. Decision

making for introducing clinical preventive services. Annu Rev Public Health. 89. 10363-83 **No original data** Perkoff, G. T., Kahn, L., and Haas, P. J. Cost of medical care in an experimental study of prepaid group and fee for service practice. Trans Assoc Am Physicians. 75. 88271-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Phillips, T. J. The tools of preventive medicine in family practice. The annual physical examination?. Postgrad Med. 72. 51(1):154-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Pieper, B. and DiNardo, E. Health maintenance in a primary care clinic for urban, indigent adults.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Pignone M P, Philips C J Lannon C M Mulrow C D Teutsch S M Lohr K N Whitener B L Screening for lipid disorders (Structured abstract). **No original data**

Pinkerton, R. E., Jackson, M. G., Yankaskas, B. C., and Berger, A. Preemployment multiphasic screening in an urban manpower training program. J Occup Med. 83. 25(2):112-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Pol, L. G., Rouse, J., Zyzanski, S., Rasmussen, D., and Crabtree, B. Rural, urban and suburban comparisons of preventive services in family practice clinics. J Rural Health. 2001. 17(2):114-21 **Exposure not the PHE**

Pollard, A. H. The economics of multiphasic screening. Med J Aust. 72. 2(18):1025-8 No original data

Pommerenke, F. A. and Dietrich, A. Improving and maintaining preventive services. Part 1: Applying the patient path model. J Fam Pract. 92. 34(1):86-91 No original data

Potosky, A. L., Breen, N., Graubard, B. I., and Parsons, P. E. The association between health care coverage and the use of cancer screening tests. Results from the 1992 National Health Interview Survey. Med Care. 98. 36(3):257-70 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Powell-Griner, E., Bolen, J., and Bland, S. Health care coverage and use of preventive services among the near elderly in the United States. Am J Public Health. 99. 89(6):882-6 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Preisser, J. S., Cohen, S. J., Wofford, J. L., Moran, W. P., Shelton, B. J., McClatchey, M. W., and Wolfe, P. Physician and patient predictors of health maintenance visits. Arch Fam Med. 98. 7(4):346-51 **Does not apply to any of the key questions** Pringle, M., Robins, S., and Brown, G. Computer assisted screening: effect on the patient and his consultation. Br Med J (Clin Res Ed). 85. 290(6483):1709-12 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Proger, S. Diagnostic imperatives in internal medicine. The timely detection of treatable disease. The periodic health examination. J Maine Med Assoc. 80. 71(2):50-2, 54, 59 **No original data**

Pullen, C., Fiandt, K., and Walker, S. N. Determinants of preventive services utilization in rural older women. J Gerontol Nurs. 2001. 27(1):40-51 **Exposure not the PHE**

Quenan, L., Remington, P., Gohre, F., and Zapp, P. The Wisconsin Collaborative Diabetes Quality Improvement Project. WMJ. 2000. 99(3):48-52 **Exposure not the PHE**

Quinones, M. A. and Cinotti, A. A. Multiphasic screening in Newark. J Med Soc N J. 75. 72(1):31-3 **No eligible comparison group**

Rabin, D. L. and Schach, E. Medicaid, morbidity, and physician use. Med Care. 75. 13(1):68-78 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Rabiner, D. J., Branch, L. G., and Sullivan, R. J. The receipt of prevention services by veterans using VA versus non-VA facilities. Prev Med. 98. 27(5 Pt 1):690-6 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Rabiner, D. J., Branch, L. G., and Sullivan, R. J. Jr Patient factors related to the odds of receiving prevention services in Veterans Health Administration medical centers. Am J Manag Care. 99. 5(9):1153-60 **Exposure not the PHE**

Rafferty, M. Prevention services in primary care: taking time, setting priorities. West J Med. 98. 169(5):269-75 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Rakowski, W., Clark, M. A., and Ehrich, B. Smoking and cancer screening for women ages 42-75: associations in the 1990-1994 National Health Interview Surveys.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Rawson, G. Multiphasic screening--definition and assessment. Med J Aust. 72. 2(9):497-504 No original data

Reddick, A. An evaluation of the IFA-GC procedure in a low risk population. Health Lab Sci. 75. 12(3):208-14 **Exposure not the PHE**

Redeker, N. S. Putting prevention into nursing practice.. No original data

Reece, R. L. Using a computer to interpret multiphasic screening results. Geriatrics. 74. 29(1):51-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Reisinger, A. L. and Sisk, J. E. Preventive service use and Medicaid managed care in New York City. Am J Manag Care. 2000. 6(1):45-51 **Exposure not the PHE**

Ren, A., Okubo, T., and Takahashi, K. Comprehensive periodic health examination: impact on health care utilisation and costs in a working population in Japan. J Epidemiol Community Health. 94. 48(5):476-81 **No** eligible comparison group

REVENO, W. S. The value of the periodic health examination. J Mich State Med Soc. 53. 52(5):516-9 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Richards, E. P. 3rd and Rathbun, K. C. Effective initial screening. Trial. 80. 16(5):45-9, 74 Exposure not the PHE

ROBERTS, N. J. AN EVALUATION OF THE PERIODIC HEALTH EXAMINATION. A PREFACE. Ann Intern Med. 64. 61997-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Robinson, B. E. Progress in prevention... the Prevention for Elderly Persons (PEP) Program: a model of municipal and academic partnership to meet the needs of older persons for preventive services.. **No original data**

Rodney, M. B. Multiphasic health testing and group practice. J Natl Med Assoc. 68. 60(4):282-6 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Rodnick, J. E. and Bubb, K. Patient education and multiphasic screening: it can change behavior. J Fam Pract. 78. 6(3):599-607 **Exposure not the PHE**

Roh, J. Overall view of occupational health services in Korea. Asia Pac J Public Health. 2000. 12 SupplS41-4 **Exposure not the PHE**

Romm, F. J. The periodic health examination in a family practice center: use, content, and results. Fam Pract Res J. 87. 7(2):69-77 No eligible comparison group

Romm, F. J. Periodic health examination: effect of costs on patient expectations. South Med J. 85. 78(11):1330-2, 1340 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Romm, F. J. Patients" expectations of periodic health examinations. J Fam Pract. 84. 19(2):191-5 **Does not apply to any of the key questions** Rose, S. D. The periodic health examination. Prim Care. 80. 7(4):653-65 No original data

Rosen, M. A., Logsdon, D. N., and Demak, M. M. Prevention and health promotion in primary care: baseline results on physicians from the INSURE Project on Lifecycle Preventive Health Services. Prev Med. 84. 13(5):535-48 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

ROSENTHAL, T. and VANDOW, J. E. House-to-house serologic survey with multiphasic screening. Public Health Rep. 57. 72(11):969-75 **Exposure not the PHE**

Rosin, A. J. and Galinsky, D. Health testing in the elderly by the multiphasic method. Gerontol Clin (Basel). 75. 17(2):80-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions** Rosser, W. W., McDowell, I., and Newell, C. Use of reminders for preventive procedures in family medicine. CMAJ. 91. 145(7):807-14 **Exposure not the PHE**

Rothbart, P. L. Liability of corporate physicians in conducting preemployment and annual physical examinations. J Leg Med. 85. 6(4):477-87 **Does not apply** to any of the key questions

Rountree, P. and Frasier, T. S. Multiphasic screening in an indigent population. J Ark Med Soc. 75. 72(3):128-9 No eligible comparison group

Rowe, I. L. and Larsen, L. H. Evaluation of automated multiphasic health testing in the survey of the north-west region of Melbourne. Med J Aust. 79. 2(6):320-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Ruhe, M. C., Weyer, S. M., Zronek, S., Wilkinson, A., Wilkinson, P. S., and Stange, K. C. Facilitating practice change: lessons from the STEP-UP clinical trial. Prev Med. 2005. 40(6):729-34 **Exposure not the PHE**

Ryan, J. G. Periodic health examination of the elderly. Aust Fam Physician. 78. 7(3):285-90 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Salonen JT, Puska P Kottke TE Tuomilehto J Changes in smoking, serum cholesterol and blood pressure levels during a community-based cardiovascular disease prevention program - the North Karelia Project. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Sambamoorthi, U. and McAlpine, D. D. Racial, ethnic, socioeconomic, and access disparities in the use of preventive services among women. Prev Med. 2003. 37(5):475-84 **Exposure not the PHE**

SAMIS, S. M. Multiphasic screening may be the keystone

of preventive medicine. Mod Hosp. 51. 77(5):94-102 No original data

Sarin, R. K. Periodic health examination. J Indian Med Assoc. 66. 47(4):161-2 **No original data**

Sasamori, N. National statistics on multiphasic health testing (Human Dock, AMHTS)--with special reference to annual changes in the last eight years. Jpn Hosp. 93. 1285-96 **Exposure not the PHE**

Sasamori, N. National statistics on multiphasic health testing (human dock and AMHTS)--especially for the annual-course change during the last five years. Jpn Hosp. 90. 983-95 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

SCHEELE, L. A. Current experience in multiphasic health examination; orientation and background. Am J Public Health. 51. 41(6):635-9 **No original data**

Schellhase, K. G., Koepsell, T. D., and Norris, T. E. Providers'' reactions to an automated health maintenance reminder system incorporated into the patient''s electronic medical record. J Am Board Fam Pract. 2003. 16(4):312-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

SCHENTHAL, J. E. Multiphasic screening of the well patient. Twelve-year experience of the Tulane University Cancer Detection Clinic. JAMA. 60. 1721-4 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

SCHNEIDER, R. F. A review of the value of periodic health examinations. Trans Assoc Ind Med Off. 61. 1127-36 **No original data**

Schneider, W. J. A worksite hypertension control program for hospital employees utilizing repetitive monitoring. J Occup Med. 81. 23(2):91-3 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Scholle, S. H., Agatisa, P. K., Krohn, M. A., Johnson, J., and McLaughlin, M. K. Locating a health advocate in a private obstetrics/gynecology office increases patient"s receipt of preventive recommendations. J Womens Health Gend Based Med. 2000. 9(2):161-5 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Scholle, S. H., Chang, J. C., Harman, J., and McNeil, M. Trends in women's health services by type of physician seen: data from the 1985 and 1997-98 NAMCS. Womens Health Issues. 2002. 12(4):165-77 **Does not apply to any** of the key questions

Scholle, S. H., Chang, J., Harman, J., and McNeil, M. Characteristics of patients seen and services provided in primary care visits in obstetrics/gynecology: data from NAMCS and NHAMCS. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2004. 190(4):1119-27 **Exposure not the PHE**

SCHOR, S. S., CLARK, T. W., PARKHURST, L. W., BAKER, J. P., and ELSOM, K. A. AN EVALUATION OF THE PERIODIC HEALTH EXAMINATION. THE FINDINGS IN 350 EXAMINEES WHO DIED. Ann Intern Med. 64. 61999-1005 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

SCHOR, S. S., ELSOM, K. A., ELSOM, K. O., and DUNN, J. P. AN EVALUATION OF THE PERIODIC HEALTH EXAMINATION: A STUDY OF FACTORS DISCRIMINATING BETWEEN SURVIVAL AND DEATH FROM CORONARY HEART DISEASE. Ann Intern Med. 64. 611006-14 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Schrager, S., Plane, M. B., Mundt, M. P., and Stauffacher, E. A. Osteoporosis prevention counseling during health maintenance examinations. J Fam Pract. 2000. 49(12):1099-103 **Exposure not the PHE**

Schrijnemaekers VJ, Haveman MJ Effects of preventive outpatient geriatric assessment: short-term results of a randomized controlled study.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Schussler, T. and Flynn, M. L. Lowering triglyceride values in an occupational setting. Urban Health. 82. 11(1):26-7, 46-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Schwartz, J. S., Lewis, C. E., Clancy, C., Kinosian, M. S., Radany, M. H., and Koplan, J. P. Internists" practices in health promotion and disease prevention. A survey. Ann Intern Med. 91. 114(1):46-53 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Schweitzer, S. O., Atchison, K. A., Lubben, J. E., Mayer-Oakes, S. A., De Jong, F. J., and Matthias, R. E. Health promotion and disease prevention for older adults: opportunity for change or preaching to the converted?. Am J Prev Med. 94. 10(4):223-9 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Secker-Walker, R. H., Flynn, B. S., Solomon, L. J., Vacek, P. M., and Bronson, D. L. Predictors of smoking behavior change 6 and 18 months after individual counseling during periodic health examinations. Prev Med. 90. 19(6):675-85 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Selby JV, Friedman GD Collen MF Sigmoidoscopy and mortality from colorectal cancer: the Kaiser Permanente Multiphasic Evaluation Study.. Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Selinger, H. A., Gregorio, D. I., and Strelez, L. A. Practices around periodic cancer screening by physicians in primary care specialties. Conn Med. 91. 55(8):443-8 **Exposure not** the PHE

SERBY, J. L. Periodic health examinations on international basis. Miss Valley Med J. 57. 79(5):205-10 **Exposure not the PHE**

Shapiro, S. Automated multiphasic health testing. Efficacy of the concept. Hospitals. 71. 45(5):45-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Shapiro, S., Fink, R., and Rosenberg, C. A program to measure the impact of multiphasic health testing on health differentials between poverty and nonpoverty groups. Med Care. 72. 10(3):207-14 **Exposure not the PHE**

Sheahan, S. L. Documentation of health risks and health promotion counseling by emergency department nurse practitioners and physicians. J Nurs Scholarsh. 2000. 32(3):245-50 **Exposure not the PHE**

SHEPS, C. G. The concept of multiphasic screening for chronic diseases. N C Med J. 50. 11(11):626-30 No original data

Shi, L. and Stevens, G. D. Vulnerability and the receipt of recommended preventive services: the influence of multiple risk factors. Med Care. 2005. 43(2):193-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

SHILLITO, F. H. Periodic health examinations. Ann Intern Med. 53. 39(1):7-14 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Shindell, S. Multiphasic screening. N Engl J Med. 69. 281(4):222-3 **Does not apply to any of the key questions** Siegel, G. S. An American dilemma--the periodic health examination. Arch Environ Health. 66. 13(3):292-5 **No original data**

Simons, L. A. and Jones, A. S. Coronary risk factor screening and long-term follow up: year 1 of the Sydney Coronary Heart Disease Prevention Programme. Med J Aust. 78. 2(10):455-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Sirovich, B. E., Schwartz, L. M., and Woloshin, S. Screening men for prostate and colorectal cancer in the United States: does practice reflect the evidence?. JAMA. 2003. 289(11):1414-20 **Exposure not the PHE**

Skoulas, A. and Conlon, D. Two-step electrocardiogram for chest pain reported on multiphasic screening. J Electrocardiol. 75. 8(1):49-52 **Does not apply to any of the key questions** SMILLIE, W. G. "Multiphasic" screening tests. J Am Med Assoc. 51. 145(16):1254-6 No original data

SMILLIE, W. G. and HAHN, R. G. Inherent inadequacies of multiphasic screening. N Y State J Med. 52. 52(21):2610-3 **No original data**

Smith, E. F. The utilization of multiphasic screening in Public Health Centers. J Occup Med. 69. 11(7):364-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Smith, H. E. and Herbert, C. P. Preventive practice among primary care physicians in British Columbia: relation to recommendations of the Canadian Task Force on the Periodic Health Examination. CMAJ. 93. 149(12):1795-800 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Smith, J. Health education. 1. Prevention by example. Nurs Mirror. 84. 159(13):17-8 **No original data** Smith, M. M., Meyer, B., Goodson, P., Gottlieb, N. H., and Huang, P. Chart documentation of clinical preventive services at 9 Texas clinics. Tex Med. 99. 95(8):56-62 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Smith, R. A. and Wender, R. C. Cancer screening and the periodic health examination. Cancer. 2004. 100(8):1553-7 **No original data**

SODEMAN, W. A. An evaluation of some procedures used in multiphasic screening. Can J Public Health. 51. 42(2):43-51 **Does not apply to any of the key questions** Solanki, G. and Schauffler, H. H. Cost-sharing and the utilization of clinical preventive services. Am J Prev Med. 99. 17(2):127-33 **Exposure not the PHE**

Solanki, G., Schauffler, H. H., and Miller, L. S. The direct and indirect effects of cost-sharing on the use of preventive services. Health Serv Res. 2000. 34(6):1331-50 **Exposure not the PHE**

Solberg LI, Kottke TE Brekke ML Conn SA Magnan S Amundson G The case of the missing clinical preventive services systems.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Solberg, L. I., Isham, G., Kottke, T. E., Magnan, S., Nelson, A., Reed, M., and Richards, S. Competing HMOs collaborate to improve preventive services. Jt Comm J Qual Improv. 95. 21(11):600-10 **Exposure not the PHE**

Solberg, L. I., Kottke, T. E., and Brekke, M. L. Variation in clinical preventive services. Eff Clin Pract. 2001. 4(3):121-6 **Exposure not the PHE**

Solberg, L. I., Kottke, T. E., and Brekke, M. L. Will primary care clinics organize themselves to improve the delivery of preventive services? A randomized controlled trial. Prev Med. 98. 27(4):623-31 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Solberg, L. I., Kottke, T. E., Brekke, M. L., Conn, S. A., Magnan, S., and Amundson, G. The case of the missing clinical preventive services systems. Eff Clin Pract. 98. 1(1):33-8 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Solberg, L. I., Kottke, T. E., Brekke, M. L., Magnan, S., Davidson, G., Calomeni, C. A., Conn, S. A., Amundson, G. M., and Nelson, A. F. Failure of a continuous quality improvement intervention to increase the delivery of preventive services. A randomized trial. Eff Clin Pract. 2000. 3(3):105-15 **Exposure not the PHE**

Solis, J. M., Marks, G., Garcia, M., and Shelton, D. Acculturation, access to care, and use of preventive services by Hispanics: findings from HHANES 1982-84. Am J Public Health. 90. 80 Suppl11-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

SOROKER, S. B. Multiphasic screening in a health district of Los Angeles. Public Health Rep. 54. 69(8):786-92 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Soucat, A., Gandaho, T., Levy-Bruhl, D., de Bethune, X., Alihonou, E., Ortiz, C., Gbedonou, P., Adovohekpe, P., Camara, O., Ndiaye, J. M., Dieng, B., and Knippenberg, R. Health seeking behaviour and household health expenditures in Benin and Guinea: the equity implications of the Bamako Initiative. Int J Health Plann Manage. 97. 12 Suppl 1S137-63 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

SOULE, E. H. and DAHLIN, D. C. Cyto-detection of preclinical carcinoma of cervix; 10 years" experience with initial screening and repeat cervical smears. Mayo Clin Proc. 59. 34(1):1-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Spitzer, W. O. The periodic health examination: 1. Introduction. Can Med Assoc J. 84. 130(10):1276-8 **No** original data

Stange, K. C., Fedirko, T., Zyzanski, S. J., and Jaen, C. R. How do family physicians prioritize delivery of multiple preventive services?. J Fam Pract. 94. 38(3):231-7 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Stange, K. C., Flocke, S. A., and Goodwin, M. A.
Opportunistic preventive services delivery. Are time limitations and patient satisfaction barriers?. J Fam Pract.
98. 46(5):419-24 Clinical preventive services delivered only durind an opportunistic visit

Stange, K. C., Goodwin, M. A., Zyzanski, S. J., and Dietrich, A. J. Sustainability of a practice-individualized

preventive service delivery intervention. Am J Prev Med. 2003. 25(4):296-300 **Exposure not the PHE**

Stange, K. C., Jaen, C. R., Flocke, S. A., Miller, W. L., Crabtree, B. F., and Zyzanski, S. J. The value of a family physician. J Fam Pract. 98. 46(5):363-8 **No original data**

Stange, K. C., Kelly, R. B., Smith, C. K., and Frank, S. Preventive medicine in primary care. Moving from theory to practice. Postgrad Med. 91. 90(3):125-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Stave G M, Mignogna J J Powell G S Hunt C M Evaluation of a workplace hemochromatosis screening program (Structured abstract). **Exposure not the PHE**

Stone E G, Morton S C Hulscher M E Maglione M A Roth E A Grimshaw J M Mittman B S Rubenstein L V Rubenstein L Z Shekelle P G Interventions that increase use of adult immunization and cancer screening services: a meta-analysis (Provisional record). **No original data**

Stone P W, Teutsch S Chapman R H Bell C Goldie S J Neumann P J Cost-utility analyses of clinical preventive services: published ratios, 1976-1997. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Strickland, J. and Strickland, D. L. Barriers to preventive health services for minority households in the rural south. J Rural Health. 96. 12(3):206-17 **Exposure not the PHE**

Sudano, J. J. Jr and Baker, D. W. Intermittent lack of health insurance coverage and use of preventive services. Am J Public Health. 2003. 93(1):130-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Sutton, M. A., Gibbons, R. P., and Correa, R. J. Jr Is deleting the digital rectal examination a good idea?. West J Med. 91. 155(1):43-6 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Svardsudd, K., Berglund, G., and Tibblin, G. Morbidity and mortality in untreated and treated hypertension: results from the Goteborg 50-year-old men study. Drugs. 76. 11 SUPPL 134-8 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Tabenkin, H., Goodwin, M. A., Zyzanski, S. J., Stange, K. C., and Medalie, J. H. Gender differences in time spent during direct observation of doctor-patient encounters. J Womens Health (Larchmt). 2004. 13(3):341-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Takala, J., Kopteff, P., Takala, A., and Sievers, K. Use of physician services by a middle-aged population in a rural health centre district in southwest Finland. Descriptive distributions. Scand J Soc Med. 78. 6(3):105-9 **Exposure not the PHE** Takala, J., Sievers, K., and Takala, A. A multiphasic screening programme at the health centre level: the Sakyla-Koylio project. Scand J Soc Med. 79. 7(2):87-91 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Taylor, C. Doctors use multiphasic screening plus personalized patient education. Aust Fam Physician. 79. 8(3):296-304 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Taylor, M. P. Periodic health examination combined with multiple screening tests in general practice. J R Coll Gen Pract. 70. 19(92):146-57 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Terris, M. Preventive services and medical care: the costs and benefits of basic change. Bull N Y Acad Med. 80. 56(1):180-8 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

THAMER, M. A., HARVEY, J. C., and REED, J. W. Development of a multiphasic screening examination for medical care patients--III. Yield of the multiphasic screening examination. J Chronic Dis. 62. 15849-56 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

THAMER, M. A., HARVEY, J. C., and REED, J. W. Development of a multiphasic screening examination for medical care patients--II. Sensitivity and specificity of the multiphasic screening examination. J Chronic Dis. 62. 15835-47 **Does not apply to any of the key questions** The Danish Medical Research Council, the Danish Hospital Institute Avoidance of deaths from cancer, consensus statement. **No original data**

Thomas, P., Goetzel, R. Z., Ozminkowski, R. J., Kassabian, V. S., and Schutt, D. C. If men won''t go to doctors.... **Exposure not the PHE**

Thompson, R. S., Taplin, S. H., McAfee, T. A., Mandelson, M. T., and Smith, A. E. Primary and secondary prevention services in clinical practice. Twenty years" experience in development, implementation, and evaluation. JAMA. 95. 273(14):1130-5 Article focuses on specific preventive measures only

Thorner, R. M. Whither multiphasic screening?. N Engl J Med. 69. 280(19):1037-42 **No original data**

Thorner, R. M., Djordjevic, D., Vuckmanovic, C., Pesic, B., Culafic, B., and Mark, F. A study to evaluate the effectiveness of multiphasic screening in Yugoslavia. Prev Med. 73. 2(2):295-301 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Tierney WM, Hui SL McDonald CJ Delayed feedback of physician performance versus immediate reminders to

perform preventive care. Effects on physician compliance. **Exposure not the PHE**

Torgerson, B. Breast cancer detection practices in North Dakota''s rural long-term care facilities.. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Toth-Pal, E., Nilsson, G. H., and Furhoff, A. K. Clinical effect of computer generated physician reminders in health screening in primary health care--a controlled clinical trial of preventive services among the elderly. Int J Med Inform. 2004. 73(9-10):695-703 **Exposure not the PHE**

Tudiver, F. and Fuller-Thomson, E. Who has screening mammography? Results from the 1994-1995 National Population Health Survey. Can Fam Physician. 99. 451901-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Turner, B. J., Day, S. C., and Borenstein, B. A controlled trial to improve delivery of preventive care: physician or patient reminders?. J Gen Intern Med. 89. 4(5):403-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Turner, S. M. and Juarez Nurses" exchange: charting preventive services. Pediatr Nurs. 79. 5(4):63-4 **Includes only subjects less than 18 years of age**

Tyler, D. O., Taylor-Seehafer, M. A., and Murphy-Smith, M. Utilizing "PPIP Texas style!" in a medically underserved population. J Public Health Manag Pract. 2004. 10(2):100-8 **Exposure not the PHE**

Udvarhelyi, I. S., Jennison, K., Phillips, R. S., and Epstein, A. M. Comparison of the quality of ambulatory care for fee-for-service and prepaid patients. Ann Intern Med. 91. 115(5):394-400 **Exposure not the PHE**

Urbanoski, K. A. The use of preventive healthcare by Canadian women who drink alcohol. Prev Med. 2003. 37(4):334-41 **Exposure not the PHE**

van Walraven, C., Goel, V., and Austin, P. Why are investigations not recommended by practice guidelines ordered at the periodic health examination?. J Eval Clin Pract. 2000. 6(2):215-24 **No eligible comparison group**

Velitzelou, K. Preventive health screening in Greece.. No original data

Vincent, E. C., Hardin, P. A., Norman, L. A., Lester, E. A., and Stinton, S. H. The effects of a computer-assisted reminder system on patient compliance with recommended health maintenance procedures. Proc Annu Symp Comput Appl Med Care. 95. 656-60 **Exposure not the PHE**

Vinokur Amiram D, Price Richard H Caplan Robert D van Ryn Michelle Curran Joan The Jobs 1 Preventive Intervention for Unemployed Individuals: Short- and Long-Term Effects on Reemployment and Mental Health. **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Vogt T M Cost-effectiveness of prevention programs for older people. **No original data**

WADE, L., THORPE, J., ELIAS, T., and BOCK, G. Are periodic health examinations worth-while?. Ann Intern Med. 62. 5681-93 **No eligible comparison group**

Wagner EH, Grothaus LC Sandhu N Galvin MS McGregor M Artz K Coleman EA Chronic care clinics for diabetes in primary care: a system-wide randomized trial.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Walker, S. Role of the nurse in the multiphasic screening program. Trans Natl Saf Congr. 71. 1820 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Walker, S. Role of the nurse in the multiphasic screening program. Trans Natl Saf Congr. 70. 1820 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Walker, S. and Kubitz, M. C. Midland, Michigan--U.S.A. Periodic physical examinations. Occup Health Nurs. 69. 17(6):16-7 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Wall, M. and Teeland, L. Non-participants in a preventive health examination for cardiovascular disease: characteristics, reasons for non-participation, and willingness to participate in the future. Scand J Prim Health Care. 2004. 22(4):248-51 **Exposure not the PHE**

Wallinder, J. Population-based nursing. New guide for community preventive services available.. **No original data**

Wang, T. G., Chen, Y. D., Yang, H., and Peng, R. C. Changes in the health situation among the rural population and the challenges to the preventive services in China. Asia Pac J Public Health. 87. 1(2):39-43 **No original data**

Wang, Y. R. and Pauly, M. V. Difference in the use of preventive services between fee-for-service plans and HMOs: is more better?. Am J Manag Care. 2003. 9(4):293-301 **Exposure not the PHE**

Wang, Y. R. and Pauly, M. V. Preventive care in managed care and fee-for-service plans: is it cost effective?. Manag Care Interface. 2003. 16(2):47-50 **No original data**

Way, D., Jones, L., Baskerville, B., and Busing, N. Primary health care services provided by nurse practitioners and family physicians in shared practice. CMAJ. 2001. 165(9):1210-4 **Exposure not the PHE** Weber, T. B. Multiphasic screening--the next generation. Occup Health Nurs. 69. 17(7):22-6 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Weber, T. B. Multiphasic screening: the next generation. J Occup Med. 69. 11(7):369-73 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Weeks, J. L., Peters, J. M., and Monson, R. R. Screening for occupational health hazards in the rubber industry. Part II: health hazards in the curing department. Am J Ind Med. 81. 2(2):143-51 **Exposure not the PHE**

Weeks, J. L., Peters, J. M., and Monson, R. R. Screening for occupational health hazards in the rubber industry. Part I. Am J Ind Med. 81. 2(2):125-41 **Exposure not the PHE**

Weigley, E. S. and Kornblueh, M. Implications for nutritional programs in multiphasic screening. J Am Diet Assoc. 67. 50(1):42 **Exposure not the PHE**

WEINERMAN, E. R., BRESLOW, L., BELLOC, N. B., WAYBUR, A., and MILMORE, B. K. Multiphasic screening of longshoremen with organized medical followup. Am J Public Health. 52. 42(12):1552-67 **Exposure not the PHE**

Weinick, R. M. and Beauregard, K. M. Women''s use of preventive screening services: a comparison of HMO versus fee-for-service enrollees. Med Care Res Rev. 97. 54(2):176-99 **Article focuses on specific preventive measures only**

Weisman, C. S., Cassard, S. D., and Plichta, S. B. Types of physicians used by women for regular health care: implications for services received.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Weiss L J, Blustein J Faithful patients: the effect of longterm physician-patient relationships on the costs and use of health care by older Americans. **Exposure not the PHE**

Werner, M. and Altshuler, C. H. Cost effectiveness of multiphasic screening: old controversies and a new rationale. Hum Pathol. 81. 12(2):111-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Weyer, S. M., Konrad, N., Esola, D., Goodwin, M. A., Stange, K. C., and Flocke, S. A. Features of medical records in community practices and their association with preventive service delivery. Med Care. 2005. 43(1):28-33 **Exposure not the PHE**

WILBAR, C. L. Jr Periodic physical examination of drivers. Public Health Rep. 62. 77577-82 **Exposure not the PHE**

Wilkinson, D., Gouws, E., Sach, M., and Karim, S. S. Effect of removing user fees on attendance for curative and preventive primary health care services in rural South Africa. Bull World Health Organ. 2001. 79(7):665-71 **Exposure not the PHE**

Will JC, Massoudi B Mokdad A Ford ES Rosamond W Stoddard AM Palombo SR Holliday J Byers T Ammerman A Troped P Sorensen G Reducing risk for cardiovascular disease in uninsured women: combined results from two WISEWOMAN projects.. **Exposure not the PHE** Williams SJ, Elder JP Seidman RL Mayer JA Preventive services in a Medicare managed care environment.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Williams, G. The periodic health examination: is it obsolete?. Del Med J. 77. 49(1):31-4 **No original data** Williams, P. A. A productive history and physical examination in the prevention and early detection of cancer. Cancer. 81. 47(5 Suppl):1146-50 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Williams, R. L., Flocke, S. A., and Stange, K. C. Race and preventive services delivery among black patients and white patients seen in primary care. Med Care. 2001. 39(11):1260-7 Exposure not the PHE

Williams, S. J., Elder, J. P., Seidman, R. L., and Mayer, J. A. Preventive services in a Medicare managed care environment. J Community Health. 97. 22(6):417-34 **Exposure not the PHE**

Williamson, P. S., Driscoll, C. E., Dvorak, L. D., Garber, K. A., and Shank, J. C. Health screening examinations: the patient"s perspective. J Fam Pract. 88. 27(2):187-92 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Wilner, D. M. Mobile multiphasic screening in an industrial setting. J Occup Med. 69. 11(11):590 **Exposure not the PHE**

Winters, K. C. Screening and assessing adolescents for substance use disorders.. **Exposure not the PHE**

Woloshin, S., Schwartz, L. M., Katz, S. J., and Welch, H. G. Is language a barrier to the use of preventive services?. J Gen Intern Med. 97. 12(8):472-7 **Exposure not the PHE**

Won, J. U., Song, J. S., Ahn, Y. S., Roh, J. H., and Park, C. Y. Analysis of factors associated with the workers" health status using periodic health examination data by size of enterprises. Yonsei Med J. 2002. 43(1):14-9 **Exposure not the PHE**

Wong M D, Hollenberg J P Charlson M E A comparison of clinical performance of primary care and traditional

internal medicine residents (Structured abstract). Exposure not the PHE

Woolf, S. H. The periodic health examination. J Am Coll Health. 90. 38(6):299 No original data

Woolf, S. H. Preventive services closely linked to quality concerns. QA Rev. 90. 2(4):6 **Does not apply to any of the key questions**

Wreford, B. M. A health check clinic: multiphasic screening at the Cavendish Bio-medical Centre. Occup Health (Lond). 70. 22(8):247-54 **Exposure not the PHE**

Wright, P. J., Fortinsky, R. H., Covinsky, K. E., Anderson, P. A., and Landefeld, C. S. Delivery of preventive services to older black patients using neighborhood health centers. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2000. 48(2):124-30 **Exposure not the PHE**

Wynder, E. L. Preventive medicine welcomes a status report on multiphasic health testing. Prev Med. 73. 2(2):iv **Exposure not the PHE**

Xu, K. T. Usual source of care in preventive service use: a regular doctor versus a regular site. Health Serv Res. 2002. 37(6):1509-29 **Exposure not the PHE**

Xu, X. and Jensen, G. A. Utilization of health care services among the near-elderly: a comparison of managed care and fee-for-service enrollees. Manag Care Interface. 2005. 18(3):60-6, 70 **Exposure not the PHE**

Yeazel, M. W., Bunner, S. H., Kofron, P. M., and Weiss, P. J. Put prevention into practice (PPIP): evaluating PPIP in two family practice residency sites. Fam Med. 2002. 34(1):17-22 **Exposure not the PHE**

Yi, J. K. Acculturation, access to care and use preventive health services by Vietnamese women. Asian Am Pac Isl J Health. 95. 3(1):30-41 **Exposure not the PHE**

Zyzanski, S. J., Stange, K. C., Langa, D., and Flocke, S. A. Trade-offs in high-volume primary care practice. J Fam Pract. 98. 46(5):397-402 **Article focuses on specific**

Nomenclature used by studies.

Study, year	Used Nomenclature
Lin, 2004	Health maintenance visit
Somkin, 2004	Check-up
Flocke, 2004; Eaton, 2002	Health care maintenance visit
Schneider, 2003	Health maintenance examination
Finkelstein, 2002	Health examination or Periodic health examination
Hahn, 1999	Physical examination or Preventive services
Chiou, 2002	Physical examination or Health examination
Burton, 2002	Periodic health examination or Periodic health evaluation
Tao, 2001	General medical examination or Periodic health examination
Parchman, 2001	Check-up
Shannon, 2001	Physical examination or Periodic health examination
Nutting, 2001	Annual examination or Health maintenance visit
Hama, 2001	Preassignment medical examination
Patrick, 1999	Health risk assessment or preventive services
Stange, 2000	Screening service or Preventive services
Freedman, 2000	Periodic health examination
Williams, 1998	Health maintenance examination
Faulkner, 1997	Periodic health exam
Kottke, 1997	Physical examination or check-up
Sox, 1997	Periodic health examination
Elder, 1995; Cacciatore,	
Christenson 1994	Health risk appraisal
Morrisov 1995	Preventive health examination
Holl 1005: Cormon 1005:	Preventive care visit or Health promotion service package
Burton, 1995, German, 1995, Burton, 1997: Burton, 1995	Physical examination
Giger, 1993	Health check or Physical examination
Norman, 1992	Health check
Belcher, 1990	Physical examination
Bernacki, 1988	Periodic physical examination
Stone, 1981; Stone, 1978;	
no author, 1977; no author,	
2001; Tevelyan, 1973; Stone, 1978	Multiphasic screening
Fletcher, 1977	
Collen, 1977	Health examination or Multinhasic health check
Slesinger, 1976	General physical check-up Physical examination
Cutler, 1973; Collen, 1973;	
Dales, 1973; Ramcharan,	
1973; Friedman, 1986;	Deriadia haalth avamination ar Multinhaaia haalth ahaalt un
Robert 1969	
Grimaldi, 1965	Periodic neutral examination
Theobald, 1998	
OXCHECK 1995	
Belcher, 1990	Develop examination or Proventive convince
Nakanishi, 1996	Health check-up Deriodic health examination
inakanishi, 1996	Health check-up Periodic health examination

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	Z	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Morrissey, 1995	Full Medicare reimburseme nt and office reminders (intervention group) Control group	Providers and patients	12-26 months	Delivery of Pap smear	Not self- reported	231§ 224§	46%	85%	NR	No	87 High
Burton, 1995; German, 1995; Burton, 1997; Burton, 1995	Received coverage for an annual preventive visit and tests (Medicare vouchers for 2 free preventive visits) No coverage for an annual preventive visit and tests	Patients	2 years	Percentage change in use of Pap smear within last year ⁸⁰	Not self- reported	Baseline: 2105 F/U: 1573 Baseline: 2090 F/U: 1524	NR	NR	+16.5% [‡] +13.1%	No	 High

Evidence Table 1a. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Pap Smear Delivered: Randomized Controlled Trials.

*Physicians were unit of randomization and outcomes are reported at patient level; group 1 = patients in CART.

[†]Randomly selected new patient charts

[‡]p<0.001.

§ Sample size includes men and women; gender breakdown not provided.

F/U = follow-up; HME = health maintenance exam; NR = not reported; CART = comprehensive annotated reminder tool.

Qual. Score = quality score (for assessments of study quality, each reviewer independently judged study quality and rated items on quality assessment forms, scores were calculated by adding quality scores and dividing them by the maximum score for any given category)
Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Williams, 1998	Intervention: (touch- sensitive computer system) with HME	Patients and providers*	12 months	Delivery of Pap smear	Not self- reported	507	58.2%	57%	-1.2%	No	 High
	Intervention: (touch- sensitive computer system) not receiving HME					507	8.3%	8.1%	-0.2%		
	Control (no computer system) with HME					50	71.4%	65.5%	-5.9%		
	Control (no computer system)not receiving HME					50	9.8%	10.3%	0.5%		

Evidence Table 1b. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Pap Smear Delivered: Retrospective Cohort Study.

* For control groups only.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven -tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Somkin, 2004	Checkup in last 12 months No checkup in last 12 months	Patients	Received Pap smear	Patients	1463	OR: 4.38; 95% CI: (2.95- 6.50) 1.0 (Reference)	Yes*	 High
Finkelstein, 2002	Receive annual health examination or preventive screening No annual health examination or preventive screening	Patients	Received Pap smear	NA	2232	OR: 6.69; 95% CI: (4.6-9.8) 1.0 (Reference)	Yes⁺	70 Med.
Hahn, 1999	Received preventive services with HMO insurance Did not receive preventive services with HMO insurance Received preventive services with FFS insurance Did not receive preventive services with FFS insurance	Patients	Received Pap smear	NA	17032 16629 9199 13425	97% 62% 95% 47%	No	Low

Evidence Table 1c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Pap Smear Delivered: Cross-sectional Studies.

Evidence T	able 1c. Delivery c	of Preventive Health	Care Services, F	Pap Smear Delivered:	Cross-sectional Studies.	(continued)
-------------------	---------------------	----------------------	------------------	----------------------	--------------------------	-------------

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven -tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Tao, 2001	Received a general medical examination Did not receive a general medical examination	Patients	Received Pap smear	Providers	NA	56% 44%	No	 Low
Parchman, 2001	Check-up in past year No check-up in past year	Patients	Received Pap smear in the last year	Patients	Total = 1409	68.4% OR: 5.7; 95% CI: (4.0-8.2) 27.5% OR: 1.0; 95% CI: (Reference)	No	55 Low
Kottke, 1997	Patients with visit for a health risk appraisal Patients with visit for urgent problem Patients with visit for continuing condition Patients with visit for F/U Patients with other reason for visit	Providers	Rate [‡] Pap smears offered by providers	Patients	Total = 6830	Mean (± SD): 0.55 (± 0.24) [§] Mean (± SD): 0.21 (± 0.26) Mean (± SD): 0.15 (± 0.25) Mean (± SD): 0.19 (± 0.26) Mean (± SD): 0.19 (± 0.28)		64

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven -tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Sox, 1997	Received a PHE	Patients	Mean proportion of patients receiving Pap smear	Patients	2775	Mean (± SD): 0.782 (± 0.192) [∥]	Yes¹	63 Med.
	Usual care					Mean (SD): 0.38 (0.307)		
Sles- inger, 1976	Employees who chose prepaid group insurance plan Random sampling of employees who chose the	Patients	Receipt of Pap smear	Patients	Total N = 506, intervention; 483, control. Outcome: to women only within	64	No	Low
	traditional BC/BS plan				sample (number of women not reported)			

Evidence Table 1c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Pap Smear Delivered: Cross-sectional Studies. (continued)

* Age, race, insurance, education, language, years in U.S., annual household income.

[†] Age, income, residence, patient has regular physician.

[‡]Clinic weighted rate across 44 primary care clinics.

p < 0.001 for this group versus all other groups combined.

 $p^{r} < 0.001.$

[¶]Sex, education, practice mix, provider sex, number of years with physician; number of visits per year; perceived health status.

F/U = follow-up; OR = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval; PHE = periodic health exam; NA = not applicable; HMO = health maintenance organization; FFS = fee for service; SD = standard deviation; BC/BS = Blue Cross/Blue Shield.

Author, year	Description of intervention	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	Ν	Baseline	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Schnei- der, 2003	Patients: written material, reminder, phone call; Providers: education on prevention measures.	Patients and providers	2 months	Pap smear delivered	NA	Baseline: 220,* F/U: 214	56.9%	69%	NO	69 Med.
Geiger, 1993	Physicians educated about providing preventive services in the context of a "health check"	Patients	5 months	Pap smear delivered	NA	Baseline: 24, F/U: 37 [±]	16 (67%)	35 (97%) [†]	NO	 High

Evidence Table 1d. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Pap Smear Delivered: Pre-post Studies.

* Random cross-sectional samples of patients in 1999 and 2000. [†] Not statistically significant.

[±]Chart reviews of new patient physicals

F/U = follow-up; NA = not applicable; PHE = periodic health evaluation.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Belcher, 1990	The intervention group was offered self- referral to a health promotion clinic.	Patients	5 years	A: Counseling on alcohol abuse B: Smoking cessation counseling	Not self- reported	400 (baseline); 260 (F/U)	A: 20% B: 21%	A: 70% [*] B: 71% [†]	NR	Yes [‡]	63 Low
	The comparison group received usual care.					274 (baseline); 192 (F/U)	A: 25% B: 28%	A: 24% B: 30%			

Evidence Table 2a. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Preventive Counseling Delivered: Randomized ControlledTrial.

* *p* <0.05.

 $\dagger p = 0.001.$

[‡]Age, sex, education, practice mix, provider sex, years with physicians and number of visits per year, perceived health status.

F/U = follow-up; CART = comprehensive annotated reminder tool; NR = not reported.

Author,	Description of	Target of	Outcome	Outcome	Ν	F/U	Ad- iusted	Qual.
year	study groups	tion		reported			jusieu	tortilo
				by				leille
				patients				
				or				
				providers				
Lin,	OPD visits	Patients	A: Diet counseling	Not self-	1929	A: 32.6%	Yes*	71
2004	involving an		B: Injury prevention	reported	(baseline)	OR: 1.7;		High
	NP		counseling			95% CI:		•
			C: Physical			(1.2-2.5)		
			activity counseling			B: 8.8%		
			D: Safe sexual			OR: 2.2;		
			practices			95% CI:		
			counseling			(1.3-3.5)		
			E: Tobacco use			C: 14.5%		
			counseling			OR: 1.8;		
						95% CI:		
						(1.2-2.8)		
						D: 12.2%		
						OR: 3.2;		
						95% CI:		
						(1.6-6.3)		
						E: 6.7%		
						OR: 1.7;		
						95% CI:		
						(1.2-2.5)		
	OPD visits not				19096	Reference		
	Involving an				(baseline)	groups		
	NP					A: 22.9%		
						B: 4.6%		
						C: 9.3%		
						D: 3.2%		
						E: 4.3%		

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Flocke, 2004; Eaton, 2002	Well care	Patients	A: Patient diet advice recall ⁷⁴ B: Patient smoking counseling recall ⁷⁴ C: Physical activity patient recall ⁷⁴ D: Nutritional counseling— univariate analysis total n = 3475 ⁹⁸ E: Nutritional counseling— multivariate analysis total n = 3475 ⁹⁸	Patients		A, B, C: OR [†] :1 (reference) D: 41% E: OR: 2.35; 95% CI: (1.78- 3.11) A: OR: 0.44; 95% CI: [†] (0.25- 0.75) B: OR: 0.48; 95%	Yes [‡] (for out- comes A, B, C) No (out- come D) Yes [§] for out- come E	76 High
						Cl: (0.24- 0.97) C: OR: 0.35; 95% Cl: (0.21- 0.57) D: 17% E: OR: 1.00 (reference group)		

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Flocke, 2004; Eaton, 2002 (cont')	Chronic care Other visit					A: OR: 0.47; 95% Cl: (0.28- 0.81) B: OR: 0.74; 95% Cl: (0.31- 1.7) C: OR: 0.72; 95% Cl: (0.44- 1.2) D: 30% E: OR: 1.69; 95% Cl: (1.38- 2.06) A: OR: 0.23; 95% Cl: (0.09- 0.59) B: OR: 0.5; 95% Cl: (0.15- 1.7) C: OR: 0.29; 95% Cl: (0.12- 0.73) D: NR E: OR: 1.45; 95% Cl: (1.03- 2.02)		

Evidence Table 2b. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Prev	ntive Counseling Delivered: Cross-sectional Studies. (continued
--	---

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Tao, 2001	Received a general medical examination	Patients	Percentage of visits in which counseling about family planning or	Providers	356,868,103 visits	% (SE) =40 [∥]	No	53 Low
	Did not receive a general medical examination		contraception was delivered		39,265,75 7 visits	% (SE) = 60% (5)		
Stange, 2000	Well visits	Patients	A: Mean % (SD) receipt of USPTF health habits counseling B: Mean % (SD) receipt of cancer- related health habits counseling	Not self- reported	A and B: 442 (baseline)	A: Mean (SD): 9 (10) B: Mean (SD): 10 (13)	No	74 High
	Illness visits				A and B: 3332 (baseline)	A: Mean (SD): 2 (5) B: Mean (SD): 4 (8)		

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Kottke, 1997	Patients with visit for a health risk appraisal	Providers	Clinic weighted rates at which smoking cessation counseling was offered to		All patients =6830 (baseline patients)	Mean (SD): 0.56 (0.26)	No	64 Med.
	Patients with visit for urgent problem		patients who were not up- to-date at beginning of visit			Mean (SD): 0.40 (0.23)		
	Patients with visit for continuing condition Patients with visit for F/U			Patients		Mean (SD): 0.50 (0.19) Mean (SD): 0.19 (0.27)		
	Patients with other reason for visit					Mean (SD): 0.40 (0.18)		

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Sox, 1997	Received a PHE Usual care ¹	Patients	Recommend dietary change	Patients	Both groups = 2775	Mean (SD): 0.604 (0.128) Mean (SD): 0.520 (0.206)	Yes	63 Med.

*Age sex, provider experience, clinic type, metropolitan status, geographic region of hospital.

[†] p<0.001 for checkup physical examination versus all other groups.
[‡] Visit reason, visit duration, mean health status, time discussing targeted behavior.

Age, sex, race, diabetes, history of myocardial infarction or stroke; history of depression, length of visit; new vs. established patient; number of chronic illness; number of visits in previous year.

SE not available.

¹ Age, sex, education, practice mix, provider sex, years with physician, number of visits per year, perceived health status.

F/U = follow-up; OPD = outpatient department; NP = nurse practitioner; OR = odds ratio; CI; confidence interval; SD = standard deviation; USPSTF = United States Preventive Services Task Force; SE = standard error; PHE = periodic health exam.

Author, year	Description of intervention	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Qual. score tertile
Schnei- der, 2003	Patients: written material, reminder, phone call; Providers: education on prevention measures.	Patients	2 months	A: Exercise counseling B: Diet counseling C: Alcohol counseling D: Substance abuse counseling E: Tobacco cessation counseling	Not self- reported	Baseline: 321, F/U: 356 [∞]	A: 19% B: 29.9% C: 64.2% D: 40.9% E: 67.9%	A: 34.6% B: 38.3% C: 55.3% D: 42.4% E: 63.2%	A: +15.6%* B: +8.4% [†] C: -8.9% [‡] D: +1.5% E: -4.7%	69 Med.
Geiger, 1993	Physicians educated about providing preventive services in the context of a "health check"	Patients	5 months	A: Substance abuse counseling B: Diet counseling C: Oral health counseling (dental care) D: Physical activity counseling	Not self- reported	Baseline: 50, F/U: 53 ^å	A: 4 (8%) B: 12 (24%) C: 2 (9%) D: 6 (12%)	A: 51 (96%) [§] B: 52 (98%) [§] C: 12 (23%) [§] D: 50 (94%) [§]		 High

Evidence Table 2c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Preventive Counseling Delivered: Pre-post Studies.

 $p^* p = 0.001.$

 $\dot{p} = 0.013.$

 $p^{\ddagger} p = 0.012.$

 $p^{\$} p < 0.05.$

^{*} Chart reviews of new patient physicals

^a Randomly selected patient charts

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Patrick, 1999	Medicare beneficiaries (enrolled in a HMO) randomized to preventive services package and to receive a health risk assessment for 2 years	Patients	48 months	Influenza vaccine within last 24 months	Patients	Baseline: 1282 F/U:1211	62%	79%	17%*	No	62 Low
	Usual care					Baseline: 1276 F/U: 1234	66%	78%	12%		
Morrissey, 1995	Full Medicare reimburseme nt and office reminders (intervention group) Control group	Providers and patients	12-26 months	Delivery of influenza vaccine	Not self- reported	Baseline: 231 Baseline:	48%	52%	NR	No	87 High
	5 1					224					

Evidence Table 3a. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Immunizations: Randomized Controlled Trials.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Belcher, 1990	The intervention group was offered self- referral to a health promotion clinic.	re Patients htervention roup was ffered self- eferral to a ealth romotion linic.		Percentage receiving influenza vaccination	Not self- reported	Baseline: 400 F/U: 260	16%	56% [†]	NR	No	Low
	The comparison group received usual care.					Baseline: 274 F/U: 192	16%	67% [†]			

Evidonco Tal	alo 2a Dolivory	r of Drovontivo Ucalth	Caro Sorvicos	Immunizatione	Dandomizod	Controllod Trials	(continued)
Evidence rai	Jie Ja. Delively		Cale Selvices.	inninunizauons.	nanuonnizeu	Controlled mais.	(continueu)

* p < 0.05 for change from baseline to follow-up. [†] Rend test: z-value 2.09, p-value 0.045.

F/U = follow-up; CART = comprehensive annotated reminder tool; NR = not reported; HMO = health maintenance organization.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Freed- man, 2000	Received a periodic health examination	Patients	18 months	A: Received influenza vaccine B: Received tetanus vaccine	Not self- reported	100	NA	A: N (%) = 70 (70); RR (95% CI) = 1.01 (0.8-1.3) B: N (%) = 62 (62); RR (95% CI) = 1.72 (1.1-2.7)	No	75 High
	Received no periodic health examination and attended clinic 3 or more times					36	NA	A: N (%) = 25 (69) (reference group) B: N (%) = 13 (36) (reference group)		

Evidence Table 3b. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Immunizations: Retrospective Cohort Study.

F/U = follow-up; NA = not available; RR = risk ratio; CI = confidence interval.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Hahn, 1999	Received preventive services with HMO insurance	Patients	Received tetanus vaccine	Not self- reported	17032	45%	No	50 Low
	Did not receive preventive services with HMO insurance				16629	36%		
	Received preventive services with FFS insurance				9199	40%		
	Did not receive preventive services with FFS insurance				13425	28%		
Stange, 2000	Well visits	Patients	Mean % receiving USPSTF recommended	Not self- reported	355	Mean (± SD): 16% (± 32)	No	74 High
	Illness visits		vaccinations		3006	Mean (± SD): 2% (± 9)		
Kottke, 1997	Patients with visit for a health risk appraisal	Providers	A: Rate* influenza vaccine offered by providers B: Rate* pneumococcal vaccine offered by providers	Patients	6830	A: Mean (± SD): 0.36 (± 0.37) [†] B: Mean (± SD): 0.10 (± 0.17) [‡]	No	64 Med.

Evidence Table 3c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Immunizations: Cross-sectional Studies.

Evidence Table 3c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Service	vices, Immunizations: cross-sectional studies. (continued)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
				or providers				
Kottke, 1997 (conť)	Patients with visit for urgent problem					A: Mean (± SD): 0.24 (± 0.37) B: Mean (± SD):		
	-					0.02 (± 0.09)		
	Patients with visit for continuing					A: Mean (± SD) : 0.25 (±		
	condition					0.29) B: Mean (± SD): 0.03 (± 0.06)		
	Patients with visit for follow- up					A: Mean (± SD) : 0.36 (± 0.33) B: Mean (± SD): 0.04 (±		
	Patients with other reason for visit					0.08) A: Mean (± SD): 0.20 (± 0.31) B: Mean (± SD): 0.03 (± 0.12)		

Evidence Table 3c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Immunizations: Cross-sectional Studies. (continued)

*Clinic weighted rate across 44 primary care clinics.

[†] p = 0.17 for this group versus all other groups combined.

 $p^{\dagger} = 0.009$ for this group versus all other groups combined.

F/U =follow-up; HMO = health maintenance organization; FFS = fee for service; USPSTF = United States Preventive Services Task Force; SD = standard deviation. Qual. Score = quality score (for assessments of study quality, each reviewer independently judged study quality and rated items on quality assessment forms, scores were calculated by adding quality scores and dividing them by the maximum score for any given category)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	Ν	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. Score tertile
Morrissey, 1995	Full Medicare reimburseme nt and office reminders (intervention group) Control group	Providers and patients	12-26 months	Cholesterol screening performed	Not self- reported	Baseline: 231 Baseline: 224	62% 61%	60% 58%	NR	No	87 High

Evidence Table 4a: Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Cholesterol Screening: Randomized Controlled Trial.

F/U = follow-up; CART = comprehensive annotated reminder tool; NR = not reported.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Finkelstein, 2002	Receive annual health examination or preventive screening No annual health examination or preventive screening	Patients	Cholesterol	Not self- reported	NR	NR	OR (95% Cl): 3.0 (2.0- 4.5) OR (95% Cl): 1.0 (Reference)	Yes	 Med.

Evidence Table 4b. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Cholesterol Screening: Cross-sectional Studies.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Hahn, 1999	Received preventive screening with HMO insurance Did not receive preventive screening with HMO insurance (acute care visit) Received preventive screening with FFS insurance Did not receive preventive screening with FFS insurance (acute care visit)	Patients	Cholesterol test	NA	Baseline: 17032 Baseline: 16629 Baseline: 9199 Baseline: 13425	NR	74% 68% 68%	No	50 Low
Parchman, 2001	Had check-up exam in past year No check-up in past year	Patients	Cholesterol check in last 5 years	Patient	NR	NR	71.3% OR (95% CI): 3.7 (2.8- 4.8) 40.4% (Reference)	No	55 Low

Evidence Table 4b. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Cholesterol Screening: Cross-sectional Studies. (continued)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	Ν	Baseline	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Kottke, 1997	Patients with visit for a health risk appraisal Patients with visit for urgent problem Patients with visit for continuing condition Patients with visit for F/U Patients with other reason for visit	Providers	Clinic weighted rates at which cholesterol testing was offered to patients who were not up-to- date at beginning of visit	Patients	NR	Mean (SD): 0.21 $(0.16)^{\dagger}$ Mean (SD): 0.05 (0.09) Mean (SD): 0.04 (0.06) Mean (SD): 0.08 (0.14) Mean (SD): 0.04 (0.07)	NR	Νο	64 Med.

Evidence Table 4b. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Cholesterol Screening: Cross-sectional Studies. (continued)

Evidence Table 4b. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Cholesterol Screening: Cross-sectional Studies. (continued)

^{*} Age, education, income, residence, has regular doctor.

[†] Compared to all others (combined) p < 0.001.

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported; OR = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval; HMO = health maintenance organization; FFS = fee for service; SD = standard deviation.

Author, year	Description of intervention	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Qual. score tertile
Schnei- der, 2003	Patients: written material, reminder, phone call; Providers: education on prevention measures.	Patients	NR	Cholesterol screening	Not self- reported	Baseline: 455	77.4%	83.4%	+6.0*	69 Med.
Geiger, 1993	Physicians educated about providing preventive services in the context of a "health check"	Patients	5 months	Total cholesterol testing	Not self- reported	Baseline: 50 F/U: 53 ^ä	32 (64%)	52 (98%) [†]	NR	 High

Evidence Table 4c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Cholesterol Screening: Pre-post Studies.

* p = 0.068.

[†]*p*-value not significant. ^a Randomly selected patient charts

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Morrissey, 1995	Full Medicare reimburse- ment and office reminders (intervention group) Control group	Providers and patients	12-26 months	Fecal occult blood test delivered	Not self- reported	Baseline: 231 Baseline: 224	55%	91% 43%	NR	No	 High
Belcher, 1990	The intervention group was offered self- referral to a health promotion clinic. The comparison group received usual care.	NR	5-year	Fecal occult blood testing performed.	Not self- reported	Baseline 400, F/U: 260 Baseline 274, F/U:192	24%	20%	*	No	63 Low

* p < 0.05 for change from baseline to follow-up. F/U = follow-up; CART = comprehensive annotated reminder tool; NR = not reported; HME = health maintenance exam.

Author, year	Description of study	Target of interven-	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self-	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score
	groups	tion			reported by patients or providers						tertile
Williams, 1998	Intervention: (touch- sensitive computer system) with HME	Patients and providers (providers: primary care study	12 months	A: Flexible sigmiodoscopy B: Fecal occult blood test	Not self- reported	NR	A: 4.8% B: 2.8%	A: 5.3% B: 4.3%	A: 0.5% B: 1.5%	Yes [†]	76 High
	Intervention: (touch- sensitive computer system) not receiving HME	practices =unit of analysis)					A: 4.4% B: 17%	A: 6.9% B: 12.8%	A: 2.5% B: -4.2%		
	Control (no computer system) with HMF						A: 8.7% B: 20.3%	A: 12.3% B: 14.7%	A: 3.6% B: -5.6%		
	Control (no computer system)not receiving HMF						A: 4.2% B: 5.5%	A: 2.9% B: 3.1%	A: -1.3% B: -2.4%		

Evidence Table 5b. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Colon Cancer Screening: Retrospective Cohort Study.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Qual. score tertile
Hahn, 1999	Received preventive services with HMO insurance	Patients	A: Sigmoidoscopy B. Fecal occult blood testing	Not self- reported	Baseline: 17032	A: 29% B: 41%	 Low
	Did not receive preventive services with HMO insurance (acute care visit)				Baseline: 16629	A: 21% B: 27%	
	Received preventive services with FFS insurance				Baseline: 9199	A: 21% B: 35%	
	Did not receive preventive services with FFS insurance (acute care visit)	1			Baseline: 13425	A: 15% B: 20%	

Evidence Table 5c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Colon Cancer Screening: Cross-sectional Studies.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Qual. score tertile
Sox, 1997	Received a PHE Usual care	Patients and providers	A: Mean proportion of persons in each practice receiving sigmoidoscopy B: Mean proportion of persons in each practice receiving fecal occult blood testing	Yes (patients)	Baseline: both groups=27 75	A: Mean (SD): 0.158 (0.134)* B: Mean (SD): 0.504 (0.264) [†] A: Mean (SD): 0.126 (0.179) B: Mean (SD): 0.307 (0.267)	63 Med.

Evidence Table 5c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Colon Cancer Screening: Cross-sectional Studies. (continued)

* p = 0.04 between groups.

[†] p < 0.001 between groups.

F/U = follow-up; HMO = health maintenance organization; FFS = fee for service; SD = standard deviation; PHE = periodic health exam.

Author, year	Description of intervention	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Qual. score tertile
Schnei- der, 2003	Patients: written material, reminder, phone call; Providers: education on prevention measures.	Patients and providers	2 months	A: Percentage receiving fecal occult test. B: Percentage receiving sigmoidoscopy	Not self- reported	A: Baseline 303 B: Baseline 296 F/U 296	A: 40% B: 30.5%	A: 54.2% B: 39.9%	A: 14.2%* B: 9.4% [†]	69 Med.

Evidence Table 5d. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Colon Cancer Screening: Pre-post Study.

p = 0.01.

 $^{\dagger}p = 0.06.$

 $\dot{F}/U =$ follow-up.

Evidence Table 6a. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Mammogram Delivered: Randomized Controlled Trial.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Morri- ssey, 1995	Full Medicare reimbursement and office reminders (intervention group) Control group	Providers and patients	12-26 months	Delivery of mammogram	Not self- reported	231	33%	43%	NR	No	 High

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported.

Evidence Table 6b.	Delivery of Preventive	Health Care Services	. Mammogram Deli	ivered: Retrospective Co	ohort Study.
			, manning an boi		Julion Columy.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Williams, 1998	Intervention: (touch- sensitive computer system) with HME	Patients and providers: patients receiving HME	12 months	Delivery of mammogram	Not self- reported	Total N = 507 (random sample of 9858 patients)	37.2%	47.6%	10.4%*	No	76 High
	Intervention: (touch- sensitive computer system) not receiving HME	during study year					18.1%	20.8%	2.7%		
	Control (no computer system) with HME						64.1%	44.2%	-19.9%*		
	Control (no computer system)not receiving HME						10.8%	11%	0.2%		

* p < 0.05 (comparing baseline and follow-up). F/U = follow-up; HME = health maintenance exam; NR = not reported.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
				or providers				
Somkin, 2004	Check-up in last 12 months No check-up in last 12 months	Patients	Received mammogram	Patients	1463	OR: 2.28; 95% CI: (1.68-3.0) 1.0 (Reference)	Yes*	77 High
Tao, 2001	Received a general medical examination Did not receive a general medical examination	Patients	Received mammogram	Providers	NA	45% 55%	No	53 Low
Finkelstein, 2002	Received an annual health examination/ preventive screening No annual health examination/ preventive screening	Patients	Received mammogram	Not self- reported	Total= 2232	OR: 3.89; 95% CI: (2.5-6.1) 1.0 (Reference)	Yes⁺	Med.

Evidence Table 6c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Mammogram Delivered: Cross-sectional Studies.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Hahn, 1999	Received preventive services with HMO insurance	Patients	Received mammogram	Not self- reported	17032	87%	No	 Low
	Did not receive preventive services with HMO insurance				16629	60%		
	Received preventive services with FFS insurance				9199	83%		
	Did not receive preventive services with FFS insurance				13425	46%		
Parchman, 2001	Check-up in past year No check-up in past year	Patients	Received mammogram in past 2 years	Patients	Total= 1409	65.2% OR: 5.8; 95% CI: (2.5-13.4) 24.4% 1.0	No	55 Low

Evidence Table 6c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Mammogram Delivered: Cross-sectional Studies. (continued)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Kottke, 1997	Patients with visit for a physical examination or check-up Patients with visit for urgent problem Patients with visit for continuing condition Patients with visit for F/U Patients with visit for other reason	Providers	Rate [‡] mammograms offered by providers	Patients	Total = 6830	Mean (± SD): 0.38 (± 0.35) [§] Mean (± SD): 0.21 (± 0.30) Mean (± SD): 0.13 (± 0.17) Mean (± SD): 0.14 (± 0.18) Mean (± SD): 0.21 (± 0.20)	No	64
Nutting, 2001	Had annual examination Had chronic care visit		Mammogram recommended by physician	Providers		OR: (A) 4.5; (B) 8.1 95% CI: (A) (3.2- 6.3); (B) (3.3-20.1) 1.0 (Reference)	Yes	 Low
Sox, 1997	Received a PHE Usual care	Patients	Mean proportion of patients receiving mammogram	Patients	2775	Mean (± SD): 0.736 (± 0.191) [¶] Mean (± SD): 0.414 (± 0.317)	Yes [#]	63 Med.

Evidence Table 6c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Mammogram Delivered: Cross-sectional Studies. (continued)

Evidence Table 6c. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Mammogram Delivered: cross-sectional studies. (continued)

* Age, race, insurance, education, language, years in U.S., annual household income.

[†]Age, income, residence, patient has regular physician.

[‡]Clinic weighted rate across 44 primary care clinics.

 ${}^{\$}_{"}p = 0.003$ for this group versus all other groups combined.

^IModel A: adjusted for physician characteristics: sex, training level, knowledge, beliefs, past experiences; Model B: adjusted for patient and physician characteristics: patient history and beliefs. physician sex, training level, knowledge, beliefs, past experiences.

[#]Age, sex, education, practice mix, provider's sex, number of years with physician; number of visits per year; perceived health status.

¶*p* <0.001.

F/U = follow-up; OR=odds ratio; CI=confidence interval; NA = not applicable; HMO = health maintenance organization; FFS = fee for service; SD = standard deviation; PHE = periodic health exam.
Author, year	Description of study Groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Schnei- der, 2003	Patients: written material, reminder, phone call; Providers: education on prevention measures	Patients and providers	2 months	Mammogram delivered	NA	Baseline: 220* F/U: 214	70.1%	80.2% [†]	No	69 Med.
Geiger, 1993	Physicians educated about providing preventive services in the context of a "health check"	Patients	5 months	Mammogram delivered	NR	Baseline: 15 F/U: 23	7 (47%)	23 (100%) [†]	No	 High

Evidence Table 6d. Delivery of Preventive Health Care Services, Mammogram Delivered: Pre-post Studies.

* Random cross-sectional samples of patients in 1999 and 2000.

[†]Not statistically significant.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome: disease detected	Outcome self- reported	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
					by patients or						
					providers						
Stone, 1981; Stone, 1978;SE London, 1977; SE London, 2001; Trevelyan, 1973; Stone, 1978	The intervention group were South London patients aged 40 to 64 years in specific group practices; received 2 multiphasic screenings 2	Patients	5 years after initial screening	A: Angina ⁷⁶ B: High diastolic blood pressure ⁷⁶ C: Ischemia on electrocardio- gram ⁷⁶ D: Bronchitis symptoms ⁷⁶	Patients (questionn aire)	1978		A: 21.9% B: 2.8% C: 17.9% D: 29.0%	NR	Yes*	68 Med.
	years apart. The comparison group consisted of South London patients aged 40 to 64 years in specific group practices; received usual care.					1950		A: 22.4% B: 3.1% C: 16.6% D: 30.6%			

Evidence Table 7a. Proximal Clinical Outcome, Disease Detection: Randomized Controlled Trials.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome: disease detected	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- juste d	Qual. score tertile
Fletcher, 1977	Multiphasic screening group Medical chart abstraction group (physicians given abstracted information about patients from chart) Physicians reviewed	Providers	1 year	A: Disease detection of ALL problems before and after intervention (number of new medical problems detected at F/U) B: Disease detection of important problems before and after	Not self- reported	36 40 36	A: N = 169 B: N = 98 A: N = 144 B: N = 95 A: N = 181 B: N = 100	A: N = 246 B: N =123 A: N = 158 B: N = 101 A: N = 185 B: N =100	NR	No	70 Med.
	reviewed patients chart			and after intervention			B: N = 100	B: N =100			

					<i>.</i>
Evidence Table 72	Proximal Clinical	Outcome Disease	Detection: Randomize	d Controlled Trials	(continued)
		outcomo, biocuoc	Dottootion. Runaoniii.		(ooninaca)

* Age, sex, smoking, lipids, blood pressure, diabetes, social class, general practice group.

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome: disease detected	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Hama, 2001	Pre- assignment medical exam 1 year before assignment Mo pre- assignment medical exam 1 year before assignment	Patients	1 year	A: Cardiac arrhythmia B: Neurological problems C: Hyperlipidemia D: GI ulcers E: Hypertension F: Severe obesity (BMI >28.6 kg/m ²) G: Proteinuria	Not self- reported	196 44	A: 0% B: 0% C: 3.1% D: 0.5% E: 4.1% F: 0.5% G: 1.5% A: 2.3% B: 2.3% C: 15.9% [†] D: 0% E: 11.4% F: 4.5% [†] G: 0%	Yes*	73 High

Evidence Table 7b. Proximal Clinical Outcome, Disease Detection: Retrospective Cohort Study.

* Age, sex, smoking, lipids, blood pressure, diabetes, social class, general practice group.

[†] Odds ratio (95% confidence interval) for group C = 5.86 (1.94-17.74) and for group F = 10.99 (1.58-76.63).

F/U = follow-up; GI = gastro-intestinal; BMI = body mass index.

Evidence Table 8. Proximal Clinical Outcome, Change in Health Habits: Randomized Controlled Trials	Evidence ⁻	Table 8.	Proximal Clin	cal Outcome.	Change in	Health Ha	abits: Rand	Iomized Co	ontrolled Tria	ls.
--	-----------------------	----------	----------------------	--------------	-----------	-----------	-------------	------------	----------------	-----

Author, year	Description of study Groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Patrick, 1999	Medicare beneficiaries (enrolled in a HMO) randomized to preventive services package and to receive a health risk assessment for 2 years	Patients	24 months	Improvement in A: Physical activity B: Diet (fat and fiber) C: Advance directives D: Breast self- exam E: Smoking F: Alcohol G: Seat belt use	Patients	Baseline: 1282 F/U:1211	NR	NR	A: 27%* B: 19% C: 35% [†] D: 21% E: 2% F: 6% G: 10%	No	62 Low
	Usual care					Baseline: 1276 F/U: 1234			A: 21% B: 17% C: 18% D: 17% E: 3% F: 7% G: 12%		

Evidence	Table 8.	Proximal	Clinical	Outcome.	Change	in Health	Habits:	Randomized	Controlled	Trials.	(continued)
Lingence	Table 0.	1 I OAIIIIai	Onnical	outcome,	onunge	minican	i naono.	Kanaonnizca	Controlled	inais.	(continuca)

Author, year	Description of study Groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Elder, 1995; Mayer, 1994	Medicare beneficiaries receiving a health promotion workshop including a health risk appraisal	NR	48 months	A: Fiber servings per day ⁵⁴ B: Fat servings per week ⁵⁴ C: Salt use ⁵⁴ D: Caffeine drinks per day ⁵⁴ E: Stretching minutes per week ⁵⁴ F: Consumption of cruciferous foods ⁵⁴	Patients	Baseline: 405 F/U: 405	Mean (SD): A: 5.89 (0.98) B: 2.76 (0.99) C: 2.88 (0.92) D: 2.16 (0.79) E: 14.98 (22.75) F: 1.89 (0.64)	Mean (SD): A: 6.01(1.0 0) B: 2.63 (0.89) C: 2.85 (0.92) D: 2.09 (0.71) E: 20.3 (27.43) [†] F: 1.93 (0.65)	NR	No	75 Med.
	Usual care					393 F/U: 393	A: 5.75 (0.92) B: 2.77 (0.99) C: 2.88 (0.96) D: 2.23 (0.78) E: 19.23 (27.00) F: 1.8 (0.62)	A: 5.87 (0.94) B: 2.65 (0.87) C: 2.87 (0.93) D: 2.21 (0.74) E: 17.9 (25.01) F: 1.85 (0.62)			

Evidence Table & Provimal Clinical Outcome	Change in Health Habits: Pandomized Controlled Trials	continued)
Evidence Table 6. Froximal Clinical Outcome	Change in Realth Rabits. Randomized Controlled Mais. (continueu)

Author, year	Description of study Groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Burton, 1995; German, 1995; Burton, 1997; Burton, 1995	Received coverage for an annual preventive visit and tests (Medicare vouchers for 2 free preventive visits)	Patients	2 years	A: Smoking ⁷⁸ B: Problem alcohol drinking ⁷⁸	Patients	Baseline (of 1573): A: 241 B: 79			A: -24.2% B: -57%	No	76 Hlgh
	No coverage for an annual preventive visit and tests	-				Baseline (of 1524): A: 252 B: 85			A: -17.9% B:-67.1%		

Evidence	Table 8	Proximal	Clinical	Outcome	Change	in F	lealth	Habits.	Randomiz	ed Co	ntrolled	Trials ((continued)
Lviuence	Table 0.	FIOAIIIIai	Chinical	outcome,	Change		Icalli	navits.	Nanuonniz	eu co	nuoneu	111015.	(continueu)

Author, year	Description of study Groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Stone, 1981; Stone, 1978; South- east London, 1977; Treve- Iyan, 1973; South- east London,	The intervention group were South London patients aged 40 to 64 years in specific group practices; received 2 multiphasic screenings 2 years apart.	Patients	5 years	Percentage still smoking ⁷	Patients	Baseline: 1651	NR	51.5	NR	No	68 Med.
2001	The comparison group consisted of South London patients aged 40 to 64 years in specific group practices; received usual care.					Baseline: 1950		50.8			

Evidence	Table 8.	Proximal	Clinical	Outcome.	Change	in Healt	h Habits:	Randomized	Controlled	Trials.	(continued)
=	1 4010 01	.	emean	• ac• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	enange	munoun		I Called a			(0011011000)

Author, year	Description of study Groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
OX- CHECK, 1995; Lang- ham, 1996	Intervention group: Health check at baseline	Patients	3 years	A: Smoking ⁵⁹ B: Alcohol use ⁵⁹ C: Exercise less than once per month ⁵⁹ D: Use full cream milk ⁵⁹ E: Use butter or hard margarine ⁵⁹	NR	Baseline: 2205 F/U: 1660	NR	A: 356 (21.4) B: 156 (9.4) C: 1094 (66.5) D: 300 (18.5) E: 303 (18.3)	A: Diff (95% CI)* 5.0 (2.2- 7.8) B: 1.6 (-0.42- 0.04) C: 4.5 (1.4-7.5) D: 12.1 (9.4-26. 0) E: 12.4 (9.6-15.2)	NR	65 High
	Control group: No health check at baseline					Baseline: 2783 F/U: 1916		A: 506 (26.4) B: 210 (11.0) C: 1354 (70.9) D: 587 (30.6) E: 587 (30.7)			

* p = 0.020.

 $p^{\dagger} = 0.020$. $p^{\dagger} = 0.000$. $p^{\dagger} = 0.0002$.

F/U = follow-up; HMO = health maintenance organization; NR = not reported; SD = standard deviation; NR = not reported; CI = confidence interval.

Qual. Score = quality score (for assessments of study quality, each reviewer independently judged study quality and rated items on quality assessment forms, scores were calculated by adding quality scores and dividing them by the maximum score for any given category)

**Data does not contribute to findings reported in summary tables but displayed here for completeness.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	Z	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Patrick, 1999	Medicare beneficiaries (enrolled in a HMO) randomized to preventive services package and to receive a health risk assessment for 2 years	Patients	24 months	Mean score health worry*	Patients	Baseline: 1282 F/U: 1089	3.09	3.51	0.42	NR	62 Low
	Usual care					Baseline: 1276 F/U: 1144	2.94	3.63	0.69		

Evidence Table 9. Proximal Clinical Outcome, Patient Attitudes: Randomized Controlled Trials.

* Larger values indicate worse health. [†] p = 0.047.

F/U = follow-up; HMO = health maintenance organization; NR = not reported.

Fvidence	Table 10.	Proximal	Clinical	Outcomes.	Health	Status:	Randomized	Controlled	Trials.
Lingenee		1 I O AIIII ai	onnear	outcomes,	neann	otatus.	Kanaonnizca	Controlled	inais.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Patrick, 1999	Medicare beneficiaries (enrolled in a HMO) randomized to preventive services package for 2 years Usual Care	Patients	24 months	Change in health status (on Quality of Well-Being Scale) ⁵³	Patients	Baseline: 1134 F/U: 1134 (excluded deaths) Baseline:	0.71	0.70	-0.01‡ 0.00	No	62 Low
						1176 F/U: 1176 (excluded deaths)					
Burton, 1995; German, 1995; Burton, 1997; Burton, 1995	Received coverage for an annual preventive visit and tests (Medicare vouchers for 2 free preventive visits)	Patients	A: baseline to 2 years B: 2 years to 4 years	Change in health status (on Quality of Well Being Scale) of intervention and control groups from baseline to 2 years ⁷⁹ or from 2 to 4 years after intervention ⁸⁰	Patients	Baseline: 1748	NR	NR	A: - 0.0631† B: - 0.091‡	No	 High
	No coverage for an annual preventive visit and tests					Baseline: 1755			A: - 0.0832 B: -0.084		

* Difference from control at follow-up.

F/U =follow-up; NR =not reported

Qual. Score = quality score (for assessments of study quality, each reviewer independently judged study quality and rated items on quality assessment forms, scores were calculated by adding quality scores and dividing them by the maximum score for any given category)

†p=0.0109

‡not statistically significant

Author, year	Description of study Groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Elder, 1995; Mayer, 1994	Medicare beneficiaries receiving a health promotion workshop including a health risk appraisal	NR	48 months	A: Mean systolic blood pressure at 12 months ⁵⁴ B: Mean diastolic blood pressure at 12 months ⁵⁴	Patients	Baseline: 899	Mean (SD) A: 139.21 (18.79) B: 75.06 (10.46)	Mean (SD) A: 135.5 (16.12) B: 71.05 (9.21)	NR	No	75 Med.
	Usual care					Baseline: 901	Mean (SD) A: 140.00 (18.32) B: 74.56 (9.85)	Mean (SD) A: 137.44 (16.94) B: 71.36 (9.49)			
OX- CHECK, 1995; Lang- ham, 1996	Intervention group: Health check at baseline Control group: No health check at baseline	Patients	3 years	A: Systolic blood pressure at 3- year follow up ⁵⁹ B: Diastolic blood pressure at 3- year follow up ⁵⁹ C: Proportion of high risk diastolic pressure (≥100mm Hg) from 3 year F/U when compared to control ⁵⁹	NR	Baseline: 2205 F/U: 1660 F/U: 1916	Mean (SD) A: 126.5 (19.3) B: 75.7 (11.6) C: 3.3% NR	Mean (SD) A: 126.8 (19.6) B:75.7 (11.5) C: 3.4% Mean (SD) A: 129 (20.4) B: 77.2 (11.7)	Mean (SD) A: 2.2* CI (0.9,3.5) B: 1.5* CI (0.7,2.3); C: 1.2%* CI (-0.1,2.5) NR	NR	65 High

Evidence Table 11a. Proximal Clinical Outcome, Blood Pressure: Randomized Controlled Trials. (continued)

*Difference from control at follow-up

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported; CI = confidence interval (95%); SD = standard deviation

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome: disease detected	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Hama, 2001	Pre- assignment medical exam 1 year before assignment	Patients	1 year	A: Mean systolic blood pressure B: Mean diastolic blood pressure C: Proportion of hypertension	Not self- reported	196	Mean(SD) A: 122 (13.6)† B: 74.9 (11.7)‡ C: 4.1%	Yes*	73 High
	No pre- assignment medical exam 1 year before assignment					44	Mean(SD) A: 122.2 (12.9) B: 76.3 (10.6) C: 11.4%		

Evidence Table 11b. Proximal Clinical Outcome, Blood Pressure: Retrospective Cohort Study.

* Age, sex, smoking, lipids, blood pressure, diabetes, social class, general practice group.

F/U = follow-up; SD = standard deviation

Qual. Score = quality score (for assessments of study quality, each reviewer independently judged study quality and rated items on quality assessment forms, scores were calculated by adding quality scores and dividing them by the maximum score for any given category)

†p=0.914 for comparison between pre-assignment group and group not receiving pre-assignment

[‡]p=0.468 for comparison between pre-assignment group and group not receiving pre-assignment

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
OX- CHECK, 1995; Lang- ham, 1996	Intervention group: Health check at baseline	Patients	36 months	A: Mean total cholesterol at 3- year F/U ⁵⁹ B: Proportion of high risk cholesterol	NR	Baseline: 2205; F/U: 1660	Mean (SD) A: 5.99 (1.10) B: 3.9%	Mean (SD) A: 5.93 (1.06) B: 3.1%	A: 0.25* Cl (0.18, 0.33) B: 4.7%* Cl (3.2,6.2)	NR	65 High
	Control group: No health check at baseline			(≥8mmol/I) at 3 year F/U ⁵⁹		F/U: 1916	NR	Mean (SD) A: 6.18 (1.17) B: 7.8%	NR		

Evidence Table 12a. Proximal Clinical Outcome, Changes in Serum Cholesterol: Randomized Controlled Trial.

* Difference from control at follow-up.

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported; CI = confidence interval; SD = standard deviation

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome: disease detected	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Hama, 2001	Pre- assignment medical exam 1 year before assignment	Patients	1 year	A: Mean total cholesterol B: Mean LDL cholesterol C: Mean triglycerides D: Mean HDL cholesterol E: Proportion of hyperlipidemia	Not self- reported	A-D:94 E: 196	Mean(SD) A: 204.9 (31.1)† B: 117.6 (33.4)‡ C:144.9 (120)§ D: 58.2 (15.1)€ E: 3.1%¥	Yes*	73 High
	No pre- assignment medical exam 1 year before assignment					A-D: 21 E: 44	Mean(SD) A: 187.8 (51.0) B: 117.1 (36.7) C: 124.7 (63.0) D: 57.3 (16.4) E: 15.9%		

Evidence Table 12b. Proximal Clinical Outcome, Changes in Serum Cholesterol: Retrospective Cohort Study.

* Age, sex, smoking, lipids, blood pressure, diabetes, social class, general practice group.

 ± 0.028 for comparison of those receiving pre-assignment medical examination versus those not receiving pre-assignment medical examination ± 0.944 for comparison of those receiving pre-assignment medical examination versus those not receiving pre-assignment medical examination ± 0.416 for comparison of those receiving pre-assignment medical examination versus those not receiving pre-assignment medical examination ± 0.999 for comparison of those receiving pre-assignment medical examination versus those not receiving pre-assignment medical examination ± 0.05 for comparison of those receiving pre-assignment medical examination versus those not receiving pre-assignment medical examination ± 0.05 for comparison of those receiving pre-assignment medical examination versus those not receiving pre-assignment medical examination ± 0.05 for comparison of those receiving pre-assignment medical examination versus those not receiving pre-assignment medical examination versus

F/U = follow-up; LDL = low-density lipoprotein; HDL = high-density lipoprotein; SD = standard deviation

Evidence Table 13	a. Proximal Clinical Outcomes	Body Mass Index:	Randomized Controll	ed Trials.
	a. I Toximal Clinical Outcomes	, Douy mass much		eu mais.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	Ν	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Patrick, 1999	Medicare beneficiaries (enrolled in a HMO) randomized to preventive services package and to receive a health risk assessment for 2 years Usual care	Patients	48 months	A: At risk for obesity, 24-month F/U	Patients	Baseline: 1282; F/U:1211 Baseline: 1276; F/U: 1234			A: -3% A: -4%	No	62 Low
Elder, 1995; Mayer, 1994	Medicare beneficiaries receiving a health promotion workshop including a health risk appraisal Usual care	NR	48 months	A: Mean BMI at 24 months (end of intervention period) ⁵⁴ B: Mean BMI at 48 months (end of F/U) ⁵⁴	Patients	Baseline, 405** Baseline, 393**	Mean (SD) 26.15 (3.96) Mean (SD) 25.72 (3.81)	Mean (SD) A: 25.92 (3.93) B: 26.21 (4.33) Mean (SD) A: 25.8 (3.82) B: 26.06 (4.08)	NR	No	 Med.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- juste d	Qual. score tertile
OX- CHECK, 1995; Lan- gham, 1996	Intervention group: Health check at baseline	Patients	36 months	A: Mean BMI at 3- year F/U ⁵⁹ B: Percentage of participants with BMI ≥ 30 ⁵⁹	NR	Baseline: 2205; F/U: 1660	Mean (SD) A: 25.88 (4.21) B: 13.5%	Mean (SD) A: 25.89 (4.14) B: 14.3%	A: 0.37* CI (0.9,0.65) B: 2.4%* CI (0.0,4.7)	NR	65 High
	Control group: No health check at baseline					F/U: 1916	NR	Mean (SD) A: 26.26 (4.31) B: 15.9%	NR		

	Evidence Table 13a	a. Proximal Clinical Outcomes,	Body Mass Index:	Randomized Controlle	d Trials.	(continued)
--	--------------------	--------------------------------	-------------------------	----------------------	-----------	-------------

* Difference from control at follow-up

** Sample completing 4-year follow-up

F/U = follow-up; BMI = body mass index; NR = not reported; HMO = health maintenance organization; CI = confidence interval; SD = standard deviationQual. Score = quality score (for assessments of study quality, each reviewer independently judged study quality and rated items on quality assessment forms, scores werecalculated by adding quality scores and dividing them by the maximum score for any given category)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome: disease detected	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Hama, 2001	Pre- assignment medical exam 1 year before assignment	Patients	1 year	A: Mean BMI; B: Proportion of severe obesity (BMI ≥ 28.6)	Not self- reported	196	Mean(SD) A: 23.8† (3.0) B: 0.5%‡	Yes*	73 High
	No pre- assignment medical exam 1 year before assignment					44	Mean(SD) A: 24.8 (4.6) B: 4.5%		

Evidence Table 13b. Proximal Clinical Outcomes, Body Mass Index: Retrospective Cohort Study.

* Age, sex, smoking, lipids, blood pressure, diabetes, social class, general practice group.

F/U = follow-up; BMI = body mass index; SD = standard deviation.

Qual. Score = quality score (for assessments of study quality, each reviewer independently judged study quality and rated items on quality assessment forms, scores were calculated by adding quality scores and dividing them by the maximum score for any given category)

† p=0.068 for persons receiving pre-assignment examination versus those not receiving pre-assignment examination

‡p<0.05 for persons receiving pre-assignment examination versus those not receiving pre-assignment examination

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
					0r providers						
Cutler.	Intervention	Patients	11 vears	A: Average annual	Not self-	Sub-	NR	A: \$32	NR	No	56
1973;	group:			cost for physician	reported	sample of		B: \$43			Low
Collen,	California			visit per participant	•	larger		C: \$36			
1973;	Kaiser Health			at 7 years (men,		study-		D: \$59			
Dales,	Plan members			aged 45-54 years at		A and C:					
1973;	aged 35-54			baseline)41		1229					
Ram-	years			B: Average annual							
charan,	encouraged to			cost for physician							
1973; Eriod	nave			visit per participant							
man	checkup			at 11 years (men,							
1986 [.]	California			haseline) ⁹⁴		A and C:		Δ· \$28			
Dales.	Kaiser Health			C: Average annual		1364		B: \$41			
1979;	Plan members			expense per				C: \$10			
Norin-	aged 35-54			participant in multi-				D: \$23			
der,	years received			phasic health							
2002	usual care			checkup expense at							
				7 years. (men, aged							
				45-54 years at							
				baseline)"							
				D: Average annual							
				expense per							
				paracipant in multi-							
				checkup expense at							
				11 years. (men.							
				aged 45-54 years at							
				baseline) ⁹⁴							

Evidence Table 14a. Economic Outcomes, Costs: Randomized Controlled Trials.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	Ν	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Burton, 1995; German, 1995; Burton, 1997; Burton, 1995	Received coverage for an annual preventive visit and tests (Medicare vouchers for 2 free preventive visits) No coverage for an annual preventive visit and tests	NR	2 to 4 years (interven- tion duration = 2 years)	A: Total health care charges, Year 1 ⁵⁶ B: Total health care charges, Year 2 ⁵⁶ C: Mean monthly Medicare Part A charges, Year 1 ⁵⁶ D. Mean monthly Medicare Part A, charges Year 2 ⁵⁶ E. Mean monthly Medicare Part A charges Year 3 (1 year post- intervention) ⁵⁶ F. Mean monthly Medicare Part A charges Year 4 (2 years post- intervention) ⁵⁶	Not self- reported	A,C: 2105 B,D: 2020 E: 2105 (baseline), 1573 (F/U) F: 1573 (baseline), 1382 (F/U) A,C: 2090 B,D: 1971 E: 2090 (baseline), 1524 (F/U) F: 1524 (baseline), 1380 (F/U)	NR	A: \$8,826,078 B: \$10,735,142 C: \$205 D: \$264 E: \$242 F: \$281 A: \$8,991,063 B: \$11,014,199 C: \$216 D: \$274 E: \$267 F: \$298	NR	Yes*	76 High

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Morrissey, 1995	Full Medicare reimbursement and office reminders (intervention group) Control group	Physicians and patients	2- year interven- tion, follow-up to one year post inter- vention	A: 3-year post- intervention cumulative Medicare charges. B: 3-year post- intervention cumulative Medicare reimbursement (2 years of intervention and one year following)	Not self- reported	A: 954 B: 954 A: 960 B: 960	NR	A: \$8,937◊ (S.D. 17,009) B: \$4,607 [®] (S.D. 8463) A: \$10,143 (SD 21,143) B: \$5110 (SD 10024)	NR	No	87 High

Evidence Table 14a. Economic Outcomes, Costs: Randomized Controlled Trials. (continued)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	Ν	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Patrick, 1999	Medicare beneficiaries (enrolled in a HMO) randomized to preventive services package and to receive a health risk assessment for 2 years		48 months	Average total cost per participant	NR	1282	Year prior to interven- tion: \$3595 [†]	24 months: [∥] \$3564 48 months: [∥] \$3998 [‡]	NR	No	62 Low
	Usual care	1				1276	Year prior to interven- tion: \$3414	24 months: \$3300 48 months: \$4010			

Evidence Table 14a. Economic Outcomes, Costs: Randomized Controlled Trials. (continued)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
OX- CHECK, 1995; Lang- ham, 1996	Intervention group: Health check at baseline Control group: No health check at baseline	Patients	36 months (interventio n group)	Cost effectiveness: cost per 1% reduction in coronary risk using Dundee risk scores	NR	Baseline 2205: F/U: 1660 1916		Men: 1.63 Women: 1.22 All: 1.46	NR	No	65 High

Evidence Table 14a. Economic Outcomes, Costs: Randomized Controlled Trials. (continued)

* Time.

 $^{\dagger} p = 0.392.$

 $p^{\ddagger} p = 0.320.$

These costs do not include \$294 per patient cost of the preventive services delivered as the intervention. These costs do not include \$186 per patient cost of the preventive services delivered as the intervention.

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported; SD = standard deviation.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Burton, 2002	Exposed group: executives eligible for and receiving the periodic health examination Unexposed group: executives eligible for but not participating in the periodic health examination	Patients	3 years	Average cost in medical claims paid per employee	providers Not self- reported	727	\$5361* \$6426*	Yes [†]	 Low

Evidence Table 14b. Economic Outcomes, Costs: Retrospective Cohort Studies.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
					by				
					or				
					providers				
Bernacki,	Exposed	Patients	3 years	Health care claims	Not self-	315	\$1039	No	48
1988	group:			cost per capita in	reported				Low
	corporation			Year 3					
	executives								
	eligible for								
	PPE and								
	receiving 3								
	PPEs during								
	3-year study								
	period	-					A ====		
	Exposed					314	\$588		
	group:								
	corporation								
	executives								
	eligible for								
	PPE and								
	01 Z PPES								
	ctudy poriod								
						Q1	¢150		
	droup:					01	φ 4 52		
	group.								
	executives								
	eligible for								
	PPE and not								
	receiving a								
	PPE durina								
	the 3-year								
	study period								

Evidence Table 14b. Economic Outcomes, Costs: Retrospective Cohort Studies. (continued)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
					or				
Grimaldi, 1965	Exposed group: corporation middle management employees opting to participate in PPE Unexposed group: corporation middle management employees opting not to participate in PPE Unexposed group: employees from another site not offered the	Patients	8 years	Mean medical expense per claim	NR	74 26 94	\$292.03 ^µ \$529.58 \$393.75	No	37 Low
	PPE								

Evidence Table 14b. Economic Outcomes, Costs: Retrospective Cohort Studies. (continued)

p = 0.0263.

[†] Age, sex.

 $^{\mu}$ t=3.147 for comparison with unexposed corporation middle manager group

F/U = follow-up; PPE = periodic physical examination; NR = not reported.

Evidence Table 14c Economic Outcomes,	Costs: Cross-sectional Studies.
---------------------------------------	---------------------------------

Author, year	Descriptio n of study groups	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Nakanishi, 1996	Japanese adults aged 40 years and older in National Health Insurance program	Receipt of health checkup(s) in 1992; outcomes measured in May 1993	A: Inpatient cost per insured person (yen) correlated with rate of use of health check-ups B: High inpatient cost (600,000 yen or more) correlated with rate of use of health check-ups C: Outpatient cost per insured person correlated with rate of use of health check-ups		227,581	A: CC = -0.724* B: CC = -0.625 [‡] C: CC = -0.454 [§]	Yes [†]	72 High

* p = 0.014.

[†] Age, sex. [‡] p = 0.036. [§] p = 0.110.

F/U = follow-up; CC = correlation coefficient.

Author, year	Descriptio n of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Stone, 1981; South- east London, 1977; South- east London, 2001; Stone, 1978a; Stone, 1978b; Trevelyan, 1973	The intervention group were South London patients aged 40 to 64 years in specific group practices; received 2 multiphasic screenings 2 years apart. The comparison group consisted of South London patients aged 40 to 64 years in specific group practices; received usual care.	Patients	5 years	Major disability (e.g., inability to dress or undress themselves) ⁷	Patients	1978	NR	2.5%*	NA	Yes [⊺]	<u>68</u> Med.

Evidence Table 15a. Distal Economic Outcomes, Disability: Randomized Controlled Trials.

Author, year	Descriptio n of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
	5				by patients or providers						tertile
Cutler, 1973; Collen, 1973; Dales, 1973; Ramcha- ran, 1973; Friedman, 1986; Dales, 1979; Norinder, 2002	Intervention group: California Kaiser Health Plan members aged 35-54 encouraged to have multiphasic checkup Control group: California Kaiser Health Plan members aged 35-54 received	Patients	7 -11 years	A: Disability at 7 years ⁹⁵ B: Disability at 11 years among men aged 45-54 ⁹⁶	Patients	A: baseline= 871, 7-year F/U = 793 B: 677 A: baseline= 941, 7-year F/U = 829 B: 738	A: 95, 10.9% A: 137, 14.6%	A: 168, 21.1% B: 158, 23.3% [‡] A: 204, 24.6% B: 219, 29.7% [‡]	B: Health risk factors	NR	 Low

Evidence Table 15a. Distal Economic Outcomes, Disability: Randomized Controlled Trials. (continued)

* Authors reported there were no statistically significant differences, but formal significance testing was not reported.

[†] Age, smoking, lipids, blood pressure, diabetes, social class, general practice group.

^{\ddagger} p < 0.01, chi square test.

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported NA = not applicable; NR = not recorded.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Burton, 2002	Exposed group: executives eligible for and receiving the periodic health examination	Patients	3 years	A: Average number of short-term disability days per employee B: Total short-term disability days in 3 years	Not self- reported	1046	NA	A: 2.78 days absent* B: 2134* C: 6.2% [†]	NA	Yes [‡]	55 Low
	Unexposed group: executives eligible for but not participating in the periodic health examination			C: Any short-term disability days (%)		727		A: 4.02 days absent* B: 2707* C: 11.0% [§]	NR	No	

Evidence Table 15b. Distal Economic Outcomes, Disability: Retrospective Cohort Study.

* Study terminology; PHE = periodic health examination.

* p < 0.01, chi square test.

† *p* <0.001.

[‡]Age, sex.

[§] Authors reported there were no statistically significant differences, but formal significance testing was not reported.

F/U = follow-up; NA = not applicable; NR = not recorded.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	Ν	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Mori- ssey, 1995	Full Medicare reimbursement and office reminders (intervention group) Control group	Providers and patients	12-36 months	A: Utilization data: hospital days per enrollee over two years of intervention and one year post- intervention B: Admissions per enrollee over two years of intervention and one year post- intervention	Not self- reported	954 (baseline) 960 (baseline)	NR	A: Mean (SD): 7.27 (18.97) B: 0.73 (1.43) A: Mean (SD): 8.55 (26.25) B: 0.79 (1.50)	NR	No	87 High

Evidence Table 16a. Distal Clinical Outcomes, Hospitalization: Randomized Controlled Trials.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Burton, 1995; German, 1995; Burton, 1997; Burton, 1995	Received coverage for an annual preventive visit and tests (Medicare vouchers for 2 free preventive visits)	Patients	2 years	A: Mean inpatient days for the intervention and control groups who had a hospital discharge in that year (Year 1) ⁵⁶ B: Mean inpatient days Year 2 ⁵⁶	Not self- reported	A: 2105 (baseline) B: 2020 (baseline)	NR	A: 15.7 days B: 17.6 days C: 345.6 D: 378.0	NR	No	76 High
	No coverage for an annual preventive visit and tests			C: Hospital discharges per 1000 Year 1 ⁵⁶ D: Hospital discharges per 1000 Year 2 ⁵⁶		A: 2090 (baseline) B: 1971 (baseline)		A: 14.7 days B: 16.8 days C: 355.2 D: 404.4			

Evidence Table 16a. Distal Clinical Outcomes, Hospitalization: Randomized Controlled Trials. (continued)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
					providers						
Stone,	The	Patients	9 years	Hospitalizations/	Patients	Baseline:	NR	73.4	NR	No	68
1981;	intervention			1000 person years		3876,					Med.
South-	group were			at risk (1976)		F/U: 3292					
l on-	patients aged										
don,	40 to 64 years										
1977;	in specific										
South-	group										
east	practices;										
Lon-	received 2										
001, 2001:	multiphasic										
Stone	vears apart										
1978a:	The					Baseline:		70.7			
Stone,	comparison					3353,					
1978b;	group					F/U: 3132					
Treve-	consisted of										
lyan,	South London										
1973	patients aged										
	in specific										
	aroup										
	practices;										
	received usual										
	care.										

Evidence Table 16a. Distal Clinical Outcomes, Hospitalization: Randomized Controlled Trials. (continued)

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported; SD = standard deviation.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven -tion	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Nakanishi, 1996	Japanese adults aged 40 years and older in National Health Insurance program	Patients	A: Hospital admission rate per 1000 insured persons correlation with rate of use of health checkups B: Length of stay of 180 days or more per 1000 insured persons correlated with rate of use of health checkups	Not self- reported	22,7581	A: CC = -0.890* B: CC = -0.584 [‡]	Yes [†]	 High

Evidence Table 16b. Distal Clinical Outcomes, Hospitalization: Cross-sectional Study.

* p = 0.001.

[†] Age, sex.

 $p^{\ddagger} p = 0.049.$

F/U = follow-up; CC = correlation coefficient.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Patrick, 1999	Medicare beneficiaries (enrolled in a HMO) randomized to preventive services package and to receive a health risk assessment for 2 years	Patients	4 years	A: Mortality at 24 months B: 48 months	Not self- reported	1282: 854 aged under 75 years, 428 aged 75 years or older	NR	A: 5.5%; 3.3% under 75; 10.0% aged 75 or older* B: 9.8%; 6.3% under 75; 18.6% aged 75 or older [†]	NR	No	62 Low
	Usual care					1276: 839 aged under 75 years, 437 aged 75 years or older		A: 3.3 %; 2.4% aged under 75; 5.0% aged 75 or older B: 8.2%; 5.6% aged under 75; 13.5% aged 75 or older			

Evidence Table 17a. Distal Clinical Outcome, Mortality: Randomized Controlled Trials.
Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Burton,	Received	Patients	2 years	Mortality ⁷⁹	Not self-	2105	NR	175	NR	Ν	76
1995;	coverage for				reported			(8.3%)+			High
German,	an annual										-
1995;	preventive visit										
Burton,	and tests										
1997;	(Medicare										
Burton,	vouchers for 2										
1995	free preventive										
	visits)										
	No coverage					2090		231			
	for an annual							(11.1%)			
	preventive visit										
	and tests										

Evidence Table 17a.	. Distal Clinical Outcome	, Mortality: Randomized	Controlled Trials.	(continued)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
					or						
Stone, 1981; South- east London, 1977; South- east London, 2001; Stone, 1978a; Stone, 1978b; Trevelyan, 1973	The intervention group were South London patients aged 40 to 64 years in specific group practices; received 2 multiphasic screenings 2 years apart. The comparison group consisted of South London patients aged 40 to 64 years in specific group practices; received usual care.	Patients	9 years	Mortality rate per 1000 person-years at risk: A. All cause death ⁷ B: Neoplasm ⁷ C. Central nervous system ⁷ D. Cardiovascular disease ⁷ E: Respiratory disease ⁷ F: All other causes ⁷	providers Not self- reported	3292 18,404.3 person- years 3132 19,972.3 person- years	NR	A: 10.0 B: 2.5 C: 0.9 D: 4.3 E: 1.4 F: 0.9 F: 0.9 A: 9.2 B: 2.6 C: 0.7 D: 2.8 E: 2.9 F: 1.1	NR	Yes [§]	68 Med.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed Y/N	Qual. score tertile
Cutler, 1973; Collen, 1973; Dales, 1973; Ramcharan, 1973; Friedman, 1986; Dales, 1979; Norinder, 2002	Intervention group: California Kaiser Health Plan members aged 35-54 encouraged to have multiphasic checkup	Patients	16 years	Deaths, rate per 1000 persons A: All cause deaths ^{9,94,96} B: Death from potentially postponable causes ^{19,94,96} C: Death from colorectal cancer ^{9,94,96} D: Death from breast cancer (women only) ^{9,94,96} E: Death from cervical/uterine cancer (women only) ^{9,94,96} F: Death from prostate cancer (men only) ^{9,94,96} G: Death from hypertension-associated causes ^{9,94,96} H: Death from ischemic heart disease ^{9,94,96} I: Death from respiratory system disease ^{9,94,96} J: Death from musculoskeletal disease ^{9,94,96} K: Death from mental, nervous, or sensory organ disease ^{9,94,96} L: Death from endocrine,	Not self- reported	7-year F/U: A: 5146 B: 5146 C: 5146 D: 2718 E: 2718 F: 2360 G: 5146 H: 5146 I: 5146 J: 5146 L: 5146 L: 5146 L: 5146 K: 5146 L: 5146 M: NR N: 5138 11-year F/U: A: 5138 D: 2791 E: 2791 F: 2347 G: 5138 D: 2791 E: 2791 F: 2347 G: 5138 L:	NR	7-year F/U: A: 183, 35.6 B: 19, 3.7 [#] C: 2, 0.4 [#] D: 4, 1.4 E: 1, 0.4 F: 0, 0.0 G: 8, 1.6 H: 49, 9.5 I: 7, 1.4 J: 3, 0.6 K: 1, 0.2** L: 3, 0.6 M: NR N: 8, 1.6 [#] 11-year F/U: A: 353, 68.7 B: 44, 8.6 [#] C: 5, 3.3 [#] D: 14, 5.0 E: 1, 0.4 F: 0, 0.0	NR	Ζ	56 Low

					<u> </u>		
Evidence Table 17a	Distal Clinical	Outcome N	/lortality• I	Randomized	Controlled	Trials	(continued)
		000000000000000000000000000000000000000	noi taiity i i		oona onoa	inaio.	(continuou)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed Y/N	Qual. score tertile
Cutler, 1973; Collen, 1973; Dales, 1973; Ramcharan, 1973; Friedman, 1986; Dales, 1979; Norinder, 2002 (cont')				nutritional, and metabolic disease ^{9,94,96} M. Death from suicide ^{9,94,96} N: Death from lymphohematopoetic cancer ^{9,94,96}	or providers	5138B: 5138 C: 55 D: 2791 E: 2791 F: 2347 G: 5138 H: 5138 J: 5138 L: 5138 K: 5138 L: 5138 N: 5138 N: 5138		G: 13, 2.5 H: 92, 17.9 I: 10, 2.0 J: 4, 0.8 K: 3, 0.6 L: 5, 1.0 M: 18, 3.5 [#] N: 15, 2.9 [#] 16- year F/U: A: 585, 113.9 ^{‡‡} B: 77, 15.0 ^{††} C: 12, 2.3 [#] D: 21, 4.1 E: 5, 1.0 F: 1, 0.2 G: 24, 4.7 H: 155, 30.2 I: 19, 3.9			
								J: 4, 0.8 K: 7, 1.6 L: 9, 1.9 M: 25, 4.9 [#] N: 22, 4.3 [#]			

E 11		March 114 Days 1 and 1		/
Evidence Table 1/a	. Distal Clinical Outcome	, Mortality: Randomized	Controlled Trials.	(continued)

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed Y/N	Qual. score tertile
					patients						
					or						
					providers						
Cutler,	Control group:					7-year		7-year F/U:			
1973;	California					F/U:		A: 217, 39.2			
Collen,	Kaiser Health					A: 5540		B: 41,			
1973;	Plan members					B: 5540		7.4*			
Dales,	aged 35-54					C: 5540		C: 10,			
1973;	received usual					D: 2908		1.8″			
Ramcharan,	care					E: 2908		D: 9, 3.1			
1973;						F: 2631		E: 2, 0.7			
Friedman,						G: 5540		F: 1, 0.4			
1986;						H: 5540		G: 16, 2.9			
Dales,						1: 5540		H: 46, 8.3			
1979;						J: 5540		1: 11, 2.0			
Norinder,						K: 5540		J: 3, 0.5			
2002 (cont)						L: 5540		K: Z,			
								0.4**			
						N: 5540		L: 3, 0.5			
						TI-year		N_{1}^{1}			
						F/U:		N: 3, 0.5			
						A. 5550		TI-year			
						D. 5536		F/U.			
						D: 2014		A. 393			
						E: 2014		D. 73, 13.2 [#]			
						E: 2622		C· 18			
						G: 5536		3.3 [#]			
						H: 5536		D [·] 14 4 8			
						1: 5536		F 4 1 4			
						J: 5536		F: 2, 0,8			
						K: 5536		G: 26, 4,7			
						1:5536		H: 98, 17.7			
						M: 5536		I: 18, 3.3			

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed Y/N	Qual. score tertile
	•				by						
					patients						
					or						
					providers						
Cutler,						N: 5536		J: 3, 0.5			
1973;						16-year		K: 5, 0.9			
Collen,						F/U:		L: 5, 0.9 _			
1973;						A: 5536		M: 7, 1.3 [#]			
Dales,						B: 5536		N:5, 0.9 [#]			
1973;						C: 5536		16-year			
Ramcharan,						D: 2914		F/U:			
1973;						E: 2914		A: 643,			
Friedman,						F: 2622		116.1**			
1986;						G: 5536		B: 119,			
Dales,						H: 5536		21.5			
1979;						1: 5536		C: 29,			
Norinder,						J: 5536		5.2			
2002 (cont)						K: 5536		D: 24, 4.3			
						L: 5536		E: 5, 0.9			
						IVI: 5536		F: 5, 0.9			
						N: 5536		G: 40, 7.2			
								27.3			
								1. 30, 5.4			
								J. 4, U. 7			
								1.9, 1.0			
								12.9, 1.0 M·11.20 [#]			
								N: 10			
								1.8 [#]			

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Theobald, 1998	Intervention group: Stockholm residents aged 18-65 offered a general health examination	NR	22 years	A: All cause mortality B: Cardiovascular disease mortality C: Cancer mortality D: Accidents and intoxication mortality	Not self- reported	A: 3064 B: 3064 C: 3064 D: 3064	NR	A: RR 1.03, 95% CI (0.94- 1.14) B: OR 1.06, 95% CI (0.91 - 1.23) C: OR 1.06, 95% CI (0.88- 1.23) D: OR 0.97, 95% CI (0.73- 1.30)	NR	Yes***	63 Low
	Control group: Stockholm residents aged 18-65 received usual care							Reference group			

* Overall, p = 0.006; <75 years old, p = 0.267; \geq 75 years old, p = 0.005.

[†] Overall, p = 0.062; <75 years old, p = 0.528; \geq 75 years old, p = 0.05.

 $p^{\dagger} = 0.003.$

[§] Age, sex, smoking, lipids, blood pressure, diabetes, social class, general practice office.

Authors reported there were no statistically significant differences, but formal significance testing was not reported.

Colon/rectum, breast, cervix/uterine, prostate, and kidney cancer, hypertension, hypertensive cardiovascular disease, hemorrhagic cerebrovascular disease.

 $p^{\#} p < 0.05$, chi-square.

** 7-year follow-up includes nervous system and sensory organs only.

^{††} p=0.012.

p=0.710.

*** Age, sex, need for service.

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported; RR = risk ratio; OR = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
					or providers				
Chiou, 2002	Exposed group: Taiwanese adults aged 65 years and older reporting receiving a physical examination in past year	Patients	6 years	Relative risk of mortality	Not self- reported	1193 in exposed and un- exposed groups combined	RR 0.50, 95% CI (0.36- 0.69) for those receiving check-up in past year	Yes*	59 Med.
	Unexposed group: Taiwanese adults aged 65 and older not receiving physical examination in past year						Reference group	No	

Evidence Table 17b. Distal Clinical Outcome, Mortality: Prospective Cohort Study.

* Age, sex, race, education, comorbities, living arrangements. F/U =follow-up; RR = relative risk; CI = confidence interval.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Robert, 1969	Exposed group: U.S. employed men receiving employer- sponsored periodic health examination	Patients	15 years	Actual/expected deaths	Not self- reported	20,648	0.56	Yes*	 Low
	Unexposed group: historical comparison of U.S. white men					NA	Reference group	No	

Evidence Table 17c. Distal Clinical Outcome, Mortality: Prospective Cohort Study with Historical Control.

* Age, race, sex.

F/U = follow-up; NA = not applicable.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Change	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Christen- sen, 1995	Intervention group: Denmark patients of general practitioners received mailing that a preventive health examination was free Control group: Denmark patients of general practitioners received mailing that a preventive health examination was 40 Danish Krone	Patient	Not specified	Attendance at PHE	No	1259	NR	829 (66%)* 443 (37%)	NR	No	 High

Evidence Table 18a. Receipt of the Periodic Health Exam: Non-randomized Controlled Trials.

* *p* <0.05

F/U =follow-up; PHE = periodic health evaluation; NR = not reported. Qual. Score = quality score (for assessments of study quality, each reviewer independently judged study quality and rated items on quality assessment forms, scores were calculated by adding quality scores and dividing them by the maximum score for any given category)

Author, year	Description of intervention	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	F/U	Qual. score tertile
Norman, 1992	Patients who received an invitation letter with an appointment to health check	Patients	NR	Attendance at PHE (%)	Patients	399	69.7 [†]	68 Med.
	Patients who received an open invitation letter to health check					419	37.1	

Evidence Table 18a. Receipt of the Periodic Health Exam: Randomized Controlled Trials. (continued)

 $^{\dagger} p < 0.05.$

 \dot{F}/U = follow-up; SD = standard deviation.

Evidence	Table 18b.	Receipt of t	he Periodic	Health Exam:	Cross-sectional Studies.
----------	------------	--------------	-------------	--------------	---------------------------------

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Faulkner, 1997	Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance Survey 1991: All preventive services covered by health plan Most preventive services covered by health plan Some preventive services covered by health plan	NA	NA	Odds of receiving checkup according to level of health insurance compared to no health insurance coverage A: Men, aged 18-39 years B: Men, aged 40-64 years C: Women, aged 18-39 years D: Women, aged 40-64 years		Total = 9432 A: 2925 B: 1980 C: 2820 D: 1707 Total = 17157 A: 4974 B: 3916 C: 4565 D: 3702 Total = 7647 A: 2114 B: 1750 C: 2040 D: 1743	A: OR 2.5, 95% CI (2.0-3.0) B: OR 2.0, 95% CI (1.5-2.6) C: OR 1.4, 95% CI (1.1-1.8) D: OR 1.7, 95% CI (1.2-2.4) A: OR 1.4, 95% CI (1.2-1.7) B: 1.7, 95% CI (1.4-2.1) C: 1.5 D: 1.7 A: OR 1.4, 95% CI (1.1-1.7) B: OR 1.2, 95% CI (0.9-1.5) C: OR 1.2, 95% CI (1.0-1.5) D: OR 1.2	Yes*	64 Med.
							95% CI (1.0-1.4)		

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	Ad- justed Y/N	Qual. score tertile
Slesinger, 1976	Employees who chose prepaid group insurance plan Random sampling of employees who chose the traditional BC/BS plan					506 483	48% [†] 45%	No	 Med.

Evidence Table 18b. Receipt of the Periodic Health Exam: Cross-sectional Studies. (continued)

* Race, education, insurance status, marital status, employment, income.

[†] Not significant.

F/U = follow-up; OR = odds ratio; CI = confidence interval; BC/BS = Blue Cross/Blue Shield; NA = not applicable.

Author, year	Description of study groups	Target of interven- tion	Length of F/U	Outcome	Outcome self- reported by patients or providers	N	Baseline	F/U	Ad- justed	Qual. score tertile
Schnei- der, 2003	Patients: written material, reminder, phone call Providers: education on prevention measures	Patients and providers	After 1- year interven- tion.	Health maintenance exam performed	Not self- reported	321 pre- interven- tion (baseline) 356 post- interven- tion (F/U)	11.9%	19.4%*	No	69 Med.

Evidence Table 18c. Receipt of the Periodic Health Exam: Pre-post Study.

* p < 0.005.

F/U = follow-up; NR = not reported.